


  
  

  

March 2026  

  

TO:  House State, Civic, Military & Veterans Affairs Committee  

RE:  AAUW SUPPORTS SB004--Expand List of Petitioners for Protection Order  

Dear Committee Members:  

The American Association of University Women (AAUW) is one of the oldest women's 

organizations in the country, empowering women since 1881. The mission of AAUW is to 

advance equity for women and girls through research, education and advocacy. More than 700 

community leaders are members of AAUW branches around Colorado.  
  

AAUW has declared that gun violence is a public health crisis. Mass shootings have become 

commonplace, and our children now live with the expectation that they may be the next 

victims. Suicide by firearms remains an ongoing crisis for families across Colorado. 
  

SB004 adds mental health professionals and co-responders as community members, and 
health-care facilities, behavioral health treatment facilities, K-12 schools, and institutions 
of higher education as institutional petitioners that may petition a court for an extreme risk 
protection order.  
 

AAUW of Colorado strongly supports SB004and requests your YES vote in committee and 
throughout the process of becoming a law.   

  

Respectfully submitted,  

  
Hon. Su Ryden  

AAUW of Colorado Advocacy Director  
  

16699 E. Kentucky Ave.  •  Aurora, CO 80017  
303.898.5797  

suryden25@gmail.com      

  
American Association of University Women--AAUW is a top-rated 501(c)3 charitable organization 
whose mission is to advance gender equity for women and girls through research, education, 
and advocacy.  



 

Thank you, Madam Chair and members of the Committee, for reading this letter of support. My 
name is Samantha Rabins, and I am the Associate Director of Crisis and Community Services at 
WellPower. Part of my role is overseeing WellPower’s Co-Responder and STAR Programs. As a 
Denver County community partner, I, on behalf of WellPower, am here today to offer my support 
for Senate Bill 26-004, which would expand the current rules to allow Co-Responders and 
healthcare facilities to petition for an Extreme Risk Protection Order (ERPO). With this 
expansion, we can more effectively support the safety of residents across the state of Colorado. 
 
Our mission at WellPower is to “empower people to overcome barriers and achieve lasting 
well-being through collaborative behavioral health care and comprehensive support.” As 
providers, we meet people where they are in their recovery journey, using a harm-reduction and 
safety-centered approach that helps individuals advocate for their needs, access equitable care, 
and work toward mental health stability. From this perspective, an expanded ERPO framework is 
essential, recognizing that behavioral health crises often require timely, compassionate 
intervention that reduces harm and enhances safety for individuals, families, and communities, 
even when those interventions are difficult. WellPower partners with agencies whose 
commitments to harm reduction, safety, and equitable care align with our own, and we continue 
to advocate for collaborative, community-based approaches that strengthen supports during 
behavioral health crises. 
 
Drawing on my experience as a Co-Responder since the program’s inception in 2016, and later as 
a Program Manager and now Associate Director, I have seen firsthand how coordinated 
partnerships and timely behavioral health interventions can meaningfully strengthen safety and 
stability for people in crisis. As professionals who respond through 911 to moments of critical 
personal crisis, or to the moment someone makes the courageous choice to reach out for help, it 
is essential that Co-Responders can also initiate supportive interventions for individuals 
experiencing severe behavioral health crises. Co-Responders often meet individuals in their most 
acute and vulnerable moments. Because of this unique position, they frequently receive 
information that individuals may be reluctant to share in traditional therapy settings, including 
disclosures of violent or suicidal thoughts and the presence or accessibility of weapons. 
Co-Responders conduct forms of threat assessment that differ from those performed in 
traditional therapeutic settings due to the immediacy and severity of the crises they are called to 
address. 
 
While we often hear the phrase “pick yourself up by your bootstraps,” many of our most 
vulnerable community members simply cannot do so in moments of profound crisis. Harm 
reduction acknowledges this reality: as humans, we rely on one another for safety and support, 
especially when someone cannot ensure their own. ERPOs provide a structured, compassionate 
way to extend that support when risk is high. As Co-Responders, our time with individuals is 
brief but impactful. Our job is to reduce recidivism within the criminal justice system for people 



 

with severe and persistent mental illness, improve coordination of care across systems, and 
reduce access to lethal means when individuals are in crisis and not yet connected, or have 
become disconnected, from appropriate care. Means restriction is a vital component of harm 
reduction, and this bill would give Co-Responders the ability to recommend and initiate that 
process when it is most urgently needed. 
 
The second reason I support Senate Bill 26-004 is that allowing healthcare facilities to serve as 
ERPO petitioners is key to building a comprehensive response for individuals in acute crisis. 
Allowing institutions, not just individual clinicians, to petition strengthens the infrastructure 
needed to effectively support those at highest risk. It also deepens the partnership between 
crisis responders and healthcare organizations, which is essential to coordinate safety planning.  
One significant barrier we as Co-Responders encounter is the discomfort many individual 
practitioners feel about serving as an ERPO petitioner. Clinicians often fear that petitioning could 
damage the therapeutic relationship they have carefully built with a client or place them in a 
personally vulnerable position. This hesitation can delay or complicate critical interventions.  
WellPower’s Co-Responder team has worked closely with the Denver Police Department’s ERPO 
Unit and has seen firsthand how effective collaboration between healthcare providers and ERPO 
teams can be. When an individual meets legal criteria and an ERPO is granted, Co-Responders 
have consistently observed that the shared responsibility for supporting the person’s safety 
brings together the client’s therapist, supportive services, and community partners in a unified 
way. The urgency of the situation strengthens alignment and coordinated decision-making 
among all involved. 
 
This demonstrates why healthcare institutions, rather than individual providers, should have the 
authority to serve as ERPO petitioners. Institutions are uniquely positioned to evaluate risk 
through a coordinated, multidisciplinary lens, assume the legal responsibilities associated with 
petitioning, and maintain continuity of care across programs. This model protects therapeutic 
relationships, reduces the burden on individual clinicians, and ensures that ERPO petitions are 
grounded in comprehensive clinical insight within an integrated system of support.  ERPOs 
require annual reassessment to determine whether they remain necessary, including evaluating 
whether improved stability and access to care may support lifting the order. 
 
By adding healthcare facilities to the list of authorized petitioners, the state can meaningfully 
reduce barriers that currently prevent necessary action. When an organization such as 
WellPower can serve as the petitioner rather than the individual therapist, the clinician can 
remain focused on treatment, the client can maintain trust in their provider, and the broader 
care team can respond more effectively during moments of crisis. 
 
What I have seen is that the process of considering an ERPO petition can be a meaningful and 
collaborative conversation focused on connecting people with the right type of help at the right 



 

time. As first responders, ERPOs provide Co-Responders with a safety net, knowing that when 
we must end the initial crisis response, the individual will continue to be supported and 
advocated for until they reach safety and stability. As an agency, this collaboration strengthens 
WellPower’s partnerships across our community, reduces the burden on individual providers, 
and creates greater capacity to connect people to mental health treatment effectively and 
appropriately. This bill strengthens that foundation by empowering deeper, more coordinated 
collaboration, ensuring that every partner in the system can respond together to protect safety, 
support recovery, and connect people to the care they deserve. 
 
As Co-Responders and behavioral health providers, we recognize that people are fluid, not fixed. 
When we have robust options to support individuals in their darkest moments, we are better 
positioned to assist them in their ongoing recovery. This bill gives providers another essential 
tool for helping someone in need. 
 
I am honored to be sharing this space with my fellow colleagues and fully support Senate Bill 
26-004 and the expansion of eligible petitioners for Extreme Risk Protection Orders. 
 
Thank you, Madam Chair and members of the Committee, for the opportunity to submit my 
testimony and express my support for Senate Bill 26-004. I respectfully ask for your yes votes 
today. 
 
 
Samantha Rabins, LCSW 
Associate Director of Crisis and Community Services 



 

 

House State, Civic, Military, & Veterans Affairs 

03/02/2026 01:30 PM 

SB26-004 Expand List of Petitioners for Protection Order 

Typed Text of Testimony Submitted 

 

Name, Position, 

Representing 

Typed Text of Testimony 

Wesley Scott 

Against 

themself 

 

Good day, 

 Let the representatives and senators understand that passing this law 

blatantly violates the United States Constitution under the Second 

Amendment, 

the Supremacy Clause (Article 6, Section 2) in accordance with 

Marbury vs. Madison (1803): "Thus, the particular phraseology of the 

constitution of the United States confirms and strengthens the 

principle, supposed to be essential to all written constitutions, that a 

law repugnant to the constitution is void, and that courts, as well as 

other departments, are bound by that instrument. The rule must be 

discharged." Please also reference also 18 U.S.C. § 242 :"Whoever, 

under color of any law, statute, ordinance, regulation, or custom, 

willfully subjects any person in any State, Territory, Commonwealth, 

Possession, or District to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or 

immunities secured or protected by the Constitution or laws of the 

United States, or to different punishments, pains, or penalties, on 

account of such person being an alien, or by reason of his color, or 

race, than are prescribed for the punishment of citizens, shall be fined 

under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or both..." 

 Any law enforcement agency may be reported to the Department of 

Justice for violating the rights of "We the People." Thank you 

Senators Bradley and Brooks for holding the line against tyranny! 

Gary Travis 

Against 

themself 

 

SB26-004 is a dangerous expansion of Red Flag laws that targets 

families, not criminals. 

 

It tramples due process and pressures schools to report innocent gun 

owners. 
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I urge you to vote NO on SB-004. 

Evie Hudak 

For 

Colorado PTA 

 

Colorado PTA supports SB 004. PTA has a long history of advocating 

for the safety of children and youth, and we support efforts to protect 

them from gun violence. One of PTAâ€™s key priorities is to restrict 

access to guns from persons who may endanger public safety. We 

want our government leaders to acknowledge and address the 

problem of easy access to firearms.  

 

For most of our current members, their children have only ever lived 

in the shadow of mass shootings and widespread gun violence. There 

has never been a time when these parents could take it for granted 

that their children would be safe from gun violence. Sadly, we just 

started this current school year with a shooting at Evergreen High 

School. 

 

We strongly believe that SB 004 will help keep our children safer. We 

know that firearms are the leading cause of death for children and 

teens, whether it be homicide or suicide. We especially support the 

addition of K-12 schools to the list of those who can petition for an 

extreme risk protection order. Teachers spend a lot of time with our 

children and are often aware of their potential for violence. Studies 

show that in many cases, the people who commit school shootings 

are connected with the school, and they nearly always exhibit 

warning signs. This was true in the recent shooting at Evergreen High 

School. Additionally, youth with suicidal thoughts also are likely to 

exhibit warning signs that teachers will be aware of. 

 

PTA supports every measure that will increase safety. More must be 

done immediately to protect our nationâ€™s most vulnerable 

population. 

Carolyn Shepherd 

For 

themself 

 

Thank you for the chance to support SENATE BILL 26-004. I am a 

retired physician; I spent 40 of my working years in primary care here 

in Colorado. I can still name the 3 people from my practice who 

might have had more time with their families if ERPO had been 

available to protect them from suicide. 
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In 2024 Colorado had over 1300 suicides. Passing SB 26-004 will help 

tighten the holes in this safety net which protects those at most risk 

of harming themselves or others.  

I am going to focus my comments on why there have been only 6 

petitions filed by licensed behavioral and physical health 

professionals in the 2000-2024 CU study.  

As it should be, the steps for petitioning for an ERPO are 

comprehensive. The process of communicating all critical information 

successfully to a judge through this paperwork is very time 

consuming.  

As a test, I filled out the forms for one of my 3 patients I mentioned 

above, it took me a full hour. In the real-world setting, Iâ€™m allotted 

only 15-20 minutes total to care for the patient, and the patient after 

them, and then one right after them. This creates a significant barrier 

to leveraging the ERPO process for high-risk patients.  

Expanding the list of eligible petitioners would allow many providers 

to share this administrative task with organizational representatives 

such as legal or administrative or nursing specialists to ensure that 

the process could be accomplished and the patient and their family 

protected. In fact, this is just what we do when we feel the patient is 

at high risk of self harm when we get a police hold and admit them to 

a mental health facility. The ERPO with expanded list of eligible 

petitioners gives us an important and intermediate tool for patients 

who are not so critically ill. Please vote yes on SB26-004. 

JEANY RUSH 

Against 

themself 

 

TO: HOUSE STATE CIVIC MILITARY & VETERANS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 

3-1-26 SECOND COMMITTEE SO SENDING MY TESTIMONY FROM 

END JANUARY 

TO: SENATE COMMITTEE ON STATE, VETERANS, & MILITARY AFFAIRS 

RE: SB26-004 Expand List of Petitioners for Protection Order 

SPONSORS: SULLIVAN, FROELICH 

FROM: JEANY RUSH, COLORADO CONSTITUENT 1-27-26 

VOTE: NO NO NO  

When did we enter into the real world of the Communist Manifesto? 

When did we enter into the real world of â€œBIG BROTHER.?â€� 

When did we make it ok to â€œExpand / Add more layers of 
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â€œExtreme Risk Protection Ordersâ€� to completely overtake 

constitutional rights, DUE PROCESS RIGHTS of citizens in this nation?  

How do any of you justify using Safety Clause on an issue this critical 

to our rights, by circumventing the right of the citizens of Colorado to 

vote on this much Usurpation of our Rights? 

It is quite clear, this bill is nothing short of an Expansion of â€œRed 

Flagâ€� law and an Assault on the 2nd Amendment Rights. â€œShall 

Not Infringeâ€� 

Lawful gun owners have saved many lives, while criminals do not 

respect any gun laws!  

What could go wrong by adding: Health Care Facilities, Behavioral 

Health Treatment Facilities, k-12 schools, Colleges & Universities to 

the list of new petitioners? Perhaps a chaoticâ€™ frenzy of people 

who already want to disarm America? Or professionals who already 

have demonstrated that they donâ€™t even understand the damages 

their drug prescriptions put onto innocent minors, often destabilizing 

a minors entire mental behavior. The last 12 plus school shootings 

were by â€˜transâ€™ youth on too many drugs! What a connection 

this poses! Enabling too many of these organizations, often not really 

vetted properly, lends itself to what happened in Salem, Mass. 

Witchhunts deluxe! This is truly an irresponsible and provoking 

damage type of legislation. The litigation and vicarious legal 

implications are endless. This bill also poses a veritable â€œFREE-

FOR-ALLâ€� attack on HIPPA medical protections. The furtherance 

and overbearing powers of the courts is also expanded to erase more 

citizens rights!  

The violation of Trust for all concerned is beyond reasonable, and 

guaranteed to throw our society into more harm, and less true help 

for those in real need of mental health care! I OBJECT! 

Aubrey Shomo 

Against 

themself 

 

Colorado General Assembly 

3/1/2026 

House Veterans Affairs Committee 

SB26-004 Testimony 

Aubrey Shomo 

OPPOSE 
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My position is OPPOSE. Institutional parties cannot be trusted. 

 

I am a victim of serious crime cooperating with law enforcement. For 

this, the Office of Civil and Forensic MEntal Health swore out a 

restraining order against me and won. I had been calling attention to 

demonstrable false charting and open perjury. Not Iâ€™m crazy and 

my shrink is a liar perjury. Rather, I swore out the affidavit with notary 

seal the day before you arrived and it was the result of an evaluation 

by a Government forensic expert. I raised this, and its implications for 

medicare/medicaid billings at the State hospital, and, poof, 

restraining order. 

 

They always win, no matter how absurd the case. This committee has 

that in evidence in my written testimony. 

 

Most recently, they did it with an anti-semetic smear campaign, 

where they took a publication calling them out for the fabrication of a 

record where they puppet â€œpraise hitler, kill the jewsâ€� in my 

mouth, as a fresh police report. 

 

I also have one where they invert the perjury I can show with that 

datestamp. Same author I can identify. 

 

This is why they got a PRO. 

 

They canâ€™t be trusted with this power. My case is proof. That proof 

is written testimony on the record. 

 

I must therefore oppose this legislation. 

Terry Smith 

Against 

themself 

I am opposed to SB26-004 and ask that you vote AGAINST it. We 

need to quit attacking the 2nd Ammendmet rights of all Coloradans. 

This bill goes too far. Thank you. 
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cody grinolds 

Against 

DG ARMS 

 

Atf should have the ultimate say. Doctors and therapist should not 

have any.say in the matter. 

Bennett Rutledge 

Against 

themself 

 

SB26-004 is a dangerous expansion of an already flawed ERPO 

system. It adds the drawback that the "accuser" calling for you to 

have your Second Amendment rights taken away can now be a 

faceless organization. You will only be able to "confront" an attorney 

for a monolithic school district, or maybe a hospital, instead of 

deposing or cross examining a person who actually "dropped the 

dime" on you. Vote against SB26-004. 

Noah Russell 

Against 

RMGO 

 

As an American citizen and staunch advocate of the Second 

Amendment, I am outraged by this billâ€™s blatant disrespect 

towards law-abiding citizens who merely wish to exercise their 

constitutional rights, just like anyone else. Should this bill pass, it will 

unjustly criminalize law-abiding individuals and trample upon a 

fundamental constitutional right. Let me be absolutely clear: owning 

a gun does not make someone a dangerous criminal. A gun is a tool 

that can be used for protection and other purposes. Therefore, I 

vehemently oppose this bill. 

Shirley Bauer 

Against 

themself 

 

I believe this law is just another way to harass law abiding citizens 

and if I am correct was amended OUT of the red flag law last year. 

Why are you trying to put it back in? Again, it will only help someone 

who has a "grudge" against someone they "imagine" or "may" be a 

threat without any proof what so ever. Already, the red flag law has 

been abused and this will only make it worse. It will just be another 

law, hard to enforce, cost the tax payer more money and solves 

nothing. How are you going to pay for it?? More laws to ruin our 

state and economy, not solve crimes. Please vote NO on it. Better yet, 

I respectfully ask that you pull this bill. Thank you. 

Stan Gelb 

For 

themself 

 

This bill could save many lives. Please vote YES on SB26-004 
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Ingrid Moore 

For 

themself 

 

I strongly support this bill. PLEASE VOTE YES TO PASS THIS BILL. 

The current "Red Flag Law" has extensive due process provisions, and 

has saved lives. This bill enhances public safety by allowing more 

professionals and institutions that interact with at-risk individuals to 

intervene when someone poses a danger to themselves or others 

with firearms.  

Expanding the list of eligible petitioners ensures that schools, 

healthcare facilities, and crisis response teams can take action based 

on their direct knowledge of concerning behavior. 

Opponents who claim there is no, or not enough, due process legal 

protections have not read the bill - or the law!! 

Stephen Rieck 

Against 

themself 

 

This bill is blatantly unconstitutional. Has representatives of the 

population. You should support the constitution. Vote for the United 

States and the constitution of the United States, vote no. 

Bob Frank 

Against 

themself 

 

Purpose of this bill is to allow more people to have an influence on 

whether I deserve to have a firearm or not there is no room for my 

doctor to be concerned enough about my mental health to say I 

should have my rights in fringed on thank you 

Steve Cartolano 

Against 

themself 

 

Expand List of Petitioners for Protection Order â€“ OPPOSE 

This proposal expands who can initiate gun confiscation proceedings, 

broadening the stateâ€™s power to strip citizens of their rights 

without a criminal conviction. 

Steve Cartolano 

Against 

themself 

 

Expand List of Petitioners for Protection Order â€“ OPPOSE 

This proposal expands who can initiate gun confiscation proceedings, 

broadening the stateâ€™s power to strip citizens of their rights 

without a criminal conviction. 

Kameron Bain 

Against 

themself 

 

This proposal expands who can initiate gun confiscation proceedings, 

broadening the stateâ€™s power to strip citizens of their rights 

without a criminal conviction which infringes upon constitutionally 

protected 2nd amendment rights. 
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I implore you to reject this bill and protect and restore our 2nd 

amendment rights. 

Leif Sigstedt 

Against 

themself 

 

Yet another bill meant to further expand the list of people who can be 

used to justify violating our due process rights. The people pushing 

these bills must really hate law abiding gun owners since this whole 

ERPO process just frames them as some kind of problem that needs 

to be fixed when it couldn't be further from the truth. This bill will 

make many gun owners think twice before seeking medical care in 

some instances, not because they are guilty of anything, but because 

they are worried that they'll be targeted by this abusive law. This law 

doesn't establish any consequences for abuse of the law, and anyone 

who erroneously files an ERPO as revenge for some petty issue will 

face no consequences for upending someone's life. Please stop 

targeting law abiding gun owners. The voters on both sides of the 

aisle are getting very sick of this aggressive pattern. Please join me in 

voting NO on this terrible bill that Colorado doesn't want or need. 

 



 

The Firearms Coalition of Colorado, PO Box 1454, Englewood, CO 80150-1454 
 

Testimony in opposition to: SB26-004, Expand List of Petitioners for Protection 
Orders 

The Firearms Coalition of Colorado 
PO Box 1454, Englewood, CO 80150-1454 

 
 
 
Thank you, Chair and Committee. 
 
My name is Robert Edmiston.  I am with the Firearms Coalition of Colorado an NRA- 
affiliated, all-volunteer, grassroots organization dedicated to the protection of individual 
rights and public safety. 
 
I am a former U.S. Army Officer and Vocational Rehabilitation Counselor.  I have a 
Master’s Degree in Psychology, Counseling and Guidance. 
 
I am writing in opposition to the measure under consideration.  SB26-004 increases the 
number of entities that can file for dangerous, ex-parte court orders known as Extreme 
Risk Protection Orders (ERPOs) against persons believed to own firearms and believed 
to possibly be a danger to themselves or others.  The ERPO expansion includes: health 
care agencies, behavioral health centers, K-12 schools, and colleges and universities.  
This measure greatly increases the number of medically and psychologically unqualified 
individuals who have the power to initiate a process to send armed police agents to the 
doors of unsuspecting citizens who may or may not possess firearms.  We believe this 
legislation increases the risk of deadly confrontations between police and citizens and 
“punishment by process” of innocent persons. 
 
The recent fatal interactions between immigration officers and citizens highlight the 
danger when armed government agents interact with citizens in emotionally tense 
situations.  However. this problem is not new.  Please see the attached handout that 
outlines four previous tragedies, one of which is directly attributable to ERPO 
enforcement. (Why Red Flag Bills Are Dangerous to Honest Citizens.)  
 
Another unintended consequence of this expansion will be the further erosion of the 
trust that honest firearms owners have in educational institutions, medical facilities, and 
behavioral health centers.  The inclusion of health care agencies in the mix means that 
gun owners now apparently have to worry about even more unqualified individuals who 
could seriously impact or end their lives based on a “reasonable” personal opinion that a 
person who may or may not own a firearm might be a risk sometime to self or others.  
This reduction in trust will deter many innocent firearms owners from seeking what 
might be beneficial treatment or services. 
 
Some gun owners possess numerous firearms in their collections.  The trauma of being 
confronted by armed police agents and having valuable possessions, some with 
sentimental value, hauled away after a disruptive search of a domicile would be enough 
to send many innocent people into therapy.  Now, interacting with anyone in an 



 

The Firearms Coalition of Colorado, PO Box 1454, Englewood, CO 80150-1454 
 

educational facility, seeking any kind of therapy, medical treatment, or health care 
service becomes even more emotionally dangerous, assuming the individual survives 
the encounter with government agents, who have been informed that they are 
confronting a threat. 
 
We urge a “No” vote on this proposal. 
 
Thank you. 
 
Robert Edmiston 
Volunteer Lobbyist 
The Firearms Coalition of Colorado 
PO Box 1454, Englewood, CO 80150-1454 



 

 

SB26-004 (ERPO) Testimony / proposed amendment submitted by Keith 
Emerson to the Colorado House State, Civic, Military, & Veteran’s Affairs 

Committee, February 26,2026 

A total of two changes (total of six locations) are proposed to the Reengrossed Bill, All are 
on Page 2.  

* The first, at three points, deletes a category of persons a Senate amendments has made 
obsolete, a “respondent’s child”.  See the definition of “Respondent” quoted below with the 
Senate’s change.  

* The other change, at three points, is to lower the amount of time to file between the last 
professional contact of an ERPO  filer and a potential respondent, lowering the time from 
six months to a still more than adequate two months.  

 

Thank you for considering this proposed amendment.  

 

Keith Emerson 

Denver, CO 80231 

 

For the Committee’s reference, here is the current text of the bill including minors as 
respondents (P 3 lines 24-26): 

Section 13-14.5-102 – Definitions 

(11)  "Respondent" means the person, INCLUDING A PERSON UNDER 

EIGHTEEN YEARS OLD who is identified as the respondent in a petition 

filed pursuant to this article 14.5. 

 

Requested changes: 

SB26-004 Reengrossed February 3,2026 



All proposed changes are on Page 2 of the bill.  

 

Lines (7-11)   

"(1) Community member" means: 

(a)  A licensed health-care professional or mental health 

professional who, through a direct professional relationship, provided 

care to the respondent or the respondent's child within six TWO months before 

requesting the protection order… 

 

Lines (13-15)  

b) An educator who, through a direct professional relationship, 

interacted with the respondent or the respondent's child within six TWO months 

before requesting the protection order; OR 

 

Lines (22-24)  

“…WHO INTERACTED WITH THE RESPONDENT OR THE RESPONDENT'S CHILD 

WITHIN SIX TWO MONTHS BEFORE REQUESTING THE PROTECTION ORDER BUT 

WHO IS NOT A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER WHO RESPONDED TO A…” 





DATE FILED 
October 17, 2018









DATE FILED 
October 24, 2018





















































DATE FILED 
October 04, 2024

























DATE FILED 
January 16, 2019































 
 
 

County Court, Denver, Colorado 
 
1437 Bannock St, # 159 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
 

Petitioner: 
 
Leola, Joseph on Behalf of Office of Civil and Forensic Mental 
Health 
 
V 
 
Respondent: 
 
Shomo, Aubrey 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

​​ COURT USE ONLY 

Party Without Attorney: 
 
Aubrey Ellen Shomo 
8002 W 12th Ave 
Lakewood, CO 80214 
 
Phone Number:   720-420-4200      E-mail: aubrey@aubreyshomo.net 
FAX Number:       720-420-4201       Atty. Reg. #: N/A 

 
Case Number:  2025 W 1324 
 
 
 
Division               Courtroom  159 
 

ANSWER UNDER SIMPLIFIED CIVIL PROCEDURE 
 

Respondent, Aubrey Ellen Shomo, f/k/a Justin Michael Shomo, hereby answers Petitioner’s written 
complaint as follows: 
 

ANSWER 
 

1.​ Petitioner’s complaint is without merit, and misrepresentative at best, and false and misleading 
sufficiently so as to consider sanctions, given the facts about to here be presented, against Petitioner, who 
is, herself, a member of the bar, representing the Office of Civil and Forensic Mental Health.  Sanctions 
will be treated separately, after presentation of defense, the instant matter. 

2.​ Petitioner’s Colorado Bar Registration number is 47808, her bar registration is listed as “Clawson 
Braaten, Bridget Anne”, and the records of the Office of Attorney Regulation Counsel list her as presently 
with the “Colorado Department of Human Services”. 

3.​ There is an ongoing legal dispute between Respondent and OCFMH, where Respondent appears to be 
winning. 

4.​ All communications to which the complaint refers were published broadly, emails to a list of hundreds of 
recipients, faxes to just about a dozen, and not to Ms. Bridget Clawson. 

5.​ Respondent’s business is not with Ms. Clawson, or, at least, was not until she interjected herself into this 
situation, and, then, only insofar as her conduct itself reflects misconduct. 

6.​ Ms. Clawson invited herself to the party, as a member of the Bar, her employer involved in a legal dispute 
with Respondent, in response to Respondent’s publications, by pulling the same crap she is now pulling 
with this Court, but to include a specifically anti-semetic smear campaign, as well, with the Lakewood 
Police Department, who found nothing unlawful in any communication, but would provide only the 
entity, and not individual name of the complainant. 

7.​ Respondent was able, as outlined in her motion for john doe subpoena or to identify witness (approx title), 
to obtain the name of the individual who had made the complaint from a Law Enforcement command 
officer at the Colorado Mental Health Hospital at Pueblo, by insisting he take a false reporting complaint 
and impugning his honor when he denied the complaint was from that site. 

 



 
8.​ This Command Level Law enforcement officer provided the name of Ms. Bridget Clawson, who happens 

to be a member of the bar, as the originator of the complaint. 
9.​ Ms. Bridget Clawson was fully advised of the false reporting complaint against her, as well as all of the 

facts that predicated her false reporting. 
10.​ Ms. Bridget Clawson then did it again, resulting in the only communication here naming her cited by 

Petitioner, an act of public pillory, here submitted as threat.  That is exactly what Respondent was 
pillorying.  The message went out by email to hundreds.  It was among the first specifically addressed, 
also, to Ms. Clawson’s email address directly. 

11.​ The very first email directly to Ms. Bridget Clawson was a CEASE AND DESIST LETTER, also left by 
voicemail and listed 9/16/2025 as a Threatening/Harrassing Phone Call and a threat to injure others on 
Petitioner’s incident checklist.  A cease and desist letter is neither of these.  The cease and desist letter is 
hereby attached as Exhibit A.  It is a transcript of the voicemail left on 9/16/2025, and it was sent by 
email. 

12.​ Prior to being served the instant case, Respondent was already planning action with the Colorado Office 
of Attorney Regulation with respect to Ms. Bridget Clawson, but Ms. Clawson is a ways down the target 
list, and will have to wait her turn.  The instant action has certainly increased her priority on Respondent’s 
list of Attorney Regulation Counsel complaint recipients, but not to the top.  Respondent reminds the 
Court she has meritorious DORA investigation underway, and that the Restraining Order Process is not 
the appropriate procedural mechanism to reply to an ongoing dispute between myself and the Department, 
nor is it an appropriate means of preventing a complaint to Attorney Regulation Counsel. 

13.​ Respondent only received the transcript of the TRO hearing on Friday, and, as there could have been 
additional verbal allegations, waited to complete this answer until she received her overnight transcripts, 
which took essentially a full working week. 

14.​ Petitioner has deliberately misled the Court through a campaign of selective partial quotation and 
misrepresentation of facts. 

15.​ This is not a Restraining Order case, not even close. 
 

TREATMENT OF SPECIFIC CLAIMS IN COMPLAINT 
 

16.​ Next, Respondent will treat specific communications outlined in the Complaint. 
17.​ Respondent will treat the claims out of order, in the order most logically consistent with the narrative 

presentation, generally working back in time, from the events which occasion Complaint and the 
complaint itself, then taking the Court, briefly, to the factual antecedents, as necessary to understand that 
this action is about the ongoing legal dispute, not any safety concerns. 

 
I HAVE A GUN AND I AM POINTING IT AT PETITIONER 

 
18.​ We shall begin with “I have a gun.”  Dated August 8th, 2025. 
19.​ Petitioner omits some critical text from the statement of how this is a concerning incident.  “MESSAGE 

AUTHORIZED BY UNITED STATES SECRET SERVICE.” 
20.​ A gun, as known to Petitioner, in this context is involvement with the federal authorities in a matter under 

their investigation and the permission to, as I pitched it to them, “Let the badguys know they’re coming.” 
21.​ As shown, subsequent to the actual complete fax, also provided, in Exhibit B, this meaning was made 

expressly clear to the same fax channel, explained by Open AI’s chatGPT, so I could not be cast as 
delusional. 

22.​ This meaning is commonly used parlance, and is generally understood when the facts in #20 are brought 
to bear and should be familiar to a member of the bar. 

23.​ Respondent ended up at her current residence upon overhearing a conversation clearly intended for her, 
and while signing the lease was told by John, the then current property manager, he was a United States 
Marshal.  Respondent had previously met with USSS and FBI agents at her home in Greensboro, and she 
can verify this, because it was the same FBI agent she had dropped by to see at the Greensboro, NC 
satellite office.  Therefore, USSS can be verified to be on the field. 

 



 
24.​ Respondent’s previous roommate, as well as several other persons with whom she has had acquaintance 

over the years all, of their own initiation, said “I’d give you / I’d give her a gun.” over a short period of 
time, near in time to “Safe to Tell”, treated below. 

25.​ Most recent neighbor quote, from yesterday:  “We’re soooo charging it.” 
26.​ More than one of her neighbors has had privileged information that would only be known to an 

investigator or perpetrator in Ms. Shomo’s case. 
27.​ This was in response to me efforting to reach out about the FBI’s “Safe To Tell” message on 6/17/2024, 

and pointing out the State of Colorado still seemed to be engaging me. 
28.​ If it is not the Marhsals working a witness, United States Secret service, FBI, etc, then whoever it is has 

substantial resources.  Inquiries into topics like blackmail, and a ridable toy car that took me to ice picks, 
have been on the field.  If not really official, someone should probably do something about that instead of 
trying to throw Respondent under a bus for having nailed the department’s misconduct. 

29.​ Multiple of Respondent’s neighbors have implied involvement with the investigation, unambiguously. 
30.​ Again, if these are not feds, someone is building a defense, and Respondent could use Police help, not 

State’s CYA with whoever it is.  Respondent believes, in good faith, that these are feds.  Most have 
maintained substantial ambiguity, however, while unambiguously working the case.  Respondent has 
made her best efforts to be helpful.  If these aren’t feds, feds are likely in for a rude awakening when they 
find out who these folks are and what charge they’ve been preparing to defend.  They do, however, to my 
mind, seem to be building Government’s case. 

31.​ One of these persons has confirmed United States Secret Service authority to her. 
32.​ The FBI and USSS, both of whose names Respondent has used with a statement “MESSAGE 

AUTHORIZED BY USSS / FBI” have not so much as contacted Respondent to notify her their names are 
being misused by others, if that is indeed the case. 

33.​ So, even if Respondent has placed her trust in the wrong people, Respondent is acting (1) in good faith, 
and (2) non-dangerously, but she is the victim of an elaborate impersonation, and someone should do 
something, not restrain Respondent. 

34.​ Additionally, the State of Colorado, and OCFMH cheated off their asses in Broomfield in 2018 and 
denied me a meritorious defense ultimately coercing a plea, to make a point about how mental patients 
don’t need due process, and the chickens from that are now coming how to roost by means of superlative 
jurisdiction, is the impression I am given, perhaps in tandem with some kind of countermafia operation.  
the plea coercion is preserved on the record *prior to* the plea, though not at the plea colloquy itself. 

35.​ Respondent, therefore, believes their conduct to be among the federal investigatory targets. 
36.​ Respondent does not believe misconduct in the State of Colorado to have been their primary target, rather 

organized criminal enterprise, however the State of Colorado was kind enough to do 2018 in front of 
them. 

37.​ The statement “I have a gun”, with all of this known to Petitioner, cannot be construed as a threat, and, as 
shown by repeated doubling down, was not understood as a threat by Petitioner at the time. 

38.​ This statement, in fact, conveys the entire context of all communications.  Respondent expects a strike 
soon, but feds do things in their own time, and mafias are very difficult to kill. 

39.​ Respondent expects Colorado struck at the same time, during the same news cycle, on belief and 
information. 

40.​ Petitioner knows what Respondent means, anticipates, and Respondent is unambiguous in 
communications.  Petitioner is selectively misquoting to deceive this Court, and that is how Petitioner 
scored a TRO. 

41.​ This is not the first time, in the current issue, Petitioner has in essence lied through very selective 
quotation, as she has done, here, to achieve a TRO, and those other times are admissible as a public 
calling-out and pillory of the same which was directly the occasion for this complaint to the Court in the 
instant matter. 

42.​ This addresses 4(c) of the long form of the VERIFIED MOTION and the first half of 4(c) of the Colorado 
Judiciary Court Form VERIFIED MOTION, the second half of 4(c) being 4(d) on the long form, treated 
below, last. 

 
43.​ Respondent will now address point 4(a) of the Complaint. 

 



 
44.​ The still “aim with the hand, shoot with the mind” is followed instantly by the phrase “kill with a heart 

like arctic ice,” in the song, not as communicated to Ms. Clawson, and is a still from the music video for 
the song Aer Vis, celebrating the United States Air Force, in which Respondent’s grandfather flew combat 
and retired a Lt. Col.  The “Gun Ready” light, shown in said film is on a United States Air Force aircraft. 

45.​ Respondent, when not being raped, is a legal ice queen. 
46.​ Respondent refers to the prior section on having a gun. 
47.​ This communication went to ~500 people, is one of a precious few that names Ms. Clawson, an example 

of another reads “Ooh, she’s a member of the bar” and provides her bar number to the list, and constitutes 
public pillory and turning my gaze at Ms. Clawson.  I would not presume to speak for the feds, without 
express instruction, but all she’s done here she’s done in front of them. 

48.​ The public pillory is of below treated misconduct, in the section covering my threats to kill jews. 
 

49.​ With respect to Jay Hemphill, Petitioner cites belief and information.  Respondent will provide facts. 
50.​ Respondent worked with Jay Hemphill at length where he was the man in charge of Colorado State Patrol 

at the State Capitol and sat in the foyer to the Governor’s office.  I did a Hunger Strike, there, and Jay 
Hemphill was also both familiar with my communication style, which has not changed in these many 
years, and my activism. 

51.​ Jay Hemphill was personally associated with the Governor, as he was the man in charge of his security. 
52.​ In short, as known to the Department of Human Services, Jay Hemphill was a law enforcement 

professional acquaintance of Respondent’s who she has had many constructive dealings in the past, and 
her last contact with him was him trashing a warrant out of Broomfield for setting DV = Yes in CCIC, 
when no such flag had been requested of, nor authorized by, a court, and without factual predicate. 

53.​ Said entry flowing from CCIC into NCIC and federal jurisdiction.  Respondent liked and respected Jay 
Hemphill.  Jay is the man who told her about this, well, as it exited Colorado’s jurisdiction.  I made sure 
the feds knew. 

54.​ Respondent cannot speak to Mr. Hemphill’s most uncharacteristic behavior, but dangerousness from the 
State of Colorado’s personnel is not relevant to its restraining order request.  It occurred after we knew 
each other.  Apparently, he was on foot outside the Legislative Services Building and pulled his service 
weapon on a car.  Most unusual behavior. 

55.​ Mr. Hemphill is much like the witness I have asked to call, command level, at Colorado Mental Health 
Hospital at Pueblo.  Except his area was the State Capitol and I knew him a bit better.  Not much.  He also 
knew me.  Also only through professional/official dealings. 

56.​ Respondent continues to believe Jay Hemphill would approve, and this is the Jay Hemphill she knew, 
before events raised by Petitioner. 

57.​ Petitioner is trying to turn around even a good relationship with law enforcement here, as a weapon. 
58.​ This point is clearly understood in the same context as the 4(c) point, first treated, and is similarly 

understood by Petitioner, and reflects, again, the distortions Petitioner is going to to obtain a TRO. 
59.​ Petitioner understood this specific message as public mockery, as a member of the bar, for her efforts to 

secure law enforcement action based on her knowing misrepresentations to be treated for 4(d). 
60.​ Public pillory of a member of the bar does not occasion a restraining order, and a member of the bar 

would and does know that. 
61.​ Said pillory here attached as Exhibit C. 
62.​ Petitioner is asked if they’re sure they want to drag Jay Hemphill and the Governor’s office into this. 

 
63.​ Cooperating with Law Enforcement and announcing as much does not a restraining order grant. 
64.​ Public pillory (I am a private citizen with private citizen rights) of an individual for engaging in that same 

misconduct does not a restraining order grant. 
 

THE MENTAL HEALTH SYSTEM CREATES ITS OWN VIOLENCE BY VIOLATING RIGHTS 
 

65.​ Respondent will now address point 4(b).  4(b) is a selective quotation, omitting the following text: 
 

***  This is not a threat.  As you have all always known, I fight to win.  This is political speech.  
Without feds, though, I know I would face retribution for saying it. *** 

 



 
 

66.​ The message is attached as Exhibit D. 
67.​ The word “presci” means an outline of a proof or logical argument.  In it, Respondent makes the point 

that the levels of open misconduct in the State’s mental health system, and the dirty means, instant 
proceeding notwithstanding, they’ll go to to defend it can reasonably be expected to create violence by 
leaving persons no where to go.  Conduct like disappearing habeas corpus, perjury by people’s witnesses, 
and plea coercion, are at stake, and commonplace leading to an oppressed population with no hope of a 
fair day in Court because of how these people cheat. 

68.​ Respondent reminds the Court of two things: (1) Her complaints are under active and apparently fruitful 
investigation by multiple proper authorities, i.e. she is not hopeless and Petitioner knows it, also showing 
on prima facie review, merit in those complaints, and (2) few ever manage to successfully fight back, 
making what she is calling attention to, here, a matter of public concern and valid political speech, 
protected speech, to call attention to a real dynamic, and Petitioner knows it.  Petitioner believes many 
have experienced the same truly violent misconduct by the State, and do not share her hopefulness for the 
future, and without hope they even benefit from the rule of law, where would you turn? 

69.​ Respondent has a point. 
70.​ Petitioner not liking Respondent’s point doesn’t change that. 
71.​ The Court not liking Respondent’s point doesn’t change that. 
72.​ The first amendment protects this activity.  Plain and simple. 
73.​ This is protected as free speech and freedom of the press, and not one of the ~500 other recipients had any 

quarrel with it.  It’s a pamphlet.  And Petitioner knew that. 
74.​ Sending a lawful pamphlet to a Government office does not a restraining order grant. 

 
SO, LET’S TALK ABOUT BOMB THREATS AND DEAD JEWS AND ME KILLING THEM 

 
75.​ So far, as grounds for granting a restraining order, we’ve discussed cooperation with law enforcement and 

publishing political speech.  This is 3/4ths of the Petition. 
76.​ So, let’s talk about bomb threats.  But, to do that, we need to talk about my threats to kill jews. 
77.​ Point 4(d) of the long form VERIFIED MOTION, the second of point 4(c) of the Colorado Judiciary 

Form form of the motion, quotes “This is a Bomb Threat.” 
78.​ To clarify why one would send an email with the subject line “This is a bomb threat” and be fighting over 

it with a lawyer for an entity with whom Respondent is engaged in a legal dispute, in a civil protection 
order hearing, not a criminal case, one must consider the effect of sarcastic calling out of previous, to be 
frank, bollocks from the same source.  Bollocks is a way to say public official misconduct without being 
held in contempt.  Respondent hopes it is to the Court’s liking. 

79.​ As included in this quotation, this is additional public pillory.  Cited also, “This is a bomb threat per the 
clearly false reporting of CODHS, as previously detailed”. (short form / Colorado Judiciary Form version 
of VERIFIED MOTION / second part of 4(c).  4(d) on the long form VERIFIED MOTION differs, and 
will be treated below.) 

80.​ Prima Facie, this message is specifically calling attention to the false construance of the same, not making 
a bomb threat.  That’s why the subject line works.  That’s why this Court is wasting Domestic Violence 
victim’s time, and its own, in a lawyer-on-lawyer squabble, where the other side pulled the instant 
proceeding out of a hat. 

81.​ An act of public pillory does not occasion a restraining order. 
82.​ So as to demonstrate that that is unambiguously the message, the way in which it was meant, they way in 

which any reasonable person would understand it, and the way Petitioner in fact understood it, 
Respondent will need to address praising hitler and killing Jews.  And her threats to do the same. 

 
83.​ This brings us to Ms. Bridget Clawson’s previous anti-semetic efforts at the same thing she is attempting 

in this civil action, but with Law Enforcement, who did not bite on the “safety concerns” of this lawyer 
pulling this crap.  This Court should not, either. 

84.​ Respondent is Jewish.  See Exhibit E. 

 



 
85.​ That was the sound of a door opening, as Petitioner did not go after Respondent on Jewish themed issues 

in this pleading, as she did with the police.  Respondent is happy to go there, though, in this matter, as it 
makes it clear to the Court what is really going on, here. 

86.​ What is really going on here is something of a cross between a smear campaign, an effort to test the feds, 
and the desire to stop this civil rights activist from making noise about the Department by any means 
necessary, and this proceeding is what they have left.  It is not undertaken in good faith. 

87.​ So, let’s talk about dead Jews.  And me killing them. 
88.​ Petitioner initiated this retaliation against Respondent for having meritorious issues with the department 

and publishing about them, at this time not knowing Ms. Clawson’s name, by contacting Lakewood 
Police and making what Respondent will show is a false report, utilizing the same techniques as utilized 
in the instant matter, in June. 

89.​ Before we get to dead Jews Respondent’s threat to kill Jews, and Respondent’s purported praise for hitler, 
and how Ms. Bridget Clawson knowingly traded on this falsehood, however, Respondent would like to 
provide one piece of predicate. 

90.​ Respondent has spoken multiple times about Perjury, and it is time to provide the promised receipts, 
beyond the existence of a DORA investigation. 
 

PERJURY BY CODHS 
 

91.​ Exhibit F, hereby attached, is a three page Exhibit entitled “Perjury: The Slide Show”. 
92.​ In it, two statements are made to the Court by, admittedly different, CODHS personnel. 
93.​ The first of the two statements records my admission date as 11/14/2018. 
94.​ The second of the two statements, signed 11/12/2018, notarized 11/13/2018, and filed with the Court, 

provides the results of an evaluation Respondent received from Dr. Graham Hoffman, while she resided at 
the State Hospital.  As an expert witness. 

95.​ The statement recording my admission as 11/14/2018 was not erroneous and dates from 1/10/2019. 
96.​ 11/12/2018 (more conservative than 11/13/2018, the notary date) is within the Statute of Limitations for 

Perjury of 1/10/2019. 
97.​ Therefore, the statement by Dr. Graham Hoffman is perjury at law by inconsistent statements, at the 

institutional level, for CODHS.  And the single statement provably knowingly false is even worse.  The 
inconsistent statement is by a different witness not accused of Perjury, from CODHS. 

98.​ This amounts to prima facie Perjury, in open Court. 
99.​ This is page 1 of the slide show. 
100.​ Page 2 of the slide show is Respondent’s chart admission time, shown by CODHS’s own records, but 

not before any Court, showing Respondent’s admission as 11/14/2018, in the future from Hoffman’s 
Affidavit. 

101.​ Page 3 is a map showing the distance over which the purported evaluation could not have taken place. 
102.​ This is prima facie Perjury. 

 
MY “THREAT” TALKING ABOUT THE RAPE OF CHILDREN, PETITIONER LEFT OUT OF THIS 

ONE 
 

103.​ On 6/4/2025, Petitioner made the following report to Lakewood Police Department: 
 
“[REDACTED, later revealed to be Ms. Clawson] had indicated the email had talked about the rape of 
children, how she may die within the next ten years, and the death of Jews, among other topics.” 
 

104.​ The police report is attached hereto as Exhibit G. 
105.​ Respondent had discussed her own childhood sexual assault in recent publications.  She had not 

discussed “the rape of children” other than herself.  CODHS is implicated in said rape, as an instution that 
covered said rape up, in leiu of doing anything about it, through a contractor, but also directly, 
culminating in the 9/10/2001 coerced plea, overturned by the trial court on 2/11/2016. 

 



 
106.​ This phrasing is intended to be misread, and is not a truthful report as a result.  It, in essence, smears 

the sexual assault victim by implying they are in a perpetrator, rather than victim, role.  This is not the 
first time the Colorado department of Human Services has done this.  The same was done in 2018. 

107.​ Indeed, the contents of the complained of email provide evidence, not sourced from Respondent, for a 
2018 sexual assault that CODHS did not take seriously enough to investigate properly, ended up coercing 
a plea and covering it up, but has since realized there is evidence for this phenomena.  Indeed, their 
actions began in direct response to my provision of *evidence* for this assault. 

108.​ Said sexual assault preserved on record but ignored by the Court. 
109.​ Almost exactly like last time, but under a less typical situation than the mundane sexual molestation 

of Respondent CODHS took the same means, including the instant case’s predecessor, filed by Mr. 
Shearer, of the DORA complaint, which Respondent won, the TRO being vacated and no PRO issuing, 
and Respondent having, at last, gotten DORA to hear the matter some ten years hence, on the tails of the 
compounding misconduct in defense of it by CODHS, originating with Partick Fox, then Dpty Dir 
Clinical Services, OCFMH, who took earnest efforts, and ended up leaving his post in April 2018, the 
same time the instant misconduct arose, for the private sector.  Our communications are provided attached 
as Exhibit H, to substantiate the merit of the backstory of the dispute. 

110.​ Exhibit I contains records substantiating the sexual assault in 1998-2001, which is the fundamental 
act of misconduct, using cheating in Court to cover up a sexual assault, that is at issue with the 
Department. 

111.​ Substantial evidence documenting this sexual assault as directly covered by by CODHS is real is 
provided as Exhibit J in the form of an email, of the more consolidated mocking format, with the subject 
line “This email is about the rape of children,” which predates “This is a bomb threat.” 

112.​ Respondent had discussed being hit with an asbestos laden booby trap, truthfully, in attached affidavit 
Exhibit K, addressed to but unfiled with the Court in Broomfield.  While she does not know the exact 
timing, she expects the 2012 exposure to run its course within about ten years’ time in good faith. 

113.​ Indeed, retaliation for speaking up, like this, is one of the reasons I contend this specific act of 
retaliation is lethally directed by CODHS.  They’re not trying to kill me, so much as make sure I die quiet, 
and cannot speak their name and therefore misconduct. 

114.​ Petitioner was aware of the facts in Exhibit K when she took this action. 
115.​ On the topic of lethal conduct, and attached hereto as Exhibit L, is the removal of halothane 

malignant hyperthermia, a lethal reaction to certain anesthetics, from my chart.  This removal would lead 
directly to my death if Electroconvulsive Therapy were used with halothane anesthetic.  This represents a 
very real threat to my life.  The petitioner hasn’t shown anything like this the other way around. 

116.​ Petitioner is more of a threat to Respondent than Respondent is to Petitioner, except two places: (1) 
politically, and (2) in the Courtroom. 

117.​ Respondent contends both ancillary uses of a PRO are the true object of Petitioner’s action, in this 
instant matter, and not any issue of safety. 

118.​ Respondent has shown, on evidence, a danger to her life from Petitioner, though that’d be a different 
TRO hearing, and she’d rather not embolden Petitioner and then have to put the court through one of 
those hearings. 

 
BACK TO DEAD JEWS, ME KILLING THEM, AND BOMB THREATS, BUT ESPECIALLY THE 

DEAD JEWS 
 

119.​ Which brings us to respondent’s threat, described by Petitioner, as talking about “the death of Jews.” 
120.​ Indeed, in the audio, the exact police report is a threat of “killing jews”. 
121.​ As indicated above and in Exhibit E, Respondent is Jewish. 
122.​ Respondent notes this “threat”, while attempting to action with law enforcement, is not included in 

Petitioner’s pleading before this Court, having already been shot down with law enforcement. 
123.​ Here is Petitioner’s verbatim description of this, from police bodycam: 

 
​ It seems like this person's escalating, and it's you know, it mentions child rape and Killing Jews and things 
like that. So I wanted to report it. 
 
​ … 

 



 
 

There's something about killing Jews, and there's a lot about Hitler. So it's very odd because it. We'll talk 
about Hitler one sentence and then literally says talks about the Cupid Shuffle and Macarena, the next sentence. 

 
124.​ Any reference to child rape was to sexual assault of myself, with exhibit.  Petitioner knew this at the 

time, and deliberately omitted it from the police report. 
125.​ The only communication to which Petitioner refers is a fraud callout, recall Respondent has already 

shown Prima Facie perjury, for an act of false charting by the Department, which describes Respondent 
as saying “Kill the Jews, Hitler’s pride.”  It then references the cupid shuffle and the macarena. 

126.​ The references to the cupid shuffle and macarena are in CODHS’s false charting, and were not said by 
Respondent, but were described as an unusual threat by Petitioner, contrary to fact.  again, these 
quotations only exist in a record, alongside the above perjury, Respondent is pointing out is fraudulent. 

127.​ Respondent has reported CODHS to the federal authorities for federal programs fraud on the basis of 
the Perjury and false charting. 

128.​ Now, what happened in 2018 does stink.  Respondent never said these things.  The song in question 
was actually quite anti-htiler.  It was Nakam, by Daniel Khan and the Painted bird.  This was 
memorialized in a facebook post nearly a year before chart was obtained.  Both the chart and my own 
memorialization are attached as Exhibit M. 

129.​ But, Petitioner knowingly cited Petitioner’s own already publicly declared fraudulent records, in lieu 
of any recent communication, as evidence of a threat. 

130.​ In another act of false charting, I am recorded as saying “I’ve been charge [sic] with forgery and its 
notarized” and “laughing”.  The word they were looking for was “Perjury” and it was in the second 
person, as in, “you’ve been charged with Perjury and it’s notarized”.  Note the subtle differences and refer 
to prima facie perjury, above.  This is attached as Exhibit N.  The perjury, again, is attached as three page 
slide-show as Exhibit F. 

131.​ Petitioner reported me calling them out on it as a threat by me, myself Jewish, to kill Jews. 
132.​ To the police. 
133.​ Who did not see anything actionable.  Because Petitioner had wantonly misled them, like this Court. 
134.​ Petitioner seems to be looking for a knee-jerk law enforcement action, and every one, I have defused. 
135.​ On 9/8/2025, A false reporting complaint to Lakewood PD, approved but unacted upon, equal to 

Petitioner’s report, is attached as Exhibit O. 
136.​ Respondent did run a simulation of a ten kiloton thermonuclear strike, which it was clear from 

context referred to feds, or if feds won’t do it, a united nations complaint, and this was known to 
Respondent.  The parameters for the burst were provided.  The day _after_ the initial antisemetic slur.  
See the police report. 

137.​ Respondent published this simulation. 
138.​ The weapon is designed to be delivered by a nation state’s air force. 
139.​ The weapon was burst at 200 meters above ground level, from a tomahawk cruise missile, yielding 

ten kilotons TNT equivalent, to wit, the described strike was a tactical thermonuclear strike 
140.​ We have those.  And the delivery systems.  Nationally.  Respondent lacks both the required nuclear 

weapons and the cruise missile delivery systems. 
141.​ Respondent has a public persona where this is how she communicates.  This is not a threat, and, even 

if construed as one, cannot be construed as an actual actional threat putting anyone in fear of anything 
except legal action. 

142.​ This was a threat of feds. 
143.​ And I advertised my own, independent nuclear capability, which was unambiguously stated to be a 

human rights treaty complaint. 
144.​ This is inducement to the feds to care, as Respondent does not control them. 
145.​ This is lawful. 
146.​ I have filed those before, and I have been known to boast to friends that I have enforced a non-self 

executing human rights treaty upon the United States, to wit the International Covenant on Civil and 
Political Rights, resulting in the above named relief from prior plea coercion in broomfield. 

147.​ Petitioner is rebutted at trial. 
148.​ She attempted this, again, on 9/9/2025, and was again unsuccessful. 

 



 
149.​ Respondent’s false reporting complaint was made on 9/8/2025.  On 9/9/2025, Petitioner again 

attempted to engage Lakewood Police Department. 
150.​ Petitioner was asked if Respondent had any weapons, to which Petitioner responded there had been a 

bomb threat by me, and she implied I was likely armed.  She did not mention that this was thermonuclear 
in nature.  Petitioner actively misled the police to make rash action more likely, while asking for police 
contact, and should be ashamed of herself.  This is treated in the CEASE AND DESIST. 

151.​ Respondent spoke with Agent Gomez-Gonzalez, Badge # 2279 of the Lakewood Police Department, 
who she wishes to subpoena about this incident, for approximately ten minutes, took her through the 
dispute, as I have just done, and through the history of false reporting by Petitioner.  Whether charged or 
not, it documents Petitioner’s repeated utter distortions of communications to the police, and, now to the 
Court. 

152.​ Agent Gonzalez left satisfied Respondent was within her rights. 
153.​ Petitioner then, having pilloried “child rape” and “killing jews”, previously, decided to pillory “bomb 

threat”. 
 

TO THE COURT: THIS IS A BOMB THREAT 
 

154.​ Communication 4(d) in the long form of the VERIFIED MOTION is hereby defended. 
155.​ Similarly, the second half of communication 4(c) in the Colorado Judiciary Form version of the 

VERIFIED MOTION, substantially the same complaint, is hereby defended twice. 
156.​ This communication is public pillory of a member of the bar, for her previous reports, to the general 

public. 
157.​ In includes Lakewood Police’s printout of the only “bomb threat” email that Petitioner could provide 

them, and they took no action, as there is nothing unlawful in it. 
158.​ Petitioner is a grown-up and a member of the bar, who understands this was her being pilloried and 

understood that when initiating this complaint. 
159.​ Restraining orders are not for this. 
160.​ This activity, when directed at a State Employee and consisting of fair publication is constitutionally 

protected.  Even mean publication would be and I have not done that. 
161.​ A bona fide legal dispute exists, petitioner is a member of the bar, and Respondent is winning. 
162.​ Restraining orders are not for this. 
163.​ Who the hell’d be a danger when they’re winning? 
164.​ No genuine danger exists, and Petitioner does not, in good faith, believe there to be one. 
165.​ This point can be shown by the State’s own hospital law enforcement, as previously subpoenaed, at 

command level, from previous interactions and actions taken. 
166.​ Petitioner is afraid of Respondent winning. 
167.​ Petitioner is afraid of respondent besmirching their good name in public, and posting about them on 

social media, presently enjoined by this court. 
168.​ Petitioner wants unconstitutional prior restraint because petitioner messed up bad. 
169.​ This is not what restraining orders are for. 
170.​ Petitioner is unreliable. 
171.​ The restraining order should be denied. 
172.​ To demonstrate how the facts are being misstated by Petitioner, Respondent wishes to subpoena 

Petitioner, herself, Ms. Bridget Clawson, a member of the bar, to the trial.  One pass of cross-examination, 
again, of this member of the bar, will destroy the PRO request. 

 
CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIM 

 
173.​ Respondent is a bona fide civil rights activist, with a history at the United Nations, and she is engaged 

in constitutionally protected activities. 
174.​ The restraining order must be denied.  In the name of the Constitution. 
175.​ Separate constitutional argument, with caselaw, will follow, in a motion to dismiss, but preserved here 

are freedom of speech, freedom of the press, and the right to petition redress. 

 







Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com>

oh well...

Eli Havivi <Ehavivi@bdgso.org> Thu, Mar 3, 2016 at 12:44 PM
To: Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubrey@aubreyshomo.net>
Cc: Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com>

Aubrey – Let’s start this way, via email, we can catch up by phone later.

So, first of all, you are already Bat Mitzvah – that is, you are an adult, and you are Jewish. You count in a minyan, and you
are part of the Jewish community.

Another way of looking at the Bat Mitzvah “occasion,” is seeing Bat Mitzvah is a public marking of Jewish coming of age.
For folks doing Bat Mitzvah later in life, it’s kind of an affirmation of Jewish identity, “I am here, I am part of this
community.” As a youth, it’s often accompanied by an exhibition of competency in ritual – having an aliya and saying the
blessings at the Torah, and/or reading from the Torah, and/or leading the congregation in prayer. And it can be the same
for an adult.

And what we do is VERY flexible – Here are a few thoughts:

you could recite the blessing in Hebrew at the Torah on a Saturday morning or (for a more intimate gathering of folks) at a
Saturday afternoon service (we typically have Saturday afternoon services at 5:45 PM), you could invite some friends/
they could throw candy at you (or not), and call it a day. And then you can invite friends out to celebrate.

In fact, you could skip the entire synagogue piece, just have the celebration, and at that celebration, give a talk about
Torah and Judasim, and about why you are celebrating this moment in your Jewish life. (That’s actually what the
Orthodox and Habad do – they don’t have women do things in synagogue).

Back to the synagogue idea…. You could learn to chant a Torah reading (again, on Shabbat afternoon or Shabbat
morning services).

How is your Hebrew? And…. Can you sing?

Your thoughts? How did you imagine this?

eli
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COUNTY COURT, CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER, COLORADO 

Case No.  25W1324 Courtroom 159 

------------------------------------------------------ 

TRANSCRIBER'S TRANSCRIPT  

------------------------------------------------------ 

LEORA JOSEPH ON BEHALF OF OFFICE OF CIVIL AND FORENSIC 

MENTAL HEALTH (OCFMH) 

Plaintiff 

vs. 

AUBREY SHOMO 

Defendant 

------------------------------------------------------ 

 

  The TRO hearing in this matter commenced on 

October 16, 2025, before the HONORABLE MARGUERITE 

CONBOY, Judge of the County Court. 

 

 

 

FOR THE PLAINTIFF: TYLER W. HARRINGTON, ESQ. 

Court Transcriber:  Lauren Randall 
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GENERAL ADVISEMENT 

THE COURT:  Good morning to everyone.  You may be 

seated.  All right.  Hello to all.  As Mr. Nicholson 

said I'm Marguerite Conboy, and I have had a chance to 

review all of your petitions.  I'm going to give you 

an advisement which hopefully will answer a lot of 

your questions.  And then if not, you can come up to 

the podium and ask me some questions after I get a 

chance to kind of go over the general overview.   

But before we do that, let's go ahead and call 

25W1324, Leora Joseph and respondent and Aubrey Shomo.  

Good morning. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Morning, Your Honor.   

MS. SHOMO:  Morning.    

THE COURT:  If you'd like to enter your appearance. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Tyler Harrington with the Attorney 

General's Office with Jessica Polonyi, also with the 

Attorney General's Office, on behalf of the Office of 

Civil and Forensic Mental Health with Miss Leora 

Joseph, their director.   

THE COURT:  All right.  Yeah.  Good morning.  Please 

be seated.  I have more than enough to enter the 

restraining order. 

Do you have any questions?  

MR. HARRINGTON:  No, thank you, Judge.    
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THE COURT:  Okay.  You've been here enough and know at 

some point it's Aubrey -- is a female.  Yeah, Ms. 

Shomo needs to be served and then we'll see you back 

here.  Does the 20 -- we're back to what -- we've been 

doing a little schedule juggling.  But 28th at 10:30 

okay for everybody?   

MR. HARRINGTON:  That works.   

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Great.  Well, 

thank you.  We'll see in two weeks.   

(WHEREUPON, the calling of the docket continues.) 

***
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COUNTY COURT, CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER, COLORADO 

Case No. 25W1324 Courtroom 159 

------------------------------------------------------ 

TRANSCRIBER'S CERTIFICATE 

------------------------------------------------------ 

LEORA JOSEPH ON BEHALF OF OFFICE OF CIVIL AND FORENSIC 

MENTAL HEALTH (OCFMH) 

Plaintiff 

v. 

AUBREY SHOMO 

Defendant 

------------------------------------------------------ 

State of Colorado ) 

City and County of Denver )  ss. 

 

I certify that I transcribed this record 

from the recording of the above-entitled matter which 

was heard on Thursday, October 16, 2025. 

I further certify that pages 1 through 3, 

inclusive, constitute a complete and accurate 

transcript of the recorded proceedings, based upon the 

audio facilities of this record and my ability to 

understand it. 

 

LAUREN RANDALL 10/23/25 

Court Transcriber Date 
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COUNTY COURT, CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER, COLORADO 

Case No. 2025-W-1324 Courtroom 159 

------------------------------------------------------ 

TRANSCRIBER'S TRANSCRIPT  

------------------------------------------------------ 

OFFICE OF CIVIL AND FORENSIC MENTAL HEALTH 

Petitioner 

vs. 

AUBREY SHOMO 

Respondent 

------------------------------------------------------ 

 

  The temporary restraining order hearing in 

this matter commenced on December 17, 2025, before the 

HONORABLE MARGUERITE CONBOY, Judge of the County 

Court. 

 

 

 

FOR THE PETITIONER: ANN H. POGUE 

ALSO PRESENT: LEORA JOSEPH 

Court Transcriber:  Kaliko Reed 
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INDEX 

 DIRECT CROSS REDIRECT RECROSS 

WITNESSES: 

LENORA JOSEPH 

 (By Ms. Pogue) 76   

 (By Ms. Shomo)  112,157,183,189 

 

BILLY WADE 

 (By Ms. Shomo) 184  188  

 (By Ms. Pogue)  186   

 

LENORA JOSEPH 

 (By Ms. Shomo)  189  

 

 

 

EXHIBITS Offered Received 

Petitioner's 1 95 95 

Petitioner's 2 99 99 

Petitioner's 3 103 104 

Petitioner's 4 108 108 

Respondent's A 26 28 

Respondent's B 129 133 

Respondent's C 26  

Respondent's D 26 28 
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Respondent's E 26  

Respondent's F 26  

Respondent's G 26  

Respondent's H 26 156 

Respondent's I 26 156 

Respondent's J 26  

Respondent's K 26  

Respondent's L 26  

Respondent's M 26  

Respondent's N 26  

Respondent's O 26  

Respondent's P 156 156 

Respondent's Q 149 156 

Respondent's R 149 156 

Respondent's S 149 156 
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GENERAL ADVISEMENT 

THE COURT:  Good morning to the parties.  All right.  

We're going to call case number 25-W-1324.  May I have 

appearances of the parties?  

MS. SHOMO:  I'll go --  

MS. POGUE:  Good morning, Judge -- oh. 

MS. SHOMO:  I'm not sure who's supposed to go first.  

THE COURT:  Let's have Petitioner first, and then 

we'll have Respondent, please.  Thank you.  

MS. POGUE:  Good morning, Ann Pogue, on behalf of the 

Department.  Also present with Leora Joseph, director 

of Office of Civil and Forensic Mental Health.  Oh, 

and actually, I say that.  She's not present, she's in 

the waiting room.  If she's able to be let in? 

THE COURT:  We will do that.  I don't see her 

asking --  

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  -- but hopefully, Mr. Nicholson --  

MS. POGUE:  Oh.   

THE COURT:  We don't see her asking Ms. Hogue (sic).  

MS. POGUE:  And one moment, Judge, we'll make sure 

we're in the right place.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  While you're doing that, let 

me step down for one more sec.  

All right.  Well, for -- we can -- 
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let's see.  Is -- I'm not seeing a request from 

Ms. Joseph.  

MS. POGUE:  I believe -- there we are.  

THE COURT:  There she is.  All right.  

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.  And Judge, I'm not sure if you 

needed (audio interference).  Sorry, one moment, 

Judge.  If you needed my name spelled with 

registration number.  But it's P-O-G-U-E.  

(audio echoing)  

THE COURT:  What's happening?  

THE CLERK:  Somebody (inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Somebody needs to lower their volume, 

please?   

MS. POGUE:  I think we got it.  Is this better?  

THE COURT:  Yes, thank you.   

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  All right.  I don't see Ms. Joseph.  

MS. POGUE:  She's -- she's there.  She's waving.  I 

can see her.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I cannot.  I see a Leora Joseph, 

Unverified, with an icon, not a picture.  

THE COURT:  I do -- I've got two pages, so I've got 

Mark Rule (phonetic).  Okay.  Here we go.  Let's turn 

that screen.  Thank you, sir.  All right.  Yeah, I've 

got Ms. Joseph; I can see her when I toggle my screen.  
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There we go.  My apologies to the parties for a little 

technical machinations.  Here we go.  All right.   

All right, Ms. Joseph, you want to 

enter your appearance?  

MS. JOSEPH:  Leora Joseph, Petitioner.  Are you able 

to hear me?  

THE COURT:  I can now, Ms. Joseph.  Thank you.  

Ms. Shomo, do you wish to make your appearance, 

please?   

MS. SHOMO:  Respondent Aubrey Shomo, on our own 

behalf. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Good morning to all the 

parties, and my sincere apologies; We had an 

unexpected legal argument this morning that took quite 

a bit of time.  So here we are.  All right, so we have 

many matters pending before the Court right now, so 

let me start by -- I am prepared to rule at least as 

to the scope of the proceeding.  But I would note that 

we also have sort of a threshold matter involving 

motion for in-person trial per Court's original ruling 

on Constitutional grounds.   

I can resolve that one first and 

foremost, and so with respect to that, Colorado 

Revised Statute 13-14-106 explains the procedure for a 

permanent civil protection order hearing after the 
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temporary order has been issued.  It does set out how 

the Court evaluates evidence and how the Court issues 

a permanent order.  And the Statute specifically notes 

the Court shall encourage the Petitioner to notify 

Respondent if the Petitioner does not intend to appear 

at the hearing, but it explicitly states that the 

Court shall not require the Petitioner to attend.  The 

Court is the one who controls whether the Petitioner 

has -- must appear.   

The Court has made a determination that 

it that it is appropriate for Petitioner to appear 

virtually.  Respondent has argued she has no 

Constitutional right to inquire the in-person presence 

in court.  However, the Sixth Amendment to the United 

States and Colorado Constitution's right to confront 

witnesses applies only in criminal prosecutions.   

A civil protection order under 13-14-

106 is a civil matter.  It is not criminal, and courts 

have consistently held there is no Constitutional 

right to confront or cross-examine a Petitioner in a 

civil protection order case.   

So my ruling is that the parties may 

appear virtually for purposes of a hearing.  So I'm 

going to deny the motion for --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I ask one brief question?  
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THE COURT:  Yes, of course.  

MS. SHOMO:  I would ask, what about Respondent's 

argument that the order had previously been entered 

for an in-person hearing, that order was modified on 

the basis of argument that has subsequently been 

withdrawn? 

THE COURT:  I guess I don't understand your question.  

MS. SHOMO:  I would ask the Court to speak to that if 

I am permitted? 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I guess, I -- and I apologize, 

Ms. Shomo, I just don't understand the nature of what 

exactly -- could you rephrase your question, please? 

MS. SHOMO:  I had moved the in-person appearance of 

Ms. Clawson at the 10/28/2025 hearing, and the Court 

had granted that order at the time, stating that I had 

the right.  The proceeding was going to be in person, 

until Petitioner raised a "safety concern" on the 

basis of unevidenced "retaliation against Counsel", 

and then withdrew that position, which constituted the 

entire basis.   

So it is Respondent's respectful 

understanding the matter was res ajudicata by order of 

this Court -- this very same judicial officer -- and 

the grounds for the modification were then withdrawn.  

The Petitioner has withdrawn the expanded scope.  And 
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consequently, with the withdrawal of those grounds, it 

is Respondent's respectful position, the Court should 

return to its original order.  

THE COURT:  And I appreciate the argument.  The Court 

declines to change the Court's ruling.  The courts are 

allowed wide latitude in the discretionary matters 

involving these -- the procedural mechanisms of 

hearing.  This is a civil case.  This Court did rule 

that Respondent was entitled to subpoena Ms. Clawson.  

I -- obviously, I stand by that.  I do want to issue 

the caveat, which is part of my observations this 

morning that while it is true all parties have the 

right to subpoena any witnesses that they wish to 

subpoena, ultimately, this Court has to act as a 

gatekeeper in terms of determining whether or not a 

witness has relevant evidence to provide.   

For example, yesterday, I declined to 

hear two of the four witnesses in the hearing because 

upon an offer of proof, I didn't find what Respondent 

had represented through an offer of proof to be 

anything relevant to what the Court needed to 

determine.  So I do want to give the parties a heads 

up: For every witness, I'm going to ask for an offer 

of proof after I've made my ruling as to the scope of 

the hearing.   
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So absolutely, Ms. Shomo, you have the 

right to subpoena Ms. Clawson, but I'll have to make a 

determination whether or not she has testimony, 

particularly in light of the ruling I'm going to make 

about what is going to be presented at this hearing, 

as to whether or not there's anything relevant that 

Ms. Clawson might be able to offer.  Okay.  So that 

was the first motion.   

Are there any preliminary matters?  We 

have the Respondent's motion to continue.   

Ms. Shomo, is that something you want 

me to address first? 

MS. SHOMO:  I believe the motion to continue was based 

on the need to send additional subpoenas on the basis 

of the expanded scope.  If the expanded scope is not 

engaged, and the Court orders virtual trial, there is 

no need to continue from Respondent at this time.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And Petitioner's position on 

continuation? 

MS. POGUE:  Judge, Petitioner is prepared to proceed 

today, and is in agreement with Ms. Shomo's position.  

We did move yesterday to withdraw the request for the 

supplement to the scope.  But I did want to address 

one other piece related to that motion to withdraw, 

but I can wait until we are prepared to move to the 
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next action item.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  That's fine.  This -- okay, I'm 

going to go ahead and I'm going to make a ruling with 

respect to determination of the scope of the permanent 

protection order hearing.  And then afterwards, I'm 

going to ask each party to tell me a list of their 

witnesses.  I'm going to ask for an offer of proof 

from both sides as to what your witnesses are expected 

to testify.  But hopefully, my ruling is going to give 

some guidance with respect to what -- who might be 

able to offer relevant evidence, okay? 

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, may I ask, will your ruling on 

scope also cover the motion to limit hearsay testimony 

by Ms. Leora Joseph?  

THE COURT:  It does, actually, yes.   

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Some of it -- and just so you know, some 

of that is a little premature because hearsay is a 

determination that often a court needs to make sort of 

real time when that witness is testifying because I 

need to assess whether or not, number one, is the 

testimony hearsay, and then, number two, are there any 

exceptions that might apply?  So there's some of it 

that we might have to put in abeyance until -- and 

then, you're going to be able to raise contemporaneous 
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objections, okay? 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So -- and I apologize.  

There's a lot of noise in the hallway, so if that's 

distracting to the parties, I'm sorry.  It's -- I will 

tell you, it's very loud in here.  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, if you hear a fan running, I can shut 

it off.  I don't know if I'm the source of any of it.  

THE COURT:  Nope.  No problem with the fan.  Thank you 

for asking.   

All right, so this matter is before the 

Court for a determination on the scope of the 

Permanent Protection Order hearing.  On October 16th 

of 2025, Petitioner Leora Joseph, on behalf of the 

Office of Civil and Forensic Mental Health, filed a 

verified motion for Civil Protection Order.  Also, on 

October 15th, there was a motion for civil protection 

order.  The petition -- and if I may -- the petition 

alleged that Ms. Shomo mailed OCFMH threatening 

emails, which include emails dated from August 8th of 

2025 through September 16th, 2025.  This includes -- 

and the specific allegations in the petition are, 

Aubrey Shomo emailed OCFMH personnel with the subject 

line, "Ms. Clawson, perhaps you'd like to call police 

with my new Facebook banner."  The body of the email 
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contains a photo with a sign reading, "gun ready" and 

typed into the photo, is the text "Aim with the hand, 

shoot with the mind."  Under this photo, the email 

reads "J. Hemphill would have loved it."  Upon 

information and belief from publicly-available 

information, J.  Hemphill is a reference to a Colorado 

State trooper who was arrested in 2021 for yelling and 

pointing his gun at a woman while driving.  Subsection 

B goes on to state, Aubrey Shomo emailed OCFMH 

personnel with the subject line, "Pressy: The mental 

health system creates mass shootings."  The body of 

the email states in relevant part, "The Feds say that 

if you have a dispute, take it to County.  What if you 

know the Court is a cheating lie, as I have here 

demonstrated?  What if you know there's no hope of 

reasoning with your providers because they're too busy 

covering their own asses and making it sure you look 

as bad as possible?  You always point to records and 

say, 'why did no one stop this person?'  I point to 

records and say, you left them no choice, when you 

told all those bullshit lies in the first place, and 

denied them a day in court to dispute it.  You're 

making shooters with how you abuse power, civil 

rights, and freedom.  You're making shooters because 

they know there's nowhere to turn because of how you 
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do business.  You're creating your own violence.  More 

later when I calm down."  Subsection C: Aubrey Shomo 

sent a fax to OCFMH personnel with the subject line, 

"I have a gun."  The body of this fax stated, 

"Ms. Shomo has a gun."   

Another serious incident that caused 

OCF (sic) to ask for a civil protection order occurred 

on September 10th at 3:05, when Aubrey Shomo did the 

following: She emailed with -- the personnel with the 

subject line, "This is a bomb threat", and the body of 

the email stated, "This is a bomb threat per the 

clearly perjurious, false reporting of CODHS as 

previously detailed."  The email goes on to include 

statements indicating that a strike operation had been 

approved, fueling has begun, launches will proceed, 

and ends by stating, "This is not an exercise.  The 

release of thermonuclear weapons has been authorized." 

So that was the first pleadings, which 

the Court notes that one was filed one day, and one 

was filed the next day.  And then, the second one is 

couched in form of motion and also contains the same 

allegations.  Okay.  Now, I just -- I felt that was 

important to read that into the record as to what is 

at issue in this case.   

The Court granted the temporary 
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protection order and set the matter for hearing on the 

issue of whether or not to make the Temporary 

Protection order permanent.   

In subsequent court appearances, it 

became clear that the parties did not agree as to the 

scope of what evidence would be presented at the 

permanent protection order hearing.  Accordingly, the 

Court requested the parties to submit briefs in 

support of their respective positions.  The Court 

thanks both parties for their briefs on the issue. 

Petitioner requests that the scope of 

the hearing be limited to those email communications 

provided in the original complaint, which encompass 

emails from August 8th, 2025, through September 16th, 

2025.  Petitioner also argued that the total number of 

communications, the effect that these communications 

had on individuals who received the emails, and 

Respondent's subjective understanding of the 

threatening nature of her email communications should 

also be admitted at the hearing.   

Petitioner filed a supplemental brief 

which sought to admit additional communications since 

October 28th, 2025.  As both parties have noted, that 

has been withdrawn, so the Court will confine its 

rulings to Petitioner's request to be heard only on 
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those email communications August 8th through 

September 16th, as well as, as I stated, the total 

number of communications without discussing the 

particular content, the effect of these 

communications, and I will also address their desire 

to admit evidence regarding Respondent's subjective 

understanding.   

Petitioner argues that the only facts 

necessary for the Court's determination are those that 

give rise to the issuance of the TPO, and those facts 

that will show that unless restrained, Respondent will 

continue to commit those acts and/or acts designed to 

intimidate or retaliate against OCFMH, which I assume 

is the same -- we're talking about the same -- just 

for purposes of clarity of this record, that is the 

same as CODHS, correct?  Yes? 

MS. SHOMO:  With respect, Judge, I would ask to 

clarify that of OFCMH, the Office of Civil and 

Forensic Mental Health, is a subsection of CODHS, and 

Respondent was not enjoined from anything, other than 

OFCMH. 

THE COURT:  I would agree with that, Ms. Shomo. 

MS. POGUE:  Judge? 

THE COURT:  Yes? 

MS. POGUE:  I believe also there was an enjoinment 
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from contact with Bridget Clawson, who provides 

operational support for OCFMH, but otherwise would 

agree that OCFMH is an office within CDHS.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  And I would argue that the Petitioner has 

not alleged any contact with Ms. Clawson. 

THE COURT:  My only concern is the Petitioner is Leora 

Joseph on behalf of the Office of Civil and Forensic 

Mental Health.   

So without understanding fully, the 

corporate structure, Ms. Pogue, can you elaborate? 

MS. POGUE:  Absolutely, Judge.  So it's my 

understanding that in the initial request for the 

temporary protection order, the request -- because 

there was one of the emails that the Court just 

referred to about the gun ready was directed directly 

at Ms. Clawson -- Ms. Clawson provides operational 

support to the Office of Civil Forensic Mental Health.  

And so she was actually listed on the TPO, and the 

others, as Ms. Shomo is prohibited from having contact 

with the Office of Civil Forensic Mental Health and 

its employees, as well as, and which includes 

Ms. Clawson, who provides operational support.  So she 

was specifically named, and there was an allegation 

related to threatening contact with her.  
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THE COURT:  I will accept that.  And I would also 

note -- okay, yeah, I do -- I -- and I see she's 

specifically referenced.  All right.   

So Respondent argues, conversely, that 

the scope of the hearing should be broadened to 

include Respondent's proposed Exhibits A through P, 

which the Court has reviewed each one of those 

exhibits.  So as I advise, I'll first address the law. 

As I --  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, Judge? 

THE COURT:  Yeah? 

MS. SHOMO:  May -- is -- I apologize.  If I'm breaking 

in too much, please let me know.  I -- I would -- I 

would ask, I -- I, however, did not request to scope 

those issues for litigation in this proceeding.  I 

simply asked to substantiate that those issues 

constitute context for the communication.  

THE COURT:  And it may be -- and thank you.  I think 

it may be six of one and half-dozen of the other, 

because I'm going to make a ruling about what -- the 

scope of what's admissible, and the limitations that 

this Court has, and that's going to include a 

relevancy ruling.  So perhaps if -- then, if you have 

questions afterwards, I'll endeavor to do my best to 

answer them.  
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MS. SHOMO:  Thank you very much.  

THE COURT:  You're welcome.  All right.  So as I 

advise people every single day in this courtroom, 

there is a very, very limited scope of this Court's 

jurisdiction.   

This Court has authority to issue a 

protection order to prevent assaults or threaten 

bodily harm, to prevent domestic abuse, to prevent 

emotional abuse of the elderly or at-risk adults, to 

prevent sexual violence, to prevent stalking.  And as 

the parties have each noted, a permanent protection 

order will be granted if the Court has proven -- or 

I'm sorry, if it has been proven by Petitioner by a 

preponderance of the evidence, that number one, 

Respondent committed the acts as alleged in the 

petition, and number two, that unless permanently 

restrained, Respondent will continue to commit those 

acts and/or acts designed to retaliate or intimidate 

the Petitioner.   

Colorado Rule of Revised -- or Colorado 

Rule of Evidence 401 defines relevant evidence as that 

evidence having any tendency to make the existence of 

any fact that is of consequence to the determination 

of the action more probable, or less probable, than it 

would be without the evidence.  The statute does not 
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require proof that Respondent acted with any 

particular requisite mens rea, or mental state, such 

as intent, recklessness or knowledge in order to enter 

a permanent protection order.   

The statute sets out a civil -- the 

civil standard and the elements for a permanent 

protection order, which are focused for purposes of 

this Court's findings, on what Respondent did and the 

likelihood of future harm, not on the Respondent's 

subjective state of mind as in a criminal mens rea 

requires.  So to be clear, the focus is on the act 

themselves, and the likelihood of continued behavior.  

Significantly, this Court will not need to make a 

finding as to Respondent's mental state in determining 

whether or not it's appropriate to grant a permanent 

protection order.   

At the hearing, the Court will be 

examining evidence of the past conduct, and the risk 

of future conduct, and will not be assessing whether 

or not Respondent had a particular mindset when 

engaging in those acts, only whether she engaged in 

the contact that justifies a continued protection 

order under civil law.  So just to be clear, the 

question is basically whether those emails were sent, 

and whether they will continue to be sent absent 
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permanent restraint.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge? 

THE COURT:  Yeah? 

MS. SHOMO:  May I also ask?  There is also the 

question of whether those emails constitute threats of 

harm.  

THE COURT:  Your point is well taken, Ms. Shomo, and 

that is ultimately what's my decision to make.  In 

every -- almost every hearing I have, people call 

something a threat, but ultimately, that is something 

that the Court needs to determine: if something 

constitutes a harassment or a threat.  You are right.  

But I do want to be clear that Ms. Shomo's beliefs -- 

and that goes to the relevancy of many of these 

exhibits -- Ms. Shlomo's beliefs that her actions in 

sending emails were justified, does not negate either 

one of those prongs that the Court needs to find.   

And Ms. Shomo, that's not meant as any 

disrespect to what you have experienced, or your 

subjective state of mind.  That might be very relevant 

in other proceedings, but I do want to be very clear: 

it's not something that I need to determine in 

assessing whether or not a protection order needs to 

be permanent in this case.   

MS. SHOMO:  But Judge, respectfully, and I'm sorry, I 
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will shut up at this point.  You must find that there 

are actually threats in order to be able to enter the 

PRO. 

THE COURT:  Agreed.  Agreed.  But I can do so -- I 

don't need to look at your subjective intent in doing 

so.  Yes, I do --  

MS. SHOMO:  No, I agree.  I ask the Court only look at 

the substance of the communication, but that includes 

the totality thereof.  

THE COURT:  I don't disagree with the totality.  And 

also the Court can also consider conduct that 

constitutes a harassment, as well.  But again, 

that's -- we'll get there when -- you know, I haven't 

heard any evidence yet in the case.  But I do -- 

Respondent stated -- "Respondent seeks to show there 

is an ongoing, and therefore not meritless or 

frivolous, misconduct issue between her at CODHS, that 

Respondent is pursuing outside of the instant matter 

all through lawful means."  Nothing in this Court's 

ruling -- I don't need to get to that issue, and 

there's nothing in this Court's ruling that will 

impact that outside matter.  I acknowledge -- I have 

no knowledge of it, but I will certainly concede if 

the parties represent to me there's another proceeding 

taking place, but I'm going to be very careful to 
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limit the scope of what it is I can lawfully do in 

this case.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge the only -- the only thing --  

THE COURT:  And Ms. Shomo --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- I would raise --  

THE COURT:  Yeah? 

MS. SHOMO:  --  and, again, tell me to shut up if -- 

if I should.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  I normally don't let people jump in 

during a ruling, but if it's assisting and helping 

with your understanding, I'm going to allow it this 

morning.  

MS. SHOMO:  I would, again, argue that agreed that 

those issues are irrelevant, except insofar as they 

may control the definition of the word "gun." 

THE COURT:  I don't see how that would be the case, 

but we'll cross that bridge when we get to it.   

Certainly, Ms. Shomo, you have the 

right to argue what you intended.  I don't mean to tie 

your hands that way, but there's a lot of extraneous 

information that that are contained in your exhibits, 

and I'm going to go through them one at a time, that 

are -- that might be very relevant and important in 

another proceeding.  But ultimately, there is an 

objective component, and so I'm going to also -- and 
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we'll cross that bridge when we come to it.  I don't 

want to issue an advisory ruling.  I haven't heard 

anything, so as of right now there -- it's a blank 

page, as far as what the hearing is going to look 

like.  

MS. SHOMO:  May I ask one last question, and this is 

procedural about open doors.  If the Petitioner opens 

a door to those issues, would I be able to ask the 

Court at that point to admit?  

THE COURT:  Yeah, and that's part of a later part of 

my ruling.  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  Oh --  

THE COURT:  As --  

MS. SHOMO:  I sincerely apologize for being difficult.  

THE COURT:  That's okay.  That's okay.  You're not 

being difficult.  And as I said, sometimes it helps to 

just explain along the way.   

So but because of Ms. Shomo's history 

of abuse and history with OCFMH, while obviously 

important in another setting, will not be relevant to 

this Court's determination of whether the TPO should 

be made permanent.  The misconduct matter, I want to 

be very clear, will be separate from the present 

hearing, and the Court is specifically finding, not 

relevant to the question of whether TPO should be made 
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permanent in this case.   

Okay.  So the facts that are clearly of 

consequence to the determination of the action are 

only those facts that are related to whether 

Respondent sent the emails constituting grounds for 

issuance of the TPO, and whether, unless restrained, 

Ms. Shomo will continue to commit those acts, or acts 

designed to intimidate or retaliate against 

Petitioner.   

Accordingly, the Court is going to 

limit the hearing to the emails sent by Ms. Shomo 

between August 8th to September 18th -- to September 

16th, 2025.  The Court is not going to receive 

evidence of emails by Ms. Shomo sent from October 28th 

through the hearing.   

The Court will also hear evidence 

regarding impact on personnel of Petitioner, but 

obviously subject to all other applicable rules of 

evidence and admissibility.  With respect to the issue 

of Ms. Shomo's subjective understanding of the 

threatening nature of her emails, this evidence is not 

going to be admitted during Petitioner's case-in-

chief.  It could potentially become admissible in 

rebuttal, depending on Respondent's case.   

Respondent offers proposed Exhibits A 
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through O.  At the outset, the Court notes that many 

of the exhibits will not be relevant to the Court's 

determination, given the limited issues and the ruling 

that this Court is making this morning.   

For example, with respect to Exhibit D, 

"the mental health system creates its own violence."  

The Court does not find Exhibit D relevant for today's 

proceeding.  Exhibit E, Respondent is Jewish, and the 

Court would note that this is an email from an 

individual -- someone else.  Eli --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge.  If I may, I would argue that that 

constitutes a religious record, which is a hearsay 

exception if the issue should come up.  

THE COURT:  The Court is not specifically holding that 

this is not relevant, and it does have hearsay -- it 

is hearsay, but most importantly not relevant to this 

proceeding.  So if this needs to be revisited -- but I 

am going to remain firm on the relevance, absent 

additional information.  Exhibit F: Perjury, the 

slideshow, not relevant to this Court's determination 

today. 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, can I --  

THE COURT:  G --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- I'm sorry.  Can I take you back to 

Exhibit D?  I just got my exhibit list up? 
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THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  Exhibit D, "Political speech makes its own 

violence."  Is one of the communications requested by 

Petitioner.  And as a consequence, I'm not clear on 

the Court's ruling that that exhibit is not relevant, 

in that that exhibit is the face of communication -- 

that is the précis.  I believe it's communication for 

B, but I, I should have, then --  

THE COURT:  D -- yeah, D --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- Exhibit D --  

THE COURT:  -- is from -- D is from you? 

MS. SHOMO:  It's the same as Petitioner's exhibit, 

which Petitioner requested to admit.  It's one of the 

four.   

THE COURT:  D is one of Petitioner's?  Is this the --  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes, D is the --  

THE COURT:  -- that's the September 8th?  Okay, thank 

you for that clarification.  

MS. SHOMO:  Simply a clarification that you may wish 

to be informed by that.  I do apologize.  

THE COURT:  No.  Don't apologize.  Okay.  I had seen 

"The mental health system creates its own violence", 

but this email that was sent from you to -- and either 

party can -- I'm assuming this email is one of the 

emails that was also sent to the Petitioner; is that 
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correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  The emails go to --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Hogue (sic)? 

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, it's Pogue, P-O-G-U-E.   

THE COURT:  Oh. 

MS. POGUE:  Don't worry.  This happens in every 

courtroom I'm in, every time.  So I just thought I 

would early correct that for the record.  But yes, 

Judge, that is Petitioner's Exhibit 2, is that email, 

and we wouldn't object to Ms. Shomo also bringing in 

her Exhibit D. 

THE COURT:  Well, wait, it is your exhibit, right? 

MS. POGUE:  Yes, it is our Exhibit 2, so --  

THE COURT:  But --  

MS. POGUE:  -- if she wants to admit it separately, 

but we are ready to admit that. 

MS. SHOMO:  There will be one email with --  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  -- there will be one email, where our 

exhibits differ.  Petitioner's exhibit lacks 

attachments.  However, that would be 4-D.  The other 

three exhibits are -- should be identical.  Mine have 

original emails.  

THE COURT:  A, B, C, D, then, Respondent may admit. 

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit D was admitted.) 
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THE COURT:  And Ms. Pogue, I am sorry and I will just 

state for the record, we certainly have crossed paths 

professionally, so I apologize.  I know your name, and 

I'm sorry.  

MS. POGUE:  No apologies, and --    

MS. SHOMO:  And -- and --  

MS. POGUE:  -- thank you, Judge.  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, may I ask of A, B and C, what 

were your rulings on relevance again?  

THE COURT:  A, B and C are -- I'm not making -- I'm 

not excluding them.  You'll have to lay foundation and 

admit them, but I'm not making any.  I'm not excluding 

them.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay?  And then --  

THE COURT:  I'm not ruling them admissible either, 

because that would be premature.  What I am -- they're 

subject to objection and ruling, but I'm not making 

any pre-trial ruling as I am for these other ones. 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Very well, then I would ask D be 

added to that list with consent of Petitioner.  

THE COURT:  Yes.  I agree.  Thank you.   

Okay.  E, for the reasons stated, the 

Court is going to not admit this on the basis of 

relevance, as well as hearsay.  Obviously, if there is 

some reason that Ms. Shomo thinks it becomes 
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relevant -- but at this time, it's not to be offered 

into evidence.  And we're not going to revisit all of 

my rulings.  Ultimately, depending on what happens 

here, there's -- we'll have to cross each bridge as we 

come to it, but --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I anticipate it may come up in 

impeachment of Ms. Clawson is the reason it's there. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Well, I'm going to ask 

for an offer of proof about Ms. Clawson as well.  So 

but that -- let's cross each bridge as we come to it.  

All right.   

Exhibit F, "Perjury, the slide show."  

The Court is finding that this is not relevant to the 

Court's determination, and it will not be admitted.  

Okay.  As to Exhibit G, "Petitioner's police report", 

which apparently is a police report.  The Court is not 

admitting this.  It is not relevant to the Court's 

determination, it also contains hearsay.   

Exhibit H --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, if the Court will entertain 

questions at an item level, I can also hold, but I 

would -- I -- I have a question on that --  

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- simply because one of the emails -- and 

again, this is something that will come in through 
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Petitioner's case.  One of the emails that Petitioner 

references is, "How would you like to call the police 

on my Facebook banner?", that was actually subsequent 

to that call to the police by Petitioner.  And what 

Respondent intends to show is a pattern of making 

threats out of thin air through either falsification 

or selective quotation as a defense.  So again, I 

believe that the issues in Petitioner's police report 

would come up, when it comes to the question of how 

Petitioner understood that message.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue, response? 

MS. POGUE:  Yes.  Judge, in terms of Ms. Shomo's 

contention that we'll be arguing, I guess the -- that 

the threats were made out of thin air, that's not the 

case.  We're actually not going to be -- I don't 

anticipate evidence regarding context behind the 

nature of the threats, or the reasons for the threats, 

more that the fact that the threats were made, and the 

threats posed a risk of --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge -- judge --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- a threat of --  

THE COURT:  One at a time.  

MS. POGUE:  Excuse me, Ms. Shomo.   

THE COURT:  (Inaudible)  

MS. POGUE:  -- more so that the communications that 
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were made pose a risk of threat of physical, 

emotional, and psychological harm to OCFMH, its 

employees, and Ms. Clawson.  

THE COURT:  I would answer -- I would say this.  

Ms. Shomo, there's nothing -- if it became an 

argument, nothing would prevent you from saying that 

you had called police in the past.  And then, I think 

we could certainly look at whether -- it's not going 

to be admissible, only based -- also, I've got hearsay 

concerns.  And I recognize there could be some in-the-

field rulings.  

MS. SHOMO:  I -- I -- I do have --  

THE COURT:  But I'm --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- Ms. Clawson available for cross-

examination to both parties.  So I believe -- I also 

have the -- a Lakewood police officer available for 

hearing.  But again, I would only raise it to 

establish that the word "gun" does not refer to a 

threat in any remote way.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  It is not physical.  My argument is that 

it is a threat of a response and an investigation by 

the federal authorities.   

THE COURT:  We're -- we're --  

MS. SHOMO:  And the full messages will reach that at 
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trial.   

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  So in that -- that is the definition of 

gun, said conduct may become admissible only for 

purposes of establishing that that is both a 

legitimate understanding and within Petitioner's true 

understanding of the communications.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And what I don't want to do is 

spend the next couple of hours arguing through each 

piece of evidence.   

MS. SHOMO:  Understood.  

THE COURT:  But I will tell you --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I can (inaudible) --  

THE COURT:  -- is, it doesn't -- that argument doesn't 

change my ruling with respect to the admissibility of 

a police report.  You can testify that you've called 

the police, but we'll cross the bridge, but I --  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay, Judge, well I have Ms. Clawson --  

THE COURT:  -- am -- I am making -- yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- reports to the police, are they covered 

by that ruling, or are they separate? 

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, I'm going to let you finish 

your sentences, but you've got to let me too, because 

this is being recorded.   

MS. SHOMO:  I apologize. 
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THE COURT:  That's okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  I apologize.  I'm very nervous.  

THE COURT:  That's okay.  Don't be nervous.  But I'm 

saying, we need to make sure to make a good court 

record.  So I'm going to -- you know, in trial, it's 

difficult for a Court to anticipate and make 

evidentiary rulings in a vacuum and prior to trial.  

That having been said, on its face -- and I've read 

all of your exhibits, I'm not seeing the relevance.  

You will be permitted at the time, to come -- to argue 

if you have a good faith basis, but from -- for 

example, Ms. Pogue's record right there, there may be 

things that aren't even going to be coming up.  So 

we'll, we'll kind of have to go case-by-case.  What 

I'm making is a preliminary ruling on admissibility, 

which is specifically what I was trying to do when I 

asked the parties to brief.  So this is actually my 

ruling.  Okay? 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Judge, if it might help with my 

list of objections, the vast majority of these 

exhibits are expected to rebut or to impeach.  They 

are not expected as case-in-chief, if that is helpful 

to the Court.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  That is helpful --  

MS. SHOMO:  I may have similar -- I have similar 
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scenarios where each of these exhibits may come up at 

trial as the door is opened.  

THE COURT:  But I -- do understand, like any trial 

court, when I do make a ruling on admissibility, that 

will be the ruling.  And then obviously there are --  

MS. SHOMO:  That is why I would ask the Court withhold 

any -- I apologize.  I cut you off.  Let me stop here, 

and then I will hold --  

THE COURT:  Yeah, I'm going to finish my ruling right 

now.  And I would ask for -- we'll just go through the 

rest of them, particularly in light of the fact you're 

anticipating some of these will be for rebuttal.  So 

you don't need to explain each one, but I do -- I'm 

going to make a record this morning.   

The Exhibit H involves Dr. Patrick Fox 

Communications.  On the basis of both relevance and 

hearsay, the Court will not be admitting those -- 

expect that these are admitted.  With respect to 

substantiation of a 2001 sexual assault, again, the 

Court finds this very far afield from the issues the 

Court has to determine today.  Therefore, the Court 

will not be admitting Exhibit 1 (sic).  Exhibit A 

(sic), this email is about the rape of children.  This 

Exhibit J contains approximately 20 to 30 pages.  

Again, going through this, none of this is relevant to 
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the question of number one, did Ms. Shomo send the 

messages?  Do they constitute threats sufficient to 

give rise to issuance of the protection order, 

obviously, if it has been established by a 

preponderance of the evidence, that Ms. Shomo would 

continue to commit -- or send these kind of emails.   

So Exhibit K is an asbestos hit and 

where the bodies are buried.  For the same reasons, 

the Court is declining to admit on the basis of 

relevance.  Exhibit L, lethal conduct by the parties.  

Halothane -- the Court had to look up halothane.  I 

now know what that is.  But again, that is not 

relevant to the issue today.   

And I want to be clear, may be relevant 

in another Court proceeding.  Nothing in this Court's 

ruling should be construed as to calling into question 

the veracity of these exhibits or their legitimacy, 

but I am making a very narrow ruling, with respect to 

what I need to do today.  Exhibit M, false charting by 

CODHS, anti-Semitism.  Again, there's a song in here, 

and some progress notes.  On the basis of relevance, 

false charting by CODHS, perjury.  As I make the 

ruling almost every day in this courtroom, we're not 

going to be looking at alleged bad conduct of the 

Petitioner.  That would be for a different forum and 
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for a different time.  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, may I just offer the Court 

reassurances?  I am not trying to litigate those 

issues before this Court.  I did not file this 

proceeding.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Exhibit O, false reporting, 

Lakewood police report.  For the same reasons that 

I've already set forth, also, this contains quite a 

bit of hearsay information.  And then, Exhibit P is --  

this is a bomb threat.  And I don't believe that this 

constitutes any of the -- this was communication 

with -- between Ms. Shomo and the United States Air 

Force.  And again, for the same reasons, the Court 

would be making a ruling on admissibility based on 

relevance.   

So with that and if there --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I --  

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- and you have reached the end of the 

list.  Exhibit P is Respondent's Exhibit 4-D.  So if 

the Court is --  

THE COURT:  Is it --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- finding Exhibit --  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  And that's my apology.  All 

right.  Exhibit P, then, shall be -- the Court -- 
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that's my fault.  The Exhibit P --  

MS. SHOMO:  And with respect to Exhibit O, I would 

only offer a factual note to the Court that hearsay is 

not an issue.  That report is by Respondent.  The 

report is offered to demonstrate that Respondent made 

said report.  What Respondent primarily anticipates, 

is a direct recording of Ms. Clawson to be offered on 

impeachment, as has been entered into exhibit.  

Basically, the list of exhibits Respondent has 

requested are principally those anticipated to reply 

to the State's (sic) case-in-chief -- the Petitioner's 

case-in-chief.  They are not the substance of 

Respondent's case-in-chief.  The substance of 

Respondent's case-in-chief is that she has been 

working with individuals who have, either 

themselves -- identified themselves as federal agents, 

or have been clearly working with, and co-located 

with, those individuals who have expressly identified.  

On this matter, justified by the conduct stated, that 

the word gun is a reference to that federal 

involvement as established.  And I can make -- I can 

take that at trial --  

THE COURT:  I want to hear your opening statement, and 

it sounds like you're beginning it, so let's put a pin 

in that.  All of this is very important for opening 
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statement.  

MS. SHOMO:  I would just ask the Court to withhold any 

hard exclusions.  O is not hearsay because I'm 

available for cross-examination.  But I would ask the 

Court to hold any hard exclusions on those issues, if 

the door is opened.  Otherwise, for case-in-chief 

Respondent will of course abide the Court's order, and 

the Court's order was not unanticipated. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  But just to let you know, 

ultimately, I'll be making the evidentiary rulings.   

MS. SHOMO:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  It is subject to my discretion, and so we 

won't -- I think you've made some record here today, 

which is important, but we will -- we'll cross each 

bridge as we come to it.   

All right.  So Bridget Clawson.  Let me 

start by getting a witness list from each side.  So 

let's start with Petitioner.  And I think I have -- I 

printed out -- that's fine.  I already have the 

witness list.  I did my best to organize.  Let's see.  

And then, I guess we'll go through the motions 

beforehand as well.  Let's see, witness list.  All 

right, so for Petitioner's witness list, which was 

filed on December 16th, the Court has Leora Joseph and 

Respondent; is that correct, Ms. Pogue?  
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MS. POGUE:  Yes, Judge.  That's correct.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And Respondent's witness list will 

include Bridget Clawson, Billy Wade, Agent Gomez-

Gonzalez, and Tyler Harrington; is that correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  I believe Tyler Harrington was not 

subpoenaed, and that issue is withdrawn with the 

withdrawal of the expanded scope, so it is just the 

three: Ms. Bridget Clawson, who is specifically 

referenced as causes for the restraining order; that 

police report is what I was replying to that can come 

up at trial.  But that is my proof of relevance for 

Ms. Clawson.  I seek to examine her as an adverse 

witness, and I seek by so doing, to demonstrate that 

the office's case is facetious.   

Billy Wade is the person who provided 

Ms. Clawson's name to me.  I seek to call him for how 

that occurred, and his assessment as a law enforcement 

officer, as to whether I actually constitute any 

danger to Ms. Clawson.  It is my doubt serving as a 

command officer at the hospital police, if he 

legitimately believed there would be any danger in 

providing that information, he would not provide it, 

simply because I imputed his honor to get the info out 

of him.  And then, so he --  

THE COURT:  (Inaudible) -- let me -- may I interrupt 
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you, and I apologize?  I don't think I understand the 

relevance of -- so Billy Wade is a -- where does Billy 

Wade --  

MS. SHOMO:  He is a command officer in law enforcement 

at the State hospital in Pueblo.  He's with the 

hospital police.  He is the person who identified 

Ms. Clawson to me, whose name was previously unknown 

to me.  I knew this only as an action of the business 

entity.  And I am arguing that I can admit -- if there 

is a claim that I am a physical threat to Ms. Clawson, 

I am asking to admit his judgment as a law enforcement 

officer and his rationale for providing the name.  

Because I do not believe that my comments to him would 

have been sufficient to get the name if he thought 

there was any danger.  

THE COURT:  Well, a couple --  

MS. SHOMO:  And in his --  

THE COURT:  -- things.  That was -- that his opinion 

as to whether you constitute a danger would not be 

appropriate because that goes to the ultimate issue in 

this case.  And as for his -- you are speculating as 

to what his reasons might be for --  

MS. SHOMO:  I would have to -- 

THE COURT:  -- if I may?   

MS. SHOMO:  Sorry.  
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THE COURT:  You're speculating as to his reasons, and 

asking me to speculate that he gave you the name 

because he didn't think you were a threat.  Not -- 

that, by any logic, we don't get to that question.  If 

you're calling him just for the purpose of stating he 

provided you with the name, you can do that, but his 

opinion as to --  

MS. SHOMO:  And as for --  

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- the description of my demeanor and 

matters like that which may be relevant to the Court, 

and the ultimate question.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue, do you have an objection to 

Mr. Wade -- or Command Ofc. Wade testifying for that 

limited purpose? 

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, that would just be for 

Commander Wade's kind of perception of Ms. Shomo's 

demeanor? 

THE COURT:  Sounds like.  And the fact that the name 

Bridget Clawson was provided to Commander Wade (sic).  

MS. POGUE:  I have no objection to that. 

THE COURT:  Or to Ms. Shomo, excuse me.  

MS. POGUE:  No objection to that, Judge. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So I think I understand 

the reason for calling Ms. Clawson, then.  Ms. Pogue, 
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is there an objection to that, and are you requesting 

further record, be made on what Ms. Clawson would be 

testifying to?  

MS. POGUE:  No, Judge, not as it relates to 

Ms. Clawson.  However, given that Ms. Shomo has 

indicated that Ms. Clawson is an adverse witness, I'm 

wondering if it would make more sense for us to 

initially call Ms. Clawson, so that we can begin with 

the direct examination and Ms. Shomo can do her cross-

examination just for efficiency's sake?  But just 

wanted to put that out, that idea out there for 

Ms. Shomo.   

THE COURT:  Well, I have --  

MS. SHOMO:  Respondent has no objection --  

THE COURT:  If I may? 

MS. SHOMO:  -- sorry. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo.  I have to confess to the 

parties, it's been a while since I've had to look at 

the question of adverse witnesses.  But I don't think 

that -- I think that they need to be established 

before someone can move for it.   

If you want to call Ms. Clawson in your 

case-in-chief, that's a matter of strategy, which I'll 

defer to you about.  But I'll take a quick look at the 

rule relating to adverse witness.  I haven't done one 
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in quite a while, but I -- it may be that that the 

foundation needs to be established before someone is 

treated as adverse because you're getting the benefit 

of cross.  So let me start with a threshold question.  

Do you want to call Ms. Clawson in your case-in-chief?  

MS. POGUE:  If Ms. Clawson's going to be called as a 

witness, then yes, Judge, we would.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So we'll -- so she'll be available 

for you, Ms. Shomo as well, okay? 

MS. SHOMO:  And Respondent offers no objection to 

that, if this is the proper time to say so.  

THE COURT:  Yes.  Thank you for asking.  Okay.  Then, 

Agent Gomez-Gonzalez.  What are you -- I mean, what is 

that testimony?  

MS. SHOMO:  Ms. Gonzalez was the responding officer to 

Ms. Clawson's 911 call immediately prior, within days 

prior to the filing of this TRO -- I'm sorry, it was 

approximately 30 days prior to the filing of the TRO, 

and how Ms. Shomo's statements have been construed, 

Ms. Gomez-Gonzalez is therefore offered as a second 

witness to Mr. Wade on all of the same topics, 

concerning her interaction with Respondent, her 

assessment and impressions as a law enforcement 

officer concerning Respondent's demeanor, any 

perception of threat to the extent she's subjectively 
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able to make it, or if not those factors, the Court 

would consider in determining whether or not there is 

a threat.  So that's two law enforcement witnesses, 

basically the same theme there.  And it's my 

understanding that OFMCH will be offering counter 

testimony, so this is my counter to that. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue, any objection -- and I would 

state the same: I will not allow any party to testify 

as to whether Respondent is a threat, because that 

goes to the ultimate issue.  But if Agent 

Gomez-Gonzalez was actually present for part of the 

relevant incidents, and would be able to testify about 

demeanor, is there any objection to that?  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, person -- well, I would say that I 

do not find that -- or I would argue that this 

testimony is not going to be relevant.  This one 

officer's interaction with Ms. Shomo in kind of one 

event, I don't see how that's going to go to the 

ultimate issue.   

That being said, if it's limited to 

that, and it's brief, I suppose I don't object to it.  

But I do question the relevance.  And if questioning 

comes up, then I might be objecting to relevance 

throughout the questioning.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo -- yeah.  In an abundance of 
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caution and noting the very low threshold required for 

Rule 401, I will allow Agent Gomez-Gonzalez to 

testify, okay? 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  All right.  So --  

MS. SHOMO:  And I would note, I guess the matter is 

resolved, but I would just want to note that I believe 

the office does mean to offer the same kind of 

testimony from their side.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, I have -- I've done my 

best to the parties to try and kind of organize 

matters, but I am --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, there --  

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- is a motion that the Court has not 

addressed.  It was from --  

THE COURT:  Yeah, it's the next one I'm starting 

with --   

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible).   

THE COURT:  You're one step ahead of me, Ms. Shomo.  

Yeah.  I'm going to go through each one of the 

motions, but I -- do you want me to -- if you want me 

to take them up in a particular order, that's fine. 

MS. SHOMO:  Well, the other scope motion was late.  It 

was on the subject of gun.  It was a video to 
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substantiate that I am working with individuals I 

reasonably, and in good faith, understand to be 

federal authorities.  It is my understanding it's 

trial prep.  That would all be in my opening 

statement, but I have a video with the individual, 

where we solve two crimes simultaneously, both of 

which just happened to come up, and I was responding 

as they were presenting to me.  One was a domestic 

assault, one was a hacking attack.  There are many 

thematic parallels with the case.  And I filed to 

admit that the same day DOJ did admit -- did formally 

notify the State of a investigation, I believe civil 

in nature, into the Department of Corrections and the 

Department of Youth Services on Constitutional rights, 

on appropriate medical care -- access to appropriate 

medical care, and some issues which are not 

Respondents issue, which coincided with this, which 

came first.   

In the motion, it was my contention 

that this was the response from the feds.  If they are 

not feds, I've made the feds aware that this is going 

on, that these people exist.  I've provided video and 

I've asked for contradiction.  So it is my good faith 

understanding that the statements that I will be 

admitting, which are in the exhibits, which will 
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pretty much destroy the TRO are in fact true, and this 

video substantiates that.  And it substantiates that 

by showing that these events are, in fact, what is 

occurring, that the Court will find leads to a 

preponderance determination that this is, in fact, 

occurring.   

Additionally, Respondent would cite the 

fact that she's told the feds about this.  She has not 

received any correction to the impression she's been 

given, including from some individuals who have been 

willing to identify as feds, and that she has not been 

arrested for impersonation herself, which will become 

relevant when we get to Exhibit B.  

THE COURT:  Okay, well, let's do this, and I don't 

mean to interrupt you.  I appreciate the record that 

you've made.  I'm not hearing relevance about your 

work you might have done with another law enforcement 

agency, but we'll have to kind of cross --  

MS. SHOMO:  That (inaudible) --  

THE COURT:  -- we'll cross each bridge as we come to 

it.  On that, okay?   

MS. SHOMO:  Understood. 

THE COURT:  So -- all right.  Motions that are 

outstanding.  I'll just start taking these up, and I 

want to make sure that I've gotten each one of them, 
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okay?  So (inaudible) on my desk.  I want to read it.  

Thank you.   

All right.  Court would note -- and again, in no 

particular order, but I want to make sure -- and then 

I'll turn it to the parties to ask if they have -- if 

I've missed any.   

On December 12th of 2025, there was a 

notice of DOJ investigation in adjacent state 

agencies.  It sounds like that is touching on what 

Respondent has just stated.  I don't see any need to 

make a ruling on that at this time.   

We have already ruled on the motion to 

continue, present witnesses, or limited scope filed on 

December 16th.  Likewise, the one filed on November 

13th now is moot, which is the motion to include 

remaining attachments to communications.  November 

13th, also motion to include one additional 

representative publication.  Again, I think that that 

has been rendered moot by the Court's ruling.  

Likewise, motion -- just a second.  Motion to include 

remaining attachments to communications filed on 

November 13th is also moot, in light of the Court's 

ruling.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, on that motion, may I briefly?  

That motion provides the additional attachments to 
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Exhibit P, which is Petitioners 4-D, so I expect it 

will come up at trial, as it is the content of what 

Petitioner's communications.  

THE COURT:  Yes.  And I think because I've made a 

ruling on that, that it becomes -- that one becomes 

moot at this point.  Okay.   

MS. SHOMO:  I apologize, I wasn't clear on that.  I'm 

just trying to -- I'm trying to exhibit an appropriate 

courtroom demeanor while vigorously defending my 

rights.  And I am pro se, so I thank the Court for 

bearing with me.  

THE COURT:  That's okay, and I understand.  And most 

parties here are -- in front of me are pro se, so I 

am -- I understand it can be an overwhelming 

experience, so I will do my best to answer questions 

for you along the way.  All right --  

MS. POGUE:  Judge?  Sorry.  Judge?  If I might just 

briefly, on that -- this last one on the attachment?  

Just for the Court to know, the -- we are not planning 

to admit the attachment, we were just planning to 

admit the email.  So it is a separate document, just 

so the Court is aware.  We are happy to wait to see if 

an objection is appropriate when an attempted 

admission is made.  But I just wanted to make sure the 

parties are aware.  
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THE COURT:  P?  Are we talking about P now?  

MS. SHOMO:  We are talking about -- we are talking 

about the totality of an email message, which includes 

in emails, attachments.  They are part of the message.  

And we are talking about the contents, the entire 

contents of my Exhibit P.  The -- this --  

THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll cross the bridge --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- okay.  

THE COURT:  I don't mean to interrupt, but if I can 

help streamline this a little bit.  Yeah, we'll cross 

that bridge then.  Because my first question is, was 

that also sent to the Petitioner?  So why don't we 

cross each bridge as we come to it on that one? 

MS. SHOMO:  It was, ma'am.  And again, those -- those 

exhibits were primarily filed in anticipation of the 

totality of trial.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Here's the Petitioner's brief.  

I believe we've just had argument on motion to admit 

video with neighbor, and that one will be held in 

abeyance.  Motion of DOJ investigation.  I'll just say 

that I'm finding these to be not relevant to what the 

Court needs to, but I certainly -- if it's going to 

come up about the definition of the gun and Ms. Shomo 

wishes to -- and I'm not finding relevance of DOJ --  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, if I may supply --  
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THE COURT:  No.  If I may --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- the Court --  

THE COURT:  -- can I -- yeah.  I'm not finding any 

relevance at this point to the DOJ investigation of 

adjacent state agencies.  I find that to be extremely 

far afield from anything we're going to be discussing 

today.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, if I may --  

THE COURT:  But that's --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- call the Court's attention to one 

matter that I believe may have escaped its notice? 

THE COURT:  Yes? 

MS. SHOMO:  The communications in Exhibit B expressly 

define gun as working with a federal agency, and the 

message, Ms. Shomo has a gun in Exhibit B, contains a 

notation that the message had been authorized by the 

United States Secret Service, and that consequently 

makes evidence for the involvement of federal 

authorities the issue, and that can be brought in as I 

rebut however Petitioner construes that message.  

THE COURT:  But do know, Ms. Shomo, my specific ruling 

is that your intent in sending those messages is not 

relevant to this Court's determination.  So while I 

understand --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) --  
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THE COURT:  So the question is, if a -- if an email 

was sent that used the word, "gun" to Petitioner, and 

it caused alarm in the use of the word gun, again, I 

don't see how your -- what you intended the gun to 

mean is not --  

MS. SHOMO:  Because the message on its face disclosed 

that, as will be shown in Exhibit B.  That can be a 

trial issue.   

THE COURT:  It is -- it's --  

MS. SHOMO:  But I would ask the Court to withhold 

simply because that is not only Respondent's 

contention, but it is Respondent's contention, that is 

what she unambiguously communicated to the department.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So we don't -- the motion for 

subpoena to produce all voicemails for Tyler 

Harrington is moot. 

MS. SHOMO:  Withdrawn.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  I think I've gone through.  Let's 

see, it's a notice, affidavit of service.  Am I 

missing any other motions out there that the parties 

are aware of?  I want to make sure I address 

everything. 

MS. POGUE:  Not from the Petitioner, Judge.  We did 

have one brief other matter to raise, but no 

additional motions outstanding.  
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THE COURT:  Thank you, Ms. Shomo.  Anything else?  

MS. SHOMO:  No.  Respondent is not aware of any 

unresolved matter at this time.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, then, let's turn our 

attention before we start the hearing, and I'm going 

to also my clerk with respect to timing, but actually 

let me do that right now, if I may be permitted?  

Okay.  Are the parties -- I'm going to 

I'm going to turn my attention to any housekeeping 

matters that the parties may have.  But before we do 

that, I'm going to also order a sequestration of the 

witnesses.  So let me see.  Who do we have?  Yeah, 

looks like we have Billy Wade on and we have 

Ms. Clawson, and --  

MS. SHOMO:  Do we have Agent Gomez-Gonzalez in the 

courtroom?  I don't see her in the room -- in the 

virtual? 

THE COURT:  I see Ms. Clawson in the virtual. 

MS. SHOMO:  Ms. Gomez-Gonzalez.   

THE COURT:  I don't see.  Does anybody else see? 

MS. SHOMO:  Because in that case, return of subpoena 

was served.  If Ms. Gonzalez was not one of the 

persons in the courtroom and is not on the line, we 

cannot today proceed to trial without that witness. 

THE COURT:  Proposal: What if we went forward and then 
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did what we can do today?  We've blocked out this 

time.  And then I would be willing to have a brief 

later proceeding to allow Agent Gomez-Gonzalez to 

appear? 

MS. SHOMO:  Respondent is prepared for that.  It -- 

would the Court, then, withhold issuing a PRO if the 

Court were so inclined, until it had heard that 

testimony, in that it will directly rebut the claims 

of Ms. Leola (sic) Joseph, for instance.  

THE COURT:  Well, as to the last part, I wouldn't make 

a ruling on that.  But yes, I would not issue a ruling 

until both parties have had opportunity to present 

everything.  

MS. SHOMO:  Understood.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  So let me do this, then.  Are the 

parties ready to start the hearing?  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, may I raise two brief issues? 

THE COURT:  Of course.  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, preliminarily, we will raise this 

in our closing, but there is a case that came out of 

the Supreme Court of the United States, I believe it 

was last session, which is People v. Counterman.  We 

do think that People v. Counterman does require an 

extra finding as to the substantive nature of 

statements that were made by Ms. Shomo.   
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So we will be asking that the Court 

make a finding that Ms. Shomo also acted recklessly in 

her communications, in terms of the substance of the 

communications as it goes to her, I guess, her First 

Amendment rights.  And that is --  

MS. SHOMO:  With respect, Judge, may I -- may I make 

one objection? 

THE COURT:  No.   

MS. SHOMO:  Well, then, I'm sorry.  

THE COURT:  I'll tell you what, I agree with that 

point on the Counterman decision, which I'm going to 

go get, and I'll read into the finding of the record, 

but it does require a find -- it involves repeated 

communications, and the United States Supreme Court 

did hold that the Respondent's subjective intent in 

how he sent these text messages -- or these 

communications to the -- or I'm sorry, Respondent 

sending to Petitioner did become relevant, and there 

was a requirement of recklessness.  I agree.  

Ms. Shomo, in light of that --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) is a requirement of 

recklessness, in fact, I would emphasize that, and 

would argue she's demonstrated that anything but has 

occurred.  Her only objection --  

THE COURT:  Oh, we're not --  
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MS. SHOMO:  -- would we hold Counterman is that --  

THE COURT:  -- Ms. Shomo, we're not -- yeah.  We're 

not getting to the question of whether it was 

reckless.  I agree with Ms. Pogue --  

MS. SHOMO:  I have no objection to the substantive 

finding.  I simply wanted to remind the Court that the 

Petitioner had specifically indicated they were not 

seeking this under the stalking grounds, that 

Petitioner, through previous counsel at the 10/28 

hearing, specifically told the Court that they were 

arguing for direct physical threat as the basis for 

the restraining order.   

And it's my understanding in a civil 

matter at that point, and especially with the 

withdrawal of anything broadening it, any claim of 

stalking is therefore in this proceeding waived, 

though of course, I'm perfectly happy to defend it.  

It also fails.  But I would -- I would ask if that is 

the case? 

THE COURT:  But Counterman absolutely involved 

threats, and it was --  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  And I'm not disputing Counterman.  

In fact, I'm arguing --  

THE COURT:  I know this is high emotion, but you've 

got to let me finish what I'm saying. 
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MS. SHOMO:  I apologize.  

THE COURT:  I'm not -- I will absolutely be making 

that ruling today based on Counterman, so that is 

going to -- I do need to look at the -- your 

subjective intent in this case.  And I do need to make 

a determination as to your mental state.  I agree.   

MS. SHOMO:  On that, I have no objection.  I simply 

pulled the precedent when it was mentioned, and I saw 

stalking, so I wanted to remind the Court of that at 

the previous hearing is all.  I apologize for --  

THE COURT:  No, that's fine.  Let me look at something 

real quick.  

MS. SHOMO:  I am familiar with that standard, I 

believe, from a different case name.  It may be 

Counterman, but that is the standard I was expecting 

would be applied at this hearing.  

THE COURT:  I would note that the parties have only 

checked the physical assault box.  So are you 

proceeding under also a stalking theory?  Assault, 

threat, or other situation?  

MS. POGUE:  Yes, Judge.  Yes, we are.  

THE COURT:  And you can.  Give me one moment.  I'm 

going to pull up my binder.  I'll bring it back.  I 

want to cite Counterman.  

(Pause) 
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MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, if I may, I would ask the Court 

if they're allowed to modify their previous assertion 

on that.  If they are, I will happily defend it.  I 

have no fear of that.  

THE COURT:  Yes, they are allowed to -- we are 

proceeding under both the stalking, as well as the 

threats.  In the case of Counterman v. Colorado, and 

for this record, it's 600 U.S. 66, 143 S.Ct. 2106, 216 

L. Ed. 2d 775 (2023).  The Supreme Court did, in fact, 

hold that the First Amendment requires proof -- this 

isn't a criminal action, though, Ms. Pogue, 

that -- regarding a true threat.  That the Defendant 

had some subjective understanding of the threatening 

nature of his statement, which abrogated People v. 

Cross.  Recklessness is the appropriate mens rea 

consistent with the First Amendment for a criminal 

case.  So it's the Petitioner's argument that 

Counterman is applying -- although it was limited 

specifically to a criminal case, you're 

applying -- you're stating it applies in this case? 

MS. POGUE:  Judge, that is what we are implying, and 

that is a direction that we receive from other 

appellate attorneys.  A lot of that is based on the 

dissent in Counterman, which talks about the impact on 

protection order hearings.   
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THE COURT:  Yep. 

MS. POGUE:  I suppose what the -- our request will be 

at the end of the hearing is, at the very least, that 

the Court make findings related to that --  

THE COURT:  (Inaudible)  

MS. POGUE:  -- related to the recklessness piece, for 

purposes of the record.  

THE COURT:  In an abundance of caution, I will make 

those findings, and whatever they may be -- I would -- 

yeah, that may also change the scope of evidence in 

the case as well.  You recognize that? 

MS. POGUE:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  And I don't say that in any sarcastic way.  

I'm simply saying that if you are intending on 

producing evidence of Ms. Shomo's subjective intent, 

the Court understands, and will rule accordingly as we 

cross each bridge, okay? 

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, this -- yeah, absolutely.  And 

Judge, there will be another case that we can cite to 

later which is People v. Crawford.  So that is a 

Colorado case that interprets Counterman.  It was just 

last year.   

THE COURT:  That's what happens in this binder.  

MS. POGUE:  In that case -- I know there's been some 

just developments to this area.  And so, Crawford 
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stands for the idea that the repeated communications 

you don't establish -- or don't -- are not required to 

establish the recklessness.  However, it's if you are 

arguing that the substance of the conversations is 

threatening, that that is what's required for the 

recklessness piece, so. 

THE COURT:  Well, let me stop you right there.  And I 

guess this is as good a time as any to get some 

guidance.  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo --  

MS. SHOMO:  I will hold. 

THE COURT:  -- you're going to have to let me finish, 

okay?  And then you'll have the opportunity.  

Subsection 1(b) is the true threats, where -- I'm 

going to get these reversed -- but 1(c) is the 

emotional distress, which is the repeated 

communication directed to, in a manner intended to 

harass, which is a different subsection than (b), so 

which one -- which theory -- or either?  Are you -- 

maybe you're proceeding under both?  And I'm -- just 

for this record, I'm citing the stalking statute, 

which is 18-3-602, and under that statute -- because 

1(b) is making a credible threat to another person, 

and in connection with that threat, repeatedly makes 
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any form of communication with that person.  But 

subsection (c) is repeatedly follows, approaches, 

contacts, or places under surveillance in a manner to 

cause a reasonable person to suffer serious emotional 

distress.   

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, we would be proceeding on both 

of those theories, either as a and, or and/or 

possibilities as it relates to the risk of threat -- 

the risk or threat of physical harm, or threat of 

psychological or emotional harm.  

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, I would simply note that 

pursuant to the precedent, it's not enough for there 

to be many communications.  The communications also 

have to create that threat through either recklessness 

or direct threat.  If there are many communications, 

but they are principally substantive, that does not 

meet the burden.  

THE COURT:  No, I understand.  Yeah.  And that'll be a 

legal matter.  I'll have to apply that law to the 

facts that I hear, okay?  All right.   

Additional record to be made by 

Petitioner, and then I'll ask -- or any housekeeping 

matters? 

MS. POGUE:  Yes, Judge.  Given that Ms. Shomo is 
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planning to admit, or is at least seeking admission of 

Exhibits that match exhibits that we have proposed, 

which are Exhibits 1 through 4, we are wondering if 

Respondent would stipulate to the admission of 

Exhibits 1 through 4 in our case, simply as it lays 

to -- or simply as it refers to laying the basic 

foundation for admission.  

MS. SHOMO:  If Petitioner would stipulate to the 

admission of Respondent's exhibits in turn, 

specifically those exhibits which constitute either 

the messages themselves, or anything directly attached 

to them or sent along with them, to wit, Exhibits B, 

C, D, P, Q, R, and S, and then any other attachments 

that are elsewhere in the stack.  There are a few 

references to attachments that were provided as other 

lettered exhibits and not provided twice to the Court.  

Respondent would be --  

THE COURT:  It sounds like (inaudible).  That's okay, 

Ms. Shomo.  It --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- the entirety of those messages be -

admitted --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo? 

MS. SHOMO:  -- sorry.   

THE COURT:  It sounds like there's no agreement.  

That's fine.  But I would note with a little bit of 
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concern that you're referencing some of the exhibits 

that I've specifically excluded already.  So again --  

MS. SHOMO:  Well, Judge, that's why I'm saying, if any 

of those exhibits are excluded, they were attached to 

the communication.  And therefore --  

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- it will --  

THE COURT:  I understand, but that doesn't 

automatically make them admissible.  So if they 

were -- I think if they were --  

MS. SHOMO:  If they're a part of the communication, 

and they establish what the communication is saying on 

its face, that -- that -- that does tend towards their 

admissibility, it would be inappropriate for the Court 

to restrict from any individual message, only say, a 

specific sentence when the sentence that the Court is 

excluding makes it clear, the nature of the threat. 

THE COURT:  Well, we're going to cross the bridges 

when we come to them.   

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  But I will tell you, if you sent them to 

the Petitioner, they're very likely going to be 

admitted.   

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  If it's -- if it's --  
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MS. SHOMO:  That's is Respondent's only issue. 

THE COURT:  -- if I may?  If I may?   

MS. SHOMO:  Sorry.   

THE COURT:  If it's supplemental information that's 

helping you to explain them, they may not be 

admissible, but we'll find out.   

Also, just for purposes of everyone's 

edification, I have instituted a time limitation of 

this courtroom.  I am not going to hold the parties to 

it, but I want to just let you know that I've been 

restricting parties to 45 minutes a side.  I recognize 

that there are nuances and some matter -- this -- that 

is a -- there's a lot going on in this case, but it 

certainly can act as a guidepost for you because I 

have been stopping witnesses if I feel that we're 

getting into areas that are unfruitful.  Yesterday, 

conversely, we went three hours, or three-and-a-half, 

whatever we went.  But -- so it's not --  I'm not 

going to limit you because you weren't on notice of 

it.  But I do want you to know that across the State, 

and I've done a little researching, that there are a 

lot of people -- courts similarly situated in other 

jurisdictions that do impose very strict time 

limitations on these civil protection order hearings.  

So I would like you to please all bear that in mind 
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when we go forward. 

Obviously, the pursuit of the case, and 

the truth, and hearing what is relevant is extremely 

important, but I just want to issue that caveat.  All 

right?   

Anything else from a housekeeping 

standpoint the Petitioner? 

MS. POGUE:  Not from the Petitioner, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Shomo, anything housekeeping 

from you?  

MS. SHOMO:  No.  I -- I believe we're ready to 

proceed.  I would just ask the -- again, many of -- 

many of the exhibits are matters that Respondent 

anticipates calling upon to -- to rebut the People's 

case-in-chief.  Her own case-in-chief is -- is bound 

up in the messages themselves, and what they say on 

their face.  And the support for the fact that she is, 

in fact, as purported, either working with feds or 

somebody who's very good at pretending to be feds and 

is willing to do it in the open.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let's do this.  Ten minutes for 

each side for opening.  So with that, is it -- let's 

start with Petitioner's opening.  

MS. POGUE:  Thank you, Judge.   

THE COURT:  Let me make sure -- Ms. Clawson, you're 
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going to have to disengage for now, and then, we'll 

call you back.  Since you're going to be called by 

Petitioner first, they'll call you back.  You 

obviously know how to get on the platform when such 

time as you will be called as a witness, okay? 

Ms. CLAWSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  And I believe --  

THE COURT:  Now, Ms. Joseph -- Ms. Joseph --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- Wade --  

THE COURT:  -- is a named party.  Pardon? 

MS. SHOMO:  Is Mr. Wade also off the line?  You had 

wanted to sequester all witnesses? 

THE COURT:  I'm not sure I was going to ask that 

question.  Where is Mr. Wade?  I think he dropped off. 

MS. POGUE:  I believe he logged off.  Yeah.   

THE COURT:  What I'm showing is there's a Tiffany on 

here, who might be just -- oh, she's not a named 

witness, so she can remain.  

MS. SHOMO:  I believe she --  

MS. POGUE:  Your -- Ms. Henry's with our office. 

THE COURT:  Okay, sounds good.  All right.  All right.  

With that, the Court will call 25-W-1324.  We've had 

appearances of the parties.   

Opening statement for Petitioner? 

MS. POGUE:  Thank you, Judge.   
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As the Court has already discussed, 

what we have to establish today and what Petitioner 

has to prove, is that by a preponderance of the 

evidence that Ms. Shomo has committed acts 

constituting grounds for issuance of a civil 

protection order, and that, unless restrained, 

Ms. Shomo will continue to commit the acts designed to 

intimidate or retaliate against the protected person.  

And as I also discussed, if we are arguing the 

substance of communications and that they are 

threatening, we must also establish that Ms. Shomo was 

acting recklessly when she made those substantive 

communications.  And then under the People v. Crawford 

matter, for the communications that we are arguing are 

repeated and done in a harassing way.  Because of 

simply the repeated nature and not the substance, we 

do not need to establish that reckless nature.   

The Petitioner will put forth evidence 

that will establish all of the necessary elements that 

will be necessary for the Court to find that a 

permanent protection order is appropriate.  As this 

Court may be aware, Ms. Shomo has had a relationship 

with the Office of Civil and Forensic Mental Health 

for several years, and over the past year to several 

years, has been in communications with the Office of 
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Civil and Forensic Mental Health.   

Over the past year, those 

communications have intensified both in volume and in 

substance.  We have submitted four emails that 

contained statements, such as, "this is a bomb 

threat", and "Aubrey Shomo has a gun", talking about 

how individuals who have been hospitalized, how they 

can become mass shooters by a byproduct of the system.  

And those statements, on their face, are threatening 

and would certainly cause an individual who is reading 

them to feel threatened, both for their physical, 

emotional, and psychological harm and safety.  Intent, 

as the Court has already described -- in terms of -- 

when I say intent, let me backtrack on that -- the 

Court does not need to find that Ms. Shomo would 

actually follow through on these threats.  The Court 

simply needs to find that Ms. Shomo was acting 

recklessly in sending those threats, and that they 

could cause anyone who was to receive them to feel in 

danger, and that the substance themselves would lead a 

reasonable person to feel that way.  And we will 

establish that by the end of our case-in-chief.  Thank 

you, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Opening statement, Ms. Shomo? 

MS. SHOMO:  Petitioner is in -- well, first of all, 
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they were not sent with intent to harass.  But the 

mere existence of repeated communications is not 

itself to establish threats.  Ms. Shomo has described 

herself as working with federal authorities.  She has 

done so in good faith on the basis of true third 

parties, i.e. persons not herself -- this is not in 

her head -- who have expressly identified as such. 

She has made statements with authority, 

statements on their face, that were authorized by this 

cluster of persons, and that authority had been 

confirmed thereby and has not been disputed by the 

feds.  Beyond that, short of saying that's what 

happened, letting the U.S. Attorney's office know, 

letting the feds know that this is going on, 

Respondent has absolutely no other way of verifying 

that.  She must take these people at their words.   

She believes they are preparing a trial 

in a matter -- actually, she's been led to believe 

that the State of Colorado is not likely to be the 

trial matter.  However, the statement, "You've got a 

gun" originated with these folks who began, "I give 

you a gun", and then went to "You've got a gun", and 

refers to the participation of Respondent with these 

authorities.  That is clear on the face of those 

messages.  And as a consequence of that, as well as 
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in, in additional context, in parallel, there is 

simply no threat of violence.   

Respondent is facing retaliation from 

the office for calling the authorities on them, and is 

facing an unambiguous effort to -- I believe a famous 

quote read, "Give me six lines written by the most 

honest of men, and I will find something in there to 

hang them."  Respondent -- Petitioner has access to a 

great many communications, as I'm sure they will 

establish, most of which constitutes discovery in the 

ongoing dispute and is not harassing in nature.  They 

actually were CC'd on the presentation of the case to 

other parties, so they have the case from various 

perspectives and the same facts.  This is all 

substantive communication, and consequently, the 

number of messages is not in itself threatening.   

The only thing that Respondent has done 

is indicated she's working with the authorities, and 

she's used their phrasing, and she's established 

denotationally, that that is the phrasing that she's 

using, and that is declared on the face of the 

messages.  Additionally, Ms. Shomo's précis that the 

mental health system creates its own violence is valid 

political speech.  It declares itself as political 

speech.  It says, you know me; this isn't something 
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that I'm going to do.  And it describes a societal 

issue, whereby proceedings, very much like the instant 

matter where threats are attempted to be fabricated, 

where they simply do not exist.  And that's not even, 

you know, a question of recklessness.  That's in a 

reasonable person standard I'm defending on.  And it 

is, again, on the face of the message.  And I can 

establish through the attachments to P, political 

motive for this filing.  There is simply no threat.   

The Court is being asked by Petitioner, 

and that is what Respondent's evidence is going to 

show.  Respondent is entitled, as a public activist 

who's been to the U.N., who's done hunger strikes, 

who's been covered in the media, to meditate on how 

the conduct for instance, the misconstruances (sic) in 

this matter at bar and the immediate misconstruances 

(sic) prior, which Respondent expects will admit in 

rebuttal, lead to those things in our society.   

Respondent has also been clear that she 

will not be taking these actions, that this is a 

social effect.  The essence of Petitioner's case is 

that a person who has claimed that they are working 

with the federal authorities may also not publish an 

essay on whether the source of the politically popular 

narrative of mental patient violence may be, at least 
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in part, the way in which the system deals with those 

that it would like to engage.  That's valid political 

speech.  It's not threatening, and the notion that the 

system would try to bar -- and again, all of these 

messages were not communicated directly to the office.  

They were published to several email lists containing 

approximately 500 individuals.  They were published 

broadly to the Jewish community.  They were published 

to current and former members of the General Assembly.  

They were published to political opponents.  They were 

broadly published, the authorities claimed were 

broadly published.  The feds are very much aware of 

it.  And again, I'm acting in good faith, if I'm 

getting BS'd, but based on my assessment, these are 

real feds.   

As a result of all of these things, I 

have described a societal reaction that occurs and 

have argued that because the system is so curt and so 

disingenuous when it construes these matters, as is 

Petitioner's case here, that that is likely to lead 

people to not believe they will get their day in court 

because, for instance of the misconduct Respondent has 

raised, that is, is context here to say when 

misconduct like this occurs, it occurs in the open and 

it occurs regularly.  And the misconduct is 
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unambiguous in nature, that these sorts of things, 

when people no longer believe the court's work, they 

have nowhere to turn.   

That's my argument.  I'm entitled to 

that argument.  Petitioner doesn't have to like my 

argument for that to be valid political speech.  The 

Court doesn't have to like my argument for that to be 

valid political speech.  It is valid speech about a 

societal issue.  It was described as a précis.  A 

précis is a brief form of a logical argument.  Now 

Respondent is presently enjoined from publishing the 

whole essay, which would probably go to 10,000 words.  

But the dynamics in this very case are her example.   

With respect to that, basically that's 

what's going on here.  Gun was a reference to working 

with the authorities.  They -- the bomb threat was one 

of various replies to Ms. Clawson indicating that I 

had previously made threats to go around killing Jews, 

which Petitioner does not raise to this Court, but did 

raise to the Lakewood Police.  It was on behalf of the 

same Petitioner, the Office of Civil and Forensic 

Mental Health, and I would like, in response, to admit 

those interactions, to show this pattern of the office 

misconstruing things as threats.   

In that particular instance, I have 
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some cases where they didn't even get the selective 

quotation wrong because they were quoting their own 

records -- where they didn't even get the selective 

quotation right.  And that's what has happened here.  

Upon examination, the message on its face makes that 

clear.  This isn't a question of inference.  This 

isn't a question of recklessness.  This isn't a 

question of threats.  This is a question of Petitioner 

seeking to make messages, things they are not.  And in 

all the many communications, they can only come up 

with four they can even play that game on.  And those 

are directly mocking previous allegations they've made 

that they're not prepared to admit themselves in this 

proceeding.  That is my opening.  

THE COURT:  Thank you very much to the parties.  All 

right.  First witness by Petitioner? 

MS. POGUE:  Thank you, Judge.  The Department would 

call Director Leora Joseph.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Joseph, will you please raise your 

right hand?   

LENORA JOSEPH 

Testified on her oath as follows: 

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

Ms. Pogue, your witness.  

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.   
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DIRECT EXAM 

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q Good morning.  Can you please introduce 

yourself and spell your last name for the record?  

A Good afternoon --  

Q Afternoon, yeah.  

A -- my name is Leora Joseph.  L-E-O-R-A, 

J-O-S-E-P-H.  

Q And what do you do for a living?  

A I am currently the director of the 

Office of Civil and Forensic Mental Health, which is 

abbreviated for quickness purposes, of OCFMH.  In that 

capacity, I run the state's direct care behavioral 

health work, including but not limited to, overseeing 

the two -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I break in?  I have lost full 

motion video.  Has the Court --  

THE COURT:  Oh, oh.  That's a -- no, everything's 

still working.  You can't see Ms. Joseph? 

MS. SHOMO:  I just saw her start moving again.  But 

she had frozen for a time.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  That's an 

appropriate --   

MS. SHOMO:  Actually, she's frozen again.  I saw her 

move briefly.  I'm seeing everyone else move fluidly, 



77 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

But she's sitting there with her head crooked, about 

like this, and completely still.  I'm not getting 

video from her, even though I seem to be getting it 

from everyone else.  

THE COURT:  Are Ms. Pogue and Ms. Joseph, in the same 

office? 

MS. POGUE:  We are.   

THE COURT:  Maybe if that were to continue, would it 

be possible for Ms. Joseph to join Ms. Pogue in her 

office?  

MS. POGUE:  Ms. -- so Ms. Joseph is literally directly 

across from me.  I can have her sit next to me, and we 

can use one computer if that would be preferred? 

THE COURT:  I'm -- I'm just problem-solving.  

MS. POGUE:  Yeah, absolutely.  We can absolutely try 

that.   

MS. SHOMO:  That would be appreciated. 

MS. POGUE:  If -- mine's working.  I don't know 

what -- anyway, we --  

MS. SHOMO:  Yours is still --  

MS. POGUE:  -- can do that if there's no objection. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- (inaudible) still perfect.  Oh, yours 

is still perfect, hers is still frozen.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Ms. Joseph.  If that's okay?  

If you want to -- ? 
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THE WITNESS:  Absolutely.  I'm going to just move my 

chair. 

MS. POGUE:  Come on over.  Okay.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Brief break.  

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  In terms of our procedure.  All right?  

You weren't kidding.  You were right across the hall.   

MS. POGUE:  We're not.   

THE COURT:  All right.  All right, you may continue.  

Thank you.  

A And in my capacity as the director of 

the Office of Civil and Forensic Mental Health, OCFMH, 

one of my responsibilities is overseeing both of the 

State hospitals; we have two state psychiatric 

hospitals, one in Pueblo and one in Fort Logan.  OCFMH 

serves approximately 8,200 patients annually, and we 

employ between 12 and 1,500 -- between 1,200 and 1,500 

employees.  I supervise all of them.  The Office of 

Civil and Forensic Mental Health is located within the 

Colorado Department of Human Services, CDHS.  We are, 

I believe, the largest program in that office. 

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q Thank you.  And Director Joseph, you 

mentioned that you serve approximately 8,200 patients 

per year.  Can you give us some insight into what type 
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of populations you serve?  

A Absolutely.  We oversee two primary 

types of legal patients with certain legal status.  

The first is civil patients; those patients who've 

been committed to our care under the civil system.  

The other population we serve is forensic patients; 

those patients who enter our system through the 

criminal justice system, commonly referred to as 

competency patients and/or not guilty by reason of 

insanity, NGRI, patients.  We serve a group of 

patients who have been given permission to be 

outpatient, out of the hospital, either depending on 

their legal status because they're receiving 

restoration treatment, or because they are -- a court 

has allowed them to be removed from the hospital as 

they make progressions.   

We also serve a variety of patients 

who've stepped down from the hospital, living in 

residential treatment facilities.  And we serve the 

patients in jail, those who are waiting for competency 

evaluations and those who are waiting for inpatient 

competency evaluation.  In my prior career, I 

served -- I'm an attorney by training.  I primarily 

worked in District Attorney's offices in two separate 

states, serving victims of intimate crimes, including 
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sexual violence, domestic violence, human trafficking, 

sexual assault, and child abuse.  

Q Thank you, Director Joseph.  In your 

current role, is it fair to say that some of the 

individuals you serve have committed some of the 

highest-level offenses: murder, stalking, things of 

that nature? 

A That is correct.  We actually house at 

the Pueblo facility, those patients who've committed 

the most serious crimes marked by our criminal 

statutes as felonies 1, felonies 2, felonies 3, 

encompassing some of those crimes that you just 

alluded to, Counsel.  And then, we -- also in my prior 

career, I have also handled and prosecuted a number of 

people charged with very serious crimes, including 

homicides and sexual assaults.  

Q And how long have you served in your 

current role as director of OCFMH? 

A I've been in this role for 

approximately three and a half years.  

Q And Director Joseph, how often have you 

sought a protective order on behalf of your employees? 

A I believe this is the second time in my 

career I've done so.  

Q Is this your first time testifying in a 
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protective order proceeding?  

A It is.  

Q All right.  Director Joseph, I want to 

talk specifically about Aubrey Shomo.  Do you know 

Ms. Shomo? 

A I do not know her personally.  I've 

come to know her as a result of the behaviors at issue 

here.  

Q And how? 

A We began receiving multiple and lengthy 

threatening faxes, emails, communications, to all of 

the locations where I work -- where I supervise and 

work.  And so specifically, what I mean is that 

employees both at the Pueblo Hospital, commonly known 

as simply CMHHIP, C-M-H-H-I-P, the Fort Logan 

Hospital, CMHIFL, C-M-H-I-F-L, and our flagship 

office, for lack of a better word, located on Sherman 

Street, where I also supervise a smaller team there, 

began receiving multiple, multiple communications.  

And these would come in the form of faxes, they would 

come in the form of emails, and they all contained -- 

they -- many of them contained -- sorry, strike that, 

not all -- many contained information about weapons 

such as missiles, bombs, guns.  They were threatening 

in nature.  They were a little dysregulated as well.  
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And they raised concern, quite frankly, as I do have a 

strong responsibility towards both the patients and my 

employees.  And -- and that is why we are here today.  

Q And Director Joseph, for purposes of 

identification, could you please point to Ms. Shomo on 

the screen and just describe an article of clothing 

that she's wearing?  

A Absolutely.  Ms. Shomo is appearing to 

the -- on my screen, or our shared screen, to the left 

of Judge Conboy.  She is wearing a long-sleeved, black 

shirt that says, "PUT THE LIT IN" and there is a 

picture of a menorah, a Jewish candelabra -- and 

sorry, she's now illustrating for me: it says, "PUT 

THE LIT IN LITIGATE" on the on the long-sleeve T-

shirt, with the menorah in the middle of those words.  

Q Thank you, Director Joseph.  When did 

you first become aware of Ms. Shomo's communications 

toward your employees?  

A I can't specify the exact date.  This 

has actually been going on for more than a year at 

this point.  It -- you know, we -- we -- we didn't 

want to react knee-jerk in any way.  This has been a 

cumulative process. 

Q And as the director of OCFMH, you 

referenced earlier, that you reviewed these 
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communications.  Is that part of your job as reviewing 

concerning communications brought to your attention by 

your staff or employees?  

A Absolutely.  I take employee safety 

extremely seriously, and I take patient safety 

extremely seriously.  And any threats to my employees 

or the patients have to be escalated to my team.  The 

volume and the nature of the communications was so 

expansive and extensive that I began a process of, 

quite frankly, getting looped in on all of the 

multiple communications, so that I could peruse them 

myself.  

Q And do you have an approximate number 

of emails or faxes the state hospitals or other staff 

have received? 

A Across all programs that I've 

referenced earlier, including CDHS home -- the home 

base on Sherman Street, as well as the two separate 

hospitals, we've received well over 1,000.  I would 

be -- I'm more confident that it's thousands, with a 

plural, of communications.  

Q And does the repetitive nature of the 

communications present concerns to your employees? 

A We're extremely concerned.  Many of my 

employees have flagged this for me along the 
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communication process about their concerns.  It's not 

simply a matter of being disruptive to the workday.  I 

want to -- I want to make sure that that is clear.  

This is concerning -- the substance of what is being 

referenced in the communications has really made 

employees uncomfortable and frightened.  

Q Can you tell us more about that, 

please?  

A Absolutely.  Specifically, in this day 

and age, where we are in an environment --  

MS. SHOMO:  Is this where I would object on hearsay 

grounds, that she speaks for employees she's not 

prepared to have cross-examined? 

THE COURT:  Counsel, respond?  And I think she was 

about to talk about in this day and age, but Counsel, 

what would be your objection -- or I mean, your 

response?  

MS. POGUE:  My response?  Judge, I would say that I'm 

asking Director Joseph, based on her experience 

supervising employees, that this would give her cause 

for concern on behalf of her employees because of the 

repeated nature and because of the substance, just in 

her role again as director and supervisor of over, I 

believe it was, 18 -- 1,200 to 1,500 employees.  We 

can't have each of them testify, but she can certainly 
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speak to her reactions and thoughts about kind of what 

responses would be.  

THE COURT:  As to the specific objection, there's a 

hearsay objection as Dr. (sic throughout) Joseph 

testifying as to matters that her employees have told.  

So is there a response to that?  

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, in terms of, I would say, 

initial responses that would have been communicated to 

Director Joseph, one thing that I can do is lay a bit 

of foundation to see if this is a direct communication 

with Director Joseph after they have received them, 

which would then be accepted under hearsay as to 

presence sense impression.  And then, of course, as 

how it goes to effect on listener for the actions that 

Director Joseph took in response to these 

communications from employees.  

THE COURT:  The Court is also going to -- I'm going to 

overrule the objection.  I'm going to make a specific 

finding that under Colorado Rule of Evidence 803(3), 

these are also statements of then existing physical 

and mental -- because these are statements of, "I feel 

afraid", or they're expressing fear or concern.  So 

under 803(3), I'm going to allow Dr. Joseph to testify 

with respect to communications her employees have sent 

to her -- given to her, with respect to feeling 
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frightened.  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, I trust I withhold motions on 

door-opening until after testimony as a result? 

THE COURT:  I see nothing opened at this point.  So 

if -- you may continue, and that is my ruling.  Thank 

you.  

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q All right.  So Director Joseph, if you 

could describe some of your employees reactions to 

some of the communications they received?  

A Absolutely.  These communications 

caused a lot of concern.  I would start with that at 

the beginning.  And again, I've mentioned that this 

has been going on for quite some time, and it became 

to the point that it would come to my desk.  It began 

with the CEOs of both hospitals calling me directly 

during the day, concerned about the -- the number of 

communications and explaining that their staff was 

concerned as well.  In fact, in in response to one 

such batch of communications, I did issue an alert 

advisory to my entire Pueblo hospital, to all of the 

employees, indicating that we had some bomb threats, 

that we were increasing the police presence -- we have 

a small police force on the campus -- because we were 

concerned, and I felt that in an abundance of caution 
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in this day and age, we need to be vigilant about 

employee safety and patient safety.   

You know, the patients at our hospitals 

are committed to us by -- many of them, by the courts, 

and that's a responsibility that we take very, very 

seriously.  We owe them a strong duty of care.  And I 

felt the need, given the repetitive nature, given the 

constant reference to weapons, those were things that 

really, I, myself, was very concerned about seeing 

that kind of -- and the dysregulated nature as well.   

I also had conversations with 

employees, employees who told me they were changing 

behavior patterns, specifically, and had concerns 

about things going on, enough that it was something 

that affected their day, and their worries when they 

would leave the office.  And that also concerned me, 

quite frankly.  

Q And Director Joseph, when you say, 

"concerned", concerned for what?  

A I was concerned for their physical 

safety.  I am absolutely, of course, concerned about 

disruptions during the -- the workday, disruptions in 

psychological pressure.  But the number-one priority 

is physical safety.  And that is why I issued that 

all-staff email, alerting them of the concern to the 
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Pueblo hospital. 

Q Thank you.  Director Joseph, you 

mentioned that one of the actions that you took was 

putting out an alert to hospital staff at Pueblo 

regarding bomb threats that had been received (sic) by 

Ms. Shomo.  Can you tell us what action, if any -- or 

other actions did you take in response to the 

communications --  

A Absolutely. 

Q -- prior to seeking a protection order?  

A Absolutely.  We did a number.  I asked 

a staff member to contact Lakewood police, once I 

learned that the Respondent lives in Lakewood.  I did 

want to perform a welfare check.  Again, we operate -- 

you know, one of the ways we talk about ourselves at 

the Colorado Department of Human Services is that we 

are the people that help people.  And so my first 

concern, given not just the threats of violence, but 

that dysregulated nature of the communications, was to 

have a welfare check.  And it was very important to me 

to have Lakewood police -- that was my decision that I 

made, to have a welfare check done -- use the tools 

that we have, to make sure the Respondent was well, 

and didn't want some additional help and concern for 

her well-being.  And that's -- that's always where we 
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begin at the Department when we talk about care and 

concern.   

Given the repetitive nature, however, 

given it just didn't stop, and there were some real 

concerning threats, I would venture -- I think it's 

Exhibit 3, but it might be 2, where -- the one that 

says, "I have a gun", I'm not sure that I needed to 

read much more before I -- my -- my concern really was 

elevated at that point.  And I made a decision the 

first time in an over 25-year career to contact our 

attorney generals or attorneys, and begin to seek a 

protection order.  

Q Going back to the welfare checks, 

Director Joseph, so while it was your decision that 

those be made, did you actually call those in, or was 

that a member of your staff?  

A I did not.  I asked a member of my -- 

of our Colorado Department of Human Service, CDHS 

team, to facilitate that for me.  And I -- one of my 

abilities is to delegate some of these 

responsibilities that come up during the day.  And so 

I put it into a trusted employee, who I knew would 

perform and be able to follow up with that.  But it 

was my direction, and I want to make sure that that's 

clear.  
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Q And who was that?  

A Ms. Bridget Clawson, B-R-I-D-G-E-T, 

last name, C-L-A-W-S-O-N.  

Q And is it your understanding that 

Ms. Shomo appeared to target Ms. Clawson in some of 

her communications after learning that Ms. Clawson 

called in those welfare checks?  

A It is.  And that became very concerning 

to me as well.  Ms. Clawson was acting at my 

direction.  I was very concerned at the kind of almost 

a pivot at that point, directed with threatening 

statements towards Ms. Clawson.  And she's a very 

valued employee, someone who is very well-respected in 

the Department, and I was very worried.  I was worried 

about her safety, and I still am.  

Q Director Joseph, I am handing you --  

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, let me know if you'd like me to 

do this in a different way, or Ms. Shomo, of course.  

I'm going to say I'm handing Director Joseph what we 

have marked as Petitioner's Exhibit 1.  So I believe 

everyone has those? 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I ask for 60 seconds recess to 

get a charging cable?  This hearing has gone on far 

longer than I anticipated.  My battery is at 90 -- 9 

percent.  
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THE COURT:  Of course. 

MS. POGUE:  It's a good call for one.   

THE COURT:  Everyone take a break and just let me know 

when you're back.  Thank you.  I'll step down as well.  

(Pause) 

MS. SHOMO:  I apologize.  I am now back.  

MS. POGUE:  I if I may have a moment, we're trying to 

find a plug-in for mine as well.  One moment.   

THE COURT:  Of course, of course.   

MS. SHOMO:  I'd be happy to smoke a cigarette, if the 

Court would give us five.  But I'm -- I have my 

charger, and I'm ready. 

THE COURT:  How about if we take a break after 

Dr. Joseph has completed testimony?  We'll take a 

five-minute or ten-minute break.  Does that sound 

okay?  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  And Judge, when should I make the 

motion that the witness has just opened the door to 

the Bridget Clawson matter? 

THE COURT:  I think when you're on cross -- well, it 

depends on when you're trying to -- when you say, the 

Bridget Clawson matter, she's going to be testifying.  

If you're talking about documents, I'll defer to you.  

If you're wanting to present something to Dr. (sic) 

Joseph, then we'll cross that bridge at the time, if 
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that makes sense? 

MS. SHOMO:  Very well. 

THE COURT:  It's not ripe yet because I'm assuming 

you're talking about use of documents, and if that's 

the case, it'll become --  

MS. SHOMO:  I would like to -- to go into this 

"welfare check" because it -- it turned out it was -- 

it was exactly what I'm arguing Petitioner is 

repeatedly doing here.  And it will show that 

Petitioner is disingenuous about their -- their safety 

concerns if they can't even manage to get the -- get 

what they're alleging is a threat right, about whether 

they wrote it or I did.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll go -- that sounds like an 

argument that you'll be able to make when you ask 

Dr. (sic) Joseph a question, if there's some 

objection, so that's how --   

MS. SHOMO:  I'm really taking advantage of the recess 

to ask when was appropriate.  I did not mean to fuck 

up the -- ah -- ah -- I'm sorry -- I'm so sorry, bad 

habit.  I did not mean to mess up the flow of the 

Court.  I -- it was not my intention to use profanity 

there.   

THE COURT:  Apology accepted.  No problem.  

MS. SHOMO:  I frequently in social circumstances do.  
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I'm very sorry.  

THE COURT:  Don't worry.  All right.  You may 

continue, Ms. Pogue.  If -- does everybody have their 

plugs and --  

MS. POGUE:  We do.  Thank you.  Thank you for that 

time.  And just for purposes of the record, it is 

Director Joseph, she's not actually a doctor.  Yeah.  

Anyway, I don't know -- I guess it has to be seen.   

THE COURT:  I thought it may be that Director Joseph 

had -- had gotten a PhD at some point, so I was happy 

to happy -- to give the honorarium -- 

MS. POGUE:  Yes, absolutely.   

THE COURT:  -- or honor.  Anyway.   

MS. POGUE:  All right.  Well, I'll continue.  We were 

just discussing Petitioner's Exhibit 1.   

RESUMED DIRECT EXAM 

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q So Director Joseph, I'm handing you 

what we have marked as petitioner's Exhibit 1.  Do you 

know what this is?  

A I do.  

Q And what is it?  Could you just briefly 

describe it to the Court?  

A This is an email that was sent by 

Aubrey Ellen Shomo.  The email address is 
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AubreyShomo@gmail.com, 

A-U-B-R-E-Y-S-H-O-M-O@gmail.com, sent on September 

16th of 2025 at 8:49 p.m. to quite a large LISTSERV 

group.  The opening statement -- or the opening 

comment in the -- in -- in the text -- in the body of 

the text says, "Ms. Clawson, perhaps you'd like to 

call the police on my new Facebook banner", and the 

picture again, very concerning, "Aim with the hand, 

shoot with the mind", and an image that says "gun 

ready".   

The photo itself seems to be some type 

of -- I don't really know -- but it looked like a 

weapon of some sorts with a target.  And this was an 

email that I -- I feel very concerned about when I -- 

when I saw this email and it seems to, first of all, 

target Ms. Clawson, who I feel -- I feel terrible 

about that, and -- because she -- she did this at my 

direction, and I -- it absolutely mentions a weapon 

and a gun, and it is one of the more concerning 

emails. 

Q And so is this email sent from 

Ms. Shomo? 

A It is.  

Q And is this one of the email addresses 

that you're accustomed to seeing from Ms. Shomo?  
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A Absolutely.  

Q And is this copy a fair and accurate 

representation of the email that you would have been 

sent by Ms. Clawson related to this?  

A It is.  

MS. POGUE:  All right, Judge, at this time, I move to 

admit Petitioner's Exhibit 1? 

THE COURT:  Any objection to admission of Petitioner's 

1?  

MS. SHOMO:  No objection from Respondent.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay.  And just for purposes of 

clarity, I'm going to put the -- I'm going to put 

these specifically-labeled, "Petitioner's exhibit" and 

then I'll do the same for Respondent's with different 

sets, so we know for record -- all right.  One is 

admitted.   

(Whereupon, Petitioner's Exhibit 1 was admitted.) 

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, for convenience --  

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q And Director Joseph, what date was 

that?  Oh --  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I just needed to let the 

Court know a clerical matter.  Respondent's exhibits 

are lettered; Petitioner's are numbered.  So it's very 
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easy.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  What I'm saying, is I have 

specific -- I do --  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, okay. 

THE COURT:  -- I like to use those, just because they 

actually say, "Respondent" and "Petition --" but all 

right.  Thank you.  Yes.  You may continue. 

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.   

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q And Director Joseph, what date was that 

email sent to Ms. Clawson?  

A September 16th of 2025, at 8:49 p.m.  

Q And are there several other recipients 

as well?  

A There are.  There's at least -- it 

seems to be over 100, but yeah. 

Q But is Ms. Clawson specifically 

referenced?  

A She is.  She's the one who's named.  

There's one other name under the picture that says, 

"J.  Hemphill would have loved it."  I don't know who 

that is.  And again, the email is written at the 

bottom -- signature -- email signature.  Aubrey Ellen 

Shomo.  And I -- and I do know that the Respondent's 

middle name is Ellen.  
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Q And to your knowledge, did -- at this 

time of September 16th of this year, was Ms. Shomo 

aware that Ms. Clawson was the individual that had 

called for the welfare check?  

A I believe she was, yes.  

Q All right.  Director Joseph, I'm going 

to move to Petitioner's Exhibit 2.  I can give you a 

second to review that, if you need it.  But do you 

recognize this?  

A I do.  

Q And what is it?  

A Once again, this is an email that was 

sent, this time from another email address that we're 

familiar with.  It says, Aubrey Shomo.  The email is 

ashomo, A-S-H-O-M-O@verofiber.com.  Date of email was 

September 8th, 2025, 8:13 p.m.  The headline here is, 

"The mental health system creates mass shootings."  

Right away, this is a very concerning email to receive 

as the director of the state's mental health system, 

essentially.  And putting the words, "mass shooting" 

in -- in the beginning, that made me extremely 

concerned.  The email continues,  

"They always lie in their records.  

They always either lie or distort what 

anyone has said; that they look violent.  
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I've shown this time and time again.  They 

do this because they know even cheating, 

they will know no sanctions.  If you're 

identified as mentally ill, you do not 

expect procedural due process in America.  

The feds say if you have a dispute, take it 

to court.   

"What if you know court is a cheating 

lie as I have demonstrated?  What if you 

know there is no hope of reasoning with your 

providers because they're too busy covering 

your own asses, and making sure you look as 

bad as possible?  You always point to 

records and say, 'why did no one stop this 

person'?  I point to records and say, 'you 

left them no choice when you told all those 

bullshit lies in the first place and denied 

them a day in court to dispute it.'  

"You're making shooters with how you 

abuse power, civil rights, and freedom.  

You're making shooters because they know 

there is nowhere to turn.  Because of how 

you do business, you're creating your own 

violence.  More later when I calm down star, 

star, star, this is not a threat.   
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"As you have always known, I fight to 

win.  This is political speech.  Without 

feds, though, I know I would face 

retribution for saying it Star, star, star."   

And I would just say that what really 

concerned me -- here, this statement,  

"You are making shooters with how you 

abuse power.  You are creating your own 

violence.  You point to records and say, 

'why did no one stop this person?'" 

And these are things that really concerned me.  

Q Well, and just briefly, before we talk 

about that more, is this copy a fair and accurate 

representation of the email that Ms. Shomo sent to the 

Office of Civil and -- the Office of Civil and 

Forensic Mental Health? 

A It is.  

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, at this time, I move to admit 

Petitioner's Exhibit 2? 

THE COURT:  Any objection to 2?  

MS. SHOMO:  Sorry, I don't know if I'm on mute.  I was 

taking notes.  No objection.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  It will be admitted.  

(Whereupon, Petitioner's Exhibit 2 was admitted.) 

BY MS. POGUE:   
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Q And along those lines, Director Joseph, 

in terms of the recipients of this email, are there 

specific email addresses related to OCFMH? 

A There are.  There are a group of 

different emails, again, including the Colorado 

Department of Human Service's CORA address, the 

Colorado -- the CMHHIP, the Pueblo hospital email 

address.  So there are a number of different emails 

attached -- email addresses on this LISTSERV.  

Q So how did you become aware of them?  

A This one, I was made aware of -- 

Ms. Clawson, forwarded this to me, which I had asked 

her to do, quite frankly, to make sure I was staying 

in the loop, so to say, of all of the communications.  

Q And was it sent, though, to other 

individuals at the State Mental Health Hospital in 

Pueblo?  

A It was.  

Q Do you recognize that email address? 

A I do.  

Q And is that one that goes to a group of 

employees at the mental health hospital in Pueblo?  

A It -- it does.  It goes to one of our 

records departments.  

Q And I want to talk again about the 
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substance that you had testified were concerning to 

you -- or was concerning to you.  Did you have 

concerns that Ms. Shomo was making a parallel between 

herself and the statements that are made in this 

email?  

A Absolutely.  I wouldn't know how else 

to take this.  I took this very directly.  "Why did no 

one stop this person?"  "You're making shooters with 

how you abuse power", directed at our office, kind of 

alleging that we made a shooter; that shooter being 

Ms. Shomo.  That is absolutely how I took this email 

to be, and that really haunted me, that statement, 

"Why did no one stop this person?" which, by the way, 

is -- is something we hear all too often in these 

kinds of cases.  

Q And at the bottom of the email, you 

just read the starred language that says, "This is not 

a threat."  Did that language alleviate your concerns 

about the substance of the email?  

A Not at all.  

Q Explain why, please? 

A This is a threatening email.  It -- 

it -- it threatened my team.  It talked about a mass 

shooting, and it blames the mental health system.  And 

that is where I was reacting to, as I believe anyone 
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would.  Signing off on an email saying, oh, "this 

isn't a threat", that gave me no comfort whatsoever.  

Quite frankly, the analogy I would give, is if someone 

says, oh, no offense, but I don't think you're a good 

person.  I mean, how else are you supposed to take it?  

You know, so that that is really how I take it.  Just 

because someone says, this isn't a threat, that does 

not give me comfort at all.  

Q And did an email of this nature and of 

this substance, did this give you specific concerns 

for your employees?  

A Absolutely.  It is, to me, a direct 

threat on the mental health system in Colorado, the 

mental health system I supervise, including the people 

over at the state hospital.  

Q Did it lead to concerns for physical 

safety of your employees?  

A Absolutely.  

Q All right.  Director Joseph, I want to 

now point your attention to what has been marked as 

Petitioner's Exhibit 3.  And do you recognize this 

exhibit?  

A I do.  This, I think, was the exhibit 

that caused me the most concern.  

Q And can you explain, what date was this 
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exhibit sent?  

A This was a fax that was sent on August 

8th, 8/8/2025, at 11:31 in the morning to a number of 

different phone numbers listed -- fax numbers, I'm 

sorry -- there.  And from Aubrey Ellen Shomo. 

Q And do you recognize any of the fax 

numbers?  

A I do, I believe that some of these fax 

numbers go directly to our CDHS office on Sherman 

Street that I referenced, and as well to the Fort 

Logan campus.  I think those would be just the ones 

that say (303) 866.  So again, there are a number of 

different phone -- fax numbers listed here.  One of 

them is 1 (303) 866-5563, one is 1 (303) 866-7048.  

One of those is to our main Colorado Department of 

Human Services on Sherman Street address, and the 

other is the Fort Logan Hospital I referenced earlier 

as one of the state hospitals.  

Q And who is this fax from?  

A The fax is from Aubrey Ellen Shomo. 

Q And is this fax -- or this copy, a fair 

and accurate representation of the fax Ms. Shomo sent 

to OCFMH on August 8th, 2025? 

A It absolutely is. 

MS. POGUE:  Judge, at this time, I would move to admit 
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Petitioner's Exhibit 3? 

THE COURT:  Objection to 3? 

MS. SHOMO:  No objection to 3.  Respondent notes that 

she has, in her Exhibit B, a direct denotation that 

was sent to the same list on the same day. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  It is admitted.  

(Whereupon, Petitioner's Exhibit 3 was admitted.) 

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q And Director Joseph, you said that this 

fax is what gave you the most concern.  Can you please 

explain why?  

A This fax is the shortest one we 

received, and it -- the subject matter says, simply, 

"I have a gun" and right underneath it, it says, 

"Ms. Shomo has a gun."  I'm not sure however else I 

could have taken it, other than a direct threat, that 

we were now dealing with a person who's been sending 

multiple emails, multiple faxes to my offices, many of 

which were dysregulated.  This one was short and to 

the point, stating that the Respondent has a gun.  And 

I was at the -- this is the point where I became 

extremely -- I had been concerned, and now I was 

extremely concerned.  

Q And why? 

A This is a threat.  When a person has 
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made statements about being -- about mass shootings, 

targeting hospitals, targeting my employees, blaming 

the mental health system, and now just very pointedly 

saying, "I have a gun"?  That is a direct threat to 

my -- to my staff.  

Q And did any of your employees express 

concern about these statements?  

A Absolutely.  

Q And when I say concerns that concerns 

for their physical safety? 

A Of course.  

Q This is the point at which I realized 

we were really in a -- in a place now, where we needed 

to really talk about a strategy, other than welfare 

checks, to protect my employees.  

A And so you mentioned there was concern 

for their physical safety.  What about emotional or 

psychological?  

Q You know, working at the Colorado 

Department of Human Services is a hard job.  We take 

care of some of Colorado's most vulnerable populations 

throughout, you know, the entire organization.  And so 

psychological safety is -- is -- is a goal.  It is a 

responsibility that I take very seriously for my 

teams.  And yet -- and yet, in all the three-and-a-
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half years I have been at the Department, I have never 

once had team members express fear of the direct 

threats.  And it's interesting, I -- I met recently 

with a group of nurses at one of the hospitals who 

were talking about instances where patients might, in 

the hospital, be a little bit more violent.  Even in 

that situation, they were not expressing fear, not one 

of them.  And this is the situation where I had 

employees express fear, and we have a responsibility 

to our employees.  And I need to say, too, this was 

scary.  I -- I -- this was scary. 

Q When you say, "This was scary", do you 

mean, to you, personally?  

A Yes, it was.  A year -- 25 years in the 

criminal justice system, and this is the fax I got 

that I was concerned about. 

Q All right.  Director Joseph, I now want 

to point your attention to what's been marked as 

Petitioner's Exhibit 4.  And do you recognize this 

communication?  

A I do.  

Q And can you please explain how you know 

what this is?  

A This is another communication.  Again, 

I need to point out it was sent on September 11th, 
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9/11, which obviously is an auspicious day in our 

country's history.  And the subject line is, "This is 

a bomb threat."  Again, we must take these things 

seriously.  This is actually stating that it is a 

threat.  And this, again, went to the CORA Department, 

the Colorado Open Records Department at our main 

office, and we -- as well as to a number of different 

people, including the hospital, and simply stating, 

"This is a bomb threat" as the subject matter was 

extremely concerning.  

Q And is there additional, I guess, like, 

language in the emails from Ms. Shomo?  

A Yes.  There's emails that say, "This is 

a bomb threat, per the clearly perjurious false 

reporting of CODHS as previously disabled."   

That was attached to that 9/11 email that had been 

received.  

Q And I'm sorry, I think I went ahead of 

myself.  Who was this email sent from? 

A Ms. Aubry Shomo. 

Q And what's the email address where she 

sent it from?  

A AShomo, A-S-H-O-M-O, @verofiber.com, 

V-E-R-O-F-I-B-E-R.com. 

Q And is that the same email address 
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where you received previous communications from 

Ms. Shomo?  

A Absolutely.  

Q And a general kind of tenor and tone 

and substance of communication have been consistent 

among the communications from that email address? 

A That is correct.  

Q And is this a fair and accurate 

representation of the original email that Ms. Shomo 

sent to OCFMH -- or to CDHS, I should say?   

A It is. 

Q With the subject line, "This is a bomb 

threat"? 

A Yes.  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, at this time, I would move to admit 

Petitioner's Exhibit 4.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Any objection?  

MS. SHOMO:  No objection.  Respondent will move to 

admit the attachments to this message at -- that -- 

when it is proper.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

(Whereupon, Petitioner's Exhibit 4 was admitted.) 

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, I would also ask at this time 

that the Court take judicial notice of the email 

address that this Court and the clerks have received 
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communications from Ms. Shomo, which is the email 

address on several of these emails:  

AShomo@verofiber.com. 

THE COURT:  I will.  And to be clear, the Exhibit 4 as 

proposed by Petitioner is four pages; am I correct?  

MS. POGUE:  Yes, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Was there any other 

attachment -- well, I'll cross that bridge.  Thank 

you.  Okay. 

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, I do have one more point of 

judicial notice I would ask the Court take.  And this 

is judicial notice of Ms. Shomo's motion for leave to 

reply to brief on point of law.  And there is a point 

in that motion, where Ms. Shomo indicates that she is 

indeed likely to continue to send communications.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Tell me the name of the document 

again? 

MS. POGUE:  That is motion -- and this would be 

"Respondent's motion for leave to reply to brief on 

point of law."  Paragraphs 5 and 6 are the relevant 

paragraphs that we would want to make sure to turn the 

Court's attention to, as it relates to a necessary 

element for purposes of obtaining a permanent 

protection order.  

THE COURT:  With the caveat that I'm certain it's 
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within arm reach, but what are paragraph 5 and 6 that 

you wishing me to take judicial notice of, in 

particular?  What are you pointing at? 

MS. POGUE:  Absolutely, Judge.  In paragraph 5, 

Petitioner argued that it is enough to show Respondent 

sent the communications that occasion the temporary 

restraining order, and that she has enumerated in her 

exhibit that said will likely to continue to do so.  

And Respondent indicated that yes, she is indeed 

likely to continue to do so, referring to sending 

communications.  

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. POGUE:  And if I may have one moment? 

MS. SHOMO:  I would ask in the judicial notice, the 

Court take note that Respondent also disputed that 

those communications were threats and that 

consequently, she is likely to continue sending 

communications because they are within her rights. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  So noted.  

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.  

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q Director Joseph, earlier in our 

communication -- or, I'm sorry, our conversation, you 

indicated that this is only the second protection 

order that you have sought on behalf of OCFMH and CDHS 
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employees.  I know we've talked about this, but just 

at a high level, why did you decide to take this 

additional step with Ms. Shomo? 

A Yeah.  And I want to clarify.  This is 

the first time I've testified at a restraining order 

hearing.  I feel that there has been a pattern of 

sending threatening and disturbing communications to 

my employees, and specifically targeting Ms. Clawson, 

and I have strong concerns for the physical safety and 

the psychological safety.  But I need to explain that 

we are here today -- the reason I asked to pursue this 

temporary -- this restraining order, is because I am 

concerned about the physical safety of my employees, 

my patients, and my facilities, and that is why we are 

here.  

Q And do you have concerns that you will 

need a permanent restraining order -- I'm sorry, a 

permanent protection order -- in order to ensure that 

Ms. Shomo will not continue these communications? 

A Absolutely.  They have not stopped.  

And I -- I remain as concerned as when I began this 

process.  

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.  If I may have one moment?  All 

right.  That's all I have for Director Joseph. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.   
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Ms. Shomo.  Would you like to cross-

examine?  

MS. SHOMO:  Absolutely.   

CROSS-EXAM 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q My first question, Ms. Leola (sic 

throughout) Joseph.   

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, help me if I do this slightly 

wrong.  Because part of my predicate, and I know you 

can't provide predicate in a question, is that I 

intend to demonstrate these aren't threats, and this 

is the best of what the office has.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q You have indicated that there were a 

substantial number of similarly-themed communications.  

I have indicated that this is the best of the crop for 

anything you can even make look threatening.  I would 

ask if you can provide any evidence to support your 

contention of a general theme of threatening 

communications?  Can you even point to something you 

can construe as a threat to you in the -- the pile of 

communications?  You asked for four, I asked for a 

variety of other things.  My requested exhibits were 

all in communications I sent you.  None of them are 

threatening, so they're not relevant.  Can you point 
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to another threat? 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge?  Is that -- I -- I -- is --  

THE COURT:  Since you sought my advice, I -- it is 

somewhat of an argumentative question, the way it was 

postured.  However, I think you're asking if there are 

other communications which were perceived as 

threatening, and if that's the case -- I don't want 

to -- I don't want to repeat your question --  

MS. SHOMO:  She was asked to point to -- to point to 

specifics.  I'm asking the witness to pony up her 

claim.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I am going to object as to vague 

and argumentative.  It's unclear what the request is. 

MS. SHOMO:  I will rephrase. 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Joseph, are you able to provide any 

other emails that support your contention that the 

email stream has been on the balance, threatening?  Or 

for that matter, contains other threats that you have 

not here litigated or introduced by evidence? 

A There were literally thousands of 

communications that we received, and all of them, 

quite frankly, had me concerned.  I remember one, in 

particular, had almost like a missile --  a picture of 
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a missile and a target attached to it.  In the 

interests of time, in the interests of judicial 

efficiency, we selected the four that really gave me 

the most concern.  I would say, mentioning a mass 

shooting and saying who -- why didn't anyone stop 

her -- or however it was phrased, that concerned me.  

And again, the one that -- that fax that I mentioned 

that says, "I have a gun."  And then, quite frankly, 

the one that says, "This is a bomb threat."  I'm not 

really sure how it couldn't be more explicit than 

that.  And again, I -- I did feel the need to 

communicate with the entire hospital staff, so that's 

an email communication that went from me to probably 

about 1,000 people, quite frankly, warning of this 

heightened concern that we had at the Department and 

at the Office of Civil and Forensic Mental Health.  I 

don't make those decisions lightly.   

But that is the level of concern that 

we had as a result of these threatening 

communications --  

Q So just to --  

A -- that I had, as a result of the 

threatening communications.  

Q -- so just to be clear, you're citing 

an email from yourself, not from Respondent, and you 
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are citing, at some point, a picture of a missile? 

A Just to be clear, I am citing that my 

action in sending out a large email to approximately 

1,000 people employed at the state psychiatric 

hospital was a reaction to the volume and the content 

that I perceived to be threatening, that had been sent 

to the Office of Civil and Forensic Mental Health at 

many of our locations.  

Q Next question.  An early fax of mine 

read, "I'm going to be performing some DBT to help you 

integrate counterevidence, despite your maladaptive 

coping mechanisms."  This is essentially a way of 

describing to a forensic psychiatrist that I'm going 

to try to reach them, despite the fact that they're 

rarely capable of actually listening to their 

patients; they just look for something to quote to 

justify force.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, can I have you just slow down?  

Because at some point someone might need to transcribe 

this.  So --  

MS. SHOMO:  Understood. 

THE COURT:  -- yeah, if you could slow down and maybe 

start that question from the top?  Thank you.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q At one point, I sent a fax saying, I'm 



116 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

going to engage in dialectical behavioral therapy to 

assist you guys in integrating counter evidence and to 

be able to, hopefully, actually bother to listen to 

your patients at some point, rather than just looking 

for something to quote out of context.  When you 

receive that email, how did that occasion your 

understanding of a threat?  I believe that was one of 

the early faxes? 

A I don't know what dialectical counter-

evidence is.  And that, to me, was just some of the 

dysregulated content that I found in the email.  That 

did not -- that specific message did not form the 

basis of the reason I sought a protection order on 

behalf of the Department.  It was not that specific 

email.  It's, again, the volume, the dysregulation, 

and the overt threats.  

Q Okay.  And you -- can you provide -- 

and again -- and if this was asked and answered, I 

believe the answer was a picture of a missile at some 

point.  Can you provide a specific example of an overt 

threat that is not already in your four exhibits?  

A The four exhibits are sufficient, and 

we specifically culled those out to form the basis of 

this hearing for judicial efficiency and expediency. 

Q Very well.  I'll move on.  Next 
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question.  Were among my threats a threat to kill 

Jews?  

A There were a lot of comments about 

Jews, Jewish issues that are concerning to me, both 

personally and professionally as well, in a culture of 

strong antisemitic violence that we are experiencing 

in this country and in the world.  And so those were 

also concerning to me.  But again, those were not the 

primary focus.  The primary focus is on my employees, 

my patients, and the locations of the facilities that 

we run.  

Q Okay.  Next question.  Did I 

specifically -- you said there were some general 

issues -- I spoke to Jewish issues, and of course, I'm 

tall, so I'm not allowed to -- I apologize.  Why would 

a Jewish person speaking to Jewish issues be 

concerning to you?  And can you please elucidate any 

threat contained therein?  

A The volume of communications mentioning 

Jews and Jewish issues, which, quite frankly, has 

nothing to do with anything, was just evidence to me 

of dysregulated behavior.  Again, that is not the 

basis of the restraining order that we sought.  We 

chose specifically these four exhibits.  And we -- 

I've mentioned a few that are the most concerning to 



118 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

me: Mass shootings, this is a bomb threat, I have a 

gun.  Those are the ones that we focused on to be the 

most threatening, clear-cut evidence of threats to the 

physical safety of my patients and employees.  

Q Very well.  So you don't have any 

emails specifically with me threatening to kill Jews?  

You just have a concern about discussion of Jewish 

topics because of the volume; is that a fair 

statement?  

A I can't recall the if there was a 

specific one threatening to kill Jews.  I know there 

was a tone of mentioning of Jews in -- in a number of 

the communications. 

Q And you said your objection to caviling 

on that was due to relevance and due to the volume of 

communications; is that correct?  

MS. POGUE:  Objection, Judge, to asked and answered 

and relevance to this point of this topic.  

MS. SHOMO:  Moving on.  Okay --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, I need to rule.  I've got to 

rule.  I'll sustain on the asked and answered.  

Which -- as to the relevance, I don't reach that 

objection.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q My -- my next question is, did you 
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direct any of your employees to indicate that I had 

threatened to "kill Jews" when requesting the welfare 

check?  

A I did not reference communications 

about Jews or Jewish people in asking anyone to 

conduct a welfare check.  That was not the concern at 

all.  It was, quite frankly, about the mental status 

of the -- of yourself, who had sent those 

communications.  That was my concern.  

Q Next question.  Are you aware that I 

have raised your dispute in how the Office of Civil 

and Forensic Mental Health handled the case in 2018?  

Indeed, that forms the basis for my communications?  

A I am aware that there had been, in some 

of the communications, reference to an older case.  

That, again, was not the focus of my concerns for 

obtaining this protection order.  That was just more 

of those communications that made me concerned and ask 

to seek the protection order.  That was part of the 

background in that decision.  

Q Were you aware that in that case, the 

State challenged my Jewish identity, despite the fact 

that I had the rabbi's letter available, would not 

allow me to introduce it or access it since I was in 

custody, and that the State would not allow me to 
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contact a rabbi from the Mental Health Institute at 

Pueblo.  And that as a result of the State's attack on 

my Jewish identity, presentation of it as delusional 

despite evidence, and ultimately inability to access 

spiritual services, that there might be 

nondysregulated reasons to focus on that in my 

communications? 

MS. POGUE:  Objection to relevance, Judge? 

THE COURT:  Sustained.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I would ask to recall -- I will be 

going to Bridget Clawson's welfare check, and she 

tells the police I threatened to kill Jews.  It's a -- 

it's a fundamental issue about whether these threats 

are credible and how they're being construed. 

THE COURT:  Well, I think under a theory of 

impeachment, you would certainly be entitled to ask 

Ms. Clawson the basis for why she was sent for the 

welfare check.  But we'll cross that bridge.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q My next question, then, is -- welfare 

check references.  Okay.  Now, you had said with 

respect to, I believe it was Exhibit 3, "I have a 

gun", that one of the bases for the formation of your 

concern was my message to discuss -- my message 
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discussing mass shootings -- that précis; is that 

correct? 

A Yes.  I mean, Exhibit 3 is the one that 

says I have a gun.  The exhibit regarding mass 

shootings was a different exhibit.  I believe it was 

Exhibit 4 -- sorry, Exhibit 2.  

Q And you said that that the contents of 

the précis informed your concern that I have a gun; is 

that correct?  

MS. POGUE:  Judge?  Sorry -- objection to the 

question.  I think we need more foundation for --  

MS. SHOMO:  Well, I believe it --  

THE COURT:  Oh, here, Ms. --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- was testimony the witness just --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, when I -- when there's an 

objection, you need to let me rule.  I didn't 

actually -- I'm not sure I heard your question.  Can 

you restate your question, please?  

MS. SHOMO:  My question is, did you just testify when 

you were asked, why was "I have a gun" so concerning?  

You replied, it was the discussion of mass shootings 

which was referenced in the précis; is that is that 

accurate as to your testimony just now?  

THE COURT:  And your -- did you have an objection to 

that question? 
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MS. POGUE:  Judge, just an objection as to maybe 

foundation for the term, precis?  And --  

THE COURT:  (Inaudible) 

MS. POGUE:  -- and maybe, Ms. -- maybe Director Joseph 

can answer that? 

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Just let me rule. 

MS. SHOMO:  It -- it's somewhat --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo (inaudible) --  

MS. SHOMO:  I'm sorry -- sorry. 

THE COURT:  Did I hear the word, "crazy" in the 

question?  I might have missed that? 

MS. SHOMO:  Presci, P-R-E-S-C-I (sic). 

THE COURT:  E-S-C-I --  

MS. SHOMO:  It is a formal term, meaning a brief form 

of a logical proof.  It's from mathematics. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  It's --  

THE COURT:  So let's state the question one more time, 

Ms. Shomo, please? 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Leora Joseph, you indicated that 

the email, which I described as political speech, 

which contained the subject line, "Précis" concerning 
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mass shootings, formed a substantial part of why you 

found the statement, "I have a gun", so concerning; is 

that correct?  

THE COURT:  I'll allow that question.  

A Thank you.  Exhibit Number 2, which is 

the exhibit that I -- that says précis, the mental 

health system creates mass shooting, is one of the 

exhibits that gave me grave concern in the -- using 

the term, mass-shooting, using things like a quote, 

"Why did no one stop this person?  You left them no 

choice when you told all those bullshit lies in the 

first place and denied them a day in court.  You are 

making shooters."  That is one of the excerpts.  That 

was one form of concern.  Exhibit 3 is the one that 

simply says, "I have a gun.  Ms. Shomo has a gun.", 

and that was another -- a separate exhibit that also 

caused me grave, grave concern for physical safety.  

So both Exhibit 2 and 3 caused me concern.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q And you had indicated that Exhibit 3 

caused you concern because of Exhibit 2?  

A I don't remember saying that it was 

because of Exhibit 2, that number 3 -- they each gave 

me grave concern on their own.  I believe I testified 

that Exhibit 3 was one of those that really probably 
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was the most concerning on its face, the -- the -- the 

directness of it, the, the shortness of it.  So I -- I 

did not -- I don't believe I testified that Exhibit 3 

only caused me concern because of Exhibit 2.  I looked 

at each of those independently, and they stand on 

their own in causing me concern.  

Q Okay.  So you were not implying that 

number 2 was causal to the formation of your concern 

for number 3? 

MS. POGUE:  Objection; asked and answered, Judge.  

MS. SHOMO:  I'm not sure the witness has been clear in 

replying. 

THE COURT:  I'll allow it.  Miss -- Director Joseph, 

you may answer.  

A Number -- Exhibit number 2 caused me a 

grave concern.  Exhibit number 3 caused me graver 

concern.  They both caused me concern.  Not one more 

than the other in terms of one being causal to the 

other.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ma'am.  Okay.  You said neither being 

causal to the other for the source of concern.  That 

will answer my question.  My next question is, are you 

familiar with my history of civil rights work in the 

mental health system?  
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A I am not.  

Q Are you familiar with the fact that I 

killed two bills in 2014 that took away the right to 

jury trial and changed definitions for when the state 

system can use force on a mental patient? 

MS. POGUE:  Objection, Judge, to relevance.  

THE COURT:  Sustained.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge.  I can -- can I circle back to that 

when I touch the attachments to 4? 

THE COURT:  No.  Rather, why don't I ask for your 

response to the relevance objection? 

MS. SHOMO:  That activism is discussed and 

substantiated in attachments to bomb threat.  And if 

Ms. Leora Joseph is entirely unaware of that, it's 

discussed at length in my communications, and it is in 

the attachments to bomb threat.  And I'm -- I would 

just like to ask how concerning could you -- how 

concerned could you have possibly been of a threat of 

violence if you're not even aware of the content of 

the message?  

THE COURT:  Well, I think the argument is that it's 

the content of the message on its face.  She's 

indicated that she's not familiar with your history of 

civil rights work.  So I guess my concern would be 

asking her more questions about it.  You've already 
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gotten your answer.  She's not familiar with your 

history.  There might be another witness who can speak 

to it.  We can cross that relevance objection -- you 

see what I'm saying?  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Okay.  Are you aware that I spoke to my 

history of civil rights work in my communications to 

CODHS, and that that was foundational to my 

presentation?  

A We've received thousands of 

communications from you, and the ones that I focused 

on are the ones that caused threats to my staff.  

Those are the ones that I spent time talking about. 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Give me a second to check my notes. 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q With respect to no one -- "Why did no 

one stop this person?"  Is that not frequently said 

when an act of violence occurs with respect to mental 

illness cases?  

A I would agree, and that is a quote 

right out of Exhibit 2.  Why did no one stop that 

person?  Exactly what you're saying, that that is 

often what is said after there is an act of very 

serious violence.  That seems to be the -- the -- the 

common theme.  And that is why I was so concerned. 
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Q And is it true that when that question 

is asked, it is normally based on matters such as 

psychiatric records, such as the records of CMHHIP, 

matters such as police reports made concerning the 

person, and matters such as claims of threats of 

violence, for instance, those made by CMHHIP in the 

instant matter -- or those made by OFCMH, I'm sorry, 

CMHHIP is a subunit.  

A When I've heard the expression, "Why 

did no one stop that person?" it relates to all kinds 

of things.  Prior psychiatric involvement, prior law 

enforcement involvement, prior inter-familiar tensions 

prior community involvement, prior service 

involvement, threats that may have been made in the 

past.  All of those things generally form the basis of 

why people speculate, "Why did no one stop this 

person?" 

Q So would you agree on hypothetical, 

that if records are fraudulent and people cite those 

records when asking, "Why did no one stop this 

person?", rather than a source of concern about 

violence that could communicate a source of concern 

about records integrity?  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I'm going to object as to 

speculation and relevance in terms of this witness.  
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MS. SHOMO:  I'm asking the witness to admit another 

interpretation is possible.  

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, I would argue that's 

speculative, and that's certainly something that 

Respondent could argue on their own.  But it's kind of 

the definition of speculation.  

THE COURT:  Well, I guess if -- if -- I think it's a 

fair question, if Director Joseph can answer it.  

A Absolutely.  In a 25-year career in the 

criminal justice system, I have never sought to come 

to court and testify on behalf of a protection order, 

despite my personal work, my professional work, and my 

management responsibilities.  And so no, I don't think 

there is any other interpretation to any of the four 

exhibits, and -- that have been offered, other than 

what is in plain language, "I have a gun.", "This is a 

bomb threat."  Those are very direct.  I take them at 

their word, and I actually think to speculate on 

hypothetical potential other interpretations would 

have been extremely irresponsible on my part.  

Q Understood.  Next question.  I have a 

gun -- I'm sorry.  For Petitioner's exhibit numbers--  

MS. SHOMO:  Petitioner, may I ask which exhibit is, "I 

have a gun."  Judge, is that acceptable? 

THE COURT:  Hang on.  Let me make sure that -- 2 -- 3.   
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BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Joseph, would you please read the 

last line of the fax entitled, "I have a gun"? 

A Absolutely.  The last line written in 

capital font, and in parens, it says, "Message 

authorized by United States Secret Service." 

Q Okay.  You spoke to how my assurance 

that the précis was an essay and not a threat didn't 

affect your interpretation, and you said it was at 

least partially in light of this, and you linked the 

two, but you said they were also independent.  Can I 

ask for the same response on this?  You didn't speak 

to the Secret Service issue.  For what reason would 

you not consider that to impact the matter?  

A I've worked, Ms. Shomo, in law 

enforcement for over 25 years.  I consider many 

members of law enforcement to be colleagues and 

friends.  There is no world in which the United States 

Secret Service would authorize a message that says -- 

to a -- to a state psychiatric hospital that says -- 

"I have a gun, Ms. Shomo has a gun."  There is no 

world that a member of our Secret Service would ever 

authorize that. 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I please ask the Court to admit 

Exhibit B, which has that message, and another fax 
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sent that day, which has both Respondent and 

rationally, independently, and nonrecklessly, ChatGPT, 

providing a denotation for, "I have a gun"? 

THE COURT:  Let me look at Exhibit B, you are 

entitled, Ms. Shomo to approach Director Joseph with 

Exhibit B, so -- let me see here.  Okay.  I'm going to 

go ahead, and if you want to -- you can use your 

exhibits at any point in this proceeding -- so if you 

wish to present Exhibit B to her, we'll deal with if 

there are any objections to the admissibility and 

however you wish to deal with it.  So I'm pulling out 

Exhibit B. 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Give me one moment to pull it up 

myself from the electronics, if that does not annoy 

the Court? 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Take your time to -- whatever you 

need to be prepared.  

MS. SHOMO:  I just have to find the appropriate email, 

submitting it, or grab it from my hard drive.  Let's 

see, exhibits this morning.  

THE COURT:  And it appears to be the same exhibit 

then, with two additional pages, I'm assuming.  

Ms. Pogue, do you have a copy of that?  

MS. POGUE:  Yes, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  
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MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I've located it.  I was in the 

wrong email client.  Some of my lists go out to 

different sources.  Okay.  Here we go.  I've got 

Exhibit B in front of me now.  My apologies.  Well, 

I'm looking at a spinner.  I was supposed to have it.  

Come on, A through P, you know you have it.  I have a 

local file system.  E-X-H-I-B-I-T-S A through P.  Here 

we go.  Local file system never fails.  Okay.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q I would call your attention to the fax 

that is on the second page of Exhibit B, "Definition: 

gun." Would you please read that into the record for 

the Court?  

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, if we could just have some 

brief authentication?  

THE COURT:  Yeah, we'll -- yeah, we need some.  So 

Ms. Shomo, you need to be able to show what this is, 

because it's Exhibit 3, but it has two additional 

pages.  So you should ask some questions in order for 

us to -- me to know what are these two pages?  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:  And then, we'll see if there's an 

objection to the admission. 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   
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Q So Ms. Joseph, looking at that, do you 

see a purported facsimile transmittal in front of you?  

A I do.  

Q Do you see the same telephone numbers 

that were -- that you had referenced with respect to 

the other fax in that message? 

A I do.   

Q Does it purport to be from me, and do 

you recognize the name as the Respondent?  

A I do.  

Q Is it on the same date as the previous 

message?  

A It is.  

Q Given that, and -- do you have any 

dispute that this fax was also received by your office 

and the fax list at that time?  

A I don't recall specifically looking at 

this one, that the subject matter, for purposes of the 

Court says, "Definition, gun.  Definition, gun.  

Source, ChatGPT."  I don't specifically remember, but 

I have no reason to dispute it, either.  

Q Very well.   

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, is that sufficient?  And opposing 

Counsel, is that sufficient for authentication?  

THE COURT:  It -- just to be clear for this record, 
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and we're a little bit out of order, but I know you're 

going to testify, so in order to sort of expedite 

matters, Ms. Shomo, is it going to be your testimony 

that this document, which is --  

MS. SHOMO:  I will authenticate that I sent this --  

THE COURT:  Well --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- this -- to the extent --  

THE COURT:  -- let me -- let me make my record, okay? 

MS. SHOMO:  Apology. 

THE COURT:  Petitioner's 2, with the additional two 

pages indicating that there was a subsequent fax to 

the same numbers at 5:52 p.m. that contains some 

additional text messages -- or additional text, plus 

then also this ChatGPT, was this sent also to the same 

group of numbers?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  Then I will admit Exhibit B.  Okay. 

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit B was admitted.) 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. James (sic), would you -- you have 

read into -- most of that.  Would you read the 

bracketed statement into the record?  

MS. POGUE:  Judge -- Judge, I apologize.  If I can 

make a quick record? 

THE COURT:  Sure.  
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MS. POGUE:  I -- I would object to authentication at 

this point because I understand that Respondent is 

indicating that she sent this, but at this point, we 

don't have external verification that CDHS received 

it, and not -- just not aware.  And so that would be 

our objection, just in terms of authentication that 

while Respondent has indicated they've sent, we don't 

have that same level of verification on the side of 

CDHS. 

THE COURT:  And I appreciate the record.  I would note 

that, given the earlier record made that on August 

8th, 2025, at 11:31 am to this same set of numbers, 

the Department did, in fact, receive the original, "I 

have a gun."  I think, given that, that is sufficient 

to lay circumstantial evidence that this one was also 

received and certainly can go to the weight and not 

the admissibility when it comes time for argument, so 

I will --  

MS. POGUE:  Noted.  Thank you, Judge.  

THE COURT:  -- overrule that objection, and I'll go 

ahead and admit it.  Thank you.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Joseph, would you read the 

bracketed statement from that page?  

A Okay.  The bracket -- again, the 
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bracketed statement says, "Message authorized by 

United States Secret Service." 

Q Thank you.  Would you please flip to 

the next page and either read that --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I ask her to just read that 

into the record?  It's a question and a response? 

THE COURT:  I think I -- if you're talking about the 

page that's black with the white writing, I have it 

now in front of me. 

MS. SHOMO:  That was attached to the fax.  

THE COURT:  Pardon me? 

MS. SHOMO:  That was the contents of the fax. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I've got it.  And so for -- just for 

judicial economy, I will be able to read this myself.  

I've already started to, so I don't -- I do not need 

it.  If we had a jury here, that might be another 

matter.  But I won't need to -- it doesn't need to be 

read into the record.  Thank you. 

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Then, Ms. James (sic), under the theory 

cited here that when -- it starts with discussion of 

whether you would be given a gun, and then they say 

they'd give you the gun, that as an A.I., and not 

originating from my own mind, in fact, the gold 
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standard for rationality, that this fax defines gun 

and is unambiguous that it constitutes in bold 

figurative slash operational slang? 

MS. POGUE:  Judge.  Sorry.  Objection to argumentative 

question.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I (inaudible) if -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Can you rephrase that?  Yeah, just 

go ahead and please rephrase that question?  And just 

try and -- also, there's some compound questions which 

are sometimes difficult.  So if you're able to kind of 

break up your questions into one concept each time? 

MS. SHOMO:  I apologize.  I'm not a lawyer.  I've just 

had to defend myself a lot, so I'm not super good at 

this, but I'm doing my best. 

THE COURT:  No problem.  And I just -- I -- this is 

just kind of thinking in terms of making a good 

record.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Leola (sic) Joseph, would you 

please --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I ask her to read the -- just 

the bold part, the -- the bold phrase into the record, 

and then ask her to respond to it? 

THE COURT:  The bold -- the white bold? 
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MS. SHOMO:  The figurative operational slang? 

THE COURT:  Yeah, that's fine.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Question asked, ma'am? 

THE COURT:  You can -- sorry -- 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Would you please -- I will -- I will 

make the question clear.  Would you please read the 

bold text from the first paragraph in that message 

into the record?  Figurative slash operational slang.  

Not literally about handing you a firearm or in that I 

have done so.  Would you please indicate, once again, 

why that is in some way unreasonable or makes no 

sense? 

A Sure.   

Q And also, why that you are so clear 

that this is a threat of physical violence, when the 

context is unambiguous? 

A Sure.  

Q I, in 25 years of working in the 

criminal justice system, partnering with law 

enforcement and various investigations, I've never 

heard of anyone say, I'd give you a gun, you've got 

the gun, meaning anything in a figurative operational 

slang.  I've never heard that term.  I'm not familiar 
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with it, and to this day I'm not.  Moreover, the 

emailed fax -- or the fax, I'm sorry, Exhibit 3, that 

caused the concern that says, "I have a gun."  Doesn't 

say, "I'd give you a gun", "I've got a gun.  The feds 

have said, I've got a gun", "You've got the gun"; none 

of those things.  It simply says "I have a gun."  

There's nothing figurative or slangy about that 

statement that is a threat.  

Q Ma'am, you testified there's nothing 

that says, "The feds said, 'You've got a gun'."  Would 

you please read the last line into the record again on 

the Exhibit 3 email? 

A Message Authorized by United States 

Secret Service. 

Q Is it still your testimony that there's 

nothing in that fax that says the feds have said 

you've got a gun?  

A There's nothing credible in that fax 

that says the fed -- that says the feds say you've got 

a gun.  

Q So your assessment this is a threat of 

something other than what it's -- what it says on its 

face, is ultimately an assessment of the credibility 

of federal involvement in this matter? 

A My assessment is using the plain 
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English language in which Exhibit 3 is written; "I 

have a gun", and it is based on a 25 years of 

experience working with law enforcement and in the 

criminal justice system, where I can say that the 

United States Secret Service would never authorize a 

fax like this.  So it's two things.  Primarily, 

though -- primarily though, it -- Exhibit 3, just like 

Exhibit 2, in bold English language, is an expression 

of a threat when someone says, I have a gun, that is a 

threatening statement to make objectively.  And it is 

reasonable for me and my employees to feel strong 

concern -- concern for physical safety when they hear 

that.  

Q And you would say the same of me making 

a threat to Jews, is that correct?  To kill Jews 

specifically, "to kill Jews"? 

A If some -- if -- if you or anyone else 

made a statement saying, "I plan to kill Jews, I will 

kill Jews.  I'm going to kill Jews."  Yes, I would 

perceive that as a threat.  

Q Very well. 

A And I would be frightened.  

Q Now, if your office made that up, what 

would your reaction to that be?  If your office 

literally fabricated a threat to that effect? 
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MS. POGUE:  Objection to speculative, relevance. 

THE COURT:  Sustained.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I intend to present that by 

evidence.  

THE COURT:  It's your claim that the office made up a 

threat? 

MS. SHOMO:  Yes it is, and --  

THE COURT:  And that's not relevant to the issue of 

whether your communications were a threat.  Regardless 

of what the office may or may not have done, I don't 

see the relevance of that.  

MS. SHOMO:  The relevance is that there is an actual 

communication it's based on, but they're quoting their 

own charting that I was in the -- on the face of the 

message describing as fraudulent, and not anything 

purportedly said by me, but rather something said by 

themselves as a threat from me.  

THE COURT:  I've made my ruling.  I do not find that 

question to be relevant.  

MS. SHOMO:  Understood.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

MS. SHOMO:  I can still ask to admit that with 

Ms. Clawson; is that correct?  

THE COURT:  I don't know yet.  We'll have to cross 

each bridge.  I don't find it relevant.  If the 
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department is engaged in -- and I'm using the word 

department for ease of I don't have a quick 

familiarity with the acronym, but I'll simply note 

that the department's misdeeds, misconduct -- alleged 

misconduct, or misdeeds is not relevant to this 

proceeding.  So you know, I and -- I can't make a 

prospective ruling, but I've ruled on that for now.  

And then when Ms. Clawson is testifying, we'll cross 

that bridge when we come to it.  But for today and 

now, that question is not appropriate to be directed 

on the basis of relevance to Director Joseph.  

MS. SHOMO:  And if it turned out that it would reply 

to Ms. Joseph's claim that there have been other 

threatening communications without being able to 

produce any, I can produce two other purported 

threatening communications.  One is to kill Jews, and 

one is rape -- to rape children.  And the department 

is proceeding with neither.  Yet they have made these 

allegations previously in the context of the series of 

current communications.  And it rebuts the claim that 

there are not in evidence communications that are 

being accurately construed by the department by giving 

an example of two not in evidence communications that 

the Department has attempted to construe in this 

instance chain of communication since the start date 
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that the department provided.  

THE COURT:  I'll be able to make my own determination 

on credibility versus a strategic decision to limit 

communications.  But are you telling the Court that 

you have sent a communication to the department 

threatening to kill all Jews?  Are you talking about a 

communication you --  

MS. SHOMO:  No, I'm telling you that the department in 

the person of Ms. Bridget Clawson, pursuant to the 

welfare check that was described by this witness, told 

the Lakewood police I had made a threat directly to 

kill Jews in quotes, and that I could trace the origin 

of that threat to be from the department, not myself, 

which I could present through evidence when I call 

Ms. Clawson.  

THE COURT:  You are able to explore certainly that 

question, and we'll just go from there.  But I think 

you have asked Director Joseph if she has that 

communication.  She's answered it.  That's what you 

need to live with, with this witness.  If it's a --  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well, I have -- I have no problem 

with this witness.  I just want to make sure I can get 

that in when it comes time to address the welfare 

check.  

THE COURT:  I think I'm understanding factually that 
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it sounds like if Ms. Clawson made some representation 

about things you may have been alleged to have said, 

of course you would be entitled to ask her that 

question.  As to whether that opens the door to other 

evidence, I'm not saying that.  But certainly, you can 

ask Ms. Clawson, what was she told in terms of the 

welfare check and what prompted her to make it.  All 

of that is certainly appropriate fodder for your 

questions directed to her.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  I will move on.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Leora Joseph, have you ever worked 

with federal victims before?  

A Federal victims?  I have.  

Q Has there ever been a circumstance 

where the feds have decided to empower someone to take 

a role in closing an investigation in a matter where 

they are the victim? 

MS. POGUE:  Objection to relevance for these 

proceedings. 

THE COURT:  What would be the relevance of this? 

MS. SHOMO:  It's case-in-chief.  I'm contending that I 

am in such a role, and I believe we've placed the 

issue of credibility there.  

THE COURT:  So it's your contention that you are 
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working with the feds, and so that gave you 

authorization to send the communications.  Am I 

understanding that? 

MS. SHOMO:  That communication was expressly 

authorized. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, you can pose the question.  

You could pose the question to Director Joseph.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Very well.  Ms. Joseph.  Have you ever 

encountered that before, or is that something you 

would dispute ever happens?  

A I want to make sure I understand the 

question.  Can you rephrase it?  

Q Is there ever a circumstance where an 

individual, especially a prospective federal witness 

who is a victim of a federal offense, working in case 

preparation with the feds, has been given 

authorization to make certain specific statements on 

their behalf for the express purpose of aiding the 

investigation? 

A Are you asking me if I'm aware if the 

feds have ever asked --  

Q Would you argue that that is, prima 

facie, something that never happens?  

THE COURT:  No, you need -- Ms. Shomo, you need to let 



145 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Director Joseph clarify her understanding of the 

question.  

MS. SHOMO:  I apologize.  

THE COURT:  That's okay.  

A I'm still not completely understanding 

the question, and I -- I -- I'm sorry.  Are you asking 

if I believe the feds have ever asked a witness to do 

something or say something?  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Or have ever authorized a witness who 

is working with them on building a case, even if the 

witness doesn't fully understand exactly what the case 

that's coming is, where they have authorized 

participation, basically as a cooperating victim, not 

as a person under Rule 11, but as a person who's 

working with them on their case build to make certain 

statements on their behalf? 

A I can't think of a time in my 

experience where the feds have asked a cooperating 

witness --  

Q Victim, not witness.  

A -- a cooperating victim to do things 

and represent that they are acting on behalf of the 

feds.  That would seem to me a little bit opposite of 

why you would have a person doing something.  
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Q So you -- you -- you -- you -- you've 

never seen the feds when they're going to call someone 

prop anything like that up, especially if they're 

investigating conduct that has repressed rights and 

trying to restore the image of the United States.  

Nothing of this.  Nothing of the sort.  You couldn't 

imagine the feds working with a victim, and a victim 

being authorized to make communications on behalf of 

the feds? 

THE COURT:  I am going to reverse my ruling on this 

one.  I do find it irrelevant whether Director Joseph 

has any knowledge of that or not.   

And Ms. Shomo, I think I understand 

that something you will be able to testify about if 

that's part of your defense.  But as to Doc -- or 

Director Joseph's knowledge about it, that doesn't 

appear to be relevant for this purpose.  So you can, 

if that's your -- if that's your defense, that's 

something you can explore when you're on the stand.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q My next question.  You said various 

personnel have expressed fear to you.  Who?  And in 

response to what?  

A One of the employees that spoke with me 
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about this was Bridget Clawson.  I also had 

opportunity to speak to my leadership team.  Because 

this is such a novel approach, for the Department to 

seek this protection order, I felt the need to 

socialize it with my deputies, who also expressed that 

these were concerning.  That's an example of some of 

the employees I spoke with.  I know my personal 

assistant who had to kind of collect a lot of these 

for me, and was assembling them, also felt 

uncomfortable with the content.  

Q And each of these persons felt this 

way, having been briefed by you before encountering 

the actual content of the communications; is that 

correct? 

A That is probably procedurally correct. 

Q So their impressions they expressed to 

you were colored by your communication of your 

expectation of their perceptions.  Would that be fair?  

A I can't know what colored their 

experiences or not.  

Q It would be nice if we could cross-

examine.  

THE COURT:  That's not a question, I take it? 

MS. SHOMO:  I apologize, I will withdraw.  I -- in the 

back of my head, I knew -- I knew better than that.  I 
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just -- it didn't -- it didn't occur to me at the 

time.  I'm sorry.  I really don't do trials much, 

judge.  I believe I'm doing pretty good for decorum.  

Let's see.  Okay.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q And then are you aware of the fact that 

these faxes have gone out to the leadership of the 

Jewish community, Respondent's own synagogue, Rosh 

Chodesh group, various members of the General Assembly 

present and past, and other members of the general 

public, as well as the office? 

A I am.  

Q Why is only the office exhibiting this 

concern?   

MS. POGUE:  Objection, Judge.  Director Joseph cannot 

speak to the thought processes of all these other 

agencies.  We don't know what they're doing in 

response to these -- to any possible concerns.  

THE COURT:  Yes.  Irrelevant, and calls for 

speculation.  Sustained.  

MS. SHOMO:  Fair enough.  At that point, then, let 

me -- I'm almost done with this witness.  Let me pull 

up the next exhibit that was addressed.  It's going to 

be in this inbox.  The downside, opposing Counsel, to 

having had you send it to my Gmail, is all my stuff's 
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been coming from Vero.  But I did ask that, so I thank 

you.  Let me see -- I need your exhibit list, and 

that's going to be right here.  No, that's motion to 

withdraw.  Exhibits will be the day before.   

Exhibits.  Okay.  So we've addressed 1.  

We have addressed 2.  We've addressed 3.  We've 

addressed 4.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Joseph, are you aware that the 

"bomb threat" email contained attachments?  

A I believe it did, yes.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I ask to bring in the 

attachments to said email, specifically Exhibits Q, R, 

and S, as well as ask the witness about the references 

to Lakewood police report? 

THE COURT:   I thought that P was the attachment? 

MS. SHOMO:  P does not contain all of the attachments.  

There are additional attachments, Q, R, and S which 

were attached to the message.  And if you require 

authentication, I have the original message which 

matches Petitioner's exhibit available to 

electronically call.  

THE COURT:  I thought I had everything, but we're 

printing out Q, R and S.  But just at the outset, is 

there an objection to those attachments being -- these 
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are the attachments that went to Petitioner's 

(inaudible). 

MS. POGUE:  Judge, if we can establish that those were 

actually the attachments to the emails that she just 

received, then, no, we won't have an objection.  

THE COURT:  Let me see if I can pull up Q, R, S.  

Approximately how many -- I think I have it.  

Here's -- oh, got it.  Okay.  I've got Q, R, S, so 

it's -- so Ms. Shomo, it's your contention that 

Exhibits P, Q, R, and S for all attachments that were 

part of the email sent on Exhibit -- Petitioner's 4; 

is that correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  As well as page 10 of Exhibit H, and 

the first and second page of Exhibit I were also 

attached to that message.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  What is the Petitioner's position?  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, if I may have a moment, I'm just 

trying to locate all of these.  

THE COURT:  So, like, there's a CART minutes in there. 

MS. POGUE:  And I'm sorry, so is the question a 

position on admission of Exhibit P?  As one of them? 

THE COURT:  I'm not sure.  

MS. POGUE:  Just Q, R and S?  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  I'm asking for P, Q, R S, and from -- the 

cover page from that service/table of contents.  I'm 
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also asking for page 10 of Exhibit H, and the first 

and second page of Exhibit I, all of which were 

attached to that email.  The reason they're spread a 

little bit through the other exhibits is because 

Respondent felt the Court would prefer to have unique 

files only provided to it the one time, rather than be 

provided repeatedly.  Alternatively, there is a trial 

exhibit available that was sent either last night or 

this morning which contains that whole email.  Let me 

see if I can get the number from the email.  That 

would be Exhibit Q, R, S, T -- I think it was U. 

MS. POGUE:  And sorry, so we're saying Q wasn't -- it 

was one of the attachments? 

THE COURT:  I guess what I'm hearing is P --  

MS. SHOMO:  P, Q, R, S, page 10 of Exhibit H, and the 

first and second page of Exhibit I constitute the 

attachments to that email, all of which were in and 

attached to the communication, and were part of it.  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, at this point, I'm objecting on 

relevance grounds.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge the content of the communications.  

If we're going to cut up the communications, of 

course, you can find a threat by selecting words.  

THE COURT:  Well, I guess the threshold issue the 

Court needs to determine, if these were all part of 
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the communications that got sent to the department --  

MS. SHOMO:  I will certify that that is so from my 

end.  

THE COURT:  If those -- if that foundation can be 

established.  If there's an objection, I guess we 

should wait until Ms. Shomo is on the stand.  And 

then, or in her case-in-chief, if there's an 

objection --  

MS. SHOMO:  Can I at least (inaudible) Joseph for 

recall, then? 

THE COURT:  Say, what? 

MS. SHOMO:  Can I just -- can I retain Ms. Joseph for 

recall once I've admitted on that?  

THE COURT:  Because you want to ask her questions, 

yeah. 

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, I would ask for release and 

offer -- if we're going to say subject to recall, an 

offer of proof as to the types of questions that are 

going to be asked.  I think at this point -- I don't 

know whether they were sent.  I need to make sure they 

were sent as attachments.  If we could just verify 

that?  We just need some more time to try and verify 

that, or some foundation laid to show that those were 

attached, or I -- you know, some way to present that.  

That's what we're just --  
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MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I -- if -- if Petitioner is 

able to verify that and then stipulate that those that 

is in fact the message, this might be an excellent 

time -- Respondent is just throwing this out for the 

Court.  Respondent will, of course -- and feel free to 

say, no, Judge -- Respondent could really, really use 

a cigarette.  This hearing has been going on for a 

long time, and I would ask if the Court would indulge 

that five-minute recess while Petitioner verifies, if 

that's what Petitioner means to do.  Otherwise, I can 

attempt to authenticate it in.  

THE COURT:  That's fine.  Yeah, I was going to take a 

five-minute break anyway, unless parties need more.  

My only -- yeah, my question is if Director Joseph 

cannot authenticate that this was received, it's a 

little bit different than the last exhibit where I had 

some circumstantial evidence of receipt with a -- the 

exact same numbers that were sent on the exact same 

day with the same email.  This one, if Director Joseph 

cannot authenticate, then Ms. Shomo, you would be 

entitled to move for admission during your case-in-

chief with the under sworn testimony that this was 

something you sent, so.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I believe I can -- I certainly have 

available that message.  I believe I may have sent it 
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wrong, let's see.  I can certainly email to the Court 

right now, that message whole, which would provide 

circumstantial that they were attached.  I had also, 

with notice to Counsel, filed that those constituted 

the exhibits.  The Court will have received it on the 

12th day of November, 2025, along with a certificate 

of service, where I do indicate that these are the 

attachments.  

THE COURT:  Okay, I'll take a look.  And that's 

exhibit -- what's the number of that exhibit? 

MS. SHOMO:  That -- that is the document where I 

provide exhibits Q, R and S.  Those exhibits were 

provided in whole to Petitioner, and just the table of 

contents was provided to the Court, pursuant to the 

Court's order to serve no more exhibits on the Court.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  But there is evidence the claim has been 

entered in the argument.  

THE COURT:  Let's take a break.  And it sounds like 

you're also about to wrap up with Director Joseph.  So 

we'll take a break until -- it's 2:03.  Is it enough 

time if we break until 2:10, or do the parties want a 

little more time? 

MS. SHOMO:  2:10 is fine for Respondent. 

THE COURT:  Okay (inaudible). 
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MS. POGUE:  (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll see you back then.  Thanks.  

(WHEREUPON, the court recessed at 2:03 p.m.) 

THE COURT:  All right.  We're back on the record.  

Ms. Pogue, I see Ms. Shomo's here.  Is your -- is 

Ms. Joseph back?   

MS. POGUE:  Oh, yes.   

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MS. POGUE:  She is. 

THE COURT:  Just off camera there for a minute.  All 

right.  I think, if I am correct, Ms. Shomo was about 

to ask some questions about the attachments that were 

included on Petitioner's 4. 

MS. POGUE:  Yes.  And so, Judge, we -- the Petitioner 

does not object to admission of those exhibits, as 

they are attachments to -- or they were attachments to 

the email for Petitioner's Exhibit 4.   

However, we will be objecting to any 

substantive questioning related to them as 

irrelevance.  We believe they speak for themselves, 

the Court can review or the Respondent can make 

argument as it relates to them.  So I'll start that 

way, but.  

THE COURT:  Let me just make a ruling.  I -- so for 

purposes of this record, and I'm not going to attach 



156 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

them to 4 because I want them to be just separate, but 

I am then going to admit Exhibit P and Exhibit Q and 

Exhibit R, as well as -- hang on just a minute, I'm 

just mark -- flagging these so I know -- wherever R 

is -- am I right?  Okay, R.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge can I also ask --  

THE COURT:  Yes, yeah, I'm getting there --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- and just to help you --  

THE COURT:  I'm getting there Ms. -- yep.  As well as 

page -- the pages of Exhibit H, right? 

MS. SHOMO:  H and I, and the totality of S.  And these 

are outlined in Respondent's filing as of 12 -- 

11/12/2025.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let me just kind of get to H and I 

and S.  Is that correct, Ms. Pogue?  No objections? 

MS. POGUE:  No objection to admission of those 

exhibits.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And Ms. Shomo.  I do agree, it's 

fair that if these were sent as part of your 

exhibit -- I'm sorry, as part of your communication, I 

think it is -- I do agree it is appropriate that they 

be admitted.  They will, therefore, be admitted. 

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit P, Q, R, S, H, and I 

were admitted.) 

THE COURT:  But I will, as of this juncture, still 
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stand by my ruling that as to the substantive matters 

contained therein -- and I'll listen to your next 

questions, but I don't -- I am not finding specific 

relevance as to content.  So I do have all of these 

separated.  They will be admitted for purposes of 

court record, and I'm going to keep the same letters 

as designated by Ms. Shomo, okay?  So you may ask any 

additional questions of Director Joseph.  

RESUMED CROSS-EXAM 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Okay.  As a slight predicate, before we 

get to the attachments to 4, Ms. Joseph, and correct 

me if I'm misstating your testimony, you had indicated 

that the message, "I have a gun", which is Exhibit 3, 

is clearly, on its face, a threat with a firearm.  You 

had indicated that Exhibit 2, which on its face, 

reports not to be a threat, must be read contrary to 

what's on its face.  Can you justify the difference in 

your reading of those?  

A I want to clarify my testimony, in case 

it was confusing.  Exhibit 3 that says, "I have a gun" 

is clearly threatening, and Exhibit 2 is also 

threatening, which I'll read the subject line in that 

one about mass shootings.  Hold on please.  "The 

mental health system creates mass shootings."  I 
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perceive that as a threat in the subject line, but it 

was the content of that actual exhibit, the sentences 

in that exhibit, that were extremely concerning to me.  

I've read those, I think, twice now.  They say, "why 

did no one stop this person?  You left them no choice.  

You are making shooters."  That as well, I perceive, 

to be a threat.  I'm not saying that one is a threat 

and one is not.  All of these exhibits are examples of 

threats that I took as physical threats to my office 

and the physical safety of my employees and my 

patients. 

Q Okay.  But is it fair to say, because 

you did not answer my question, that Exhibit 2, you 

have to read contrary to its face, where I make it 

clear it is not a threat, I make it clear it is a 

political -- a piece of political speech concerning 

what -- the origins of the social phenomenon which is 

being traded on here is a stereotype of the 

association between mental illness and violence -- 

that -- would you agree that that is what it says on 

its face, and that you said you had to read that, 

contrary to that, in order to read it as a threat?  

And if so -- well, let me ask that first.  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I'm objecting as to argument and --  

THE COURT:  Yes. 
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MS. POGUE:  -- compound question.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge --  

THE COURT:  It's -- I'm going to sustain it.  

Ms. Shomo, the reason I want to sustain it is, it's 

sounding like your argument and what you might be 

testifying to on closing argument, or during your 

testimony in your case-in-chief.  So you can attempt 

to restate -- it was also compound, I agree.  But you 

can make those into more bite-sized questions, and 

then I'll rule on their admissibility -- or on their 

appropriateness.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay, Judge.  What I'm trying to show 

is that a different construction has to be used --  

THE COURT:  Oh --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- between the two emails in order to --  

THE COURT:  -- I'm -- I'm very clear -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- construe them.  Understood.  

THE COURT:  You are making your point, and I 

understand that for sure.  What I'm simply suggesting, 

is some of this may well be what you're going to 

testify to, but I will allow you some leeway.  You can 

ask, if you ask not a compound question.  So you ask 

one idea at a time.  And yes, we'll go from there.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   
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Q Ms. James (sic), concerning "I have a 

gun", which was Exhibit 3, it is your contention that 

is a threat on its face by its plain English wording; 

is that correct?  

MS. POGUE:  Objection; asked and answered.  

THE COURT:  Sustained.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Very well.  Then, understanding that 

that was your testimony, and if I'm mistaken, please 

correct me -- is that okay to add as the beginning of 

a question? 

THE COURT:  No.  Yes, normally, except you've asked 

and answered that several times.  I think that --  

MS. SHOMO:  Well, it's the beginning of a new 

question.  

THE COURT:  We've plowed over this ground, so I'm 

going to sustain that objection.  

MS. SHOMO:  I'm not objecting to this extension, I've 

tried to phrase appropriately.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q In that that was your testimony, 

Exhibit 2 says on its face, this is not a threat, this 

is political speech about a factor in our society.  

Ms. Joseph, would you explain why your construction -- 

for number 3 is that it's obviously a threat on its 
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face because it references a gun -- but your 

construction for number 2 requires you to read it 

in -- pursuant to your own testimony, which is asked 

and answered, contrary to -- to the statement on its 

face? 

THE COURT:  I'm going to sustain on asked and 

answered.  It wasn't asked and answered exactly in 

that form, but what the Court will find is that 

Director Joseph has testified quite thoroughly with 

respect to why it is she perceived exhibits 1, 2, 3 

and 4 to be threats.  It will be -- you will have 

opportunity, Ms. Shomo, to argue why they are not 

threats, and ultimately, that's the decision -- 

conclusion the Court will have to look at. 

MS. SHOMO:   Very well.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Then, I will move on to number 4, which 

is predicated by those same earlier questions that are 

asked and answered at this time.  You testified that 

on the plain face of message 4, per its subject line, 

"This is a bomb threat", that the message can be read 

no other way.  Do you wish to dispute my 

characterization there?   

MS. SHOMO:  Is that a fair question, Judge?  

THE COURT:  I think this has also been asked and 
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answered already.   

MS. SHOMO:  I'm going to Exhibit 2 -- 4 now. 

THE COURT:  She -- she's -- I have extensive notes on 

Director Joseph's response to your question, probing 

her understanding of Exhibit 4.  So I think it's 

appropriate to sustain any objections on relevance.  

If you could find if -- it sounded like you might be 

ready to wrap up with her, but if there's an 

additional new topic you wish to explore, I would ask 

you to move on to that one.  

MS. SHOMO:  I -- Judge, I would like to dig deeper 

into the construction on 4.  I have not been able to 

ask about the content of the email in the details that 

I was able to ask about with respect to the other two.  

There is no asked and answered on that.  May I -- may 

I attempt to unpack exactly the position -- I -- I 

don't want to ask and answered, I just want to use the 

previous answer as predicate for my next question.  

That's what I'm trying to do, if that makes sense to 

the Court? 

THE COURT:  I simply am looking at an almost a half a 

page of my own notes on only Exhibit 4.  So what is it 

that you wish to ask Director Joseph at this point?  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay, let me get Exhibit 4 up.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   
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Q Ms. Joseph, do you see where it says, 

"This is a bomb threat per the clearly perjurious 

false reporting of CODHS as previously detailed"? 

A I do.  

Q I would like to ask in what way -- that 

does not appear to be a critique -- well, let me ask 

another foundational question.  Are you aware that an 

alleged bomb threat was one of the justifications for 

the attempted welfare placement that was made in June?  

A I am.  

Q Are you aware that a false reporting 

complaint had been made against Ms. Clawson concerning 

the contents of that welfare check report?  

A I think I did know that.  

Q Very well.  Then, would you please 

speak to exactly why me saying I was critiquing that 

report, i.e. this is a bomb threat per your own 

perjury, is facially a bomb threat as opposed to 

facially a dispute that a bomb threat had been made? 

MS. POGUE:  Objection; argument.  

THE COURT:  It is argumentative.  Can you please 

rephrase? 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I -- may I ask how I rephrase 

that without incurring argumentative? 

THE COURT:  I believe you are trying to ask why it 
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would not simply have been understood as a critique of 

a report of the bomb threat; am I correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  That would be fair.  If the Judge 

would have the witness answer that question, 

Respondent would be perfectly happy.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

A Exhibit 4, which reads, "This is a bomb 

threat, per the clearly perjurious, false reporting of 

CODHS as previous detailed".  I took that statement at 

face value to mean this is a bomb threat, that it is a 

bomb threat.  That was the bolded part of that phrase, 

and quite frankly, I didn't focus on the rest of that.  

Even today, as I read it today, I am -- I feel that 

this is a statement that is making a bomb threat.  The 

subject matter, again, says, "This is a bomb threat."  

This is a bomb threat in bold, the clearly perjurious 

false reporting of CODHS does nothing to quell my 

concerns, my fears -- or my fear.  That did not seem 

to be counter in any way to the statement, "This is a 

bomb threat."  In fact, I interpreted it to be that 

this is a bomb threat because of an anger towards 

CODHS on the -- the alleged false reporting.  And that 

is how I took it, and it is how I take it, sitting 

here today.  

Q Next question.  Ms. Joseph, under the 
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image, which -- actually, let's go to the image next.  

The image in that appears to be a request for evidence 

from the Lakewood Police Department; is that correct?  

A I'm sorry.  I'm not sure which image 

you're referencing.  

Q The image immediately after the text we 

have just discussed.  It has a blue bar at the top, 

then a gray section? 

A Yes, it seems to be some type of 

evidentiary request for -- it says, "I hereby request 

all such inventoried digital evidence." 

Q Very well.  And you will note that the 

report number identified by this is Lima Kilo 25017327 

with the Lakewood Police Department; is that correct?  

A Correct.  

Q Thank you.  Would you -- are you aware 

that that is the welfare check request that was made 

of the Lakewood Police Department? 

A I was not aware.  

Q Very well.  Are you aware that the 

message below, that follows "The capital bomb threat 

follows:" is the only message which was submitted by 

the Department to the Lakewood Police Department to 

substantiate a bomb threat?  Pursuant to the evidence 

that is attached to this particular email? 
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A I don't completely understand the 

question.  It says, "The State always construes being 

told on to a superlative jurisdiction, a bomb threat.  

This time's the U.N.  Bomb threat follows." 

Q Let -- okay.  Let me -- let me go to 

that -- that first sentence.  What about that 

sentence, where I specifically referenced the State 

misconstruing things as a bomb threat, is clearly a 

bomb threat in retaliation, as opposed to a criticism 

of the state's previous conduct?  

MS. POGUE:  I'm going to object to argument.  That -- 

the documents speak for themselves.  

MS. SHOMO:  She -- the witness has testified to a 

subjective reaction.  I'm attempting to cross-examine 

that subjective reaction to demonstrate it's 

facetious.  

THE COURT:  So your question is, why would it not 

be -- why was it not construed as being facetious? 

MS. SHOMO:  Well, my question is, why is the express 

statement that I am referencing how the State 

construes things that are not bomb threats as bomb 

threats and reference going to a superlative 

jurisdiction not in any way modify -- or what impact 

does it have on the witness's perception of this as a 

clear, literal bomb threat, or why does that satisfy 
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the witness that this is not a threat of physical 

harm?  

THE COURT:  You can ask that question if Director 

Joseph can answer.  

A The statement in parens, "The State 

always construes being told on to a superlative 

jurisdiction a bomb threat, this time's the U.N.", I 

interpreted that to be simple gibberish.  It makes no 

sense in English language, and it was evidence to me 

of dysregulation, and it concerned me even more with 

the title, "bomb threat."  

Q You have previously testified you have 

25-year history in law enforcement.  Are you aware of 

what a superlative jurisdiction is?  

A I am not.  

Q If you were to be advised that a 

superlative jurisdiction is a higher court, for 

instance, the federal level is a superlative 

jurisdiction to the state court.  A district court is 

typically superlative jurisdiction to a county court, 

and that the United Nations, although admittedly 

disputably, given that we are the world's great 

superpower, can be understood via analogy between the 

federal courts and the state courts, to be a 

superlative jurisdiction to the United States? 
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A I think you mean the word superior, not 

superlative.  

Q Superior -- superlative is merely the 

superlative form of superior.  Would --  

A I've never heard courts --  

Q With that (inaudible) you understand? 

A I personally have never heard courts 

referred to as superlative.  Superlative typically 

means extra.  It's just not a word we use that I'm 

familiar with in -- in -- in my practice as an 

attorney.  

Q Very well, understanding that I am not 

an attorney, and that I got the word that close.  Why 

is that gibberish?  

MS. POGUE:  Objection, Judge.  Sorry -- asked and 

answered.   

THE COURT:  Does the witness -- yeah, Ms. -- I'm going 

to sustain.  Ms. Shomo, I gave you quite a bit of 

latitude on Exhibit 4.  You were permitted opportunity 

to ask the witness about (inaudible) --  

MS. SHOMO:  May I ask a few more question about 4 --  

THE COURT:  -- and so I would ask you to move on.  I 

am satisfied that the -- Director Joseph has been very 

clear.  She's not familiar with -- she took this as 

nonsensical, and I'm certainly not saying that is any 
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conclusion, I'm simply saying she's made very clear --  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well. 

THE COURT:  -- what her response was.  So at this 

point, anything further would be argumentative.  And 

you have quite a bit of opportunity to explain --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I can move -- very well.  I can -- 

I can move on from that question.  One thing that I 

would ask the Court to understand, is that sometimes I 

can be very exacting when I ask a question, when I 

feel the witness is being evasive.  I'm not trying to 

be argumentative.  So I would ask to continue asking 

on Exhibit 4, but move on in subject matter.  I'm 

not -- there are -- there's continuing content in 4 

that I haven't finished addressing.  

THE COURT:  I am very satisfied that there's been 

enough information addressed with Exhibit 4, so I, at 

this point --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I would like to ask Ms. Joseph if 

she's aware that I have a history of going to the U.N. 

in Geneva and working with them.  

THE COURT:  I don't find --  

MS. SHOMO:  And (inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Again, I don't -- Ms. -- Director Joseph 

has testified extensively with respect to her 

response, her employees response, and how the 
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communications were received.  I recognize you are 

going to raise alternate reasons for the 

communication.  You will have opportunity to.  But at 

this point, no, I'm not going to allow any additional 

questioning with respect to Exhibit 4.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very -- well, I would ask the Court, then, 

to take judicial notice that this also contains a 

statement that Secret Service has requested I initiate 

that U.N. complaint.  

THE COURT:  Yes.  And I will certainly -- I have 

accepted all exhibits on their face, and I will have 

opportunity to review them.  So I don't need to take 

judicial notice, but you can point this out in your 

closing argument or your testimony.   

MS. SHOMO:  Understood.   

THE COURT:  But yes, I certainly am taking note.  

MS. SHOMO:  May I ask Ms. Joseph if she's familiar 

with the Convention against Torture as an 

international treaty mechanism, and then I have yet to 

get to the attachments to the message.  I would just 

like to ask a few questions on those before we move 

on, and then I will be done with this witness.  

THE COURT:  No I'm not -- I'm not going to allow 

questions on Director Joseph's familiarity with the 

Conventions on (sic) Torture because that would not be 
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relevant to what I need to decide here.  So I'm not 

going to allow that line of questioning.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Is the Court then going to consider 

any of the content that references the Convention 

against Torture in this message in its ruling?  

THE COURT:  Well, I certainly will consider the fact 

that all of this was part of the communication made to 

the department because it's now admitted into 

evidence.  But I -- and you will have opportunity to 

explain why it is that you sent this.  So you're not 

being precluded from exploring that defense, but it's 

just this is not the witness to do it through. 

MS. SHOMO:  Understood.  I have one final question 

then, and then I will move on from Exhibit 4 entirely.  

Judge, if you would note objection that I had not been 

able to fully explore the content of Exhibit 4, and 

insofar as it may be a threat, Respondent does object 

to questioning being curtailed at this point, and then 

I'll move on to a final question, and I'll be done 

with this witness? 

THE COURT:  What is it that you want to ask?  

MS. SHOMO:  My -- with respect to Exhibit 4.  Moving 

on, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Well, I'm not --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) your question.  
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THE COURT:  Yeah.  I'm not clear what you're asking to 

do? 

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, I was -- were you asking what my final 

question is, or were you indicating the Court's 

willingness to entertain more on Exhibit 4? 

THE COURT:  No, I'm ruling that we're past Exhibit 4 

now.   

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, okay.   

THE COURT:  So I --  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  My final question pertains to the 

next witness, and that is Ms. James (sic), and let me 

see -- let me grab the precise quotation real quick.  

Downloads -- exhibit -- ITS -- I apologize, I've got 

to grab it because it is on a different topic, A 

through P -- two -- I'm getting an exact quote, so 

give me one moment, and this will actually be two 

questions.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Are you aware of, Ms. James (sic), any 

threatening message that the department has purported 

is threatening, referencing child rape and/or the rape 

of children?  

MS. POGUE:  Objection, Judge, I believe this is asked 

and answered.  

THE COURT:  Asked and answered.  I don't know that 
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it's asked and answered --  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh -- (inaudible) on the other Bridget 

Clawson --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo --  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh. 

THE COURT:  -- I have to rule.  I want to know what -- 

why would that possibly be relevant to this 

proceeding?  

MS. SHOMO:  Because it's one of three threats that 

will come up in impeachment with Ms. Bridget Clawson 

and the welfare examination.  And I'm asking Ms. Jones 

(sic) to testify to the matter as well, or to state 

she has no knowledge of those specifics.  

THE COURT:  There's no allegations that you sent 

anything that I'm aware of about rape of children.  

But even if -- I'm not aware of that.  

MS. SHOMO:  That -- that is in how the welfare check 

was requested by the department, which does impeach 

their contention they brought the welfare check in.  

Petitioner, they opened the door, and so in -- that -- 

that will be brought in through Ms. Clawson's 

testimony, that -- and in impeachment of Ms. Clawson, 

and in that Ms. Joseph took responsibility for 

Ms. Clawson's actions, indicated that she had sent 

Ms. Clawson.  And given the directive, the content of 
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Ms. Clawson's exact report becomes relevant.  And as 

such, she is -- it is asked and answered on the 

question of killing Jews, but on the question of child 

rape, it has not been addressed, and that will be one 

of the -- the three primary prongs from the police 

report, which was just noted to be referenced in the 

email along with statements it was a critique in 

Exhibit 4.  But this is not an Exhibit 4 question.  

This is ultimately a question of Petitioner's broader 

claim that additional threats have been made.   

THE COURT:  No. 

MS. SHOMO:  I have three examples of additional 

threats that I'm going to impeach because Petitioner 

has described a trend of messages.  

THE COURT:  No, because the welfare check is ancillary 

at best to this matter.  I mean --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) --  

THE COURT:  -- it really is ancillary.  Let me finish.  

I -- we're at 3.5 hours right now in our -- in this 

proceeding, we're on the first witness.  But I -- I'm 

not --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) --  

THE COURT:  I'm not making this -- okay, if I may?  

I'm not sustaining the objection on timing, I'm just 

making that observation.  I don't find relevance to 
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directing questions about child rape to Director 

Joseph.  She -- there's not a -- there's no text 

messages, there's nothing in evidence to suggest -- 

that doesn't bear on the issue of the four messages --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) --  

THE COURT:  -- that -- if I may?  That does not bear 

on the issue of the four messages that you are alleged 

to have sent, and their impact, and whether or not 

they would be threats and whether or not they would 

constitute grounds for restraining going forward.  So 

I'm not going to allow it (inaudible) 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I make a --  

THE COURT:  If I may?  

MS. SHOMO:  -- brief reply and ask the Court to 

consider?  Colorado Rules of Evidence allows prior 

conduct of a witness, and in this case, the 

department, as impeachment for its claims.   

THE COURT:  No.  

MS. SHOMO:  The Department --  

THE COURT:  No.  

MS. SHOMO:  -- claimed to have perceived threats, and 

I am showing --  

THE COURT:  If I may? 

MS. SHOMO:  -- another situation, where the department 

claims to have perceived threats --  
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THE COURT:  No. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- where I can show those threats were 

completely fictitious.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, let's kind of remain calm here.  

No.  I think you're referencing 404(b), and it 

would -- there might be issues regarding prior acts of 

yourself, but that -- we're not -- the department is 

not at a hearing.  They're not the ones at a hearing.  

I'm not considering entering a protection order with 

the department.  I understand, and I understand 

probably better than you might guess, but there's 

clearly a long history of acrimony between you and the 

department.  I know that you believe they've engaged 

in wrongdoing.  But that's for a different proceeding 

at a different time.   

And I'm not going to -- I -- that's why 

I went to the trouble of making a very lengthy ruling 

when we started here.  And ultimately, I don't know 

how this hearing is going to turn out, but if 

someone's not happy with my rulings, obviously, there 

are avenues to contest them, but we're not going to 

have an argument back and forth every time I exercise 

my discretion on the admissibility of evidence.   

MS. SHOMO:  Sure.   

THE COURT:  I --  
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MS. SHOMO:  May I ask you --  

THE COURT:  No -- no court is -- very -- the 

Court -- that's not common practice, and I'm doing my 

best to help guide you through as a pro se litigant, 

which is your right.  But I want to make clear that 

you have been given quite a bit of leeway when it 

comes to being allowed to push back on the Court with 

respect to evidentiary rulings.  I am ruling, and I 

would like it to be respected.  We're not going to 

have any further questions directed to Director Joseph 

with respect to child rape. 

MS. SHOMO:  Understood.  May I ask Ms. Clawson those 

questions, in that they were in her report to the --  

THE COURT:  Yeah, I don't know --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- Lakewood Police?   

THE COURT:  Yeah, I don't know yet.  That is not ripe 

for determination.  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Understood.  May I ask to reserve recall 

if the Court allows it in there to ask Ms. Joseph on 

the subject? 

THE COURT:  Can always ask for recall, and I can 

always make a ruling at that time.  Yeah.  And again, 

that would be premature right now to make a ruling.  

MS. SHOMO:  No further questions, Your Honor, for this 

witness.  
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THE COURT:  Okay.  Any redirect?  

MS. POGUE:  No, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you, Director Joseph.  Next 

witness for the Petitioner?  And should anybody ever 

need a break, please let me know.  That includes you, 

Mr. Laws.  Okay.  

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, we don't have additional 

witnesses.  I'm not going to call Ms. Clawson now, so 

we don't have that.  I do want to make sure that the 

parties are aware that Billy Wade has indicated he has 

to pick up his child at 3 p.m.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, couple things: Does -- do we 

think we could get through Billy Wade's testimony?  

I'm willing to take it out of order if the parties are 

willing, but we're at 2:40 right now.  

MS. SHOMO:  Respondent has no objective (sic) and 

anticipates questioning of Mr. Wade to be quite brief. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Sure.  Let's call Mr. Wade.  Can we 

get him on the line?  

MS. POGUE:  Yeah, we'll let him know.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

MS. POGUE:  And then, Judge, what is the appropriate 

procedure if they're not going to call Ms. Clawson and 

provide direct, and I have an adverse witness.  May I 

ask the Court to explain what it would have me do 
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here?  

THE COURT:  Yes.  Let's cross -- yes, I will let you 

know.  I think you're going to have to establish that 

she would be an adverse witness.  

MS. SHOMO:  She is -- she's called to impeach 

Ms. James's (sic) testimony on how the department 

understood the communications.  

THE COURT:  No, I understand the purpose that you're 

calling for, but the question of whether someone could 

be considered an adverse witness is subject to 

Colorado Rule of Evidence.  And because of that, I 

want to just look up and remind myself of what you 

would need to do.  You can't just simply call someone 

an adverse witness, because otherwise, you'd be able 

to call somebody and lead them through their 

examination.  You can't do that unless it's been 

established.  So Colorado Rules of Evidence --  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  And --  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Just so you know, it's Rule 611, 

and it allows leading questions during examination of 

an adverse, hostile, or identified witness.  I just 

need to figure out what you need to do.  I'm going to 

look.  

MS. SHOMO:  Understood.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Yeah.  Whether a witness qualifies 
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as hostile or adverse typically is a matter for the 

trial judge's discretion based on witness attitude and 

testimony.  So Ms. Shomo, you're going to need to move 

to have her treated as adverse after we see how it 

goes.  It has to happen live, while she's on the 

stand.  But we're chewing into our time with Commander 

Wade right now, so let's go ahead and call Commander 

Wade if he is available.  

MS. POGUE:  He just said he needs a minute --  

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- to get on.  

THE COURT:  That's fine.  

MS. POGUE:  So hopefully, soon. 

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, there is one other issue while 

we wait for Mr. Wade, I would call the Court's 

attention to.  The portion -- for the record, the 

portion of Exhibit 4 the Court refused to allow me to 

question on would prove political motivations and 

impeachment for the department.  To wit, it would 

establish the bill kills that I asked Mr. Jones (sic) 

about were actually included by reference in those 

attachments, but I could present that in my own case. 

THE COURT:  It would -- it would what?  

MS. SHOMO:  It would demonstrate that those were 

questions of a political nature by reference to the 
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prior action.   

THE COURT:  Well -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I could do that in my own case, though. 

THE COURT:  I say this with respect.  You will not -- 

you -- if you're trying to get Director Joseph to 

admit that, I think you've approached that every which 

way.  I think you can argue it, and that's fair game.  

But I think, frustrating though it may be, I don't 

think you're going to get Director Joseph to admit it 

was a political -- of a political nature.  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, that -- that's fair.  I fully didn't 

expect Petitioner would admit that.  I -- I just 

wanted to crystallize her responses to that with 

respect to those attachments.  And I just wanted to 

make a record on that. 

THE COURT:  Yep.  

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, while we're waiting for 

Commander Wade?  If Ms. Shomo, if you're able to even, 

like, give us a sense about who -- which witness you'd 

be calling after Commander Wade, just -- would that 

be -- I don't know if you wanted to testify, or if 

that would go to Ms. Clawson, just so that we could 

let Ms. Clawson know for timing? 

MS. SHOMO:  I would ask Ms. Clawson before Mr. Wade, 

and then I would testify and make my statement last.  
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THE COURT:  We can't put -- we cannot put Ms. Clawson 

on because Commander Wade has 20 minutes.  That's what 

we just --  

MS. SHOMO:  I said after Mr. Wade.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And is the department no longer 

calling Mr. -- not Mr. Wade -- sorry.  Is the 

Department no longer calling Respondent as witness?  

MS. POGUE:  We're not.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So you're done?  Your case-in-chief 

is done? 

MS. POGUE:  We are done.  Yes.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, I hope I have been perfectly 

respectful and consistent with decorum? 

THE COURT:  Yes, you have, and thank you very much.  

You know, in an abundance of caution, while we're 

waiting for Commander Wade, I am going to allow 

Ms. Shomo to ask those couple limited questions with 

respect to Exhibit 4 of Director Joseph, just to make 

a clean record.  Director Joseph, are you available?   

MS. POGUE:  She's here. 

THE COURT:  And so let's go ahead and do that, and 

then, Ms. Pogue, maybe you can alert the Court when 

Commander Wade is on the on the line?  Okay? 

MS. POGUE:  Yes.  
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THE COURT:  Okay? 

MS. POGUE:  She'll try from her computer.  We'll see 

if this works.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Shomo, I'm going to -- just in 

an abundance of caution, I'm going to go ahead and 

allow you to ask those questions of Director Joseph 

with respect to what you wanted to ask about Exhibit 

4.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.   

RESUMED CROSS-EXAM 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Joseph are you aware that one of 

the attachments to Exhibit 4, this is the attachment 

labeled Q for the Court, is an order granting relief 

from an act of plea coercion, which Respondent had 

alleged was carried out by a contractor for CODHS?  

Said act of plea coercion occurring the day before and 

the day after 9/11 -- oh, Mr. Wade is on?  I can 

switch questioning if the Court would prefer for his 

time, 13 minutes? 

THE COURT:  We'll do that with Commander Wade.  All 

right.  You go ahead now.  Let's admit Commander Wade. 

MS. POGUE:  Oh, Commander Wade, could you turn your -- 

oh wait, never mind.  He'll need his.  Why are we now 

making the weird sounds?   
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MS. JOSEPH:  I can mute. 

MS. POGUE:  No, I'm not -- you --  

THE COURT:  I think it's coming from Mr. Wade.  Is he 

on?   

MR. WADE:  I'm on, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  All right.  Commander Wade, could you turn 

your screen on so we can see you?  Thank you.   

MR. WADE:  I'm seeing all of you.   

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I can see him --  

THE COURT:  Oh, I see him now --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- he's on by phone and video in --  

THE COURT:  -- okay --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- separate channels. 

THE COURT:  -- all right, sir.  Yeah, it looks like 

you're on with a couple of accounts.  All right.  Will 

you raise your right hand, sir?  Could you please --  

MR. WADE:  My screen just went out, ma'am.  Okay, I'm 

back.  There we go.   

THE COURT:  All right.   

MR. WADE:  Yes, ma'am. 

BILLY WADE 

Testified on his oath as follows:  

THE COURT:  All right.  Your witness, Ms. Shomo. 

DIRECT EXAM 

BY MS. SHOMO:   
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Q Mr. Wade, did you provide me 

Ms. Clawson's name in response to an inquiry 

concerning the Lakewood Police welfare check?  

A I did.  

Q If you had perceived me to be a threat 

to Ms. Clawson, would you have identified her?  

A No.  

Q You had an opportunity to interact with 

me while I basically -- and tell me if this 

characterization is unfair -- force that information 

out of you by imputing your honor, when you denied 

that that had come from the state hospital in Pueblo; 

is that a fair statement?  

A Could you readdress that, Ms. Shomo?  

Q I -- well, let me ask for that in your 

own words, rather than my characterization.  How would 

you describe our interaction, whereby I got you to 

provide that name? 

A When you called on the phone that day 

in reference to asking who Bridget was, and wanting to 

file a police report, I informed you that Bridget did 

not work at CMHIP, and worked at the Denver office, 

and I did not have the jurisdiction to take your 

police report.  

Q Fair enough.  Last question.  Did you 



186 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

find anything in my demeanor when interacting with you 

to be dysregulated, over-emotional, or in any other 

way threatening? 

A No.  

MS. SHOMO:  No further questions for this witness. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Anything further from the 

People -- I'm sorry, from Petitioner? 

MS. SHOMO:  We can't hear you, Ms. Pogue. 

THE COURT:  You're muted, Ms. Pogue. 

MS. SHOMO:  Sorry if that wasn't my place.  

MS. POGUE:  No, you're fine.   

THE COURT:  No. 

MS. POGUE:  Can you hear me now?  

THE COURT:  Yes.  

THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am.  

CROSS-EXAM 

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q Commander Wade, you just indicated that 

you would not have provided Ms. Clawson's name had you 

believed that Ms. Shomo was a threat; is that 

accurate?  

A That is accurate.  

Q And did you speak with Ms. Clawson and 

ask if it was okay if her name be provided before 

giving that to Ms. Shomo?  
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A No, I did not.  

Q Had you reviewed all the communications 

that Ms. Shomo had sent to the department and to 

Ms. Clawson --  

A No, ma'am.   

Q -- before providing the name?  

A No, ma'am.  

Q And had you reviewed communications and 

seen references to a gun, would you still have 

provided Ms. Clawson's name to Ms. Shomo?  

A I am unaware of any -- of any 

references to a gun in any email.  And if that 

reference would have been made, not without further 

review or speaking to, you know, the AG's office.  

Q And what if there had been references 

to a bomb threat?  

A In what sense, ma'am?  

Q If Ms. Shomo had made references to a 

bomb threat, would that have changed, potentially, 

your calculation on whether or not it was appropriate 

to provide Ms. Clawson's name to Ms. Shomo?  

A Yes, ma'am.  

Q So is it fair to say that you didn't 

have -- potentially, you did not have all the 

information that had been communicated to Ms. Clawson, 
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prior to providing her name to Ms. Shomo?  

A That is fair to say.  

MS. SHOMO:  I have --  

MS. POGUE:  Nothing further.  

MS. SHOMO:  I have a little bit --  

THE COURT:  Redirect? 

MS. SHOMO:  Redirect?   

THE COURT:  Yes.  

REDIRECT EXAM 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Mr. Wade, are you familiar with any of 

my Respondent's communications? 

A In the time frame listed by the judge?  

No, I'm not.  I am not privy to any of them.  

Q Had they been regarded by the 

department as threatening to the facility at which I 

was confined -- as a command law enforcement officer, 

would you have been made aware of that?  As a matter 

of normal process and course? 

A Okay.  Again, I am not aware of any of 

your emails that were sent in the dates specified by 

the judge that could be utilized.  

Q But if the department -- as a normal 

matter of practice, if the department perceived a 

threat, would they make the state hospital police 
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aware of that? 

A If it is in our jurisdictional venue, 

yes.   

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you.  I believe that does me for 

redirect.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you very much, 

Commander Wade, we appreciate you appearing on short 

notice.  

THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am.  Thank you, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Turning our attention back 

to -- I assume this will be a limited number of 

questions, just to wrap up on Exhibit 4? 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you very much, Judge.   

RESUMED CROSS-EXAM 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Joseph, I was calling your 

attention when Mr. Wade came on, to Exhibit Q.  That 

is a plea in a Broomfield municipal court when I was a 

juvenile that was overturned, pursuant to a court's 

determination that the plea was unconstitutional --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, for the record, it was a nolo, so 

no substantive matter is touched.  It was also 2001. 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q -- this was attached to Respondent's 

critique, or what you said was facially a bomb threat, 



190 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

and represents a court determination overturning a 

coerced plea, reflecting misconduct by a department 

contractor.  Would you speak to any awareness you had 

or did not have of that?  Or in the alternative, if 

you had no awareness, what your reaction to that 

content in Exhibit Q was? 

THE COURT:  I will allow her to answer if she had 

awareness, but if the answer to that is no, it becomes 

irrelevant what her response would be.  

MS. SHOMO:  My next question will be on DHS 

investigating 9/11, but --  

THE COURT:  Well, let -- let's --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) 

THE COURT:  -- let her answer that.  

A I had some awareness that there was a 

prior case involving yourself when you were a 

juvenile.  I did not dig deep into that matter, and 

I'm not aware of some of the specifics you are 

alleging in your question specifically.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Very well.  May I ask --  

MS. SHOMO:  And if this is speculation, Judge, I'll 

move on without arguing.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q -- but may I ask why, if I were making 
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a bomb threat to retaliate against the department, 

would I include a previous case in which I won in 

court concerning misconduct?  In your understanding, 

assessing the threat?  

MS. POGUE:  Objection; argument.  It's -- it calls for 

argument.  

THE COURT:  It also calls for speculation.  So that's 

not an appropriate question.  

MS. SHOMO:  I will move on to the next exhibit.  

I'm -- I will make this very quick.  The next 

exhibit -- sorry, let me bring Q, R and S up.  I had 

switched to Mr. Wade.  Just a moment.  The next 

exhibit that I wanted to reference are the CART 

minutes.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Joseph had you seen that 

attachment, and did you have any reaction to that 

attachment?  

A I don't know what the CART -- what 

you're referencing.  What CART you mean? 

Q You mean there was a two-page 

attachment to the email purporting to be a bomb 

threat, which were minutes from an advocacy group 

known as CART.  It sounds like you're not familiar 

with that attachment to the email? 
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A I'm not. 

Q Moving on?  Moving on.  Very well.  The 

next question I have is Exhibit S, the letter from 

Mr. Ivandic (phonetic) which is just one page.  Did 

you have any familiarity with that attachment?  

A I don't -- I have no memory of that 

attachment.  

Q Very well.  My next question pertains 

to Exhibit H, page 10.  And -- let me verify which 

attachment that was.   

MS. SHOMO:  I'm almost done, Judge.  33 to 45, page 

10.  33 to 45, we're going to make that 43.  Right, 

here we go.  Okay.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Did -- did you have any familiarity 

with the statement on the letterhead of the Colorado 

Department of Human Services on 9/10/2001, which 

constitutes page 10 of Exhibit H? 

MS. SHOMO:  And then, Judge, I will ask the same 

question with respect to Exhibit I.  One more 

question, and I'm out, unless the witness has 

familiarity.  

THE COURT:  Okay.   

A I have no familiarity with anything the 

department did in 2001.  



193 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q I refer only to the attachment to the 

email.  Had you seen that attachment?  Were you aware 

of it?  

A I'm not aware of it.  

Q Understood.  My last question is the 

same question with respect to Exhibit I.  Let me pull 

it real quick, so I can describe it correctly.  

Exhibit I, pages one and two.  Okay.  Exhibit I, pages 

one and two were described as "the state knew", and 

the state knew supplemental, which are records of 

Colorado Department of Human Services and other 

individuals concerning the juvenile case in which I 

was sexually assaulted, which was in fact attached to 

that message.  Do you have any familiarity with those 

attachments or the matter they refer to? 

A I don't have specific familiarity.  

I -- I do remember, and I am so sorry that there has 

been a situation in your life where you may have been 

sexually assaulted.  I do remember reading that at 

some point.  It's very painful and traumatic, and 

requires all kinds of treatment.  And I'm sorry that 

happened.  So I'm familiar with it in that context. 

Q Very well.  In that, also attached, was 

a victory in court.  Can you speak to how you 
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understood that attachment to either increase or 

decrease the probability that the message was, in 

fact, the threat you have told the Court it is on its 

face? 

A I believed then, and I believe today, 

that the message was a threat to the physical safety 

of my staff, and my patients, and my facilities.  And 

while there may be extenuating circumstances that show 

some of the trauma that you may have experienced, it 

doesn't mitigate the fact that there was, in fact, a 

threat.  Perhaps it explains some of your anger, but 

it still doesn't lessen the concern I have as a 

director that this was a bomb threat.   

Q This specific message? 

A That is correct.  

Q Thank you very much.  And last 

question.  Are you aware that the Secret Service is 

organized under the Department of Human -- I'm sorry, 

of Homeland Security -- different DHS.  And are you 

aware that the Department of Homeland Security has 

investigatory responsibility for the September 11th 

attacks on the United States --  

MS. POGUE:  And --  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q -- because you had referenced -- you 
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had referenced the September 11th attacks as being 

referenced in my email, I would like to ask if you're 

aware of those matters with your -- given your history 

and law enforcement? 

MS. POGUE:  Objection; relevance.  

THE COURT:  That's sustained on irrelevance grounds.  

MS. SHOMO:  It's my contention it's very likely that's 

what the feds are investigating.   

THE COURT:  That would call for --  

MS. SHOMO:  But I can make that on my --  

THE COURT:  -- that would call for speculation, and 

respectfully, you've received quite a bit of leeway on 

Exhibit 4, which is good.  

MS. SHOMO:  It was my last question.   

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  Can I just ask if she's aware that DHS 

investigates, or is that irrelevant?  

THE COURT:  No, we're --  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well. 

THE COURT:  -- finished with the questions.  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  All right, thank you.  All right, Director 

Joseph, thank you very much.  At this time, we will go 

back to Ms. Shomo's case-in-chief.  So who would you 

like to call for your next witness?  
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MS. SHOMO:  I would like to call Ms. Clawson, and the 

purpose of my testimony will -- because the welfare 

check was cited by Ms. Joseph as part of their 

understanding of the threats, and because it was part 

of their reaction, and it was brought in by Petitioner 

to support their claim that threats exist, I would 

like to inquire about that, and I anticipate I will be 

taking the interaction averse when we look into the 

report that was made to the Lakewood police.  But 

Petitioner cited it as critical to their case.  

THE COURT:  We will see.  But just so you know, I did 

not hear Director Joseph to say that the welfare check 

was integral to her assessment of the threat.  What I 

heard her say was that she called for a welfare check 

because she was worried about your safety.  But I did 

not, at any point, hear her say that that welfare 

check bore on her assessment of the threat.  So I --  

MS. SHOMO:  Can we ask --  

THE COURT:  -- will -- I will be --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- Ms. Clawson --  

THE COURT:  -- (inaudible)--  

MS. SHOMO:  -- for a moment --  

THE COURT:  -- that I will be open to argument, but 

that's not the case.  But for now, let's go ahead and 

put Ms. Clawson on the stand.  Ms. Clawson, could you 
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raise your right hand, please?   

BRIDGET CLAWSON 

Testified on her oath as follows: 

THE COURT:  And you need to -- I didn't hear you? 

THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

THE WITNESS:  Can you hear me now? 

THE COURT:  Can we put Ms. Clawson on the main screen?   

MS. SHOMO:  Also, is it possible to increase her 

volume?  I can't hear her very well; just barely.  

THE WITNESS:  Yeah, we've been trying to 

(inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  We're going to try and put you on the main 

screen here.  That's only relevant to me, but it's 

helpful to see her.  Ms. Clawson, do you -- can you 

turn up your microphone?  

THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  Is this better?  

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  I can hear it a little better.  

THE COURT:  It's not great, but it's okay.  

THE WITNESS:  Let's try this one.  How about that?  Is 

that better? 

MS. SHOMO:  I think it's a bit -- it's pretty close.  

THE COURT:  We'll see how it goes, and then just all 

parties, please let us know if Ms. Clawson cannot be 
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heard, okay?  All right?   

All right.  Ms. Shomo, this is your 

witness, so you may proceed with your examination. 

(WHEREUPON, the calling of the docket continues.) 

***
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DIRECT EXAM 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson, as part of the 

department's response to its perceived threats, were 

you asked to initiate a welfare check with the 

Lakewood Police?  

A I initiated the welfare check myself.  

Q Very well.   

MS. SHOMO:  Now Judge, am I allowed to reference 

testimony of another witness as part of my question?  

THE COURT:  You can ask if another witness testified 

to X, Y, Z, what would be your understanding of that? 

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson, Ms. Joseph indicated that 

she had directed that, and that she, as director, bore 

principal responsibility for that requested welfare 

placement.  Are you contradicting her testimony?  

A No.  

Q Thank you very much.  What was your 

level of familiarity with the alleged threats?  

A I was very familiar with the alleged 

threats.  

Q Extremely familiar.  So if there were 

threatening emails that were consistent with those 
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presented as alleged by Ms. Joseph that were not 

introduced, you would be aware of those additional 

emails, is that correct?  

A Not necessarily, but I'm aware of quite 

a few of the emails.  

Q Thank you very much.  And on June 4th, 

2025, did you initiate that welfare check request with 

the Lakewood Police Department?  

A Yes.  

Q And what threats did you cite to the 

Lakewood Police Department as justifying that welfare 

check?  

A Some of the things that I cited was the 

language around stopping child rape, rape by a parent, 

victims of Pearl Street, there were statements about 

lyrics about killing Jews and Hitler's Pride.  There 

was also a manifesto paper.  And then, something that 

said to the effects of, "let my death have meaning."  

There was quite a few things on that one. 

Q And you understood from the, "let my 

death have meaning" via the attachments, that that 

referenced the fact that I am dying of asbestos 

poisoning and not any particular threat?  Or did you 

understand that to be a threat?  

A I did not understand that you were 
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tying asbestos to your death.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, "let my death have meaning" is 

available to the Court.  I would ask to admit it.  Let 

me see if I can find the Exhibit number.  I think it's 

A-M -- just a moment.  Judge, I'm not annoying the 

Court getting this stuff? 

THE COURT:  No, no, no, I understand you're looking 

for something.  

MS. SHOMO:  That's not the one. 

THE COURT:  I think it might be Exhibit K.  Is that 

right? 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  State hunger strike demands.  Let 

my death have meaning -- I have it in my mail.  I did 

not expect that to come up.  Let me pull that real 

quick.  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I'm going to object to continuing 

questioning related to the asbestos.  

THE COURT:  And I was going to require some 

foundation, because if Ms. Clawson is not familiar -- 

Ms. Shomo, while you're looking for this, is there any 

indication that this witness had knowledge of what's 

contained in your exhibit referencing asbestos?  

MS. SHOMO:  That's what I'm pulling up now.  I believe 

it was attached to the email that was just referenced.  

That was not one I had expected because I did not 
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imagine they'd find a threat in that.  So give me a 

moment, and I will have the answer to the Court's 

predicate question.  

THE COURT:  And just so you're clear -- I want to be 

clear.  I'm not sure this witness is testifying that 

those were threats, so much as that was what 

constituted the basis for a welfare check.  That's a 

different matter, and I'm not going to make findings 

with respect to whether the welfare check was 

justified, that wouldn't be relevant.  So maybe it 

might help by asking this witness -- in other words, 

if she -- if this witness went to a welfare check 

because of communications about, "let my death have 

meaning", if that wasn't taken as a threat to the 

department, then that's not something this Court -- 

that would be a -- not part of what this Court would 

consider in terms of the question of whether the 

communications were threats.  So maybe that's an 

initial question to inquire of Ms. Clawson.  

MS. SHOMO:  I will do that follow up.  Can I find the 

email she referenced? 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  And I will just ask because -- a 

point of clarification.  I'll direct the Court's 

question to Ms. Clawson.  Ms. Clawson, when you talk 

about the things that caused you to go to do the 
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welfare check.  What -- why did you seek the welfare 

check?  

THE WITNESS:  I sought the welfare check because I was 

very worried about Aubrey and their current condition.  

I was not concerned about myself, or a threat to 

myself at that time, but I was very concerned about 

Aubrey. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I cannot locate "let my death have 

meaning", but let me ask the -- the witness.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Various things have had the asbestos 

poisoning attached.  Had you seen any of those 

attachments?   

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, I will present one in my own 

testimony that has shown that it was communicated. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

A Yes.  I do remember something about 

asbestos.  I don't remember the exact context.  But I 

do remember something talking about asbestos.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q So you were aware, then, that asbestos 

typically kills people within about 20 to 30 years of 

exposure?  Is that -- or were you not?  

MS. POGUE:  Objection to relevance in this line of 
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questioning. 

THE COURT:  I -- and Ms. Shomo, I want to be real 

clear.  No one is stating that's not serious, or we 

don't mean to be callous about any health concerns you 

might have, but I don't think it's relevant to this 

proceeding.  The -- this witness has just told the 

Court, I did not consider this to be a threat to 

myself or the department, I was concerned about 

Aubrey.  That's very significant for the Court because 

that really makes her testimony much less relevant in 

terms of whether or not you sent threats to the 

department such that would give rise to making this 

protection order permanent.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Then let me get that on topic.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson, you had cited references 

to Hitler and killing Jews in your welfare check with 

the department, is that correct?  Did you tell the 

Lakewood Police Department that those statements had 

come from me?  

A Yes, I referenced the fact that the 

email had things about killing Jews, Hitler's Pride in 

them.  

Q And you claim that those are quotations 

from me; is that correct?  
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A They were sent from your email address, 

so --  

Q Very -- very well.  

A -- that is --  

Q My next question.  So you are claiming 

that I had said those things?  

A Yes.  

Q Would you -- are you claiming that I 

had said those things back in 2018, or are you 

claiming that I had said those things during the time 

frame of relevance to the Court?  

A I'm claiming you sent those at the 

beginning of June.  You may have sent them at another 

time, but I received them at the beginning of June.  

Q Understood.   

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I would now like to admit from my 

impeachment exhibits, let me clear my search term.  

Sent -- impeachment exhibits.  I would like A-I 

admitted at this time? 

THE COURT:  Which one?  

MS. SHOMO:  That Exhibit A-I, it was provided to the 

Court electronically as a potential impeachment 

exhibit.  Subject line, "Don't believe the State" -- 

or I'm sorry, that's what I marked it.  The subject 

line is, "State of Colorado engages in antisemitism, 
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blames victim." 

THE COURT:  Who are you impeaching?  And what is 

the -- who -- which witness are you impeaching?  And 

what is the impeachment?  

MS. SHOMO:  The impeachment is I can produce the 

sourcing of that content, and it was not me, and the 

witness just testified that it was.  

THE COURT:  But again, I guess I'm failing to see the 

relevance? 

MS. SHOMO:  This was construed as a threat to the 

department, and it was cited by Ms. Joseph as part of 

the pattern of communications which established a 

threat.  And I can demonstrate that --  

THE COURT:  Yeah --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- that -- that what happened is, this was 

a piece of charting on me from 2018, that I had not 

said these things, and they were reported to Lakewood 

Police as things I had said.  And I -- I have --  

THE COURT:  -- again --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- Ms. Clawson saying that on audio, but 

she admitted she did, so I don't need to impeach with 

that.  I would just --  

THE COURT:  Yeah, let me --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- actually speak --  

THE COURT:  -- just --  
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MS. SHOMO:  -- to that email.  That that is the 

particular email. 

THE COURT:  -- yeah.  I want to make a record.  It is 

not my understanding, and we've got Counsel here, that 

Ms. Joseph is not testifying that the welfare check 

formed the basis for the seeking of the temporary 

protection order.   

Ms. Pogue, would you agree with that? 

MS. POGUE:  Yes, Judge.  And I believe Director Joseph 

even testified that the statements, while concerning 

around the killing the Jews and whatnot, did not form 

the basis for even seeking the protection order or the 

welfare check, but. 

THE COURT:  And there's no --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) --  

THE COURT:  -- such -- okay, just a second, Ms. Shomo.  

There's nothing in the four emails that this Court has 

to look at that reference killing Jews. 

MS. SHOMO:  Yes, but this is a communication, and I 

did send the email, that's part of the relevance.  

What happened, is the content of the email is a 

quotation of the department.  That's why this matters.   

So this is the department construing a threat, and 

reporting it actually as a criminal matter that then 

Lakewood didn't act on while acting for the welfare 
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check.  And that is why I would like to drill into 

that instance of a threat.  Ms. Joseph said there were 

other threats in the record that are not of the four.  

So that was in Petitioner's case-in-chief.  And as a 

result, I'd like to look at one of those and what was 

actually said, and by whom, as an example to impeach 

the department.  It is perfectly within scope.   

This is the only one I care to do that 

on.  The other one on rape of children, I'll just ask 

if that might have been about my childhood.  But the 

one, this particular one, is definitely relevant 

because the quotation cited as evidence that I was a 

threat, were not from me, they were from the 

department.  But the department construed this as a 

threat.  And it shows how the department acts to -- to 

make these claims. 

THE COURT:  Let me ask you this.  Are you seeking -- 

and I'm looking -- unfortunately, I don't have printed 

in front of me what you emailed, but I'm looking at 

Exhibit O which states false reporting, Lakewood 

police report.  And in there, it looks like there's an 

author, Carolyn Kerwowski (phonetic), who reports -- I 

mean, is this the report you're talking about? 

MS. SHOMO:  That's the report that's relevant.  But 

I'm not actually asking you to admit the report.   
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THE COURT:  Oh, okay.   

MS. SHOMO:  I'm asking you to admit one page.  I do 

have an exhibit that should be in front of you.  Give 

me one moment to grab it.  

THE COURT:  We're trying.  There were a couple that 

came in belatedly.  I thought we had them all printed 

out.  Thank you.   

MS. SHOMO:  Exhibit A-I from this morning.  

THE COURT:  This morning, can we pull that --  

MS. SHOMO:  What was labeled impeachment exhibits, 

part three --  

THE COURT:  I got it --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- was the email subject.  You have it? 

THE COURT:  Yeah, we got them printed out.  Thank you.  

I do.  Thank you.  Mr. Laws just gave that to me.   

MS. SHOMO:  Oh --  

THE COURT:  All right, so let me just -- Ms. Shomo, 

let me take a look at this, please.  So it's A-I? 

MS. SHOMO:  That is correct.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  From you.  And this is sent to a 

large group.  So you just want to use this -- you want 

to ask Ms. Clawson about A-I? 

MS. SHOMO:  That is correct.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Okay.  And is A-I -- how big 

is -- I'm looking to see what A-I actually is.  
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It's -- what is -- and you -- well, you can ask 

Ms. Shomo (sic) if she is seen, A-I, I guess we'll 

start there.  And if she --  

MS. SHOMO:  Are you referring to Ms. Clawson? 

THE COURT:  -- relied on it.  Yeah.  You can ask her 

if she saw A-I, and if she's relied on it.  And then 

we'll kind of have a next inquiry --  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson.   

MS. SHOMO:  May I start with, and it is my belief 

statement, and then ask her to confirm or disconfirm?  

Is that allowed at this time?  

THE COURT:  You want to ask if she -- yeah, do you 

want to ask if that's your statement, or?  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson, it --  

MS. SHOMO:  Well, can I ask the question and then have 

the Judge determine whether it's a legal one?  I think 

it might be the easier way. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, sure.  That's fine. 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson if you have Exhibit A-I in 

front of you, is this the message referencing killing 

Jews that you referred to?  And I will call your 
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attention to the references to the Macarena, the Cupid 

Shuffle, and Hitler's Pride.  

A I do not have that exhibit in front of 

me.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Do you --  

MS. SHOMO:  Are you able to get the --  

THE COURT:  -- know -- do you know, or are you 

familiar with that one? 

THE WITNESS:  Your Honor, I'm making a little 

adjustment here so I can see it easier. 

MS. SHOMO:  I can get just the -- the chart image from 

that as a separate exhibit.  It's an A to P.  The 

whole email is elsewhere, but Exhibit M contains the 

relevant section.  So we could go to Exhibit M.  I do, 

however, ask the admission of A-I, as my contention 

that is the communication that's relevant.  

THE COURT:  You --  

MS. SHOMO:  But we --  

THE COURT:  -- will be able to -- I'll tell you what.  

It'll be proper for you to admit it during your 

testimony.  But because you've got -- we've got a 

witness, it's not clear to the Court whether or not 

she can identify it.  Hang on. 

MS. SHOMO:  Then, I will ask instead about Exhibit M 

because that is available to Ms. Clawson.  Do you have 
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Exhibit M? 

THE COURT:  Ms. Clawson, do you have the exhibits?  

THE WITNESS:  I don't have any of the exhibits, no. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  We're going to go old school, Ms. 

Shomo.  We're going to -- I'm going to hold them up to 

the camera, and we'll just show them as you reference 

them, if it's appropriate.  So let's do this.  I don't 

mind showing her A-I, okay?   

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So Ms. Clawson, Ms. Shomo is asking 

you if you are familiar with this document.  And the 

top of it is an email, and take the time -- I'm going 

to do -- I had to do this on a (inaudible).  Can you 

see that email?  

THE WITNESS:  I can see that it's an email I can't --  

THE COURT:  Can't tell what it is? 

THE WITNESS:  -- see the contents of it.  I'm sorry.   

MS. SHOMO:  Could you show her the page with the image 

and see if that is consistent with her sourcing? 

THE COURT:  Yeah, okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  Above it -- above it -- Judge, you're 

holding it high.  If you would move it down, so we can 

see the top image?  Okay.  If you would move it to the 

right a little bit?  Other -- other right.   

THE COURT:  Sorry.   
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MS. SHOMO:  I don't know who was wrong there.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Okay.  So you see kill the Jews a 

little bit further to the right? 

A Yep, I see that. 

Q Quote kill the jews?  Hitler's pride?  

And then, would you go to the -- the -- the -- the -- 

the direction opposite the side you're on?  Do you see 

Cupid Shuffle and Macarena referenced there?  

A Yep, I see that. 

Q Very well.  Is this the source of you 

telling the Lakewood Police Department that this was 

one of my threats?  

A No, I didn't say it was a threat.  This 

is one of many documents that I considered, when I 

called them, concerned about you.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Okay.  But this is what you reported to 

Lakewood Police Department? 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge.  May I play her actual report to 

Lakewood Police Department into the record?  

THE COURT:  No.  Ms. Shomo, what I will let you do --  

MS. SHOMO:  She refers to it as a threat in that, and 

I can impeach with that.  It is a prior statement that 



217 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

has been --  

THE COURT:  She does refer to it as a threat?  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  You have a recording?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes I do.  It was sent to the Court.  I 

can also play it.  I can screen share, whatever.  

THE COURT:  Well, if it's a recording, do we have a 

recording, Mr. -- she sent -- okay.  Okay.  I am going 

to allow you to ask Ms. Clawson about it.  Go ahead, 

and -- because if there was if -- if you're 

representing that it was referenced as a threat to the 

department, you can play it.  Let's label it though, 

okay?  So that we know what to preserve for the 

record.  

MS. SHOMO:  It has been submitted to the Court.  Let 

me get you the Exhibit number. 

THE COURT:  Yes, please.  

MS. SHOMO:  It will be Exhibit number -- it's under 

the video exhibits.  Ms. Clawson.  I believe it's 

Exhibit Z.  Let me verify.  Yes, it is Exhibit Z. 

THE COURT:  It's Exhibit Z?  Okay.  I'm going to allow 

you to play it for --  

MS. SHOMO:  I am (inaudible) --  

THE COURT:  -- impeachment.   

MS. SHOMO:  -- and play for the Court.  
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THE COURT:  Okay.  Can we hear it through your system? 

MS. SHOMO:  If the -- if Teams will let me do a screen 

share, I ought to be able.  It's actually audio-video, 

so I should be able to do that.  The screen share 

button is not active for me.  Is your tech person able 

to give me access to that button?  

THE COURT:  I don't know.  We can make you a 

presenter.  Will that do it?  

MS. SHOMO:  I believe it should.  I don't know for 

sure.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll give it a shot.  Okay.  You 

are a presenter, so you can go ahead and do that.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So I'm going to start presenting, 

and I have to figure out what buttons to push, so if 

the Court will be bear with me briefly?  I'm just 

going to do a screen share, I'm going to share One 

app, which is going to be the video.  Okay, can you 

see the video now?  

THE COURT:  Not yet.  We see you as presenter.  There 

we go, we got it.   

MS. SHOMO:  You're not seeing the video on your 

screen?   

THE COURT:  It was up briefly, but --  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh --  

THE COURT:  -- then your emails came up, but it was 
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there briefly.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So I need to share video, and then 

video start presenting, and then I need to share 

screen -- oh wait -- share screen with audio, and One 

app, and the appropriate app is -- oh, I closed the 

file.  I'm sorry.  Technology is slow -- Exhibit Z. 

THE COURT:  What?  We can share -- Ms. Shomo, we can 

share it, actually.  Mr. Laws can, now that we know 

it's Z, as long as you've got the right one, we'll 

share it.  Okay?  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  That -- that's easier than having 

me solve this problem.   

THE COURT:  So Ms. Clawson --  

MS. SHOMO:  How do I end present?  

THE COURT:  -- right now, this is not admitted.  It's 

been marked.  It's being used for impeachment.  So 

Ms. Clawson, could you direct your attention to the 

screen?  Thank you, Mr. Laws.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I don't have anything yet.  I don't 

know if we're waiting, or --  

THE COURT:  Yeah, we're still working on it.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I'm not still presenting, am I?  

Like, I don't have a screen share up, do I, Judge? 

THE COURT:  Not yet.  Oh, here we go.  Looks good. 

MS. SHOMO:  I'm ready to press play whenever the Court 
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is, if you're waiting on me.  

THE COURT:  Okay, we're ready. 

MS. SHOMO:  Do we have audio?  The -- the police 

bodycam may not have audio just yet.  

THE COURT:  Let's see if we can --  

MS. SHOMO:  It is -- you might want to flip to 

somewhere in the middle, make sure there's audio, and 

then flip to the beginning.  We can probably skip to 

where the audio begins, but it is a police bodycam, 

and as I'm sure the Court is --  

THE COURT:  Oh, oh.  There's --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- aware --  

THE COURT:  -- going to be silence for 30 seconds, 

Tim, on the beginning of body-worns.  Yeah, thank you.  

So we -- if you go to go to 30 seconds and see, it 

should be -- it'll click in.  Thank you.  Here we go, 

we got it.   

(Video played, not transcribed) 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q And on that, Ms. Clawson, I would ask 

if, the way you made that report to the police, 

calling the police and saying you've got an email 

talking about killing Jews would be understood in your 

reasonable expectation by the officers as a report of 
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a threat by me? 

A I'm not certain I understand your 

question.  

Q Do you -- in your reasonable 

expectation, does calling the police and telling them 

you've got an email talking a lot about Hitler and 

killing Jews, would that be understood by the police 

as a report of a threat by me to kill Jews?  Talking 

about Hitler? 

A I can't speak to what they would think 

in that situation.  

Q Very well.  If they said that that was 

how they understood the communication, or if somebody 

said that the communication could only be understood 

that way, based on your quotation of it, would you 

dispute that?  

MS. POGUE:  Objection to speculation.  

THE COURT:  Sustained.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Next question, Ms. Clawson.  If you go 

back to Exhibit A-I that we had called your attention 

to earlier, and you look at the image there -- this is 

also the same image as in number O -- would you look 

at the document type at the top and read that to me? 
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A Again, I don't have that in front of 

me, so I can't read that --  

THE COURT:  At this time, given that I did the -- in 

the -- that statement, it states I can't tell if 

there's an imminent threat, but it does feel odd.  

That's the only language that this Court heard.  The 

Court heard no specific reference to threats to the 

department in the call.   

MS. SHOMO:  Wait --  

THE COURT:  So I guess I'm not clear as to why this is 

still relevant about the --  

MS. SHOMO:  May I reply when the Court is ready?  

THE COURT:  Yes.  Yeah.  

MS. SHOMO:  I didn't mean to -- I would argue that any 

reasonable person -- and the Petitioner's argument has 

been made that I have a gun is obviously, on its face, 

a threat, that if you refer to a communication to a 

third-party simply stating it discusses Hitler and 

killing Jews, that that would be understood to be a 

threat from me.  And that that is how that 

communication was communicated, even though the 

witness admits that it was not that.  

THE COURT:  Well, I guess the bottom line is that you 

have asked these questions of this witness.  You have 

presented the impeachment material.  It -- and you 
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have asked her the question.  She's very clear as to 

the reasons for her call.  It is the department's 

contention that those are separate matters.  It's your 

contention that they are inextricably intertwined.  

That's something for you to argue, but it's not -- you 

have already asked and answered these questions of 

Ms. Clawson.  

MS. SHOMO:  May I ask a question that doesn't go in 

the same vein?  I'll take asked and answered and 

speculation.  I'm doing my best to ask the right 

questions.   

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Yep, no problem 

MS. SHOMO:  May I just ask Ms. Clawson? 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Looking at that nursing note, are you 

familiar with charts at CMHHIP?  

THE COURT:  what are you referring to, and what 

nursing note --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, this is available either as the 

image at the top at A-I or as Exhibit O has it blown 

up on a whole page.  

THE COURT:  And Ms. Shomo, your camera is off, which 

is hard for --  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, I'm so sorry, I raised that issue 

earlier.  I have corrected it.  
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THE COURT:  That's okay, that's okay.  You -- the 

nursing note, you know, I'm not, I -- nor would any 

court allow somebody just to start presenting 

materials to a witness without identifying what they 

are and why they would be relevant.  So what is it you 

want to show her and why?  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  The witness previously testified 

that she reported that was from me.  And I'm asking 

the witness to identify the source of those quotes, 

because they are a CMHHIP chart, which I believe the 

witness would recognize.  That's the purpose of my 

questioning.  And then I will be finished with 

Ms. Clawson as a witness.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Which chart is this?  Where is it?  

MS. SHOMO:  It's the image in A-I, which is blown up 

as Exhibit O, which may be more convenient.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Let me --  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, and then actually, once I've asked 

that, I have a couple of questions about the -- the 

follow one when she -- she purports that -- that she 

perceives a threat.  

THE COURT:  So always false reporting to Lakewood 

police.  But I --  

MS. SHOMO:  It may not be O, then, it might be --  

THE COURT:  -- what part of O --  
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MS. SHOMO:  Huh?  Hang on, hang on.  I may have 

identified the wrong exhibit because I went from 

memory.  Exhibits A through P.  It's the exhibit 

labeled, "Praise Hitler Killed the Jews."  Page 126.  

Exhibit M is what it is.  I apologize, Judge.  

THE COURT:  That's okay.  Let me grab it.  Let me look 

at what -- so we've got Exhibit M, and you want -- you 

want to show -- it's a one-pager; is that correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  It's the one we -- it's the image we 

have already shown the witness.  

THE COURT:  Who authored these nursing notes, do you 

know?  

MS. SHOMO:  No, I -- I only know that they're the 

department's records.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  And that's all I seek to establish.  Is 

that rather --  

THE COURT:  Did --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- that rather than quoting you, 

Ms. Clawson, I was quoting the department's records.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Pogue? 

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I would -- I mean, at some point 

I'll be objecting to this only because Ms. Clawson 

doesn't work for the hospital.   

THE COURT:  Yeah. 



226 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MS. POGUE:  I would be very surprised if she's 

reviewed hospital records related to Ms. Shomo and 

most likely will not have familiarity.  But she can 

maybe, like, a question to verify that with 

Ms. Clawson, or to ask about that, but.   

THE COURT:  Why don't I just direct -- Ms. Clawson, 

are you familiar with the BH nursing progress note?  

THE WITNESS:  I've seen a screenshot of that in the 

email, but otherwise, I don't deal with nursing notes 

at all.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So let me see if I understand this.  

Did -- Ms. Shomo, when you say you saw a screenshot in 

the email, it was an email sent by Ms. Shomo; is that 

right? 

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.  Then that's appropriate.  What 

I'm going to do, is I'm going to show you on Exhibit 

M, and this is one I've already showed you, okay?  

This is --  

MS. SHOMO:  We're just looking at --  

THE COURT:  -- the progress note, and just for this 

record, the reason the Court is allowing this, is 

because --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge your screen froze, but this is 

actually pretty good. 
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THE COURT:  This is Ms. Shomo's --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, you're breaking up.  I can't tell 

if you're --  

THE COURT:  Oh --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- (inaudible) you what -- oh, you're 

just -- I just saw you move again.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  You see it?  I can get closer. 

THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And then there's some material 

below.  Are you familiar within the darkened square?  

What that is? 

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I have seen email.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So with that, 

Ms. Shomo, you are able to ask questions.  And if you 

need me to put it back up on the screen, I will. 

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson, you had just testified 

that you reported that text as from me to the police.  

Do you recognize that that is a chart, not a 

communication from me contemporaneous that you were 

describing? 

A Not necessarily.  I know that it came 

from your email address, and I was worried about you.  

That's why I called.  
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Q So you -- you -- you -- it's your 

testimony -- and if this is asked and answered, I'll 

move on -- it's your testimony that you were not aware 

that you were quoting a chart?  That you believed 

yourself to be quoting a communication from me? 

A I was quoting a communication from you, 

whether that was a screenshot or not.  It was still a 

communication from you.  

Q But you put those words in my mouth.  

Or would you dispute that when you spoke to Lakewood 

police?  

MS. POGUE:  Objection to argument at this point.  

THE COURT:  I will sustain.  And just so you know, 

Ms. Shomo, it's clear to me that you had attached the 

progress nursing note in an email.  And I understand 

you're differentiating between what you had authored 

and what was in the email.  But I believe Ms. Clawson 

is clarifying that it was an email from you, even 

though it was a nursing note.  So you'll be able to 

argue that those weren't your actual words when the 

time comes.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  I would ask the Court -- I 

have asked the witness, and the witness has answered.  

Did she state that that was from me?  And she did say 

yes, so I can move on there. 
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THE COURT:  I'll --  

MS. SHOMO:  My next --  

THE COURT:  I'm going to admit M just for this record, 

all right?  So I'm M is now admitted.   

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you very much.   

THE COURT:  All right.  Any objection -- any objection 

from the Petitioner?  

MS. POGUE:  No objection, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  M is admitted.  

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit M was admitted.) 

MS. SHOMO:  I have very few additional questions.   

THE COURT:  Okay.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson, if -- it was my 

understanding that you would reported that to the 

police as an indication of me threatening to kill Jews 

and praising Hitler.  And you had certainly not 

indicated that it was a record from the state hospital 

when you contacted the police, you would simply said 

it was from me and quoted those words as from me, 

would you believe that a reasonable -- would you be 

able to understand where you come from, a person 

taking exception to being construed as an anti-Semite 

to the police on the basis of a record whose 

factuality I was challenging in the email in Exhibit 
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A-I.  And would you consider then perhaps being 

publicly pilloried for having made that communication 

myself, being Jewish and being construed as an anti-

Semite, would -- would you consider that to be 

something that may not be threatening, it may simply 

be, "look at what CODHS is pulling now."  Is that 

something you would consider within the realm of 

possibility, or if it is not, would you describe when 

you started to feel threatened?  Judge, is that an 

okay question?  I'm trying to do this right.   

THE COURT:  Well, there were many questions contained 

therein, but it sounds like the crux of it is you're 

asking if -- well, why don't you break that down a 

little bit?  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Okay.  Ms. -- Ms. Clawson, would -- 

would -- as a reasonable person -- I don't know what 

your background is, and I'm not going to ask, but if 

somebody basically called the police and quoted you, 

and didn't say it was records, and indicated to the 

police that you had made a threat against your own 

religious group praising somebody who carried out a 

genocide along those lines.  And it was obviously a 

quote of a record whose facial accuracy was being 

impugned in the email, that is the substance of 
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Exhibit A-I, would you consider that that person might 

have reasonable grounds to call you out on it to a 

public email list? 

MS. SHOMO:  Or is that speculative, Judge?  Is that a 

fair question?  I don't know if it's in bounds.  

THE COURT:  I think I understand well, the spirit 

behind the question, but it is not really relevant 

what Ms. Clawson would --  

MS. SHOMO:  I may be able to make it relevant.  I can 

move -- move on and then maybe circle back on my 

next --  

THE COURT:  I think if it ever becomes relevant if 

Ms. Clawson would be personally offended by somebody 

misquoting her in a welfare check, but I think your 

point has been made to the Court through your 

questioning.  What I'm simply noting is --  

MS. SHOMO:  May I ask her about the evolution -- 

whether she ever perceived herself to be a threat, and 

if so what the evolution of that was? 

THE COURT:  Whether she perceived you to be a threat? 

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson, you had said at the time 

you made that call --  

THE COURT:  Yes. 
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BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q -- that you didn't perceive me to be 

threatening or threat to anyone.  You had indicated 

that may have changed as a result of my public 

pillory.  Can you speak to whether you changed your 

position on whether I was a threat to you?  And if so, 

what your thought process was?   

MS. SHOMO:  I believe that's a perfectly fair 

question, Judge.  

THE COURT:  I don't disagree.  

A So to clarify, your question is, if I 

changed my opinion of you being a threat to me? 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Yes.  

A I definitely -- that changed in 

September.  

Q And what changed it?  

A I would say the gun ready email 

significantly changed my thoughts around if there was 

an active threat towards me.  

Q And were you aware of my contention, 

which is copiously documented in my emails, that I was 

working with federal authorities, and that one of the 

things they were investigating may include -- I am not 

privy to the subject of their investigation -- the 
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pattern of misconstruing sources that take place at 

the department? 

A Can you clarify your question?  I'm 

sorry.  

Q Yes.  What, in that email, caused you 

to believe that I had become a threat to you, as 

opposed to was calling you out on engaging in a -- a 

pattern of misconstruance (sic) that the department 

does when finding threats from nowhere? 

A Yeah.  I mean, the email was addressed 

to me in the subject line, and it said, "gun ready", 

and it looked like some sort of tactical background.  

So that made me feel like it was directed towards me. 

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  Judge, may I admit the cease 

and desist letter?  Or at least bring it before the 

witness from Exhibit A?  

THE COURT:  What is the cease and desist letter, 

please?  

MS. SHOMO:  I sent Ms. Clawson a cease and desist 

letter, concerning her contrafactual statements to the 

Lakewood Police Department.  And I'd like to ask how 

she assessed the cease and desist letter.  It was also 

the voice mail I left her.  It is Exhibit A.  It's my 

very first exhibit.  I'd like to ask how she 

understood that in context.  
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THE COURT:  Well, I guess the concern the Court has is 

I -- the Court understands Respondent's concern, if 

there was a welfare check that did not accurately 

represent what Respondent had said, so I don't mean to 

diminish your concerns about that.  But I do not 

understand how impeaching -- or presenting Ms. -- I 

mean, you took steps to rectify.  You followed up with 

a cease and desist letter.  You are pursuing whatever 

rights you have to raise objections.  That doesn't 

seem to be relevant to the question of this protection 

order. 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I think I could fix that with a 

question.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson, do you recall the context 

where the Cupid Shuffle, Macarena and Jew killing came 

up, and you have already authenticated email A-I was 

an email in which that came up.  Do you recall any 

other emails in which that came up?  And do you have 

any recollection of the context in which that came up? 

MS. SHOMO:  And then Judge, I'll take it in my 

defense. 

A I'm not sure if that came up again, 

although I do know many emails from Aubrey have come 

and gone in terms of where we see similar things come 
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in.  So that one may have came through a few times 

after that point.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q So I have hit that -- that point, but 

there wouldn't be any differential context.  The 

context from A-I, the Court could judge, was the 

context of my originally discussing those charts; is 

that fair?  

THE COURT:  I'm not understanding that question, and 

A-I is not in evidence yet, I don't believe.  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, oh, I would ask the Court to admit A-

I.  The Court had held it up, I think, unless the 

Court just went to M? 

THE COURT:  Any objection to A-I being admitted? 

MS. POGUE:  Isn't A-I -- or aren't A-I and M the same? 

MS. SHOMO:  M is a blow-up from A-I.  A-I contains my 

written messaging around that, which the witness 

did --  

MS. POGUE:  No objection. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  A-I is admitted.  Thank you.   

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit A-I was 

admitted.) 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Okay.  So Ms. Clawson, you would agree 
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that -- that's asked and answered.  Okay.  

Ms. Clawson, I'm sorry if this is asked and answered, 

because I may have compounded it.  Did you say you 

remembered the contents of the A-I message, and the 

context around that chart segment, or did you say you 

did not recall that?  And were you familiar with it at 

the time you made the report?  

A I recall it, now that I have had my 

recollection refreshed with the judge showing it on 

the screen.  

Q Were -- were you aware of that -- the 

context, including my text in A-I when you contacted 

the Lakewood police?  

A Yeah, I had read all of those emails 

enough to know that I thought that you were an at-risk 

adult.  

Q Very well, then you would not disagree 

that in A-I, I was reporting that that charting was 

false in the message in which that was provided, or 

would you dispute that since you were familiar with 

that message? 

A I'm not entirely clear.  What I saw was 

a bunch of language that made me concerned about you.  

I didn't try to dissect your intent behind it.  It 

just made me concerned enough to know that I should 
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report and see if I could get a welfare check. 

THE COURT:  And Ms. Shomo, I'm giving you a lot of 

leeway, much more even than -- I think we're way 

beyond relevance in this case.  I understand your 

frustration with the --  

MS. SHOMO:  I think I've got the facts I need, Judge.  

I can -- I can -- I think I can -- one last question.  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Clawson, sitting here now, if I 

were to tell you that the gun reference was a 

reference to a federal investigation, and I had 

previously sent you a message from the U.S. Secret 

Service indicating that intentionally misconstruing 

facts could be understood as assisting in what had 

happened to me, would you still take that to be a 

threat of violence when I was threatening to report 

you?  And were you separately, as a second question, 

were you aware that I had made a false reporting 

complaint against you?  

THE COURT:  Yeah --  

A So the first question.  Yeah.  Go 

ahead, sorry.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Yeah, the witness can answer.  

This is the last question that's been posed to this 

witness.  Yes.  
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A The first question is, am I aware of 

the Secret Service federal activities around the gun 

ready email?  

Q No.  My question is, now that you have 

been told that by me, does it modify your assessment 

of the threat that you suddenly saw?  And my second 

question then was --  

THE COURT:  Oh.  And she can -- I'd let her answer 

that question, and then you can ask -- I'll let you 

ask part-2. 

MS. SHOMO:  Fair enough. 

A I don't see a nexus between the two.  

So it's still, whether you give context or not, makes 

me feel like I am being threatened.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  And then, Judge, do you recall my last 

question?  I'm sorry, I'm getting a little bit tired.  

Give me one moment, and I'll have it back.  Nexus -- 

okay.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q My last question is, were you aware 

when this came out, that I had made a legal complaint 

against you?  A false reporting complaint?  

A When the gun ready email came out? 

Q Yes.  
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A No, I wasn't at that point.  I think 

they both happened the same day, though, if I remember 

correctly.  

Q Can you explain how I was a threat to 

you when I was calling the police and then also making 

a threat?  Why would somebody (inaudible) call the 

police?   

MS. SHOMO:  Or is that -- is that too much, Judge?  

THE COURT:  I'm going to stop this line of 

questioning.  Yeah, it's way beyond relevance.  So 

that will be the end of the examination with 

Ms. Clawson, just based on Ms. Shomo's representations 

that it was the last question, repeated times, but I 

also am finding that this is not relevant to the 

Court's determination.  So with that, is there any 

cross of Ms. Clawson?  

MS. POGUE:  Yes, Judge.  Briefly.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

CROSS-EXAM 

BY MS. POGUE:   

Q Ms. Clawson, did the gun ready email 

come to you after the welfare checks?  

A Yes, I think it did.  

Q And you indicated that that's the point 

when you started to feel concerned for your safety? 
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A Yes.  

Q Were there other communications from 

Ms. Shomo that made you fearful?  

A There were some other ones that -- 

around that time that indicated a bomb threat, as well 

as that I was perpetuating some anti-Semitic smear 

campaign, as -- and there was one around that a 

statement made that I was hacking into a power strip, 

trying to harm Ms. Shomo. 

Q Were these emails?  Voicemails?  What 

were these?  

A Mostly emails.  I did receive one 

voicemail as indicated by Ms. Shomo around the cease 

and desist. 

Q Were there any other types of media 

that Ms. Shomo -- or where Ms. Shomo referenced you?  

A Yes.  She referenced me in her social 

media on YouTube, and sent videos of that to -- to me, 

like, of her YouTube channel to me.  

Q And were those concerning to you?  

A Yes.  It was concerning to me.  

Q Was there ever any information about, 

like, your attorney status?  

A Yes.  She sent images and screenshots 

of my attorney registration to myself.  
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Q When was that in relation to the gun 

ready email?  

A That was after the gun ready email.  

She sent it to a few different people, and included 

other another attorney on there.  

Q And when you say that you felt 

concerned.  Can you tell us more about that?  

A Yeah.  I mean, I felt concerned because 

all of a sudden, the energy was being shifted directly 

towards me from Ms. Shomo.  And the gun ready 

statement really set me off.  I increased the security 

at my home, told my neighbors about what was 

happening.  Just wanted to, you know, take down my 

social media, so that I didn't make myself an easier 

target.  

Q Were you concerned for your physical 

safety?  

A Yes.  

Q All right.  Ms. Clawson, no other 

questions.  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Thank you --  

MS. SHOMO:  I have some brief redirect.  

THE COURT:  Yes.  

REDIRECT EXAM 

BY MS. SHOMO:   
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Q Okay.  Ms. Clawson, first redirect 

question.  You indicated that I accused you of hacking 

your power strip.  Can you go into that because I do 

recall having indicated my power strip got hacked to 

Lakewood police and my public list.  I do not recall 

having accused you of having done so.  So can you 

speak to that?  

A Yeah.  There was an email about how 

CDHS, I think, was trying to kill you.  Not 

necessarily me, if I misspoke.  I just remember seeing 

an email about a power strip, and it looked like maybe 

an app for that power strip, and that we were, you 

know, a part of this conspiracy to -- to harm you in 

some way.  

Q Had you seen the argument that I was 

unable to seek medical treatment because I was afraid 

of retaliation from CD -- ODHS because every time I 

raise its misconduct, I have police sent to me, or I 

have a restraining order filed against me?  What was 

the basis of your belief the power strip had anything 

to do with my claim that CODHS was killing me?  

A I thought that there was a tie in that 

emails to the fact that CDHS was as a part of this 

conspiracy, I guess.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, can I admit the email referencing 
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the power strip, which it would be my contention is 

irrelevant, but witnesses claimed is relevant? 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Which one is the power strip email?  

MS. SHOMO:  It has not been sent to the Court because 

I didn't imagine it would come into this proceeding.  

I will have to get it real quick, if that please the 

Court? 

THE COURT:  Well, let me ask you.  If it's an email -- 

is Ms. Clawson -- she's acknowledging it might not 

have been directed to her; is that correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  She indicated she saw a nexus was my 

understanding.  I'd be happy to let the witness 

clarify.  

THE WITNESS:  Yeah, that came after.  That was in 

September, I believe.  Something about, I think it was 

CDHS trying to kill Aubrey in some sort of house fire.  

I don't know if I was immediately included on that 

email, or if it went to one of the shared inboxes that 

I have access to.  

MS. SHOMO:  So Judge, may I get that email and ask the 

witness to point to where I blame CODHS for any of it?  

THE COURT:  Well, if you can get it.  

MS. SHOMO:  I can get it.  It will take a couple of 

moments, but I have search on my email.  I just have 

to remember the subject line, and I should have it.  
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And then after that, there's only me and Ms. Gomez-

Gonzalez.  I'm also happy to finish the proceeding.  

With me, it should be very quick.  I'll make my point, 

and then be subject to cross.  And then, Gomez-

Gonzalez should be as rapid as Mr. Wade, and it'll be 

basically the same questions.  Let me get the -- the 

power strip email.  

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I have your permission to send 

this to Ms. Clawson so that she can review it and be 

able to point to the -- the section she's describing?  

THE COURT:  Is that okay, Ms. Pogue?   

MS. POGUE:  To send it to Ms. Clawson?  No.  Sorry.  

Is there any way to, like, could you send it to me?  

Like, is there --  

THE COURT:  Yeah --  

MS. POGUE:  -- any way to, like, put it up on the 

screen? 

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible)-- 

MS. POGUE:  Is there any other way? 

THE COURT:  Send it -- how about if --  

MS. SHOMO:  Maybe just the witness to be able to look 

at it better than the Court holding it up.  However 

that is best done. 

THE COURT:  Well, I think in light of the concerns, 
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send -- if you could send it, please, to the Court and 

to Ms. Pogue, and I'll hold it up to Ms. Clawson.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  One moment, and I should have it 

up.  

MS. POGUE:  While Ms. Shomo is looking for that, we 

can certainly talk about a stipulation as it relates 

to this Ofc. Gonzalez, if it's going to be similar to 

what Commander Wade discussed? 

THE COURT:  Yeah, yep.   

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I have the email.  I am forwarding 

it now.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  

MS. SHOMO:  So you want it to DCC courtroom 159 and 

Counsel? 

THE COURT:  Yes.  

MS. SHOMO:  The DCC courtroom 159 and Pogue and 

Tiffany Henry.  Message just was sent.  

THE COURT:  When we get it, let me know.  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Let me verify it in fact, went out.  I 

show it went out.  Three attachments, 5.5 megs.  

Forwarding unsub who, per the State of Colorado, is 

necessarily the United States, which is a reference to 

another piece of terrible charting, tried to kill me 

in a house fire yesterday.  

THE COURT:  Okay. 
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MS. SHOMO:  And I'd ask the Court to note that it's 

the same phrasing as the bomb threat.  Who per -- let 

me know when you receive it.   

THE COURT:  Oh, is it big?  

MS. SHOMO:  It's only 5.5 megs, but it does have 

the -- and Judge, I would note the asbestos affidavit 

is attached, so we have established that the witness 

has seen the asbestos poisoning.  

THE COURT:  No, I will only allow you to impeach on --  

this is a redirect examination, and I'm going to limit 

the scope.  You wanted to show her the power strip 

email.  That is all that's coming in.  I assume it's 

one page, but now we have to wait for it to arrive.  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible), No objection.  

THE COURT:  Yes.  What?  It's here. 

MS. SHOMO:  However, in my testimony, I may seek to -- 

THE COURT:  It's going to take -- it's going to 

take -- just a second.  It's taking time to download.  

So why don't you hold it up and show Ms. Clawson? 

MS. SHOMO:  Can -- I'm still a presenter, let me see 

if I can do a screen share.  One app.  Here we go.  

Let me get my company off.  Let me make this big.  How 

do I make this big?  How do I open it big?  Print.  

THE WITNESS:  Aubrey, I can see it pretty well.  You 

don't -- okay.  
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MS. SHOMO:  Oh, okay.  So here we go.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q In unsub, who for the State of Colorado 

is necessarily the United States, tried to kill me in 

a house fire yesterday.  Ms. Clawson, can you see it?  

Is this the email to which you refer?  

A Yep.  That's the email.  

Q Okay.  In a moment when this email has 

reached you, and actually, I explained unsub there and 

quote it, I am going to ask you to point to where in 

the email I indicate that was CODHS. 

A I don't see COD -- as you say, CODHS, 

but CDHS, just the State of Colorado is -- now that 

I'm looking at it, what made me think that you felt 

like the State of Colorado, or in CDHS in particular, 

since we're receiving a lot of this, is trying to kill 

you.  

Q And you said that this email makes the 

claim on its face that CDHS or the State of Colorado 

had hacked my power strip? 

A That's what --  

Q And I will ask you to point to the 

statement that makes that claim to the Court -- 

and -- when you have the email.  

A Well, that's what I inferred from this.  
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I guess what I'm trying to say, is you lost the 

ability to control your power strip.  State of 

Colorado was trying to kill you.  It just felt like it 

was all tied to somebody trying to kill you in a house 

fire.  

Q Now you're aware that these are 

separate exhibits in a logical presentation of 

evidence, which the Court has ruled mostly irrelevant 

to this proceeding, and I agree.  But why would you 

think that that kind of superficial conflation between 

those emails makes any sense, when I've raised -- when 

I am in the process of raising an issue of department 

misconduct, and you've done so little care to -- to 

read and yet you -- you look for something you can 

quote to find a threat in? 

A I would say that like when somebody 

feels threatened that they're being killed, 

there's -- you would imagine that they're scared.  And 

that was my interpretation of this, is that you felt 

like somebody was trying to kill you.  

Q And did your understanding that the 

State of -- that my understanding was the State of 

Colorado had tried to kill me by hacking my power 

strip.  Was -- was that understanding part of your 

thought process to inform your interpretation that I 
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was therefore threatening violence back as opposed to 

legal action?  

A Not necessarily this email threatening 

violence.  It's just an email that came in after the 

fact, that sort of added to the gun ready bomb emails, 

things like that.  This is just an example.  Maybe I 

shouldn't have mentioned it, but it came in after 

those.  

Q But -- but you --  

THE COURT:  Ms. --  

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q -- said this email makes the specific 

claim that Colorado is killing me, correct?  And that 

Colorado had hacked my power strip, specifically? 

THE COURT:  I -- I'm --  

MS. SHOMO:  That would be asked and answered?  

THE COURT:  -- going to allow her to answer that, and 

I'm going to stop this line of questioning on, again, 

on relevance grounds.  It is very clear to the Court 

that Ms. Clawson might have misspoke, and I think, 

Ms. Shomo, you have done a very thorough job of making 

that clear to the Court.  I'm also going to admit this 

email.  What's the last -- what's your last exhibit 

letter, please?  

MS. SHOMO:  The -- my last exhibit letter -- give me 
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one moment was --  

THE COURT:  I think it's Z? 

MS. SHOMO:  No, it's (inaudible) Z.  There were 41 for 

this.  A-H -- let's see, we had A -- oh, so this would 

be A-P. 

THE COURT:  A-P.  All right.  This is going to be 

Exhibit A-P, and Ms. Pogue, any objection --  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, I would ask if I -- unless the 

Court is satisfied on the topic, if I could ask the 

witness to point to where I say the State of Colorado 

hacked my power strip, or ask the witness to 

acknowledge it's not in the email? 

THE COURT:  I think she has already, and I have 

this --  

MS. SHOMO:  Well, if the Court's satisfied, I'm good.  

If the Court feels they understand --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Clawson -- just let me ask you.  

You're not suggesting that there's any reference in 

now what's been admitted as Respondent's Exhibit A-P, 

that there was any particular threat to the 

department; is that correct?  

THE WITNESS:  Correct.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) threats to the Department.  I 

was asking if -- if she could point to where she had 
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understood me to communicate, "I believe the State of 

Colorado hacked my power strip." 

THE COURT:  Oh, is that -- is that --  

MS. SHOMO:  That's what I'm asking.  

THE COURT:  -- in this email?  Because -- and also, 

Ms. Shomo -- (inaudible) --  

MS. SHOMO:  I ask the question. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I can read this myself and make that 

determination.  Because it's a long email and I don't 

think it's practical to get the -- get her to read the 

whole thing.  I can read it.  And I'm also going to 

take I -- I'm assuming that was a mistake.  Like, I'm 

assuming that that's not correct, that -- as she 

testified.  You have successfully --  

MS. SHOMO:  You heard testimony that I had made that 

assertion is false.  That's what I was trying to 

demonstrate.  If the Court can read it --  

THE COURT:  You have successfully impeached -- I will  

let you know, you've successfully impeached 

Ms. Clawson on that statement.  

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you.   

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q And at that juncture, then, Ms. 

Clawson, were there any other communications that you 

would list that you said you had found to suggest in 
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any way a threat to you?  

A No, not besides the gun ready, bombs, 

those emails.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  I don't believe I have any 

further redirect, Judge.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  In that case, 

Ms. Clawson, thank you.  I know you've been waiting 

all day, so thank you for your testimony.  

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  Am I free to leave?  

THE COURT:  You're free to leave or stay, whichever 

you prefer.  

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Does anyone want a 

five- or ten-minute break?  

MS. SHOMO:  I would love one before I have to make my 

presentation. 

THE COURT:  Sure. 

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, after I come back, I would like 

to ask to check in with the Court before I begin about 

what the rules are.  Again, I -- I've done my level 

best to honor decorum, the Court's authority, et 

cetera, with respect to witnesses.  I know I'm not 

great at this, but I hope I've done an okay job.  I 

would ask the Court's guidance on how that works when 

I'm both witness and Respondent, but I would ask for 
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the break first.  

THE COURT:  I appreciate, and I know you've been doing 

your very best today, and the Court appreciates that.  

So yeah, we'll all come back -- let's come back at 

4:15, okay?  That gives ten minutes.  Is that okay, 

Ms. Pogue?  

MS. POGUE:  It is -- I just didn't know if we should 

address this police officer real quick, or if we 

wanted to --  

THE COURT:  Do you want to call the police officer?  

Is there any stipulation that we can come to with 

respect to Agent Gomez-Gonzalez?   

MS. SHOMO:  Well, in -- in that department, let me 

tell the Court my issue and then see, maybe Petitioner 

has a suggestion to the Court.  Ms. Joseph has 

described my communications as threatening.  Both 

Ms. Joseph and Ms. Clawson describe them as 

dysregulated.  But all of their specific claims in 

support of that don't hold up, once they're impeached.  

I have another law enforcement officer that I believe 

the Court will find to be a credible witness, being a 

law enforcement officer, that will echo the 

statements, especially as established on redirect that 

Mr. Wade made, which will be two law enforcement 

officers testifying with respect to the matter.  So I 
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very much feel since I'm up against lawyers and I'm up 

against the state and the department, I feel that 

having a second police officer witness -- an old 

Yiddish proverb says, when one person says it, it's 

probably false with to say it, it's probably true.  

And I imagine the Court applies weight similarly.  So 

my concern is the need of that -- that second witness.  

I don't know if there's a stipulation that may be 

addressed. 

THE COURT:  Two observations.  The police officer is 

not entitled to any greater credibility than any other 

witness.  That's actually in one of the stock and jury 

instructions that I've been providing to juries for 

two decades.  

MS. SHOMO:  But may I just point out you probably 

consider her more credible than me --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, I'm going to allow you to call 

the witness.  I think that's the most conservative 

response, so we're going to allow that witness to 

testify. 

MS. POGUE:  I don't believe that witnesses is here 

though.  I think that's the --  

THE COURT:  Oh.   

MS. POGUE:  -- that was what --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) she was to be --  
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THE COURT:  Oh, so we can't wrap up.  All right.  

Has -- is this witness been served?  And is there a 

return of service?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  Affidavit of service is in the 

Court's file.  

THE COURT:  Okay, thank you.   

MS. POGUE:  We -- I will stipulate that this officer 

is going to testify that they didn't observe any 

concerns with Ms. Shomo's demeanor.  They didn't 

perceive any threatening behavior from Ms. Shomo in 

their interaction.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, would that be sufficient for 

you, or are there other questions you wanted to direct 

to Agent Gomez-Gonzalez?  Because the stipulation will 

be the same as if he --  

MS. SHOMO:  I would like to ask her how she processed 

Ms. Clawson's second report just prior to, "I have a 

gun", et cetera, since she was the officer sent to 

respond to that.  

THE COURT:  When you say, how she processed the 

report, I guess I don't understand what that means? 

MS. SHOMO:  Well, Ms. Joseph speaks about third-party 

processing of these emails and how their thought 

process worked, and I would like to demonstrate that 

the department's thought process and the police's 
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thought process do not resemble each other.  And I 

feel I've done that with Mr. Wade.  But the mere 

observation of demeanor, lack of threats isn't enough, 

when the question of the police response to these 

purported threats -- if this really is a bomb or a gun 

threat do you -- does the Court honestly believe the 

police took no action on the basis of reasonable doubt 

not being met, but probable cause being met as 

Petitioner would contend?   

Obviously, it's Respondent's contention 

there is no threat, and there's no evidence by a 

preponderance there is.  But I would like to bring 

into the record how the police processed the -- the 

issue, unless the Court is inclined to vacate, if the 

Court is inclined to vacate, I can obviously waive the 

witness after my testimony.  But if the Court has any 

inclination to grant, I would ask to assist on the 

witness, to ask those questions.  

THE COURT:  In a -- in an abundance of caution -- let 

me ask you this, though.  The relevance of the 

department's processing, right?  Isn't that -- I mean, 

isn't that just -- why is that relevant to the 

question of how of the OFCMH received your emails?  

MS. SHOMO:  Because I've shown -- Judge in my 

impeachment, I've shown a great many factual errors by 
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OFCMH, and it is my contention that their conclusions 

that there's a threat of violence are diminished, if 

not rendered invalid by how sloppily they've regarded 

the facts.  And I would argue that has been my 

contention against the department from the get-go --  

THE COURT:  But what facts --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- and that they're employing that to try 

and get a restraining order.  

THE COURT:  No, I understand your argument, but what 

is Agent Gonzalez -- Gomez-Gonzalez going to offer 

with respect to the department and how they processed 

the information? 

MS. SHOMO:  She would be able to speak to how the 

police evaluated the issue, and why the police decided 

to take no action, I guess, would be the only reason. 

THE COURT:  But that wouldn't be relevant just in the 

same way it's not relevant, for example, if the 

District Attorney decides not to file charges, there's 

a there's a unlimited number of factors as to why 

someone at the District Attorney's Office -- I'm just 

using this as an example because it's one I'm familiar 

with.  But for example, there's no relevance, and a 

court would never allow a DA's decision that they 

didn't charge or they did charge to come in front of a 

jury because there's so many factors that go into it.  
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So on the basis of your representation, I don't -- I'm 

not going to allow Agent Gomez-Gonzalez to testify 

that the department -- what they decided to do.  

That's not relevant to the question of OFCMH and how 

they -- I'm just not -- I'm not understanding that 

relevance.  I will allow a stipulation as proposed by 

Ms. Pogue.  I would be open if there's additional 

facts you'd like to include.  I'm also concerned 

because she's under service --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge --  

THE COURT:  -- if I may?  She's under service and 

she's not present.  So then that leaves the question 

of are we really going to get her here?  Although if 

she had testimony that I considered relevant -- but 

it's not -- a department decision not to proceed or 

any internal action that they took with respect to you 

is not relevant.  Absolutely not relevant to the 

issues I have to decide.  

MS. SHOMO:  If I had her show their thought process, 

would that be relevant? 

THE COURT:  No, because like I said, I mean there's 

not a -- there's -- under no legal theory, would a 

separate agency's internal decisions -- because first 

of all, there'd be so many different factors that go 

into it, but it's also their decision and all it would 
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be doing is unfair bolstering of your argument that 

the department -- that OFCMH was wrong in its threat 

assessment.  Because that's the crux of your argument, 

and I understand that, and I will give that due 

consideration.  But to present a different agency and 

to prop them up to say, look, they didn't take action, 

that's unfair bolstering as well, and that -- it 

doesn't have evidentiary value to this Court.  Just 

like it wouldn't if they had decided to charge you.  I 

wouldn't allow that either.  Just like I wouldn't 

allow evidence that they're not going forward on a 

particular matter.  

MS. SHOMO:  Fair enough.  Judge, may I ask this, then?  

I believe I can -- we can come up with a stipulation 

that will resolve this?  The total interaction lasted 

about 12 minutes.  It's cut into three five-minute 

videos due to limitations for my security system.  

Would Petitioner -- in addition to stipulating that 

that is what Agent Gonzalez's testimony would be, 

would Petitioner allow me to play into the record 

video of my interaction with Agent Gonzalez -- just 

the first five minutes will do nicely -- and take that 

into the record in lieu of Ms. Gonzalez's presence? 

THE COURT:  And this is Agent Gonzalez who responded 

to the welfare check? 
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MS. SHOMO:  No, she responded to the second report.  

After I did the false reporting, CODHS requested the 

police contact me again after I notified them that I 

had reported them for false reporting.  She responded 

to that.  

THE COURT:  I don't see that as being relevant 

because -- when did you call police and say that they 

false reported? 

MS. SHOMO:  Immediately prior to Ms. Clawson's then 

calling police on me again. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  And this is all -- in other words, 

this is a witness to talk about your call to -- for a 

false report on the department because of 

Ms. Clawson's original welfare check; is that correct? 

MS. SHOMO:  Well, she -- she responded to 

Ms. Clawson's second request they come mess me up.  I 

referenced the false reporting.  She did not work the 

false reporting.  And that is why I propose to the 

Court, if I could play our interaction so the Court 

can see my demeanor in dealing with these issues as 

evidence, as part of my testimony, my case-in-chief, 

than having played the first five minutes of that 

interaction, I could forgo Ms. Gonzalez as a 

witness --   

THE COURT:  And I still don't see that --  
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MS. SHOMO:  -- and would accept --  

THE COURT:  -- oh, I'm sorry, Ms. Shomo.  I think this 

is so far afield because --  

MS. SHOMO:  I'd ask the Court to see with its own 

eyes, the demeanor issue that was stipulated if that's 

fair, and -- and this will support the stipulation as 

to what she would testify to.  It's five minutes, and 

then we're done with her, and we don't have to call 

her.  That's all I would ask.   

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue --  

MS. SHOMO:  And given that, if that were agreed to by 

the Petitioner, I would -- I would accept that 

stipulation without objection.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue? 

MS. POGUE:  I mean, Judge, yes, we will stipulate to 

calm demeanor.  I don't even think we need to play the 

video.  I think we will stipulate to admission of the 

video if the Court wants to review it at some point.  

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  That'll work for Respondent.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  That's what we're going 

to do.  All right.  Let's take a ten-minute break.  So 

at this point, let's come back at -- is nine minutes 

enough?  If we come back at 4:25?   

MS. SHOMO:  That'll work.  
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THE COURT:  And if --  

MS. SHOMO:  And then, I would ask the Court for that 

instruction on how I'm supposed to handle things when 

I'm also the witness when we get back.  

THE COURT:  And we may have to continue this to 

another date only because I'm not going to keep Mr. -- 

I can't keep Mr. Laws here past 5:00, so -- unless, 

Ms. Shomo, you think that your testimony is going to 

be less than a half hour? 

MS. SHOMO:  I'll see --  

THE COURT:  I don't want to --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- what I could do.  I do have the gun 

video to play to establish -- and the questions of my 

interpretation in supporting them.  So I do need to 

make that presentation.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  We're not going to cut you off 

there.  I'm not sure which is the gun video, but we'll 

cross that when we come back.  Okay.  But if we have 

to recess, I just want to give the parties fair notice 

about that.  Okay? 

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, if I -- if I may, if we don't 

think there's any way this is going to be done today, 

I'm almost wondering if it makes more sense to stop 

now and just allow Ms. Shomo to testify separately? 

THE COURT:  Yeah? 
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MS. POGUE:  You know, complete, and we can do closing.  

Unless, like, I just would hate to do 45 minutes 

(inaudible) --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I am getting exhausted.  And if -- 

if -- if the Court approves and Petitioner feels that 

way, I would be fine --  

THE COURT:  That's fine.  

MS. SHOMO:  -- with finishing the trial on the next 

date available to the Court.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Let's do -- I think that's an 

excellent suggestion, Mr. Pogue.  Let's do this.  

What's good for the parties? 

MS. SHOMO:  I will make any time the Court and 

Petitioner find good for their schedules.  

THE COURT:  All right.  You want to throw out some 

dates, and then we'll look at ours.  We're best 

probably -- what do you think?  My guess is this would 

be another -- we should set aside maybe two hours? 

MS. SHOMO:  That will easily complete my testimony, 

and I'm sure cross and redirect.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  I was also thinking in terms of a 

closing statement.  I'm going to give you each ten 

minutes.  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, and Petitioner, you are muted, so we 

can't actually hear you.  
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MS. POGUE:  I'm just nodding along.  I'm just nodding.  

It's fine.  I'm not saying anything of substance, but 

agreed.  Like this is all -- yeah, this -- the time -- 

the two hours, I understand all that.  That makes 

sense.  We're just trying to figure out avail -- yeah, 

availability from the Court for two hours?  Okay.  

THE COURT:  Because I'd like to carve it out for you.  

We're in dire straits, I'll just tell you.  How about 

January?  5?  How's the afternoon of the 5th look? 

MS. SHOMO:  The afternoon of the 5th looks good to me.  

And Judge, there's one late question I would ask.  If 

that's when we're scheduling for --  

THE COURT:  Yeah? 

MS. SHOMO:  -- I would have been able to complete 

today.  But if the Court would entertain -- if 

credibility with the feds is going to be an issue, I 

can attempt to subpoena them.  I asked them to help.  

I got the video, but if I'm being challenged on that, 

I can see if I can get one of them in here.  I don't 

know how likely that is to succeed.  I have very 

little power in that relationship, but I would be 

happy to attempt to send such a subpoena, if 

Petitioner would consent.  Otherwise, I think it's a 

bit late for me to make that request.   

THE COURT:  I agree with that.   
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MS. SHOMO:  Otherwise, I can (inaudible) my own 

testimony. 

THE COURT:  What's Petitioner's position? 

THE COURT:  I'm so sorry.  I'm -- so we're trying to 

discuss scheduling.  On subpoenaing the feds? 

MS. SHOMO:  Yeah, I can see if I could subpoena the 

feds. 

MS. POGUE:  Oh. 

MS. SHOMO:  As a pro se, I'm not really sure how to do 

it.  I don't have the power in the relationship, but I 

could see what I can do? 

MS. POGUE:  Yeah.  You know, I -- I think we'd be 

objecting to relevance at this point around the 

federal issue.  

THE COURT:  And also just -- we're midstream on the 

hearing, and I think that's prejudicial.  So at this 

point --  

MS. SHOMO:  There you go. 

THE COURT:  -- we're going to go forward.  All right.  

What do you think?  Does the --  

MS. POGUE:  And I think -- oh, I'm sorry. 

THE COURT:  -- 5th work? 

MS. POGUE:  We --  

MS. SHOMO:  It works for me. 

MS. POGUE:  -- can accept the afternoon.  
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MS. SHOMO:  Oh, I'm sorry again. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, if you could let Ms. Pogue 

respond, please?  Thanks. 

MS. POGUE:  I said we can accept the afternoon of the 

5th.  One thing that we would request is if there can 

be any limitation on -- and I know this is a 

challenge, but additional evidence, or motions, or 

things along those lines before the 5th --  

THE COURT:  I'm ordering --  

MS. POGUE:  -- so we can make sure we're done? 

THE COURT:  -- hold on.  We're -- we're, like, it 

froze.  There are no more motions to be filed.  That's 

not appropriate because we were going to finish this 

hearing today.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge?  

THE COURT:  Well, do you all want to run through to 

the end of the day?  Yeah? 

MS. SHOMO:  I'd rather not run through to the end of 

the day.  I would ask one thing.   

THE COURT:  I'm sorry -- Ms. Shomo, will you turn on 

your camera?  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, my apologies.  When I enter presenter 

mode, it turns off, and then I neglected to turn --  

THE COURT:  It's okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- it on, and it was noticed.   
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THE COURT:  Did you just say -- did you just say you 

would like to go through to the end of the day or not? 

MS. SHOMO:  No, I had said I would love to schedule 

for the 5th.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  The only thing I would ask, is I had 

motions that I was planning to file if the Court 

granted, to allow certain actions, such as to complete 

CORA requests that were in progress at the filing, to 

complete obtaining access to my chart, records 

therein, billing records, radiology records that were 

in progress as of filing, and to be able to bring 

Ms. Clawson's conduct with respect to that report to 

the Attorney Regulation Counsel for review.  Those are 

the motions that I would be making if the Court 

granted the PRO --  

THE COURT:  No.  I'm going to deny them and -- I'm 

going to deny them, and that's a matter you can take 

up, depending on what my ruling is.  But I will 

deny -- we are we have started this hearing.  I will 

not --  

MS. SHOMO:  I don't think I need to file them --  

THE COURT:  -- accept any -- I won't --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- on the basis of (inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  This is as if we're all just 
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sitting here in frozen time until the 5th.  As far as 

no more filings --  

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible).   

THE COURT:  -- no communications, unless there's some 

emergency.  Are you sure you all don't want to just 

plow through and finish today?  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I'm exhausted.  Petitioner had 

suggested another day.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  We scheduled two hours instead of 40 

minutes.  I -- we can get it done.  I would love to go 

ahead and continue.  I'm fine with no more filings.  I 

just wanted to make the Court aware if it granted was 

the only case in which I intended to make those 

motions, but those motions may be forthcoming if the 

Court grants to conclude business which has been 

barred by the TRO.   

THE COURT:  So --  

MS. SHOMO:  Otherwise, I have no new motions to make, 

so none will come before the hearing.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Law says we could stay later, so if 

the parties want to stay later, we can.  

MS. SHOMO:  I mean, I can do it -- I'm tired.  I 

could -- if Petitioner still wants to reschedule, 

we -- we -- I would be grateful for that at this 
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point.  It's been exhausting.  But if the Court wants 

to finish now, I can finish now.  Petitioner's still 

muted.  I don't know if she's addressing the Court. 

THE COURT:  I think she's talking to Director Joseph 

would be my guess.  

MS. POGUE:  I just would need to check to see if I'm 

able to.  I'm not -- I'm not totally sure.  I would 

need, like, a minute --    

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MS. POGUE:  -- to see if my schedule will allow for 

that, after 5:00. 

THE COURT:  Do you -- if the parties are requesting to 

continue, we can, and I have no problem with that.  I 

don't want to encroach on anyone's schedule  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, due to exhaustion and my 

unfamiliarity with these contested matters --  

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- I -- I would -- I would -- if the Court 

is offering, I would very much gratefully accept.  

THE COURT:  Yes.  All right.  I just want to make a 

real clear ruling right now.  There is no new 

evidence, there are no new motions that can be filed, 

there's no new evidence to be sought.  We are just 

pressing pause on this hearing.  All of the subjects 

that I have ruled on, we're not going to go into an 
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expansion on Ms. Clawson and her alleged misconduct.  

We're not going to get into all of that.   

So what I -- Ms. Shomo, and I say with 

respect, I'm not -- and not that I think you're going 

to do this, but this is not an opportunity during 

these two weeks to retrench and redo this case.  I -- 

I am only going to hear your testimony on the 5th. 

MS. SHOMO:  And the evidence I've already sent to the 

Court? 

THE COURT:  Oh, yeah.  Everything's in.  You bet.  

Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.   

MS. POGUE:  If we needed -- oh 

THE COURT:  Huh?  Go ahead? 

MS. POGUE:  If we just make one other request?  There 

have been communications to Mr. Harrington.  Now that 

he is no longer Counsel on the case, we would ask that 

there be no further communications.  There's no need 

to communicate with Mr. Harrington.  And if possible, 

limited communications to Counsel, unless absolutely 

necessary related to this case, just to make sure that 

we're all on track.  

MS. SHOMO:  I would ask, I -- I'm fine with that with 

Counsel, I'm fine with that with Mr. Harrington.  

However, to the Attorney General's office in general, 
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there are matters not relevant to this proceeding.  I 

am not going there.  

THE COURT:  Oh, I would not.  I would never restrict 

your right to communicate with an agency. 

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  Then --  

THE COURT:  No, you do whatever it is you have to do 

on any other matters, of course.  

MS. SHOMO:  Then -- then, Ms. Pogue I -- I am -- I am 

fine with that.  I made my case to Mr. Harrington.  

You indicated you had all of that.  He withdrew as 

counsel.  So you -- you go ahead and review all of 

that.  I will leave you alone, outside emergencies.  I 

will file nothing with the Court, and we can freeze 

time.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

MS. SHOMO:  And then, Judge, I would ask if you 

grant -- you offered me an opportunity to make 

essentially post-proceeding motions that may be 

relevant at that time? 

THE COURT:  I don't know what that means.  

MS. SHOMO:  The three motions I referred to, I wasn't 

making today, I was indicating maybe forthcoming if 

the PRO grants, as far as the exact terms of the PRO 

and the business to be concluded.  But I'm perfectly 

happy to leave that until this Court has ruled on the 
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matter.  I was not moving it today.  

THE COURT:  I'm not going to give permission -- I'm 

not aware of any procedural mechanism -- and let me 

make clear, I've not made any decision.  The evidence 

is not closed.  But I would say I'm not familiar with 

any mechanism whereby there could be a post-hearing 

motions to be submitted to the Court under the county 

court rules.  And in fact, the county court rules are 

quite clear, that the pleading practice -- motion 

practice is extremely limited, and actually, now that 

we're talking about it, there's actually a rule that 

says that there are no motions to be filed in county 

court without permission of the Court, and I have not 

enforced that in this case, but I would not accept any 

post-hearing motion.   

What I would -- I mean, the only remedy 

if I grant this -- if I make this protection order 

permanent, is an appeal which, like I said, I have no 

idea how the -- what the ruling is going to be, but I 

want to be very clear.  I'm not going to accept any 

post -- the post-conviction (sic) motions.  And I 

would like to refer all parties to the county court 

rules, which indicate -- of course I'm not going to be 

able to put my hands on it --  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, while you're reviewing that, may I 
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modify my request to say at the final hearing if I 

take the Court through the business, which is open 

with the department that was blocked by the TRO 

issuing, might I ask the Court at that time to 

consider conclusion of that business in its final 

order as a prejudgment matter, as part of my defense?  

But not troubling the Court until that hearing, and 

only on the basis of evidence and argument already 

made? 

THE COURT:  I'm still not understanding what you're 

asking.  If you could clarify that? 

MS. SHOMO:  They have an x-ray, a piece of radiology I 

haven't gotten.  I haven't gotten my billing records.  

I had a CORA request in progress, trying to 

investigate a tip I got about some misconduct at the 

hospital, which is unrelated to these communications.  

All of those matters need to be resolved.   

THE COURT:  Not here. 

MS. SHOMO:  I still need that chart, those records.   

THE COURT:  Yeah --  

MS. SHOMO:  And if the -- if the PRO grants, I would 

ask the Court to allow some way for me to resolve 

those issues.  

THE COURT:  That -- none of that's relevant here.  

None of it.  And you can't use -- you won't be able to 
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use this Court as a discovery mechanism for other 

matters.  I'm not going --  

MS. SHOMO:  I have not asked to.  I have not asked to, 

Judge.  I have not sent a bunch of subpoenas that were 

off topic.  The Court would surely have to grant my 

subpoenas were perfectly on topic.  I'm merely saying 

if the party ends up remaining protected, would the 

Court allow an avenue for those specific issues to be 

resolved?  Precedentially, I would cite a case where 

there are children in a domestic violence restraining 

order.  There is some intermediary mechanism whereby 

the children can be exchanged, issues related to their 

care could be discussed.  I have a few pieces of 

business to disclose, and I would say at the hearing, 

but not before, if the Court is to grant, I would ask 

the Court to provide an avenue to resolve those pieces 

of business is all I would I was asking.  

THE COURT:  I don't -- I still am completely unclear 

on what this request is.  I would say it's premature, 

and I'm going to cross that bridge when I come to it.  

But I would like to note for the record, Rule 505 

states, "There shall be a claim and a response which 

may or may not include a counterclaim.  No other 

pleadings shall be allowed.  There shall be no motions 

allowed in county court, except as contemplated by 
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these rules."  So I have been exceptionally lenient 

with respect to all of the motions in this case, and I 

want to make -- be very clear, I will not be 

considering other any other motions with respect to 

this case.  

MS. SHOMO:  Understood.  So -- so if the PRO grants, I 

just won't be able to get the -- the records that I 

still haven't gotten out of them? 

THE COURT:  I -- I'm not going to make an advisory 

ruling; that's not appropriate.  No court should do 

that.  I -- I don't know what you're asking me or 

what's procedurally in front of me, but I think I --  

MS. SHOMO:  Well, I -- I was --  

THE COURT:  -- Ms. Shomo, it's --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- can I clarify what I was asking? 

THE COURT:  I understand your -- you have the 

desire --  

MS. SHOMO:  All I was asking is access to close those 

requests.  If you don't understand what I'm asking, 

that's what I was asking for.  If you're ruling 

against me, I'll shut up, but if you don't 

understand --  

THE COURT:  I'm ruling against you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I am ruling against you.  I'm not 
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allowing any post -- no more motions before the close 

of evidence, and I'm not going to allow any motions 

after my ruling. 

MS. SHOMO:  Understood. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then, I hope the 

parties have a restful period of time in the next two 

weeks.  Yes?   

Ms. Pogue (inaudible)? 

MS. POGUE:  Did we say what time on the 5th? 

MS. SHOMO:  I don't --  

THE COURT:  Let's do --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- that we did a time, Judge.   

THE COURT:  1:30, please? 

MS. POGUE:  And this -- is this virtual still?  Can we 

still have virtual?   

THE COURT:  Yeah.   

MS. POGUE:  Okay.   

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Right.  And I thank the parties for 

a thoughtful presentation this afternoon.  

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.  All right, we'll see you on 

the 5th at 1:30. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Take care.  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, it occurred to me.  I just hung 
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up -- am I dismissed?  I'm sorry.   

THE COURT:  Oh, Ms. Shomo, I didn't know you were 

still on.  

MS. SHOMO:  Yeah, I hung up like it was a Zoom 

meeting, and then, I realized I needed to make sure 

the Court was letting me leave its presence.  

THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  Have a nice day.  

MS. SHOMO:  You, too.  Bye.  

THE COURT:  Take care.  

(WHEREUPON, the calling of the docket continues.) 

***
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GENERAL ADVISEMENT 

THE COURT:  All right.  Let's call up 25W1324.  That's 

Leora Joseph, on behalf of the Office of Civil and 

Forensic Mental Health.  Aubrey Shomo as Respondent.  

Thank you.   

And let's get you one more chair.  Thank you, Mr. 

Nicholson, and good morning.  Good morning.  All 

right. 

Counsel, you want to make appearances?  Good morning.  

Appearances of counsel?  

MR. HARRINGTON:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Tyler 

Harrington and Jesse Bellini on behalf of the Director 

of the Office of Civil and Forensic.  

THE COURT:  Good morning.  Good morning.  

MS. SHOMO:  Good morning.  Aubrey Shomo appearing, 

representing herself for Respondent.  

THE COURT:  Good morning, good morning, and hello.  

Hope everyone is well this morning.  Okay.  We're set 

for hearing this morning.  Are the parties ready to 

proceed?  

MR. HARRINGTON:  Petitioners are ready, Judge. 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I had filed a subpoena, and the 

Court had set that for argument.  I also filed 

exhibits to substantiate my answer. 

I would ask that the Court -- I know in the reply, 
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Petitioners' counsel had offered to identify the 

person for service.  I have also this morning filed 

two additional subpoenas.  I would like to compel the 

presence of Ms. Bridget Clawson, who's identified as a 

protected person for cross-examination.  She is a 

member of the bar.  She is not somebody who would in 

any way be emotionally concerned by being cross-

examined. 

And I would also ask to call Agent Gomez-Gonzalez of 

the Lakewood Police Department by telephone.  Both of 

those subpoenas are in.  In that subpoenas were filed 

with the Court, but not issued thereby, on the 22nd, 

Respondent would request a continuance on court's 

motion or stipulated and to not burn Petitioners' one 

continuance on the grounds that we are not ready for 

trial.  And we cannot be because the subpoenas have 

not issued, so the trial could not be held today.  

THE COURT:  Let me make sure that I'm following all of 

the petition, the subpoenas that are out there.  So I 

have in my John Doe, John Doe, command, LEO State 

Hospital. 

MS. SHOMO:  That's the individual who I spoke with.  

There are two individuals in that role.  I do not know 

his name.  In order to properly subpoena, however, 

Petitioners' counsel has offered to identify him for 
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Respondent.  

THE COURT:  All right.  We'll take them one at a time.  

All right.  With that first subpoena, Counsel? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  In our 

response motion, we stated if the Court did so order 

us to identify, we would comply.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And so -- 

MS. SHOMO:  And the other two subpoenas I just filed 

this morning.  I did send to the clerk in case TRC did 

not get them to the Court. 

THE COURT:  So with that, and I'm looking -- I read 

your response.  So response of the Department.  Yeah, 

so you are stating -- oh, that's the DORA -- sorry, no 

position.  So you have no position on where I am to 

order you to provide the identity of this individual?  

MR. HARRINGTON:  That's correct, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Procedurally, if you could offer 

some guidance, if I do that, which I will.  How do you 

propose to provide that information?  

MS. JOSEPH:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Leora Joseph, 

L-E-O-R-A J-O-S-E-P-H, Director of the Office of Civil 

and Forensic Mental Health.  Your Honor, at the Pueblo 

Hospital, we have a small police force.  They are 

known as the Department of Public Safety.  I'm happy 

to make inquiry of the chief of police there to see if 
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there is someone matching the description set forth 

that would help identify this individual.  But I can't 

make any guarantees, obviously, that this is able to 

be done.  

THE COURT:  Understood.  And I explained -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I just -- 

THE COURT:  Yes?  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, I'm sorry, Judge, I don't know if 

breaking in was appropriate.  The alternative is if 

the Court would authorize me for a limited purpose, 

placing a single phone call to the hospital in Pueblo, 

I can get this individual very trivially.  I've spoken 

to him before, and I can get his information. 

I do not know if the Court would prefer to have that 

done by opposing counsel, or if the Court would be 

willing to authorize me to obtain that information.  

THE COURT:  Would it be fruitful for you to speak 

directly with Director Joseph to give her the 

information that -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I would be happy to.  It's my 

understanding she's a protected party.  With the 

Court's permission. 

THE COURT:  Yes, absolutely.  I think that's the most 

efficient way to do it.  Okay, so we'll do that.  And 

just so I'm clear, so I'm going to number these 
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numerically.  So, this one is the State Hospital 

Police Colorado Mental Health Hospital in Pueblo.  

MS. SHOMO:  That is correct. 

THE COURT:  All right.  So as to that one, Respondent 

will speak with Ms. Joseph and give as much 

identifying information as you can.  And then a 

proposal for how to then -- because then it'll need to 

come back to me.  Or would Respondent file an amended 

subpoena with the name? 

MS. JOSEPH:  Once we are made aware of the identity of 

the police officer, if we're able to do so, we are 

happy to communicate via email, via my attorney at the 

AG's office, with the Respondent and provide the name 

of that individual.  

MS. SHOMO:  And -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah? 

MS. SHOMO:  -- this may be out of the course, but 

Judge, when I speak to her, may I also call Ms. Leora 

Joseph's attention, I believe it was Exhibit L, the 

sexual assault exhibit?  The 2018 sexual assault was 

real.  And Respondents would call Petitioner's 

attention to the exhibit substantiating that on 

evidence. 

Petitioner may not really want to proceed knowing that 

the sexual assault was real.  And the actual purpose 
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of this action is to shut up Respondent.  I would ask 

if I could convey that, and I just did, in the 

presence of the Court. 

THE COURT:  Well, I kind of think my -- and I'll tell 

you -- my overwhelming thought before we dive down too 

deep is, do we want to narrow issues for this hearing?  

And the reason I say that is, first of all, there's no 

need to file an answer in this courtroom.  Your answer 

will be the hearing.  It's not like down in the other 

civil courts.  So I guess maybe because I know there's 

a lot of information here.  I regularly narrow 

substantially the relevancy of what we're going to 

hear on a protection order hearing.  

MS. SHOMO:  I would, Judge, comment that what myself 

as Pespondent, has been summoned here for is 

essentially pillorying an employee of the office for 

attempting to involve the police against me for 

essentially providing that same exhibit.  So it is 

relevant to the facts. 

But I would also ask if we're going to talk about 

limiting, that we take everything in Broomfield in 

2018 off the table evidentiarily, and the reality of 

that sexual assault which was reported to the Court.  

Their substantiation of that in the reply was actually 

not taken seriously, which is how Respondent was 
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treated by CODHS in the first place. 

So I don't know the scope that Petitioner is seeking 

to present, but I would ask that since my messages are 

a direct reply to the instance with Lakewood Police 

that be within scope.  The Petitioner, Bridget Clawson 

described that communication as being, "about the rape 

of children and threatening the death of Jews."  The 

death of Jews comment was also pointing out a piece of 

false charting.  And it originates from their own 

charting.  My only comment there is to describe the 

charting as false. 

So there's a history here of selective quotation.  And 

the fact that I was publishing to a broad list about 

that sexual assault and received, essentially, what I 

consider to be retaliation.  And again, I've offered 

to subpoena the law enforcement officer who responded 

on 9/9.  I would ask that the sexual assault be 

included. 

However, I would ask any guilty pleas in Broomfield be 

excluded on the same basis?  And I can go into the 

exclusion for that if Respondent wants to admit that.  

But the communications about the sexual assault are 

unambiguously within the fact cluster here.  I would 

be more than happy to exclude 2018 more broadly, but I 

may have opened that door.  
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THE COURT:  Well, let me ask you this.  And having -- I 

want to treat this case like I do every other case -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Perfectly fair, sorry. 

THE COURT:  -- and that's implicit.  But what I'm 

looking at is on its face, it seems to me the question 

is ultimately, without getting ahead of myself, going 

to be there's allegations that threats have been made.  

And so the question will be whether these are 

protected speech, whether these are true threats.  

Right?  And so if that's the case, I'm not seeing, and 

I'm not sure if this is the time, but the relevance, 

in other words, whether or not there was a prior SAOC, 

sexual assault on a child case, which is obviously, 

well --  

MS. SHOMO:  This is actually a sex assault in 2018.  I 

reported it, it was substantial, and I received 

involuntary psychiatric treatment in lieu of an 

appropriate response to the sexual assault.  I have 

since developed evidence, and it was in direct 

response to me publishing that evidence that the 

Department began to throw law enforcement at me.  

Having been unsuccessful, the Department has taken me 

to a civil restraining order.  There is no true threat 

of safety -- 

THE COURT:  Well. 
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MS. SHOMO:  If the Court will -- if the Court will 

review the Exhibits A, B, C -- 

THE COURT:  I've read them. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- D, and P, the Court will note that the 

communications are unambiguous in every way, and that 

was withheld in the ex parte hearing.  I'm more than 

happy to try that with my witnesses, but I would argue 

that because the communications here being challenged 

are a direct response to the actions taken one; 

framing me for anti-Semitic threats by accusing me of 

threatening the death of Jews, which is counterfactual 

by the Petitioner, and that occasions the protected 

speech.  Similarly, I provided evidence of the sexual 

assault.  Now, for all I know, Petitioner is like, oh, 

this is a psychotic person escalating, but it's an 

exhibit.  It's not my own account.   

THE COURT:  Right. 

MS. SHOMO:  And for these reasons, I was engaged by 

law enforcement.  For that reason, I proceeded with 

the pillory.  So I do believe that the 2018 sexual 

assault is on topic, because fundamentally, it 

reflects what the office is actually trying to have me 

barred from saying -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- to third parties in their presence or 
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online.  

THE COURT:  And this feels like a matter of -- it 

deserves -- or it should be a reason.  If you are 

telling me that a prior -- your prior assault is 

related to your defense of the allegations of threats, 

but I don't -- this is not anything that we could 

resolve this morning. 

MS. SHOMO:  I'm aware that the sexual assault is 

beyond the scope of this Court.  The only reason I 

bring it in is because I basically started the fact 

cluster in June, that leads to this proceeding.  And 

one of the emails, which was misrepresented to the 

Lakewood Police, directly provided evidence for the 

reality of the sexual assault. 

And it is for that reason, that is basically the 

beginning of this law enforcement exchange.  I'd 

actually been faxing the State Hospital in Pueblo.  I 

started a presentation last year after the FBI's safe 

to tell message to me.  I received basically no 

harassment, no issues from that. 

So I would ask that the scope start in June with the 

Lakewood Police report, which is fundamentally what 

leads to this proceeding.  

THE COURT:  I'm going to not address that at this 

moment.  But does counsel -- and I'm going to turn my 
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attention back to the subpoenas -- otherwise we -- 

we're off track. 

MS. JOSEPH:  I'm not trying to derail the Court.  I'm 

sorry. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  I'm not trying to monopolize. 

THE COURT:  Response to relevance, I say with respect, 

ultimately is my decision.  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So response? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  So as the 

Court is aware, we're here for a business entity 

protection order, right?  With OCFMH being the 

business entity, and Ms. Joseph being the Director.  

The scope of what we're litigating here is OCFMH has 

received thousands of communications from Respondent.  

We are seeking to enter into exhibit four of those 

communications. 

There might be testimony of -- verbal testimony 

regarding volume, but specific allegations are of 

four.  And those four are actually included in 

Respondent's exhibits.  So we can narrow it down to 

the four.  It is the four that are alleged in the 

verified motion for a civil temporary protection 

order.  And that is the scope that we are seeking to 
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limit this to. 

MS. SHOMO:  And if I may briefly reply, the context 

for those four communications includes the scope up to 

those six months, up to June of this year. 

THE COURT:  Don't answer this question, please.  But 

if your defense is yes, I sent these, but it's because 

something happened in the past -- 

MS. SHOMO:  My defense is that not one of them is a 

threat. 

THE COURT:  Well, I think on its face, that's 

something that has to be determined.  Yeah, we're 

going to get deep into the First Amendment. 

All right.  Let's turn our attention back to -- so 

we've addressed the first.  I'm going to label these 

numerically.  So I'm going to call number 1 State 

Hospital Police Colorado Mental Health at Pueblo.  

Number 2 John Doe, okay?  And that's the John Doe 

Command LEO State Hospital.   

Is there same concern there?  

MS. SHOMO:  I filed a John Doe subpoena and a subpoena 

to identify John Doe, not having his name to ensure 

there were subpoenas in the record.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Counsel? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  And if I may just have a second. 

THE COURT:  Of course.  
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MR. HARRINGTON:  It's our understanding that's the 

same.  

THE COURT:  Oh. 

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, yeah, yeah. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  There are two subpoenas.  There's a 

subpoena to appear, John Doe and subpoena to produce, 

identify John Doe. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  I believe that's the correct procedure 

when you don't have the witness' name.  I hope I did 

it right.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Okay.  Well, then that one and 

two are going to fall under the same heading that you 

can speak with Ms. Joseph.  And we corrected your 

spelling by the way, of your name. 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Okay, and to find name.  I think 

procedurally, once you have the name, I think then you 

can resubmit your subpoenas, and I can sign off on 

them.  

MS. SHOMO:  If counsel -- counsel has my email 

address? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let's talk about Agent Gomez-
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Gonzalez again, with no position of the Department?  

So I can go ahead and sign that one for you. 

MS. SHOMO:  May I ask the Court that she be allowed to 

testify by telephone?  She's also a law enforcement 

officer. 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Any objection to that? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  No, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And we'll put that in here too.  So 

number 3, I'm calling Agent Gomez-Gonzalez.  Also 

granting respondent's request to allow Agent Gomez-

Gonzalez to appear virtually.  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, just a clerical note.  That 

subpoena does not have a time on the order.  The two 

John Doe subpoenas were for this hearing.  The 

subpoena for Gomez-Gonzalez and the subpoena for Ms. 

Clawson, do lack a time, because I do not know when 

the hearing would be.  I don't know if I've done the 

paperwork right.  

THE COURT:  I think we'll need to redo those.  Before 

we part company today, we'll figure out if it's 

reasonable to have the hearing on the next date, or 

whether we should do a status date. 

Actually, you're going to need a hearing date, so 
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we'll pick that before we go.  Same for Bridget 

Clawson then. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Bridget Clawson is the identified 

Petitioner.  She is a member of the bar, and I request 

her physical presence to face my accuser, and I would 

like to cross-examine her. 

And part of the cross-examination will be her previous 

reports to Lakewood since June, where she basically -- 

I don't know how to say this properly in court -- she 

lied to the police, to put it bluntly.  And that will 

be a subject for cross-examination on the issue of 

starting in June.  And it will establish that -- 

THE COURT:  That's -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- her report of a true threat is not 

credible to the court when the trial is held. 

THE COURT:  And I don't mean to cut you off, sir -- 

MS. SHOMO:  All right. 

THE COURT:  But I understand -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I -- I -- 

THE COURT:  -- I have a right to cross. 

MS. SHOMO:  I would -- I just wanted to justify my 

request.  I'm not trying to be a pain. 

THE COURT:  Nope, not at all.  All right, so we're 

going to -- we'll have you reissue -- so we're going 

to put the new date on.  All right. 
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MS. SHOMO:  So Judge, just to confirm, you are 

directing them to find the name, so that I can 

subpoena the State Hospital policeman in Pueblo.  You 

are granting Gonzalez and by phone.  If I am able to 

obtain the name of the hospital policeman, are you 

granting by phone on that?  So when I file the 

subpoena, I may indicate to the Court. 

THE COURT:  Yes.  But I want to be clear.  I'm not 

ordering Ms. Joseph to get the name.  I'm satisfied 

that she's giving good faith efforts. 

MS. SHOMO:  If she reports that she is unable to 

obtain the name, I would ask the Court to authorize me 

to place the phone call and get it myself.  This 

individual was happy to provide me with Ms. Clawson's 

name when I was making noise about the false 

reporting, and he is the state's own witness who will 

speak to the safety issue.  He's an essential witness.  

And if opposing counsel can't provide me with my 

witness, I ask to be able to contact and get my 

witness' name myself. 

THE COURT:  I think that would be in the nature of an 

advisory ruling at this point.  So at this juncture, 

let's go forth with great optimism that it shall be 

done.  All right. 

MS. SHOMO:  And then you did issue the subpoena for 
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in-person appearance by Ms. Clawson -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- for cross? 

THE COURT:  If it is an in-person event. 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Is that something you want to 

accept service on, or do you want it just to be 

personally served for Ms. Clawson?  If she's one of 

your employees?  

MR. HARRINGTON:  May I have a moment? 

THE COURT:  Of course. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  We can accept service. 

THE COURT:  Okay, that'll simplify. 

MS. SHOMO:  So, for that, do I still need to have a 

process server hand it to counsel, or may I email it?  

THE COURT:  If they accept it, they can sign a waiver. 

MS. SHOMO:  So I may serve by -- for Ms. Clausen -- I 

may serve the subpoena by email?  And then I am to 

expect a waiver of personal service back from counsel?  

Is that how this goes? 

THE COURT:  Unless you'd like your representation 

today to suffice.  That's fine. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Judge, I think that's appropriate if 

we're on the record -- 

THE COURT:  I do too. 
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MR. HARRINGTON:  -- in court, I think it's appropriate 

for us to -- 

THE COURT:  Yep. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  -- accept service now.  And so 

(indiscernible). 

THE COURT:  Yep.  This Court accepts. 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you very much. 

THE COURT:  So -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Do I still need to send you the subpoena 

when it issues?  Okay.  I will, as a courtesy, just to 

cover my bases.  But thank you very much for telling 

me I must not. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  I'm not required to.  

THE COURT:  So let's pick a hearing date, and then 

let's talk about whether it would be fruitful to brief 

the narrowing the issues, recognizing there might be 

some requirements of sort of a game time.  Not to use 

a trite phrase, but in the field position. 

Let me first ask the OCFMH's position.  Would it be 

fruitful to limit -- to do something in writing with 

respect to some of the relevancy questions -- 

recognizing some things will have to be ruled on as we 

are actually having the hearing? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  That would be Petitioners' 
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preference. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let's do that. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Then we can brief you on the issues.  

THE COURT:  And I can issue a written ruling on that.  

And maybe we set this hearing out for 30 days.  

That'll also give you turnaround time for your 

subpoenas. 

MS. SHOMO:  Indeed.  I would ask for a longer time if 

Petitioner finds it acceptable.  If we're going to 

fully brief scope and again, I would ask it start in 

June.  And certainly, if Ms. Clawson speaks to any of 

the communications, prior similar related comments, 

and descriptions of other communications in a close 

time frame are definitely -- what is it?  Impeachment 

issues on cross.  So I would make -- I would just 

advance that argument, and I would be happy to brief.  

I would ask the Court for extra time.  I am not a 

lawyer -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- I'm doing my best to pretend to be one.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  I'm involved in a number of fruitful 

disputes -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- which is further evidence.  There's no 
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danger to anyone here, but I don't really know --  

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- what I'm doing.  So when it comes to 

the scoping, I would ask for procedural guidance on 

that -- 

THE COURT:  Well -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- to make that argument with authorities, 

et cetera. 

THE COURT:  If it is of assistance, I had a hearing on 

Friday afternoon that involved the issue of the First 

Amendment, and whether certain communication was a 

threat to a governmental entity.  It turned out on an 

individual basis.  And I will tell you, these two 

parties had a long history.  And I did restrict 

greatly the scope of what I heard on the grounds of 

relevance.  Because the question before the Court -- 

and I'm simply -- I'm giving this as an illustration 

in response to your request for some guidance. 

To the Court, we had communications at issue.  I had 

them in front of me, I had them, they were in writing.  

And then it would have been very easy to go down a 

lengthy hearing involving this. 

There was a very long history between the two parties, 

and I limited it substantially, because the question 

becomes, was that protected speech?  And I was able to 
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look at that in the context.  But it turns out it 

wasn't necessary for me to hear the whole background.  

Does that make sense? 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I briefly -- 

THE COURT:  You may, and I'm assuming then we'll look 

at this in writing.  But yeah.  

MS. SHOMO:  -- and I would just say I am not here to 

litigate the entire issue.  In fact, I didn't open the 

case.  I am simply here to defend the dangerousness 

issue. 

I do believe, because, again, my defense will consist 

of the fact that I was -- I'm facing retaliation from 

the Department for having truthfully described a 

sexual assault, which, in fact occurred, for which 

there is now evidence.  It was the provision of that 

evidence which led to the Department's engaging of me.  

The Department has done this previously in 2001 and 

gotten caught.  And I have done monumental volumes of 

public activism.  So I understand that the Court's 

scope is narrow.  I am not here to resolve the issue, 

but I would like to introduce it in order to 

substantiate one, impeachment; and two, protected 

speech -- 

THE COURT:  I'm not -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- and then I can go to the written brief 
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from there. 

THE COURT:  I'm, yeah.   

MS. SHOMO:  I hope I have not been overly repeating 

myself.  

THE COURT:  I also would point out that as with my 

hearing on Friday, there were other actions between 

these parties.  So let me remind all parties that 

OCFMH -- I have those acronyms, correct?  Okay.  Bears 

the burden by a preponderance of the evidence, which 

is very low.  

MS. SHOMO:  More likely than not.  

THE COURT:  Correct.  Two things, only two.  That you 

sent this communication.  That's prong one.  And that 

unless permanently restrained, you will continue to 

send these kinds of communication.  So while -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Well, Judge -- 

THE COURT:  If I may.  Yeah, there may well be reasons 

you sent it.  I understand that, and I'm certainly not 

here to make any rulings about that.  But I do not see 

this as a hearing to get into.  Let's say -- I'll just 

say, for purposes of argument, that there was a 

retaliation.  I don't know how that that may be, that 

may be appropriate for a civil judge somewhere with 

respect to a different kind of action.  But this Court 

has a very tiny job in the grander context.  
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MS. SHOMO:  May I Judge, real quick? 

THE COURT:  An important one, but -- 

MS. SHOMO:   In the email with the subject line, this 

is a bomb threat, I sent out the Lakewood Police 

report with the subject line, this is a bomb threat -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I see. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- and I indicated that the Department was 

BSing the Lakewood Police.  I'm not in custody.  And 

in the first communication, I have a gun.  That's 

referring to assisting federal authorities -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  That is made unambiguous in the 

communications.  So each of the communications 

themselves actually make it clear that they're not a 

threat.  One thing that I have done is because the 

Department of Human Services frequently uses language 

like that as an excuse to get rid of people.  I have 

used language like that, but in every single instance, 

I think this Court will see plainly, it's not a 

threat. 

I realize that's a trial matter, but certainly the gun 

statement, working with Secret Service, the bomb 

statement is a copy of the police report.  For those 

reasons, I believe it will brief to be relevant. 

But basically, the communications that I'm being 
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brought before this Court on are communications 

mocking them for their previous efforts with the 

police, which I believe were an effort to force me 

back into treatment for having evidence now with the 

sexual assault.  

THE COURT:  Let me ask as this as I'm thinking about 

this issue.  Are you proceeding under the stalking 

subsection?  Or is it just -- I have physical assault, 

threat, or other.  I want to make sure that I know 

what I'm --  

MR. HARRINGTON:  It's just the threats.  

THE COURT:  Just the threats, okay.  And there's a lot 

of case law out there in terms of vis-a-vis 

subjective, as well as objective.  

MS. SHOMO:  It's my contention, Petitioner doesn't 

even feel threatened -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- and this is an abuse of process.  

THE COURT:  Well, I guess that'll be one of the big 

issues.  And again, I'm not being.  I do not mean this 

tritely, but I think it was Samuel Clemens that was 

asked or stated, I'm sorry my letter is so long, I 

didn't have time to write a shorter one. 

I'm going to limit your page numbers; okay?  Because 

it takes time to write.  I don't need -- and I would 
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also point out the parties to County Court Rule.  I 

don't have my own book up here, but there is a limit 

to -- I had to remind another set of parties of this 

when I received surreply and surrebuttals on another 

case. 

All that I need is motion and an answer.  So what I'm 

ordering today is I'd like to see a brief on either 

side of the question of what should be relevant, and 

what should be heard, with respect to this hearing.  

I'm limiting it to ten pages.  I don't need 

attachments, unless if you file a motion requesting if 

there's some reason for exhibits. 

Otherwise, it's just a quick -- I'd like to see a 

summary from you.  It'll be what you want to present.  

So you -- we're going to let you go first if that's 

all right?  And what title do you like to go by?  

MS. SHOMO:  I go by Ms. Shomo, I use female or 

they/them pronouns.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo.  You will be able -- why don't 

you take as your ten-page limit and let me know what 

it is that you think is relevant to be presented?  I'm 

going to ask you to file that.  Just two weeks? 

MS. SHOMO:  I can do two weeks.  I would ask not less 

than two weeks.  I thank the Court for two weeks.  I'm 

pro se, and this may require reach out to authorities 
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et cetera.  

THE COURT:  Okay, two weeks.  Another, how long does 

the Petitioner need? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Judge, I do think there is one other 

matter I would like to address.  And so if we're going 

to set out 30 days, I do think that that is 

appropriate in this matter as the TRO goes.  So I do 

think that maybe going over a little bit more, if we 

have two weeks for Respondents' brief, and then two 

weeks for us to answer, I think we could then hold a 

hearing after that.  However, I do think it would be 

important for Ms. Shomo to be advised of an option of 

extending -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  -- the time -- 

THE COURT:  I sure will. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  -- with the temporary order.  And I 

think it would make sense if that advisement came from 

the Court. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, yeah, I'll do that now.  

All right, so Ms. Shomo, we can, and I might have 

started with this, but I made some assumptions that we 

were speed locomotoving towards a hearing.  Okay, we 

can avoid a hearing, and it's a compromise to both 

sides.  And what it would be was if you would willing 
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to extend the temporary protection order for a year, 

it then dissolves by operation of law without a 

hearing. 

MS. SHOMO:  I am in the process.  I've actually had to 

stop speaking up about official misconduct by the 

Department.  All of my communications have gone to a 

broad email list of some 500 people.  The facts list 

is only ten persons.  I'm currently being subjected to 

unconstitutional prior restraint of publication by the 

office, and I, again, contend that is their true 

motive, not any true threat, and they know it.  So I 

would have to decline that offer -- 

THE COURT:  No problem. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- and insist on trying the matter.  

THE COURT:  No, that's no problem.  And just in 

fairness, just a reminder, Petitioner bears the burden 

of proving by a preponderance of the evidence which 

you all are very familiar with.  You know, the risk of 

going forward, and I say this to every Respondent, is, 

of course, you've weighed the possibility of, after 

the hearing, having a permanent protection order on 

your record. 

But it is your absolute right to go to hearing.  It's 

Petitioners' absolute right to go to hearing.  So -- 

and you don't, if you change your mind, we certainly 
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will have opportunity to consider that in the future.  

But I'll assume we're on track for hearing.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  May I ask one question? 

THE COURT:  Of course. 

MS. SHOMO:  I know the Court cannot vacate the TRO 

prior to the hearing, except potentially on 

Constitutional grounds.  Would the Court hear a 

Constitutional motion to dismiss? 

THE COURT:  No.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  

THE COURT:  Well -- no.  I mean a Constitutional 

motion -- no.  Let's get this case to a hearing. 

MS. SHOMO:  Very well. 

THE COURT:  Let's do that now.  All right, so I will 

set the hearing date so that you can get your 

subpoenas out. 

MS. SHOMO:  May I ask if they have two weeks to reply, 

how does that then go?  Do I have a response to their 

response?  Is it three-way, or is it just two-way?  

And if it's two-way, how long prior to the hearing 

might I anticipate having the order of the Court? 

I would ask for time to prepare after the Court has 

ruled on scope, so that we can have a good trial.  

THE COURT:  That's fair.  I can turn it around 

probably pretty quickly.  If the issues come up, I am 
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fully researched and briefed on the First Amendment, 

having just had a hearing on Friday, but yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  May I then propose if I have two weeks, 

they have two weeks to reply.  We set the hearing for 

45 days at another two weeks?  Is there objection? 

THE COURT:  That's reasonable. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  No objection. 

THE COURT:  So let's find a Friday afternoon, and then 

we'll protect it.  Well, how about December?  How far 

are we right now?  December 12th.  How many days out 

is that?  Is that possible?  And that's not a -- 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Ms. Joseph is not available.  

THE COURT:  You're not available?  Okay.  And the only 

concern, I'm just out the last week of November and 

the first week of December.  I do have a -- well, are 

you out the whole week of December 8th to 12th? 

MS. JOSEPH:  No, Judge, it's just that Friday, I'm not 

available.  

THE COURT:  So I could either come back -- I hate to 

push it out any further.  Yeah, what if we did the 

afternoon of the 11th?  Is that possible? 

MS. SHOMO:  The afternoon of December 11th? 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  That works for me, if it works for 

Petitioner. 
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THE COURT:  Okay.  I think one 1:30.  1:30?  Well, 

let's do 1:00.  Yeah, let's do 1:00.  1:00, okay? 

Are there any other -- all right, yeah.  So just to be 

clear with the ruling then, it's two weeks from today.  

So Respondent's brief. 

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, when you're done with this, I 

have two final requests of a clerical nature.  One is 

a request to revisit overnight for this hearing if the 

Court will indulge? 

THE COURT:  Say again? 

MS. SHOMO:  One is a request to revisit overnight 

transcripts for this hearing if the Court will 

indulge. 

THE COURT:  I don't have the ability to make a court 

order.  I mean, I'm unwilling to order, knowing the 

budget, the workload, and everything that goes on 

behind the scenes with these transcripts, that's not 

an appropriate thing for me to order.  It's just not.  

If there was an emergency, if we were in trial and we 

had something we had to -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I mean, the biggest reason is it takes two 

weeks to get the transcript, and I have two weeks to 

do my brief.  And that's why I would ask for daily 

transcripts.  

THE COURT:  Well, I can't imagine what you heard today 



32 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

that would change your brief.  Because your brief is 

coming from everything you're making argument about 

today.  We haven't done -- 

MS. SHOMO:  That's true. 

THE COURT:  We haven't made any that -- the only ball, 

as far as I can tell, that's been moved today, is 

we've resolved the four subpoenas, and we've 

identified that we are in a far better place if we 

brief the relevance question.  Recognizing -- but 

there's nothing in this transcript, I don't think, 

that would impact your ability to articulate what's 

relevant and what's not.  I haven't made any ruling.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  Then let me just make a note.  

Today is the 28th.  So the due date is November 11th 

for the responsive pleading?  

THE COURT:  Yep.  In fact, I'm writing that in my own 

notes too.  November -- what is?  Let's make it 

November 12th. 

MS. SHOMO:  November 12th.  And I can file those with 

TRCV and then serve them electronically? 

THE COURT:  What's T -- no.  No electronic service 

here.  

MS. SHOMO:  For the for the briefing? 

THE COURT:  We don't have electronic service here. 

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, I filed them with the TRCV email.  
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They end up in the Court record.  And then I've been 

emailing all pleadings to Petitioners.  It's been 

working.  

THE COURT:  Forgive me.  What's TRCV?  

MS. SHOMO:  It's an email address where you can 

provide an electronic version of filing if you're pro 

se, and it ends up in paper in the Court. 

THE COURT:  Oh, because we don't actually have 

electronic.  We're not on the system, so somebody's 

bringing them to us.   

Would you prefer it to come directly to you, or do you 

want to go through that system?   

Okay.  You can keep going.  All right.  So November -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I have one last matter.  In that one thing 

that the TRO forbids is social media posts about the 

Department.  I have been trying to keep my public 

apprised.  I have removed the Department from all 

email lists concerning this matter.  They do not 

receive them.  I did send out the case number.  I did 

not name the Department.  May I name the Department as 

the Petitioner in the case, and send out the Court 

pleadings that have gone back and forth in writing to 

my public?  Or is that something that would be covered 

by the protection order?  

THE COURT:  To your public?  You want to send the 
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public filings?  

MS. SHOMO:  I want to send the filings that are 

public, a matter of record with this Court, out to my 

email list, and I would like to identify the office as 

who have requested this action.  

MR. HARRINGTON:  We don't have an objection. 

THE COURT:  Then you may do so.  

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you very much.  That is everything I 

had to bring before the Court.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, that's no problem.  So 

Respondent's brief November 12th, 2025.  Petitioners' 

response November 26th, 2025.  Ten-page limit, no 

reply.  If you think you need exhibits, file a request 

to seek leave from the Court.  Because I have a lot of 

exhibits, you can reference -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I may reference the exhibits I've already 

filed that I'm not likely to require any additional 

exhibits. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  I went ahead and did the answer route and 

filed everything up front.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And then my ruling two weeks from 

there, 26th December 10th.  I'll do it before that.  

I'll get the ruling out, well -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I would ask for a week if the Court is 
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willing. 

THE COURT:  Well, do we want to push the hearing out?  

And I'll tell you why.  I'm actually, I won't even be 

in a place to receive materials that first week of 

December.  Like, I couldn't access it if I tried.  So 

I'm happy to move the -- I'll move the hearing a week, 

and then I'll get my ruling out.  That first of it, so 

the week of December 8th?  

MR. HARRINGTON:  Another thing we could do is we could 

cut our response time from two weeks to one, so we can 

still have two weeks to file our brief, and then we 

can respond within one week. 

THE COURT:  My problem is, I will not be reachable.  

Because then your brief is going to be what?  When 

would your brief be?  The 19th? 

MS. SHOMO:  Yeah, I had until the 12th.  So seven days 

would be the 19th.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  That, unfortunately, is not going 

to help.  Only because I am -- like I said, I couldn't 

get information if I tried.  So yeah.  So let's keep 

you where you are.  I'll make my ruling on December 

8th, 9th, 10th.  Between December -- let's call 

December 10th; okay?  Recognizing that I'm just not 

in.  The first opportunity I'll have to even look at 

the brief will be the morning of the 8th. 
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MS. SHOMO:  If the Court is going to rule that week, 

might we push it?  We were talking 12-11.  Might we 

push it to 12-18 to give Respondent a week to prepare 

for trial once the scope has been set by the Court? 

THE COURT:  Is that too close to travel times and 

things like that?  And I could set any day that week. 

(Pause)  

THE COURT:  Is the 17th available at all? 

MS. SHOMO:  I'll make time, any time the Court and 

Petitioner have during normal court hours. 

THE COURT:  So, I'm going to protect this.  Nothing 

else set that day.  I'm assuming we're going to 

hearing? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Thank you, Judge.  

MS. SHOMO:  If the Petitioner is uninterested in 

withdrawing.  I would encourage the petitioner to look 

into that sexual assault and consider whether it 

really wants to do this.  But I'm more than happy to 

try. 

THE COURT:  And then, as I said, I will not even be in 

place to get your briefs until the 7th.  Ergo, given 

that we just bumped it out to the 17th.  Yeah, I will, 

no later than the 12th, but I'll endeavor to get it 

done on the 10th, because that'll give you a week. 

MS. SHOMO:  And my due date for my brief is still 
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November 12th?  

THE COURT:  Yep, November 12.  

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you very much.  

THE COURT:  November 26th.  Court ruling between 10 

and 12, hearing December 17th.  Okay, do you want to 

start at 10:30? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  That's fine.  

THE COURT:  But again, the other thing, just to let 

the parties know, I've started having hearings -- I've 

set time limits on hearings.  And what I've said, and 

I recognize this one, we might need to go a little bit 

longer.  But just to give you all guidance, I've set 

45 minutes per side, and a half hour for closing 

arguments and other housekeeping matters. 

So in other words, in this Court's view, these 

hearings shouldn't be running longer than two-and-a-

half to three hours. 

MS. SHOMO:  So wouldn't cross-examining Ms. Clawson 

come out of my time or theirs since she is the 

Petitioner? 

MR. HARRINGTON:  I'm not calling her. 

THE COURT:  They're not calling her.  So you'll be 

calling her, so she'll be your witness.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  
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THE COURT: Yeah, that'll -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Do they have any witnesses they intend to 

call? 

THE COURT:  I'll order -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Can I ask about an -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  I'll order an exchange of exhibits 

and discovery.  You're going to need to see my ruling 

before you exchange exhibits.  So exchange of exhibits 

and witness list by close of business on the 15th.  

MS. SHOMO:  The 15th of -- 

THE COURT:  December. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- December.  Very well.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Exchange of exhibits.  And do 

you all have a good email for each other?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Any other housekeeping matters, Ms. 

Shomo?  

MS. SHOMO:  That's everything the Respondent has.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Any housekeeping matters?  

MR. HARRINGTON:  No, thank you, Judge.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Then, I think we're clear on 

everything.  Obviously, I'm available if there's any 

concerns.  Go ahead and put it in writing, please.  

Not emails.  They get lost in the shuffle; okay? 
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MS. SHOMO:  Thank you, Judge.  And I assume the Court 

would prefer if I, obviously, if we are to try this, 

it will be after trial.  I evaluate the sanctions 

issue.  The only current target I have for sanctions 

would be Ms. Clawson, based on her prior conduct.  She 

is a member of the bar.  I assume the Court would 

prefer I wait until after there's a ruling on the 

primary matter of the case to make those sorts of 

motions.  

THE COURT:  Sanctions here in this Court?  Well, let's 

go to hearing and then we can address the sanctions 

questions then.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well. 

THE COURT:  All right.  With that, this matter is 

concluded.  Thank you, to the parties. 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you. 

MR. HARRINGTON:  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Anything else for me?  All right.  That's 

it for the day. 

(Thereupon the proceedings were concluded.) 

***
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GENERAL ADVISEMENT 

THE COURT:  All right.  Let's have appearances.  

Appearances for Petitioner, please.  All right.  The 

Court is now calling case number 25W1324.  Appearances 

of counsel.  

MS. POGUE:  Ann Pogue, on behalf of the Department.  

Also present with Petitioner Leora Joseph.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.  

MS. POGUE:  Good afternoon.  

THE COURT:  And Ms. Shomo, you present?  I see you as 

well.  

MS. SHOMO:  I am present for the Respondent, Pro se.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  My apologies, 

folks.  I had a hearing this morning, and despite my 

most valiant efforts, it went long, so we were -- are 

literally just wrapping that ruling up about ten 

minutes ago, five minutes ago.  So I'm sorry that you 

have to wait.   

Okay.  So I took a look at our notes over the weekend 

and it looks like at this time we took a break --  

Thank you.   

-- we took a break to have Ms. Shomo, I believe it's 

your testimony now; is that correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  I believe that's where we were.  I did 

have -- I went through the transcripts, and I believe 
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there are a couple of exhibits that the Court took 

which aren't shown as admitted that I had wanted to 

make sure were in the record.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  Let me grab those.  

THE COURT:  Let's do that.  How about before we go to 

ruling, unless there's something you want to use, I 

myself went through over the weekend and tried to 

organize all of your exhibits, so I think it would be 

a great idea at the end of your testimony, and when 

you're finished with your case and we go through all 

exhibits that have been admitted, so we're all on the 

same page.  How does that sound?  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I did, however, want to start with 

AP if that works for the Court.  Let me bring that up 

just on my cross-reference.  

THE COURT:  And Ms. Shomo, if you want to go through 

the admitted ones, if it's going to assist in your 

testimony, that's fine as well.  So if you -- I mean, 

we're going to have to do that at some point.  And we 

have a list as well, so.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I believe AP was -- 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- let me get the exact right one.  AP is 

the one that came in that Ms. Clawson introduced 
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concerning the power strip.  And I believe the Court 

took it, but the transcript didn't show it admitted.  

And I believe that that was everyone's understanding, 

it was to admit; there was no objection from 

Petitioner, as I recall.  But the Court never did 

formally admit AP.  We did put a letter on it, but 

it's not in the transcript.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  That was from yesterday.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Ms. Pogue, any 

objection to AP?  

MS. POGUE:  No objection, Judge.  

THE COURT:  All right.  So we'll -- and I just, so you 

know, I had shown that it's already admitted, but we 

will formally admit it now.  All right.  

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you very much, Judge.   

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  The transcript had missed that, so thank 

you.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  Is there anyone -- is there any 

other housekeeping?  

MS. SHOMO:  The other issue I had, I had an argument 

on Ms. Joseph's hearsay.  I don't know when the Court 

would prefer to hear that.  And I may want to recall 

Ms. Joseph after my case-in-chief.  
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THE COURT:  When you say Ms. Joseph's hearsay, do you 

mean -- she's already testified, and you had lodged 

objections during that time?  So kind of help me 

understand what you mean by that.  

MS. SHOMO:  I had objected based on hearsay.  

Respondent had requested to or -- I'm sorry, 

Petitioner had requested to allow in on the basis of 

present impression or excited utterance.  I had 

produced testimony that established that Ms. Joseph 

had put the people whose replies she was referring to 

up to that testimony, i.e. she had introduced and 

given a brief about what she was looking for.   

And pursuant to People v. Mitchell, a Colorado Court 

of Appeals ruling in 1999 -- I'm sorry -- 1991 813 

P.2d 822 which is the landmark case on excited 

utterance, the Court found "the basis for the 'excited 

utterance' exception for example, is that such 

statements are given under circumstances that 

eliminate the possibility of fabrication, coaching, or 

confabulation, and that therefore the circumstances 

surrounding the making of the statement provide 

sufficient assurance that the statement is trustworthy 

and that cross-examination would be superfluous."  I 

did preserve --  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, can I -- oh.  You preserved it 
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because that's already been ruled on, correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  I preserved it.  It was ruled on prior to 

the actual testimony, having gone through the 

transcript, I believe, and it was ruled to see if it 

was admissible.  But I believe, having gone through 

the transcript, what actually came out in court was 

not admissible.   

THE COURT:  Correct. 

MS. SHOMO:  And I believe my cross-examination 

basically removed the applicability of the exception.  

THE COURT:  Procedurally, at this point, that's not an 

appropriate way to -- I mean, that's a ruling that 

took place.  It was already done.  And so I'm 

declining to revisit -- if I may.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I clarify one point that is -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- critical to the Court's ruling?  The 

Court ruled, prior to the witness' testimony that it 

may be admissible.  The Court did not rule after the 

testimony.  I'm asking the Court to look at the 

testimony and enter a final ruling, which the Court 

has yet to do.  

THE COURT:  What I -- 

MS. SHOMO:  And I do (inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  -- I guess, I -- and it's where -- I'm a 
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little bit handicapped.  I don't have the transcript 

in front of me.  What -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I did submit to the clerk.  I can bring it 

to the Court's attention.  Because I specifically ask 

about prompting and she specifically replies.  And 

that's certainly going to be critical in my cross, 

even if the Court doesn't exclude it.  But I believe 

it defeats the exception.  And it's --  

THE COURT:  And what is it that she -- just to help to 

guide me.  I've been in a hearing since -- I've been 

on the bench since 8:30 this morning, so I have not 

read the transcripts.   

MS. SHOMO:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  I spent quite -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Give (inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  -- a bit of time this weekend looking at 

it, but I didn't have the transcripts in front of me.  

So let's start with this.   

MS. SHOMO:  Pursuant to my notes --  

THE COURT:  What are you -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- it's page 136 -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Oh, Ms. Shomo. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- line 22.   

THE COURT:  Yeah, Ms. Shomo. 

MS. SHOMO:  I can include the -- sorry.  
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THE COURT:  I so appreciated your efforts to be 

careful with our record.  So if just again today -- 

and I know, I know that there's a lot of things you 

want to get through.  So I want to be very respectful 

of that, but we'll need to let each other talk -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Yeah. 

THE COURT:  -- so we have a good record (inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  Yeah. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  So all I was asking was 

because I don't have the transcripts right now, we 

could do a couple of things.   

Yeah.  All right.   

What is it that -- I might be able to just rule if you 

tell me what was Ms. Joseph's testimony that you need 

a ruling on it.  And then I'll determine, based on 

your record, if it was hearsay, and then you will at 

least have a completed court record on that.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So 146 22.  Let me pull that up.  

I'm sorry.  It's a long file.  In the 20s.  Okay.  At 

146 22, I start the following Q and A.   

Question by Ms. Shomo:  "My next question, you said 

various personnel have expressed fear to you.  Who and 

in response to what?"  Joseph answer:  "One of the 

employees that spoke with me about this was Bridget 

Clawson.  I had also had opportunity to speak to my 
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leadership team, because this is such a novel approach 

for the Department to seek this protection order, I 

felt the need to socialize it with my deputies, who 

also expressed that these were concerning.  That's an 

example of some employees I spoke with.  I know my 

personal assistant, who had to kind of collect a lot 

of these for me and was assembling them, also felt 

uncomfortable with the content."   

Question:  "And each of these persons felt this way, 

having been briefed by you before encountering the 

actual content of the communications; is that 

correct?"  Answer:  "That is probably procedurally 

correct."  Question:  "So their impressions they 

expressed" --  

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- "to you were colored by your 

communication indication of your expectation of their 

perceptions; would that be fair?"  Answer:  "I can't 

know what colored their experiences or not," is the 

exchange.  And my argument is that there is an earlier 

exchange where an exception was brought in.  And let 

me get that.  It's just a couple pages up.  I have to 

get the exact spot for Ms. Pogue.  Find in file 

H-E-A-R-S-A-Y.  So I had raised the hearsay issue when 

it came up.  Let me get there.  29.  That one.  I've 
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got concerns.  Okay.  That's still 35.  11 38 would 

offer a hearsay.  39.  I'm almost there.  Okay.   

And then slightly before that, on page 84 of the 

transcript at line 11, is where I say, "Is this where 

I would object on hearsay grounds that she speaks for 

employees she's not prepared to have cross-examined?" 

The Court requests a response from Ms. Pogue.  Ms. 

Pogue replies, "My response, Judge, I would say that 

I'm asking Director Joseph, based on her experience 

supervising employees, that this would give her cause 

for concern on behalf of her employees because of the 

repeated nature and because of the substance.  Just in 

her role again as director and supervisor over, I 

believe it was 18 -- correction, 1,200 to 1,500 

employees.   

We can't have each of them testify, but she can 

certainly speak to her reactions and thoughts about 

what kind of -- about kind of what responses would 

be."  And the only actual evidence that she then 

offered subsequent to the Court's ruling to go ahead 

and let her enter that testimony is not admissible.  

Hearsay pursuant to the doctrine in Mitchell is the 

argument by Respondent.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

Okay.  Thank you.   
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Thank you.  And Ms. Shomo, I'm able to make a finding 

that those -- Ms. Joseph's testimony with respect to 

her other employees that had expressed concern is 

offered to show effect on listener because as I'm 

looking at my notes from the hearing, I do recall all 

of this gave rise.  The whole crux of Ms. Joseph's 

testimony was to say this was such an unusual 

situation for her, and that she has never -- it was 

with reluctance that she went to seek a restraining 

order.   

And so the fact that her employees had expressed 

concern and whatever else she testified to, it was -- 

is squarely within the hearsay -- it's not hearsay 

because it was offered to show the effect on the 

listener, which is to say, what caused her to seek the 

temporary protection order.  So the Court will 

overrule the objection.  But now we have -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Where she's --  

THE COURT:  -- now we have --  

MS. SHOMO:  I --  

THE COURT:  If I may.  If I may.  Now we have a record 

that's been made.  

MS. SHOMO:  May I ask with specificity that pertains 

to her testimony concerning effect on others, not just 

herself? 



14 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT:  I'm not sure what that means.  

MS. SHOMO:  She testified to two separate facts, and I 

wanted to clarify the Court's ruling.   

THE COURT:  Yep. 

MS. SHOMO:  The Court had said that her thought 

process in seeking the welfare placement and the 

protection order was admissible.  I'm not disputing 

that.  I'm not claiming that's hearsay.  She was 

available for cross.  I'm referring specifically to 

her testimony about effect on other employees, which 

she herself created by showing them to those employees 

and establishing expectations.  

THE COURT:  That doesn't seem to be falling within the 

realm of -- I mean, if you're objecting to Director 

Joseph's stating, I relied on these employees, and 

they had the -- this impacted my employees in X, Y, Z 

way.  Consequently, that was part of my decision-

making when I sought to obtain a protection order.  I 

don't think there's any argument to be made, or I 

guess I'm not understanding. 

MS. SHOMO:  I'm arguing that the hearsay exceptions 

exist where they can't be cross-examined because 

certain statements have reliability, even when 

hearsay.  And my fundamental argument is that where 

she's speaking for her employees, she admits she 
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prompted their replies.  And that prompting is what 

invalidates the hearsay.  The generation of those 

replies is no longer acceptable hearsay.  It's no 

longer a present sense impression.  It's no longer an 

effect on listener because it's prompted.   

THE COURT:  No. 

MS. SHOMO:  It's not spontaneous.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  And I appreciate the record 

that you've made.  I've made my ruling.  I am 

finding -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Um-hum. 

THE COURT:  -- that that is not hearsay.  So I don't 

even need to get to the exception.  It simply is not 

hearsay by my ruling.  

MS. SHOMO:  When she -- 

THE COURT:  So --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- relayed -- 

THE COURT:  -- I'm finished -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- (inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, can I ask one thing?  By 

definition, and this may be me not understanding when 

she relates statements by other persons, not her 

own -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 
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MS. SHOMO:  -- thought process, how is that -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- not --  

THE COURT:  That -- because there's a whole category 

of things that are not hearsay, and certainly 

statements of others that are offered to show the 

effect on listener is not -- it's simply just not 

hearsay by definition.  So that's my ruling.  In other 

words, I'm not -- I don't even need to look to an 

exception in order to make that determination.  I am 

allowing Director Joseph to testify with respect to 

statements of her employees that caused her to seek 

out, in what appeared to be a very unusual setting, 

her coming to court to get a restraining order.  But 

you will be entitled to cross-examine her.  Although I 

think you've -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I did -- 

THE COURT:  -- already cross-examined her -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- (inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah, you already cross-examined her.  

Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  I did have her held for recall if anything 

should come up in my rebutting -- 

THE COURT:  You can do that. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- prior to -- 
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THE COURT:  Yeah.  You can --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- (inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  You can do that.  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, you can do that.  All right.  

So Ms. Shomo, are you ready to testify?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes, I am.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  And I see you've 

got your hand up.  All right.  Do you swear under 

penalty of perjury -- and you'll need to keep your 

camera on just so that I see you when you're 

testifying.  I've got -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Definitely. 

THE COURT:  -- the screen right in front of me.  

MS. SHOMO:  Is this framing good?  I can try to adjust 

it for better framing on me.   

THE COURT:  Oh, this is fine.  Yeah.  No, I can see 

your face.  That's all I need.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Let me -- 

THE COURT:  All right.  

MS. SHOMO:  I can probably do a bit better.   

THE COURT:  Oh.  There you go. 

MS. SHOMO:  How's that?  

THE COURT:  As long as I can see your full face.  All 

right.   
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AUBREY ELLEN SHOMO 

Testified on her oath as follows:  

MS. SHOMO:  So affirmed.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Please, you may begin.  

DIRECT EXAM 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So I would actually like to start 

at the beginning.  And the relevance here, because I'm 

sure that there will be objection and request for 

proof of relevance is that this is responsive to the 

notion -- I don't believe the exact words -- word 

salad were used, but that the notion I had been to the 

United Nations was clearly evidence of dysregulation, 

false, delusional, et cetera.  So this is a late 

exhibit.  I didn't imagine that I'd been to the UN to 

come in and question under this proceeding.   

It was provided the counsel immediately after the 

previous trial day.  And it's a video of me in Geneva, 

Switzerland, at the United Nations addressing the UN 

for the International Covenant on Civil and Political 

Rights review of the United States.  And that will go 

into the story of the -- my efforts to obtain -- and I 

believe, successfully have obtained a federal 

investigation in the matter.  That is around where 

they start, and it is directly responsive to 

Petitioner's contention that it is facially absurd 
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I've been to the UN, or that the UN had any relevance 

here.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue.  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I still contend that the UN has no 

relevance to this proceeding, and I would still object 

for the purposes of relevance.  If the Court does find 

that it's relevant and admits the video, I would also 

like to argue that no foundation has been laid to 

establish the context of the video; when the video was 

taken. 

MS. SHOMO:  I have exhibits for that.  

THE COURT:  Oh, just a moment.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay. 

MS. POGUE:  You know where it is.  You know, all of 

those pieces.  I would also note that while Ms. Shomo 

did send it after the last hearing, I've not seen it 

before that date.  

MS. SHOMO:  I didn't know (inaudible) --  

MS. POGUE:  So yeah, at this point, I think my primary 

objection is just to relevance.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I'm sorry (inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  One at a time. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- (inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  One at a time.  That just eviscerated the 

transcript.  So --  
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MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) -- my sincere apologies.  I 

realized I was speaking over opposing counsel.  Let me 

let you repeat.  I will shut up.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  What was the final part of what you 

were saying, Ms. Pogue?  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, my primary objection is as to 

relevance to these proceedings regarding the UN.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, may I speak to that?  Because it 

was in Petitioner's exhibit, and we had testimony 

about this trial -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- day one? 

THE COURT:  And I understand because I think there was 

some reference to -- if I'm understanding correctly, 

your defense of the communications contained in 

Petitioner's 1 through 4 are that they were authorized 

or sanctioned; is that correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  No, that's the specific I have a gun 

communication.   

THE COURT:  Oh. 

MS. SHOMO:  My defense with respect to the precis is 

that it's legitimate political speech that says right 

on its face, I would face retaliation if it weren't 

for the feds just for publishing this and then the 
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incident proceeding.  So it's piecewise.  This is a 

response to Exhibit 4, Petitioner's Exhibit 4 -- 

THE COURT:  Yep. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- which directly -- where I directly 

threaten the UN .  And Petitioner says this can only 

be read on its face as a bomb threat and that it was 

clearly nonsense my reference to the UN .  I believe 

that countering that with video of me at the UN 

might -- 

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, when was the video?  I presume 

you'll be able -- you could tell us what date, when 

that --  

MS. SHOMO:  It should be early 2014.  

THE COURT:  How long is the video?  

MS. SHOMO:  The video I believe I was given time of 90 

seconds.  I think it runs to 2.5 minutes.   

THE COURT:  2.5 minutes. 

MS. SHOMO:  So it's very short.  

THE COURT:  And it would be exhibit what?  

MS. SHOMO:  It was sent to counsel and then -- and if 

counsel objects to authentication, I have further 

authentication that can also be brought in.  This one 

in particular is Alpha Tango.  It should be Exhibit 

Alpha Tango.   

THE COURT:  T? 
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MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  AT.  All right.  

The Court -- I'll allow you to play that 

(inaudible) -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, I --   

THE COURT:  -- (inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  Alpha Tango.  Yes.  I'm correct.   

THE COURT:  (Inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  And there is also, Judge, I would ask, 

there's a transcript of that along with a photo of the 

video attached to that.  I would ask to be exhibit -- 

admitted as an exhibit as well.  

THE COURT:  And so the whole thing is AT, is that 

correct?  Are you able to --  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes, please. 

THE COURT:  Let's hear a little bit more testimony 

from you about foundation, if you could.  You 

mentioned it was 2014.  Is it you speaking?  Do we see 

you speaking?  Are you able to identify -- 

MS. SHOMO:  It is (inaudible) speaking at the UN.  If 

place and time are disputed, I could produce the UN 

Human Rights Committee session in the same room at the 

same time via other exhibits if there's dispute.  But 

it is me addressing the Human Rights Committee of the 

United Nations pursuant to the review of the United 
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States pursuant to the International Covenant on Civil 

and Political Rights as I had said in the 2014 review 

cycle.  It was early that year, I think, March.  

THE COURT:  Can I ask you, with all due respect, if 

this was 2014 that you spoke at the Geneva Convention, 

which I --  

MS. SHOMO:  Not the Geneva Convention specifically, 

ma'am, but.  

THE COURT:  Oh, it's the -- oh, I wrote Geneva 

Convention.  What were -- where were you speaking?  

MS. SHOMO:  It's ICCPR.  I was in Geneva, but Geneva 

Convention refers to a specific treaty, which is not 

relevant here, not for the least of which, because I'm 

not an unlawful enemy combatant.  

THE COURT:  Right.  What is ICCR?  

MS. SHOMO:  ICCPR is the International Covenant on 

Civil and Political Rights.  

THE COURT:  Now, can you explain to me why is it that 

accepting as true that you spoke there?  Why would 

that be relevant to the question of in 2025, you sent 

the reference that you did to the -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Because I (inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  -- (inaudible) case? 

MS. SHOMO:  -- to my work at the UN.  And a document 

that Ms. Joseph says must necessarily, on its face, be 
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read as a bomb threat that I contend is obviously 

ridicule.  And again, as has been said every time, 

clarification that ultimately my belief is that the 

feds will be handling this in their own time.  They 

have a few other things they're cleaning up alongside.  

Certainly, that's the impression I've been given 

unambiguously.   

I do, however, have a gun to the head of the feds with 

respect to international treaty action if I'm not 

ultimately -- if they're not holding me for testimony 

and I can't obtain my -- the discovery I -- that was 

withheld, I ultimately reserve a right to do a 

convention against torture complaint on these issues, 

which is a lawful process.  People don't respect it 

much because it's at the UN, but it's still a lawful 

process.  And Ms. Joseph said that was so facially 

absurd it had to be a threat.   

I've got video of me at the UN.  And I have been 

working this issue consistently, although there was a 

break from 2018 until the fed safe to tell message in 

2024.  But this will basically establish not only the 

history of the dispute, but the fact alongside some of 

the other already admitted attachments, that the 

Department's testimony that it was unaware of these 

things is probably not credible.  Even if it is, it 
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establishes exactly what's being said here.  Instead 

of a bomb threat, we're talking about a UN complaint.  

And here's me at the UN making one.  Judge, I have -- 

THE COURT:  I --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- successfully executed a non-self-

executing treaty.  I have successfully enforced a non-

self-executing treaty on the U.S.  I know they don't 

fly in court.  I was able to do it through the 

political process, and that forms the basis here.  

It's ultimately, I believe, part of how I got my 

federal gun that we're going to speak to.  It 

substantiates that maybe the feds -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- would hand this person a gun because 

I've been at the UN.  It's clearly -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- germane here.  

THE COURT:  Let me ask you this.  What role, if any, 

are you arguing that your subjective intent plays in 

my assessment of this case?  

MS. SHOMO:  I'm arguing that the credibility of an 

assessment of threat is completely shredded by the 

fact that I've actually been to the UN after Ms. 

Joseph's testimony.  

THE COURT:  But don't I -- am I not to -- if Ms. 
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Joseph doesn't know that you went to the UN, is it not 

my role to evaluate the communication on its face 

without that background?  In other words, I will 

accept as true that you spoke before this commission.  

But what I'm saying is, if Ms. Joseph and or anybody 

else had no idea that she had spoken at the 

International Covenant on Civil Rights -- Civil 

Political Rights.  I guess I'm failing -- 

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  I'm failing to see that relevance.  

It's -- 

MS. SHOMO:  The --  

THE COURT:  -- the same.  If I could draw an analogy, 

it's like, and I won't go too far down in the weeds 

because I don't think it's necessary.  But it's like 

the question of whether we would admit on a self-

defense case, any evidence of someone's prior conduct.  

If it's not known to the other party, it ceases to be 

relevant.  So while I understand that you had a 

subjective belief that that was authorized, if Ms. --  

if Director -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Ma'am. 

THE COURT:  -- Joseph had no idea.  Does that make 

sense?  Do you -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Yes, ma'am. 
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THE COURT:  -- see what I'm saying?  Like I'm not 

seeing the relevance.  

MS. SHOMO:  This form is the foundation of the factual 

argument there are, in fact, feds on the field.  This 

is not a question of subjective authorization.  This 

is a question of factual predicate for my showing of 

the feds.  And I believe the Court would argue that 

showing that I had been to the UN making problems for 

the United States about the very issues implied by 

this case is, in fact, a showing that makes it more 

likely that the feds are on the field.  And for that 

reason alone, since that's my case-in-chief, I've got 

to be able to establish since dispute has come up by 

the Petitioner.  I didn't expect dispute to come up. 

I mean, if Ann Pogue would stipulate that yes, I've 

actually been to the UN, then I suppose we could avoid 

it, but I'd ask to just play the 2.5 minutes, because 

it'll give the Court a very clear picture of what I 

was threatening these people with.  And also, that 

very video and transcript that I've just admitted -- 

or asked to admit was among the communications that 

was sent to them.  So they purport to have not been 

aware of it, but it was included in the total set of 

communications. 

THE COURT:  Got you. 



28 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MS. SHOMO:  At the end of the day, what it does is it 

makes it very clear what a threat of going to the UN 

is.  And Ms. Joseph's testimony left and right was we 

have to read this on its face.  Well, I'm showing you 

that going to the UN on its face is the part that's 

credible.  And I could show that the bomb threat is 

clearly a facetious, sarcastic reply to the last go 

round and not an actual bomb threat, whereas UN is 

facially that credible thing.  That's what I'm trying 

to show.  And that does bear on whether it's a threat 

to this Court, which has nothing to do with my 

subjective interpretation.  

THE COURT:  And I'll do a deeper dive.  Obviously, 

I've made no decisions at this point. 

But Ms. Pogue, response on admission of I think it's 

AT?  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I'm not going to make any 

stipulations as to the facts contained therein, but I 

will not object to its admission.  

THE COURT:  Let's go ahead and admit AT, and that will 

include the, I think it's a couple minutes of Ms. 

Shomo's statement, as well as sounds like a screenshot 

of her presentation.  And forgive me, I forgot the 

third thing.  Yeah.  Yeah.  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  Yeah.  So there's the -- a textual 
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transcript.  I would ask the clerk to go ahead and 

give the Court the attachment to that email.  And 

then -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- I would ask if we could play -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- the video.  It's under three minutes.  

THE COURT:  Yep.  And I just want to make a record 

that I had made a ruling on our last court date that I 

would not accept any additional evidence or any 

additional documents.  So, Ms. Shomo, I want you to 

know you are receiving the benefit of I will accept 

this as your piece of rebuttal, and I'll -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you, Judge. 

THE COURT:  -- allow you to be admitted. 

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit AT was 

admitted.) 

MS. SHOMO:  And I also have one other piece of 

rebuttal I will get to on the question of whether 

Exhibit B was received, which is also a trial day 1 

matter.  Just -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- for the record, putting a thumb in it.  

THE COURT:  And just so you know, I have this top of 

my exhibit list that it was admitted, but we'll cross 
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that bridge.  All right.  So all right.  And how do we 

play the video?  Oh.  We got a link. 

MS. SHOMO:  Would that be something the clerk does?   

THE COURT:  We got a link. 

MS. SHOMO:  I have had difficulty last time getting a 

presentation to work.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  I think Ms. Figueroa (phonetic) 

will do that.  And we've just admitted another A.G. 

official.  

If you could just identify yourself for the record.  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  This is (inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  Myself?  Oh, sorry.  I'm sorry.  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Sorry.  This is Jessica 

(inaudible).  I was in before I got kicked out, so I'm 

rejoining.  

THE COURT:  Sorry about that.  Okay.  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  No worries.  Sorry.  

THE COURT:  No problem.  All right.  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  We're not getting audio in.  The video is 

very slow.  

THE COURT:  I can hear it, but we'll start it again.  

I've got video here on my desk.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Is it possible to enable everyone 

to hear it?  

THE COURT:  Oh, definitely.  Let's see.  
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MS. SHOMO:  Ma'am, we're still not hearing the audio.  

THE COURT:  Oh, no.  You're not?  Hang on.  Let me do 

this.  I'm going to put my microphone.  Oh, no, I'm 

not.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Judge, I can try to present it, but 

it wasn't working very good for me when I tried last 

time.  

THE COURT:  If you want to try.  We got -- we think we 

have it.  Let's give it a shot.  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  So that, Judge Conboy, was me at the 

United Nations at the beginning.  Oh, I'm sorry.  

Should I go on or you're muted?   

THE COURT:  No. 

MS. SHOMO:  I don't know what the procedure is here.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  If you want to testify about what 

we've seen and if you have another exhibit to admit 

through AT, let me know.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I do have other video of me at the 

UN.  If Ms. Pogue would care to dispute that, that 

constitutes me addressing the Human Rights Committee.  

I have a Human Rights Committee meeting on these 

topics in the same room.  I could just show briefly to 

establish it, in fact, occurred and that the 

questioning was on the topics I was raising at the UN.  

This video will not include me.  It is offered merely 
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for authentication, and I would play perhaps 15 

seconds of it.  I don't know if the Court finds it 

necessary.  

THE COURT:  I don't think I do. 

Ms. Pogue.  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  But that's just (inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I continue to object to relevance 

of this line of testimony by Ms. Shomo.  And agree 

that we do not need to see any additional video 

related to that.  Ms. Shomo is free to argue whatever 

she would wish regarding the UN.  And continuing to 

push for a stipulation in the middle of her testimony 

is, I think, at this point, not comport with 

appropriate procedure.  

THE COURT:  No, we're -- I've, I've accepted AT, and 

for purposes of the appellate record, it's Ms. Shomo's 

email with the link.  So now it'll be part of the 

record.  I don't need any additional information with 

respect to the testimony. 

So Ms. Shomo, you may continue.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  Let me go ahead and move on to 

the next topic.  So that was in 2014 in March.  Later 

in 2014, and this bears very much to how the 

Department perceives what's going on.  And the Court 
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has already admitted these exhibits.  I believe it's 

Exhibit Q.  Let me pull my list.  

THE COURT:  Oops.  

MS. SHOMO:  I now refer to already admitted Exhibit Q, 

which was the Broomfield (phonetic) relief from the 

active plea coercion which took place on -- am I still 

in the meeting?  Yes, I am.  I can't see it.   

THE COURT:  Oh. 

MS. SHOMO:  How do I get -- oh, here we go.  I was 

just waiting for Teams.  So Exhibit Q, which was 

attached also alongside the reference to the UN in 

Petitioner's Exhibit 4, is the relief I received in 

the trial court from the coerced plea on second slash 

subsequent 35(c) action after an unsuccessful coram 

nobis bid all the way to the State Supreme Court of 

Colorado.  It was granted by the trial court and 

overturned some 15 years after the original 

proceeding.  And this Court has certified copies of 

the order overturning it.  And the Court will note the 

disposition on that case now shows is dismissed by 

court.  

THE COURT:  Thanks.  I have -- thank you.  I have that 

in front of me.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So what we have in Petitioner's 

Exhibit 4 is a threat to go to the UN by Respondent.  
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And a document which established that it worked last 

time during a mockery of what the state refers to as a 

bomb threat that includes reference to their previous 

police report.  I mean, there's Exhibit 4.  Nowhere 

does Exhibit 4 state that it is authorized in any way.  

There's no authority statement on 4.  I do state that 

I was being encouraged to go ahead and draft the 

treaty complaint.  I suspect it may be trial-relevant 

to the issue the feds are working on.  But I would ask 

that it be clear that there is no authority statement 

on 4.  

THE COURT:  I don't know what it means to say there's 

no authority statement on 4. 

MS. SHOMO:  Only one of the messages and its context 

provision, because it occurred to me they may try 

something like this, and which is the one in Exhibit B 

contains a statement that the message is authorized.  

I continue to contend that I'm a private citizen.  I'm 

not a federal agent.  I don't work for them.  So I 

have rights that they don't have via Hodges (phonetic) 

to continue my work to reform this system.  And 

Exhibit number 4 of Petitioner, which is my Exhibit P, 

which has Exhibit Q attached is a statement that I am 

not contending had express authorization.  When I'm 

contending express authorization, it's in on the face 
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of the message.  You will note the precis also did not 

have express authorization, though that's political 

work.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  So what we've shown is that Petitioner 

claims to have no concept of the history of my work 

whatsoever.  In fact, Ms. Joseph gave an enormously 

condescending speech about how I might feel justified 

or something.  I have expressed authorization for the 

statement in question that bears an authorization 

statement as I testified last time.  The only other 

possibility is that somebody has been impersonating 

the feds with considerable resources and very well.  

And again, it is only that message that bears in 

authority statement.  So Ms. Joseph's testimony on 

Exhibit 4 is this is clearly, on its face, a bomb 

threat.  I don't know.  Does the Court have Exhibit 4 

before her?  

THE COURT:  I do.  Right here.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  And that is my Exhibit P.  Can I go 

from my Exhibit P just because it contains 

attachments, which the Court did admit? 

THE COURT:  I have both.  Yes.  Both are in front of 

me.  Both are open.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Let me pull it up myself to make my 
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points here.  Exhibits A through Exhibit P.  Exhibit P 

is page 153.  153 dialed in.  Just a bit off.  Okay.  

So here we have a message.  Subject line:  "This is a 

bomb threat".  First sentence, quote, "This is a bomb 

threat per the clearly perjurious false reporting of 

CODHS as previously detailed, which is followed by the 

evidence list from the police report the Department 

had made indicating that there had been a bomb threat 

to the Lakewood Police."   

And then it contains the statement the state always 

construes being told on to a superlative jurisdiction 

a bomb threat.  This times the UN bomb threat follows:  

"ELC message transmit at the request of USS Cat begins 

fueling."  So here we have an unambiguous statement, 

and it's made even clearer in parallel communications, 

that this is a specific threat of a specific action to 

be filed at the United Nations, and it's not even 

against the State of Colorado.  The United States has 

ultimate responsibility there, and the United States 

is the proper defendant in an action made at the 

United Nations.  So it would be the United States.  

That, I argue, is the plain meaning of the email from 

its face.  It references the work at the UN.  It 

specifically calls attention to the way in which CODHS 

makes things out of thin air by saying, per the 



37 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

clearly perjurious false reporting, as previously 

detailed, and we've gone into length about that.  And 

then you have Ms. Joseph's testimony that it's 

obviously just facial nonsense I was at the UN.   

And that refers to a previous time that this had 

occurred that I was actually able to successfully 

resolve, as shown to the Court.  I'm not thinking the 

Court seeing the makings of a threat in an ongoing 

dispute when this is the litigation history is one of 

the points I'm making, if that makes sense, and if 

that's a kosher point to make.  

THE COURT:  I will defer to you as you're presenting 

your case. 

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  So what we've got then, as we 

look close to this message, is that -- oh, I had been 

communicating with them that I was prepared to 

initiate strike operations for the Cat back then, 

because I kept getting promised we'd have filing soon, 

and they're kept being not happening.  But basically, 

there is literally nothing in this message that makes 

any sense as a bomb threat.  It's added to the 

president of the United States.  It's added directly 

to the Department of Justice and the Department of 

Homeland Security.  The feds are not unaware of this.  

I didn't add the actual agencies.  I added their 
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departments.   

But I was indicating to state that if they're pushing 

me to draft this, it might be part of their case-in-

chief they're developing.  I don't know.  But if 

they're pushing me to draft this, I sure hope they 

know what they're doing.  But there's nothing remotely 

resembling a bomb threat in here.  This is me saying 

clearly the state construes being told on to 

superlative jurisdiction as a bomb threat this time's 

the UN.  I just don't see Petitioner's argument that's 

a bomb threat on its face.   

I think that prepares me to move on to the next one.  

Although let me cover a few more details.  The 

convention against torture is a different treaty 

mechanism than ICCPR.  The Court is looking at a court 

order from a court of competent jurisdiction, to wit, 

the trial court, overturning a case on plea on second 

subsequent 15 years later.  That is prima facie of me 

successfully enforcing the International Covenant on 

Civil and Political Rights upon the United States, 

despite the fact that you can't make that argument as 

a legal argument in a courtroom if the Court 

understands this was done practically, but it worked.  

That takes me through 4.  And I think the Court can 

see that basically what the Department is faced with 
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is a threat to do that again.   

Let me now go back to my notes here real quick.  With 

respect to Exhibit C, which -- let me pull up my list 

so I can get their reference for it.  With respect to 

Exhibit C, email "gun ready" Jay Hemphill, I have a 

procedural question on this.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  The written petition attempted to 

introduce evidence from who Jay Hemphill is that was 

not then admitted by Petitioner's case-in-chief.  I'm 

not sure the trial statutes of rebutting that.  Is it 

before the Court, the original belief in information 

statement on Jay Hemphill, or because it was nowhere 

came in during the case-in-chief other than Ms. Joseph 

testified she didn't know who he was.  Is that not 

before the Court?  If like the withdrawal of counsel, 

it's an issue I can hit if I need to.  

THE COURT:  That is all I know about Mr. Hemphill at 

this time.  That's all that's been presented.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Is that statement in the petition 

before the Court, even though it wasn't brought in at 

trial?  

THE COURT:  Well, it's part of the -- let me -- I'm 

pulling up the Hemphill one is Exhibit 1, just for the 

record.  And it is now part of the Court record, and 
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it is an exhibit that the Court will consider.  But in 

answer to your question, I don't have any information 

about the identity of Jay Hemphill.  I know that 

Director Joseph testified she didn't know who that 

was.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  An argument is made in the petition 

that that's clearly a threat because of an incident 

that Mr. Hemphill was involved in that had nothing to 

do with me.  So I would care to rebut that if the 

Court will hear it as relevant.  

THE COURT:  I think you should rebut it.  And I don't 

have the petition -- yeah, sure I do.  It's right 

here.  Let me read something.  

MS. SHOMO:  It's 4(b).   

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  There's a (inaudible) --  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Jay (inaudible) -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- (inaudible) statement. 

THE COURT:  -- a reference, yep, to a Colorado state 

trooper who was arrested in 2021 for yelling and 

pointing his gun at a woman while he was driving.  

Yes, I do think you should respond, since it's part of 

the petition.  Thank you for asking.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Jay Hemphill was the lead Colorado 

State Patrol officer at the state capitol.  He sat 
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outside the governor's office.  For instance, when I 

did a hunger strike on the governor sitting on the 

couch outside the governor's office, Jay Hemphill was 

the person I worked with to determine terms for that 

protest.  Jay Hemphill directly reported to the 

governor and led the CSP at the state capitol.  Jay 

was familiar with me, and I was familiar with him in a 

professional sense, as an activist who regularly 

frequented the state capitol with interest in 

legislation and we had an excellent working 

relationship.   

In fact, Jay was familiar with my communication style.  

And when I said Jay Hemphill would approve, I 

apparently didn't realize Jay was not as well-known as 

I thought he was, but I guess none of these folks work 

at the capitol itself.  Also, he apparently lost an 

illustrious career.  Jay is a man I highly respect, 

and I don't know what happened with that incident.  He 

apparently lost an illustrious career in approximately 

August of 2019, when he very uncharacteristically drew 

a weapon on a passing vehicle.   

I've dealt with Jay.  I've known Jay.  He's a cool-

headed cop.  I have no idea what happened there, but 

that's utterly irrelevant.  My reference is to my long 

history of legislative activities, with which I worked 
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with Jay Hemphill about what the rules were.  As the 

Court is aware, the steps of the capitol are sacred 

for First Amendment grounds, but inside the building 

there are rules.  Jay is the person with whom I worked 

on all of these issues.  So I -- the Petitioners, 

offered nothing other than trying to Google something 

and wave at it.   

That's the actual history there.  That's the relevant 

piece.  Petitioner's belief in information statement, 

I don't see the relevance of.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  From there I would actually like to 

jump to Exhibit B before we continue addressing 

Exhibit C, which is the 4(c) communication.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  This is the only message among those that 

have been entered (inaudible) any evidence that 

contains a statement that indicates it was expressly 

authorized by the United States Secret Service.  7 

through 10.  Let me pull it up.  So the first facts is 

very simple.  Ms. Shomo has a gun message authorized 

by United States Secret Service.  Now, I was worried 

they'd play the context game.  Not that they would 

perceive an actual threat, but that they would 

willfully play the context game -- so my meeting 
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disappeared again.  I'm still in it.  Okay.  Teams is 

annoying.   

I was concerned that they would play the context game.  

So I asked for an additional authorized statement with 

a definition that wasn't sourced from me, and I 

sourced it from ChatGPT.  I've heard that framing.  My 

ex-roommate, who now lives across the street, gave me 

that framing -- that phrasing, I'd give you a gun.  

That phrasing was given to me by several people I've 

known for years, and a couple of people I had recently 

met, all in a short period of time.  That was shortly 

after an offer I had made to the feds, which consisted 

of several parts.   

One part was, I can give you a complete report on 

enemy cover methodologies.  The second report was, you 

know, I was really trying to talk about the asbestos, 

but every time I talk about anything that sounds 

crazy, somebody quotes me out of context and tries to 

find a novel technique to get me sent to a mental 

hospital while engaging in blood libel.  This is 

pretty much what the Department of Human Services 

always does.  And as a result of that, I think what 

happened is the feds were pretty annoyed that that was 

how this all ended up.   

When I -- and I could take you through 2018 in a 
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moment, but basically, between other conduct, which is 

not conduct of the State of Colorado that I've been 

working with the feds on, and Colorado's conduct in 

2018, which I could take the Court through, that they 

had decided to go ahead and give me a role.  Now, 

among this cluster of persons locally, the original 

landlord when I was moving in right after the case in 

2018, where I had filed up in Larimer, reminding the 

public into the record that I had offered to the feds, 

get me out of this situation, put me in a hotel, I 

don't care.  Just get me off the field, and you don't 

have a problem.  I need the rape to stop.   

And when I was finally released in 2019, I overheard a 

conversation.  Some people talking about how the rent 

was cheap, and the conversation began, yeah, but how 

will we get her to move in.  And I had understood the 

conversation was intended for me to overhear.  I may 

have been wrong or not.  It was awful fortuitous.  It 

was a place I could afford at the time.  I was on 

SSDI.  So I moved in.  As I signed the papers to move 

in, when I was told I was officially a tenant, the man 

I inked the papers with Joe of Joe and Barb, the 

property manager, identified himself as a United 

States Marshal explicitly.  He's no longer the 

property manager here, but the new property manager D 
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has identified himself as Federal Bureau of 

Investigation and has made inquiries into blackmail 

during part of the report I gave.   

I gave the feds consent to listen on my devices so I 

could just tell them inside.  Now, I think the Court 

will note from my UN work, I'm a notable feisty civil 

libertarian, so why would I give the feds blanket 

consent?  Well, because this appears to be the sort of 

really screwed up matter where I need the backing of 

the United States.  So I was giving my report to those 

meetings, and I was receiving feedback on that report 

as I gave it from the people outside who were clearly 

replying.  I received an express identification from a 

lady who delivered the DoorDash as FBI.   

Approximately a day after or very close to when I had 

told the story of the first FBI agent I spoke to 

showing up when I had a DoorDash, expected us and was 

sort of -- you know, I don't know what if you realize 

what it's like when you've been in a crap situation 

for a decade and the feds finally show up.  But it was 

a combination of gratitude and giving them shit -- I'm 

sorry, Court language -- and giving them crap for how 

long it took.  Was that appropriate, Judge?  I tried 

to admit.  

THE COURT:  I appreciate the apology.  
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MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So the first express authorized 

message by the Secret Service, I was very nervous 

about it.  There are earlier messages purporting 

authorization by the FBI.  And when I say purporting, 

what I mean is, I was expressly told that they were 

authorized.  This last message -- when I switched to 

Secret Service Authority, they had offered it a few 

times, and I was afraid to take them up on it because 

the Secret Service is actually a bit intimidating to 

me.   

But I ultimately did take them up on it after the 

DoorDash driver identified as FBI, because it 

confirmed to me that they were receiving my report.  

They went with a very light touch.  Childhood issues 

are involved.  I don't know how the feds work that, 

but I've had the sense that's what they've been up to.  

The very next DoorDash driver after that said, you 

followed the instructions.  You're good.  He did not 

identify.  But I later saw the same man at an arson 

approximately two blocks away and recognized him.  And 

I smiled because I figured, whatever the hell's going 

on here, feds are up.   

It's -- but I hope that's still appropriate, because 

it's just, you know, my stream of consciousness reply.  

I have, in all of these statements that have purported 
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authorization, added the Secret Service or FBI, 

whoever the authorizing party is on Facebook.  They 

have received them.  I have received feedback that I 

have been comporting with the investigation.  I have 

received no feedback that I have not been comporting 

with the investigation or that I've been misled.   

I have offered, if these are not real feds and I'm 

being misled, show me somebody whose ID I can 

positively trust and tell me that's going on and that 

handles that.  So to the best of my understanding, the 

one message Petitioner objects to that is -- that says 

it's authorized on there is, in fact, authorized 

expressly.  I'm not a federal agent.  My understanding 

is I'm a federal victim and likely to be a federal 

witness.  And I don't think the people I'm going to be 

testifying against are with the State of Colorado to 

be perfectly blunt, Judge, but I don't know.   

The Court has ruled a number of things irrelevant that 

would substantiate what I think the feds are up to.  

But at this time, before we go back to the "I have a 

gun" message, I filed a motion to admit a video I was 

given.  And the history on this video is that I had 

written the U.S. Attorney's office.  I wasn't sure 

exactly how to subpoena feds.  So I had written the 

U.S. Attorney's office and said they're challenging 
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the gun.  The state obviously doesn't believe me.  Can 

you throw me a bone?  Can you help me out here?  It's 

your gun?   

And what I ended up getting was a video recorded with 

a neighbor I've been working with himself hasn't IDed, 

but he's been working directly with the whole cluster 

of people around here, many of whom have.  He's been 

unambiguously working the case.  He's asked specific 

questions over specific subject areas and his level of 

comprehension of the world as we've spoken has varied.  

Sometimes he's got a very simple conspiracy theory 

understanding, and sometimes he has a sophisticated 

understanding of how, one might say, litigate at the 

UN.   

So while I don't have an express identification, I 

would like to introduce this video as part of a 

circumstantial case.  And I'd like to point out on 

Exhibit B, the Court found a circumstantial case from 

the cluster of facts, numbers, et cetera, that the 

message had been received by the Department, and I do 

have authentication on that.  But by analogy here, I 

would like to present a circumstantial case that the 

feds are on the board by providing the reply I got 

when I said, can you throw me a bone and back me up 

here?   
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THE COURT:  What (inaudible) -- 

MS. SHOMO:  It's --  

THE COURT:  -- is -- what is it for?  You don't have 

the identity of this person; is that correct?  

MS. SHOMO:  I have his address.  I have his first 

name.  I don't know his last name off the top of my 

head.  He's literally my next-door neighbor.  

THE COURT:  And when did you receive this?  

MS. SHOMO:  This actually occurred.  He had indicated 

to me as we've gone through various subjects, and this 

was sort of novel, that he had a problem with a 

hacking attack on his computer he wondered if I could 

help with.  And we prepared to catch the hacker.  And 

then, while we were waiting for the hacker, a domestic 

violence incident occurred outside.  And I was able to 

get Walmart-quality footage of the domestic violence 

incident.  If they can identify the participants, it's 

a conviction.  As well as simultaneously solve the 

hacking attack.   

And this is one of the various things that has been 

happening with the folks around my place.  And it goes 

to show that I believe this is the feds tipping their 

hand about their investigation.  It's a nine-minute 

video which shows solving two cases simultaneously by 

tracing them to a point, we need to identify whoever 
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the suspect is.  

THE COURT:  I'm not seeing sufficient relevance to 

allow admission of that video.  So I will deny 

admission of that based on the record you just 

presented.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, can I ask to revisit that when I 

supply a little bit more evidence and see if the Court 

will take it?  

THE COURT:  You know, at this point, I'm not hearing 

the relevance, so I can't make an advisory ruling 

about what I would do in the future, but I'm just not 

seeing it -- I'm not seeing the connection or the 

relevance sufficient -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I'm arguing without expressly announcing 

the investigation, which DOJ will only do on the day 

the grand jury returns.  It is substantiation that an 

investigation is occurring and of the position that 

I'm in.  

THE COURT:  I think given the record made, I will 

stand by my ruling and not admit it at this juncture.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Can I ask -- and I'm respecting 

that ruling.  I'm asking if I can ask the Court again 

after I introduce a few more pieces of evidence that 

might be supportive of that as well?  

THE COURT:  And you could certainly ask again.  I -- 
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MS. SHOMO:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  -- will kind of cross each bridge as we 

get to it.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Then next I would like to go ahead 

and point out that the clarified definition of gun, 

quote unquote, "you've got the gun" followed the "I'd 

give you a gun".  One of the people who said this was 

a friend of mine from Greensboro; it was via Facebook.  

So I don't know if it was actually him or the feds 

impersonating him.  It's very easy to appear to be a 

friend on Facebook, and since it's not face-to-face, 

you don't know who the third-party is.  But it was in 

the chat with this friend was one of the people who 

said, I'd give you a gun, that I had been with since 

Greensboro, which was not long after my work at the UN 

when I tried to open this investigation.   

At the United Nations, I spoke with an undersecretary, 

an Obama appointee.  I call her undersecretary.  She 

was the deputy secretary for Health and Human Services 

of the United States at that time.  And I provided her 

the materials for what CODHS had done, essentially 

covering up a child sexual assault and coercing a plea 

to get it done, and she provided those to HHS's Office 

of the Inspector General.  So that is me directly via 

my work at the UN efforting to initiate a federal 
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investigation.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  Back to Exhibit B.  I'm sorry.  My 

screen -- how did I end up in AW?  Lastly, with 

respect to Exhibit B, I-B-I-T-S-A Rupee.  Sorry, I'm 

just re-pulling the exhibit.  I would like to point 

out that this understanding came from ChatGPT in 

response to this question what does it mean when the 

fed say, I'd give you her a gun and then later say 

you've got the gun.  Is that certainly it was 

presented to me by third parties.  This is not 

idiosyncratic.   

And ChatGPT seemed to confirm this is a valid 

interpretation.  That suggests that the investigation 

had decided to go ahead and take me up on my offer to 

them to let them know they were coming.  When I 

started my report, I made an offer to say, you know, 

I'd be happy to let them know you're coming if you 

want.  And that's when this discussion of the gun came 

up.  During the course of the situation, I've 

discussed multiple drug conspiracies I'm a direct 

witness to.   

I've discussed child pornography possession I'm a 

direct witness to.  I've discussed the asbestos hit on 

myself.  I discussed my mother's hearsay that my 
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father had low-level involvement with the Mafia 

through an individual named Greg Scardino (phonetic), 

who currently hails from Cincinnati, Ohio, originally 

of Chicago, Illinois.  I have connected Mr. Scardino 

to the rape phenomena in 2018 through a reaction, and 

I have gotten multiple reactions from my father.  His 

was -- Scardino's was textual.  From my father, they 

were only emojis.   

But I have gotten multiple reactions from my father 

consistent with the truthfulness of an affidavit I 

swore out under penalty of perjury in 2018 on the 

sexual assault.  It is my contention that in 2018, the 

sexual assault phenomena I reported was in fact real.  

The feds are aware of that.  And that's how I got the 

gun.  And we can --  

THE COURT:  What?   

THE CLERK:  (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Oh, we're going to switch clerks.  Just a 

two-minute -- just a moment, please, and thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, this is a little -- 

(Pause) 

THE COURT:  We're at an hour with your testimony, just 

to kind of give you an estimate.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Are we still waiting for the clerk 

switch, or --  
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THE COURT:  Yep.  It has to happen through the system.  

So they're both standing behind me right now.  Thank 

you.  Yeah, take five minutes if you want, but how 

much more do you anticipate, Ms. Shomo, of your direct 

examination?  

MS. SHOMO:  I intend to reply to both of those -- the 

other Petitioner exhibits, take the Court through a 

bit of the backstory, which is what I believe the feds 

are on the field for, and then I intend to re-ask to 

introduce that video to establish that the feds are on 

the field working many issues, as for what I've got.  

But I will wait until I've introduced the intermeeting 

[sic] -- intervening evidence.  And that's what --  

THE COURT:  If you had to make a time estimation for 

purposes of the Court and scheduling with the folks 

with me, what are you anticipating as far as 

additional time?  

MS. SHOMO:  The Court gave me two hours.  I might end 

up using it, but I'll be done on time.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay.  So you -- yeah.  So you're 

estimating another hour?  Does that sound about right?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes, ma'am.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Let's take five, and 

we'll come back at 3:10.  Thank you. 

(WHEREUPON, the court recessed at 3:00 p.m.) 
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THE COURT:  Okay.  If everybody, when you do return, 

just let me know.  I see Ms. Shomo's back.  Ms. Pogue 

is here, Director Joseph.  I guess that's all the 

people we need.   

All right.  Ms. Shomo, I will defer to you.  You are 

in the pretty much half point of your direct 

examination, so thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  Next, I would like to touch 

on -- and I would like to request we did not cover 

this in admissions.  We covered Petitioner's side.  My 

side is identical.  But I believe it's Exhibit C next.  

Let me get to my exhibit list here.  Exhibits A 

through P.  Okay.  So we just discussed Exhibit C.  I 

would like to ask the Court to admit my Exhibit C.  

Per the transcript, the Court had only admitted 

Petitioner's parallel exhibit.  They will be the same 

on that.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And I haven't done my cross-check 

yet, but I had this in -- all right.  So C is the 

parallel to which one?  Hang on a second.  Pull 

(inaudible) -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Let me get my charts.  My system will only 

open one file at a time.  E-X-H-I-B-I-T.   

THE COURT:  Oh, 1.  I have it, Ms. Shomo.  It's 1.  I 

assume you don't have --  
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MS. SHOMO:  I have (inaudible) A, which I believe 

would be there, there number 1.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So I assume no objection to 

admission of C; is that correct?  

MS. POGUE:  No.  No objection, Judge.  Thank you.  

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit 1 was admitted.) 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

Ms. Shomo, you may continue.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So now we've established my 

contention that "This is a bomb threat" was a direct 

reply to Ms. Clawson's actions shortly prior.  And we 

have Ms. Clawson's testimony that I was, in fact, 

calling her out as a member of the bar engaged in 

these activities.  As the Court will recall, Ms. 

Clawson admits that I had sent an email criticizing 

the Department for false charting.  And as this Court 

will have found in evidence from the previous trial 

day, that actual content had not been sent from me.  

It had been fabricated by the Department by my 

contention.   

That content, however, I believe, was unambiguously 

reported to have been sourced by me.  I would like to 

now introduce into evidence what became of that prior 

communication.  This is not the false reporting 

report.  This is Petitioner's police report.  It is 
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Exhibit G, pages 22 to 32 in the original reply 

exhibit.  And the reason for admission is specifically 

to call attention to the report that was generated.  I 

am -- it's not hearsay.  And that I'm not -- and I'm 

certainly not claiming it's factual.  I simply want to 

claim that this report was generated as a result of 

Ms. Clausen's action.  I believe the Court would find 

that admissible.  

THE COURT:  Which one could you tell me?  H?  Which 

one is it again?  I'm sorry.  

MS. SHOMO:  Exhibit G.  

THE COURT:  E? 

MS. SHOMO:  G as in golf.  

THE COURT:  G.  G.  All right.   

Any objection from Ms. Pogue? 

MS. POGUE:  And I'm sorry -- 

THE COURT:  Pogue, excuse me. 

MS. POGUE:  I can't see it.  What is the -- what -- 

THE COURT:  G. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- is that one again?  

THE COURT:  Yeah, G is the police -- this is the 

police report.  This was -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Generated by the welfare check.  

MS. POGUE:  That's right.   

MS. SHOMO:  Yes. 
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MS. POGUE:  Judge, no objection.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  It will be admitted.  Thank you.  

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit G was admitted.) 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Then let me read the police report 

into the record here real quick.  Quote, "I contacted 

the reporting party", redacted, "that was addressed by 

Mr. Wade's testimony by phone, and she stated the 

following".  Blank "had received an email at 

approximately 2200 hours the previous night on 6/03/25 

from a client, Aubrey Shomo", date of birth, 

"containing alarming content."  Blank "advised the 

email had talked about the rape of children, how she 

may die within the next ten years, and the death of 

Jews, along with other topics.  I asked" blank "if the 

email specifically mentioned anyone or made specific 

threats, and she advised it did not and was more of a 

general threat based on its content."   

So there's a police report claiming I'm talking about 

the death of Jews.  And as we established via the 

audio in the previous proceeding -- and Judge, I don't 

think we formally admitted the audio.  We did play it 

into the record.  Can I ask that we admit that audio?  

I can get you an exhibit number.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Yeah, we definitely played it into 

the record.  
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MS. SHOMO:  It's not in the -- 

THE COURT:  Did it have --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- transcript.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Did it have a designation?  An 

exhibit designation yet on that? 

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  Let me get that for you.  Okay.  So 

that's going to be impeachment exhibits, part one, 

part three.  That's not audio, video.  Oh.  Video 

exhibits.  Exhibit -- I believe that was Exhibit Z.  

Let me double check.  I'm just opening it real quick.  

THE COURT:  Z.  Q, R, S, T.  I'm not sure -- yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  I believe it was Exhibit Z, which was the 

video that was played.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Any objection to Exhibit Z?  

MS. POGUE:  No objection.  

THE COURT:  All right, Z is admitted.  Thank you.  

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit Z was admitted.) 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So what we have in this history 

is -- and I believe in her testimony, Ms. Clawson says 

that I was accusing her in that email of an 

antisemitic smear job.  And actually, I didn't know 

Ms. Clawson's name at that point.  I was accusing the 

Department of an antisemitic smear job, and I continue 

with that assertion.  This police report has no other 

purpose.  This is the Department attempting to 
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establish a record favorable to the Department that is 

literally fabricated.   

The way it's construed by the Department -- and this 

is a lawyer -- the way it's construed by the 

Department "the rape of children", I'm referring to a 

sexual assault of myself in evidence.  Therefore, 

killing Jews in her direct report to the police was 

not that the email was about killing Jews, it was 

about me killing Jews, praise Hitler.  This became a 

police report created by the Department under 

circumstances the Court has ruled into the record I 

successfully impeached.   

It is this series of actions I was responding to, and 

in fact, had been encouraged to respond to on the 

grounds that this is the sort of thing the Department 

always and invariably pulls.  So right -- before we 

get on to that, which will introduce the political 

speech component of the final message, I would like to 

go to the other attachments to Exhibit 4.  And that 

was -- we've introduced Q now.   

Let me bring up Q, R, and S.  We also did already 

introduce H, I, and R, and S, the Mark Ivendick letter 

and the cart minutes in the, quote unquote, "bomb 

threat" message referred to pieces of legislation I 

successfully killed out of under the Department in 
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2014, before the general assembly of the State of 

Colorado, to wit, House Bill 14-1253, which was a bill 

to take the right to jury trial away in a civil 

commitment proceeding, as well as House Bill 14-1386, 

which was a follow up of that in an effort to change 

the definitions of gravely disabled to make exactly 

what the Department is attempting with this proceeding 

easier.   

And because the Department can't go for either of 

those, they've decided to go for threats.  And that is 

what is happening in this proceeding.  That is my 

defense.  That is establishment that I was extremely 

well known to the Department, including these 

activities.  To that end I would like to just briefly 

look at S.  Exhibit S, which the Court has admitted is 

a letter from Mark Ivendick criticizing the Department 

for misrepresenting Mark Ivendick is a staff lawyer at 

the Colorado -- the legal center for people with 

disabilities and older people in the State of Colorado 

who was one of the persons on the state's task force 

for those bills.  And in that email, he criticizes the 

Department for misrepresenting the buy-in to that 

legislation.  

THE COURT:  Can you spell that name for me?  I just 

hadn't put my hand on the -- that name again.  Please 
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spell that.  I mean, I'll put my hand on the exhibit 

as well.  

MS. SHOMO:  Sure thing.  I-V-A-N-D-I-C-K.  

THE COURT:  I-V-A-N-D-I-C-K.  Who had you testified 

criticized the Department? 

MS. SHOMO:  That is correct.  And in fact, this -- 

this email, which was attached, established that he 

was criticizing the Department, quote, "the bill's 

title and summary may lead someone to believe that all 

of the amendments to CRS 27-65 were recommended by the 

2013 Civil Commitment Statute Review Task Force.  This 

issue also applies to the wording on the final fact 

sheet.  The legal center was a member of the task 

force and followed -- and the following amendments to 

CRS 20-65 (sic) were never approved or recommended by 

the task force: the deletion of 'imminent' from CRS 

27-65-105, and 106.   

"It is believed that 'imminent' reflects a higher 

standard to impose an emergency hold, because there is 

no judicial oversight of this immediate curtailment of 

civil liberties.  Point B: the deletion of the right 

to a jury trial from CRS 27-65-107, 109, and 111, and 

127, the right to a jury trial should only be 

withdrawn for compelling governmental interest, and 

procedural alignment of the mental health 
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certification and substance use commitment statutes 

does not state a compelling interest."   

So that is a piece of criticism of those bills that 

was brought by the wider community.  Now, what the 

politicians had done, including the Department, is 

tell everyone those bills were defeated by the gun 

lobby.  Now, that's a political dispute well outside 

this hearing, but I have a hard time believing the 

Department has forgotten me.  And I have a hard time 

believing Ms. Leora Joseph didn't know any of these 

things.  But what happened in 2018 took me off the 

board so hard, maybe it did.  In either event, I was 

working to end this legislation.   

And then if the Court will look to Exhibit R, cart 

minutes.  This is a meeting of cart, which used to be 

called the Mighty Seven.  I don't know.  I hope I 

didn't get them dismantled by being legislatively 

effective.  There was serious retaliation by the 

Department for this legislative success.  But this is 

a unanimous vote of eight leaders, including a 

representative who's a family member from NAMI and a 

number of consumer survivor stakeholders.  This vote 

unanimously supports not only my efforts to kill the 

bills but also reaching out to the gun lobby because 

they are a strange bedfellow who also didn't like the 
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bills.   

I believe that I was heavily resented by the 

Department and the then-current political leadership 

as a result of that.  And I believe that may inform 

the proceeding here today, because the Department may 

intend to proffer additional bills at the coming 

general assembly session, and I've become uppity 

again.  And I think that's really what that's aimed to 

prevent.  But let me go on with my case.   

So what the Court could see here is that at least as 

of a few years ago, before what I'm about to cover 

next, which is the basis for the federal 

investigation, I was very well known to the Department 

as an adversary.  And the Court will have to consider 

whether she considers Leora Joseph's contention that 

she had no idea about those things to be credible.  I 

have a hard time with it, but that is the Court's 

call.  I -- I know that the 14-1253 was proffered by 

Rep. McCann.  I realized she was a DA in this 

District.  She's not in this case.   

I was actually hoping McCann could be reformed to be a 

major supporter of my people's civil rights.  I don't 

know what ended up happening there.  She's no longer 

in the general assembly.  But I was hoping to actually 

achieve some ground and get people like Petitioner Ms. 



65 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Joseph to stop engaging in blood libel to try and gain 

forceful control of people.  Only this was in the 

context of sexual assault.  So for my next exhibit, 

this was introduced by Ms. Clawson during her 

testimony.  And it is marked Alpha Papa.  This is the 

Exhibit I said to the Court I would admit, but could 

not then find; it is now in the possession of the 

clerk.  Can I ask that it be brought up?  

THE COURT:  Yes.   

Mr. Nicholson, do you have AP?  That one I've got -- 

let's see if you can find -- oh, here.  And if not, 

I've got a hard copy.  So this -- and if you don't, I 

can give this to you.  We can -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  And if the Court would let me -- 

THE COURT:  Yep. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- know when I'm good to go ahead with 

that evidence.  

THE COURT:  Well, hopefully, we'll be able to get it 

on screen.  I have a hard copy in front of me, but.  

This is the one -- this is the email and let me know, 

otherwise, I can scan it.  Okay.   

THE CLERK:  (Inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  I took them all apart.  Oh, it was sent on 

December 17th at 3:58 p.m.  I don't mind -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Alpha Papa should actually have just been 
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sent. 

THE COURT:  Oh, you're right, September 14th actually. 

MS. SHOMO:  I may be looking at the wrong one.  Let 

me -- no, Alpha Papa maybe -- I may be -- 

THE COURT:  What I have --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- Alpha Papa -- 

THE COURT:  (Inaudible) Ms. Shomo? 

MS. SHOMO:  -- 256.  

THE COURT:  Oh, I apologize.  It starts out an unsub 

who, per the State of Colorado, is necessarily the 

United States, tried to kill me in a house fire 

yesterday.  Is that -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  -- the one? 

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible).  Is that one we admitted 

earlier in this proceeding that was on my business 

list?  Actually, I'm looking for a different one.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  I think the one that I'm looking for, 

Judge, did we admit Alpha Papa?  I believe we did.  

THE COURT:  We did.  

MS. SHOMO:  We did?  Okay.   

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  Then the one I'm looking for is actually 

labeled Alpha Whiskey will have just come in.  But 
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this is one that was brought in by Ms. Clawson in her 

testimony.  And if the Court will note Alpha Whiskey 

is basically Alpha Papa with one document at the top.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  I don't have Alpha Whiskey.  When 

was that sent over?  

MS. SHOMO:  I was just able to locate it, and it was 

sent 1:18 p.m. today.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, why -- what makes that 

different than the other exhibit?  And the reason I 

ask is I do want to be true to my original comments 

that we weren't going to have more exhibits.  

MS. SHOMO:  Well -- 

THE COURT:  So -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- this is directly responsive.  This is 

one that I had already discussed getting in.  So let 

me find the section there.  It was in Clawson, let my 

death have meaning, 2068.  Let me pull the transcript 

real quick.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue, your position on admission of 

AW, which would apparently, if I'm understanding 

correctly, it's essentially A dash P only with one 

additional notation.   

Ms. Shomo, did I summarize that correctly?  

MS. SHOMO:  That's correct.  And I do have the let my 

court have meaning -- let my death have meaning being 
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discussed by the witness.  And I do have me telling 

the Court and judge I will present one in my own 

testimony that has shown that it was communicated, 

because I was unable to locate it during the 

proceeding.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  And I found it going through the 

transcripts and was able to bring it in.  So I would 

like to admit it.  It was raised by Petitioner.  

THE COURT:  Do you have that? 

MS. POGUE:  No objection, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Thank you, Ms. Pogue.  It will be 

admitted.   

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit AW was 

admitted.) 

THE COURT:  Do you see that?  Is it (inaudible)? 

THE CLERK:  (Inaudible).   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  So we see it.  

It's been admitted.  So now we can go ahead, and Mr. 

Nicholson will bring that up on the screen.   

Thank you, Mr. Nicholson.  

MS. SHOMO:  And I'm just waiting for that to pop up.  

THE COURT:  And yeah, it's -- I hear the sound of the 

copier.  Would it be helpful?  If you want to start 

testifying, you can refer to Alpha Papa, and then 
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we'll compare it if it's only got a slight difference 

in it.  Is that possible?  Do you need to see that 

(inaudible)? 

MS. SHOMO:  What I would like to do is call attention 

to the -- the actual text that is in Alpha Whiskey.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  This is the one that read, "Let my death 

parenthesis still perhaps ten years off close 

parenthesis have meaning."  I believe it was the 

Department's petition that this made me likely to be a 

shooter.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let's do this.  Ms. Pogue, did you 

get a copy I assume when Ms. Shomo sent it over this 

afternoon at 1:38? 

MS. POGUE:  I did, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So you've got it.  And Mr. 

Nicholson just -- oh, there it goes.  There it is.  

MS. SHOMO:  Can -- can we blow up the black section on 

the screen?  

THE COURT:  Can we what?  

MS. SHOMO:  Make the black section on the screen 

bigger?  I did say blow up -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- that was not a bomb threat, Judge.  

THE COURT:  No, no, I understand that.  I understood 
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the vernacular.  Okay.  We've got it.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So this is an email that was sent 

September 10th, 2014, concerning a hunger strike that 

I was doing on the office of the governor, as I 

introduced through Jay Hemphill.  Thank you 

Petitioner.  The subject is, "Where this issue stands 

with the State of Colorado."  And let me -- I'm going 

to just blow it up big on my screen so I could read it 

a little bit better.  This lays out seven points. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  And I'd like to call attention to a few 

points for the Court.  One, "Where are you at with 

respect to the prospect of genuinely figuring out 

where policy keeps leading to these same abuses, turn 

by turn, again and again?  I believe a study of the 

question so as to understand the problem with good 

science is in order.  But the problem is that everyone 

is always hush hush with abuses, meaning the light of 

day and modern understanding can't be brought to bear.  

This issue is of paramount importance, where the State 

makes active use of its sacred and sovereign 

responsibility of guardian of the use of force for the 

public good.  You need consumers finding the abuse is 

reported and good, reliable methods to find the 

commonalities in these abuses and develop policy so 
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you don't destroy lives.  If you want to use force on 

a people on the basis of heritable disability, you owe 

that much and more."  That was point one of my hunger 

strike demands.   

Point three of my hunger strike demands:  "When a 

system -- when a systematic violation of the courts is 

found, you have a duty to review the other cases that 

might be impacted."  Now the Court is looking at my 

relief order.  "This isn't just about my remedy.  

Where are you at on that?  Both the need of a remedy 

for all those impacted and the need for justice for 

those impacted requires a genuine criminal 

investigation.  Even if there's no way to prosecute."  

I was asking for post-conviction reviews on the 

pattern, Judge.  That didn't ever happen.   

And then I said in point four, "What about getting a 

criminal investigation underway?  Why don't you bring 

in the Department of Justice if you're not prepared to 

address these issues at the State level?"  And the 

Court could see all of that in evidence.  And at the 

bottom, the Court will read these in bold:  "These are 

the issues I am prepared to hunger strike over.  You 

know I can and will if I am required to.  You know 

these are issues of justice.  Do you want to make 

peace, or shall I meet you at but not within 500 feet 
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of the polls?"  Is the Court tracking all of that so 

far?  

THE COURT:  Yes.  

MS. SHOMO:  That goes down to the bottom, Mr. Nichols.   

And you can see "hunger strike" highlighted there.  

That's a search result.  But yes, it is in the 

original image.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  So this is the issue that I've been 

raising.  And I would like to next take the Court to 

the next piece of progress I obtain on this, because I 

made good on my hunger strike threat.  And I hunger 

strike for ten days on the office of the governor.  

And the office of the governor brought in the office 

of Colorado's Child Protection Ombudsman.  So to that 

end, I would like to introduce exhibits.  Exhibit -- I 

think it's in H.  It'll be adjacent to what we've 

already exhibited introduced in H.  Let me get the 

exact page number real quick.  H 33 to 45.  33.  Okay. 

So in Exhibit H, we have already admitted from Exhibit 

H page 10, page 1, page 2, page 3, page 4, page 5, 

page 6, 7, 8, 9.  I would like to introduce all of 

Exhibit H at this time and then testify to the matter.  

This concerns my previous dealings with the Department 

on this, including dealing with Dr. Patrick Fox, who I 
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believe had something close to Ms. Joseph's role.  He 

was the deputy director of clinical services for the 

State Department of Human Services.  He resigned in 

April 2018, which, incidentally, is when the current 

dispute began.  And I am actually still in very 

cordial communication with Dr. Patrick Fox.  

THE COURT:  I believe Exhibit H is 11 pages.  Ms. 

Pogue, any objection to Exhibit H?  

MS. POGUE:  No, Judge.  

THE COURT:  All right.  It shall be admitted.  

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit H was admitted.) 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  And so there the Court could see 

communications with Dr. Fox while he was in his 

official capacity preceding Ms. Joseph.  I don't know 

if the role is identical.  Ms. Joseph is an attorney.  

Mr. Patrick Fox is a forensic psychiatrist.  But the 

Court will see that I've communicated with him about 

DORA's handling of this year complaint and other 

matters up into the present year while the Department 

has been afraid I'm going to take some retaliatory 

action.  This is Joseph's predecessor several times 

over with whom I am communicating.   

And pertinently, I would call the Court's attention to 

the letters from Dennis Goodwin, who was then 

Colorado's Child Protection Ombudsman.  Is the Court 
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familiar with that office?  

THE COURT:  Very much so.  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Very well.  There, there.  Federal 

referrals from OCCPO in the record, ma'am.  Those 

referrals are on pages -- sorry, I have to keep 

switching files.  I'm very sorry.  E-X-H-I-B-I-T-S A 

through P, H 33.  So in the first, second, and third 

pages are Dr. Fox's -- and fourth are Dr. Fox's 

reactions to the hunger strike.  It includes the 

Department Patrick Fox at the time was authorized to 

speak for the Department, acknowledging the plea was 

coerced.  I thank Patrick Fox very much for his 

honesty.  And for the record, I am deeply sorry if it 

cost him his position with the state.  I have no 

thanks to Petitioner for any honesty whatsoever, but 

Patrick Fox, I have thanks for his honesty.  And he 

used to have that job.   

The referrals to the feds are after Patrick Fox, 

noting that he left the Department in April 2018, 

right when the cases against me began.  I have not 

gotten him to speak to anything other than the fact 

that it was about the same time in our close 

relationship.  I've asked him what happened with his 

departure.  I don't know if he resigned in protest or 

was fired, but I've indicated I don't believe he's a 
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target in the federal investigation as a result to his 

face.  We still talk.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

MS. SHOMO:  If the Court will see -- let me count 

pages.  So that's 33 is the cover 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 -- and 

the Court will note on page 5 of that exhibit, I 

believe will the Judge see a letter from the office of 

Gov. John Hickenlooper on letterhead?  

THE COURT:  Oh.  No.  Wait, I think I have one from 

Dennis Good. 

MS. SHOMO:  It might (inaudible) Exhibit H.   

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Let me go back.  I have -- 

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible) after that. 

THE COURT:  -- Patrick Fox.  I've got Patrick Fox 

communications.  Patrick Fox, Dennis Goodwin, Dennis 

Goodwin.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So right after Dennis Goodwin, 

there's a letter on letterhead from Hickenlooper, from 

his office.  It's actually via Office of Legal 

Counsel.  

THE COURT:  Office of Legal Counsel.  I go from 

Patrick Fox.  

MS. SHOMO:  It's the two Fox emails, and it's right 

after that.  State of Colorado at the top.  

THE COURT:  Mine says U.S. Department of Justice at 
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the top.   

Ms. Pogue, do you have something from -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, if you start from the beginning of 

Exhibit H -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- you will see -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- two emails from Patrick Fox.  Both of 

those take -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- two pages.  The very next -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- page.  

THE COURT:  Got it.  Thank you.  Thank you.  Yes, I -- 

MS. SHOMO:  (Inaudible)? 

THE COURT:  -- have it.  Got it.  

MS. SHOMO:  This substantiates my hunger strike on the 

Office of the Governor in my relationship with Mr. 

Hemphill.  And here is the Office of the Governor 

reporting that they had involved the Office of the 

Child Protection Ombudsman, signed by then present 

chief legal counsel to the Office of Colorado Governor 

John Hickenlooper, CC Patrick Fox and Dennis Goodwin.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

MS. SHOMO:  Is the Court following so far?  
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THE COURT:  Yep.  Got it.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  The next page is Patrick Fox, 

indicating that he had left the Department at a 

critical date without being willing to speak further 

to that departure.  And the email after that are Denis 

to both DOJ Civil Rights Division in D.C., as well as 

the FBI field office in Denver. 

THE COURT:  Yes.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So, so far, we have federal 

referrals by Deputy Secretary for Health and Human 

Services of the United States, Wanda Jones, as a 

result of my UN work.  And we have a federal referral 

by Dennis Goodwin, Colorado's then present Child 

Protection Ombudsman, both researching the 2001 case 

and the pattern I had alleged it showed of the 

Department's conduct.  As substantiation, there's a 

federal investigation.  I additionally, I will fully 

admit I pulled a little bit of a Smurf attack on the 

feds.  And what I mean by that is I asked a bunch of 

people from my synagogue to also make federal 

referrals and various other people in my social 

network.  So the feds got a lot of calls on this.  So 

that's what I've -- I'm substantiating so far.   

And lastly towards the end, right before Patrick Fox 

is still talking to me and commenting on his 
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disappointment in DORA for not doing anything 

meaningful about these issues, the Court will find in 

on Colorado Department of Human Services letterhead 

just before the LinkedIn -- the last page before the 

LinkedIn in Exhibit H.  Are you seeing that, Judge?  

THE COURT:  The last page before the LinkedIn -- 

MS. SHOMO:  In Exhibit H.  If you go to the -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- end, do you see there's LinkedIn 

printout that's like three pages just before that?  

THE COURT: It says --  

MS. SHOMO:  It's -- it's -- 

THE COURT:  It's this -- 

MS. SHOMO:  It's --  

THE COURT:  -- is it handwritten?  Handwritten? 

MS. SHOMO:  It's handwritten.  It says Colorado 

Department of Human Services at the top.  And it's 

one -- 

THE COURT:  Yep. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- note, 9/10/2001 Dan left message 

meeting with DA at 12.  Will call to give info on how 

it went. 

THE COURT:  Got it. 

MS. SHOMO:  Which directly connects the Colorado 

Department of Human Services to the Court overturned 
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coerced plea the day before 9/11.  And Dennis Goodwin, 

in his report, authenticates that note of Jessica 

Frye.  It is genuine.  Again, the relevance issue here 

is only to show that there is a federal investigation.   

Moving on.  That's what I wanted to show from AP, my 

UN work, my previous hunger strikes, the fact that I 

had made this a problem for the Department and the 

governor, and that I have a hard time believing that 

the Department has forgotten that these things 

occurred while it's engaging in its current 

proceeding.   

With that out of the way, let me get to my next point.  

That took care of AW.  We've already covered killing 

Jews.  Ms. Claussen says I accuse her -- I spoke to 

this -- of engaging in an antisemitic smear campaign.  

I only accused the Department on the basis of evidence 

before this Court, although I do accuse Ms. Claussen 

of having continued with that, and I take Ms. Joseph 

up on her taking responsibility for that as well.  I 

have said publicly, I believe the problem is the 

Department, not any specific individual, and that 

there are problems at the Department.  That's been the 

work I'm doing, and that is the work the Department 

wants to shut down and they know it.   

Moving on.  I would like to get us into the -- I have 
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a gun Jay Hemphill message, which we've already spoken 

to by noting one thing that wasn't clear from the 

Clausen cross-examination, and that is that 

immediately -- I had sent in when I was finally able, 

via Billy Wade, to get Ms. Clausen's name, and I had 

decided to call out Ms. Clausen individually for being 

an example of this conduct.  And again, I'm sorry, but 

I don't see the threat there unless you're 

stereotyping and making use of bigoted blood libel in 

order to paint a picture that isn't true on the basis 

of a socially acceptable stereotype of today's 

Jewpacabra boogeyman.   

And quoting South Park, I would argue to this Court 

that if you're repeating those lies, you're either 

stupid or a liar, and I don't know which.  I do not 

believe Ms. Clausen was genuinely afraid.  I believe 

she was serving the Department's interests.  And I 

believe so is Ms. Joseph.  And those interests are to 

prevent me from being allowed within 200 feet of a 

hearing where they've got legislation.  

Moving on.  Okay.  Attention in closing.  We did the 

hearsay.  At this time, before I move on from Exhibit 

B, I have an Exhibit AQ I would like to admit.  The 

Court found that there was circumstantial evidence 

that the second pages of AB had been received because 
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they were sent to the same numbers.  I actually have 

proof of delivery on that.  Opposing counsel has had 

time to determine whether they, in fact, received the 

message, and the proof of delivery shows that it was 

delivered to all but three fax addresses that it was 

sent to, and none of those three were the Department.  

So I have a delivery receipt on Exhibit B, and that 

authentication question had come up at the prior day, 

so AQ should resolve that.  

THE COURT:  I do recall that line of testimony.  And 

just so I'm clear, this is the -- this goes to the 

question of who were those 866 numbers on the fax, is 

that correct?  Exhibit --  

MS. SHOMO:  And which of them did I receive 

confirmation from their fax machine they had received.  

So it's a delivery receipt.  

THE COURT:  So this would be AQ. 

MS. SHOMO:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  But we did it -- we did admit AW already; 

is that right?  

MS. SHOMO:  That is correct.  But AW and AQ were 

completely different.  And I do want to make -- 

THE COURT:  Oh, no.  No. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- sure that (inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  I got that.  



82 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MS. SHOMO:  I want to make sure we didn't admit that.  

So the transcriber has it.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  I just want to make sure -- I 

didn't mean to interrupt you, I apologize.  I wanted 

to make sure we're going in order.  If AW was the last 

new exhibit, or don't we want to stay in that 

chronology, or was AQ an earlier proposed exhibit, or 

is it brand new?  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, AQ is brand new.  It's the fax 

receipt.   

THE COURT:  Yeah.  (Inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  And that was raised -- 

THE COURT:  (Inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  -- specifically -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Just a second, Ms. Shomo.  Let me 

just ask Mr. Nicholson.  He's giving me a -- 

THE CLERK:  (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:   Yeah.  

THE CLERK:  (Inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

THE CLERK:  -- (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Right.  So if AW is our last admitted, 

then shouldn't it be AX?  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, I would just note I had lettered 

them when I sent them to the clerk, expecting not all 
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would admit, so I do have it numbered as AQ presently 

do.  

THE COURT:  We don't have an AQ from before?  

MS. SHOMO:  No.   

THE COURT:  Oh. 

MS. SHOMO:  No, we had approximately -- I had come 

like a federal prosecutor with 41 exhibits expecting 

most wouldn't get in, but depending on what Petitioner 

did.  So we had 41 originally.  AQ was beyond the end 

of that list.  

THE COURT:  I see. 

Ms. Pogue, any objection to AQ, which is the 

confirmation of the fax being sent, as I understand, 

and will keep it AQ. 

MS. POGUE:  No objection, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  It is admitted.   

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit AQ was 

admitted.) 

THE COURT:  And Mr. Nicholson, would you be so kind as 

to print that out?  Thank you.  All right. 

MS. SHOMO:  And then, Judge, my only testimony with 

respect to that is that every fax number belonging to 

the Colorado Department of Human Services shows 

successful delivery.  They did, in fact, receive that.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  
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MS. SHOMO:  Moving on.  That takes me through Exhibit 

B.  So let me briefly take you through -- oh.  Wait, I 

have one more impeachment point to make.  I had 

Exhibit AR and Exhibit AS, I don't know if the Court 

will want to admit.  But Ms. Joseph testified she was 

unfamiliar with dialectical behavioral therapy.  

Exhibit AR provides a definition for dialectical 

behavioral therapy.  And Exhibit AS shows that that is 

among the programs offered by the State hospital in 

Pueblo.   

THE COURT:  I -- 

MS. SHOMO:  And that's impeachment.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.   

Ms. Pogue, objection?  Any objection?  

MS. POGUE:  No objection, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Sure.  When was AQ sent?  We're 

having trouble finding them.  

MS. SHOMO:  AR and AS were sent today, I believe. 

THE COURT:  AR --  

MS. SHOMO:  I (inaudible) the transcripts and I was 

going through transcript issues for any additional 

exhibits I could use to solve those.  And AR and AS 

speak to the dialectic behavioral therapy.  

THE COURT:  And AQ sent today as well? 

MS. SHOMO:  AQ was also sent today.   
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THE COURT:  (Inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  I can get the subject of it if the Court 

needs.  

THE COURT:  I think for this moment we can locate 

those.  It's just I understand your point of 

impeachment on AR, AS, so.  All right.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.   

THE COURT:  We (inaudible) --  

MS. SHOMO:  And so that's a situation where I don't 

know if -- if Ms. Joseph is unfamiliar with the 

programs at her hospital or if that testimony is 

inaccurate.  But I would argue that it's consistent 

with having one of two scenarios.  The Department has 

decided to try to -- to find something to float to get 

me off the board again, or it's consistent with the 

Department having really not looked at anything and 

looked for stuff to quote out of context.  Either of 

which is a defense to the restraining order, and I 

favor the Department knows what it's doing here, not 

it really has no idea what it's been up to.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  So that will establish on that point.  

Next up, I believe my death have meaning -- Jews.  

With respect to the power strip.  The power strip 

incident is real.  The power strip incident occurred.  



86 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Attached to that email, which is in evidence before 

the Court, the Court determined -- or rather Ms. 

Claussen said that I was accusing the state of that, 

and it's part of what made her afraid.  It's not in 

that email, and it's right next to the other emails 

she deliberately quoted something I was accusing of 

being charting fraud, as though it was something I 

said in 2025 from years earlier.   

And in that email, I called attention to -- to the 

Court, to my phrasing, per the -- per the State of 

Colorado, just as in the bomb threat email, per the 

clearly perjurious statement of the State of Colorado.  

So once again, I believe in that email, I call them 

out because my charting indicates that I was saying 

that a lot, and it didn't come from me.  Their 

charting is -- is -- doesn't reflect reality in any 

remote way.  And as a result of that, I believe that I 

have shown the feds that there's a problem with 

charting integrity and witness integrity from the 

Department.  I had called attention to this false 

charting.  It was then made into a police report anew, 

claiming I had said it.   

And then ultimately, my reaction to that formed the 

predicate for the instant proceeding where I called 

out the people who made the deliberate misconstruance 
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as having done so while per Ms. Pogue's redirect 

calling out -- or I'm sorry, Ms. Pogue's cross.  It 

was my adverse witness -- pointing out their status as 

an attorney next to a cease and desist.  And somehow 

from the very lightweight materials that Petitioner 

has presented, they seem to come up with a threat.  So 

I'd like to speak about what's really going on there. 

And that will bring me to my last email, which is a 

dynamical problem that the office is creating for 

itself.  It's valid political speech.  It speaks about 

a social issue.  And I realize the Department may not 

want to consider that it's causing part of the 

problem.  But maybe if it stopped covering up sexual 

assaults, Ms. Joseph would find people she would 

condescend to as she did last time instead of me, 

would be less likely to be popping off if they had a 

snowball's chance in hell of getting facts anywhere.  

I apologize for the use of the word hell if that's too 

much.   

So to lead into that, I'd like to take you briefly 

through 2018.  In 2018, once again in Broomfield, I 

ultimately pled to unreasonable noise and telephone 

harassment for reporting a sexual assault.  It is that 

sexual assault which was real.  In lieu of a hearing 

on incompetent to proceed, the Court allowed my 
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counsel to waive that for me.  I sent subpoenas, I did 

not get witnesses.  I wanted to cross-examine the 

author of the report.  I was not permitted.  I wanted 

to subpoena the feds on the rape issue because they 

had shown to me in that year they had knowledge of it.  

I was not permitted to send those subpoenas.  Instead, 

the Court basically wouldn't let me speak and found me 

incompetent.   

I filed habeas on the order of a county court, Judge 

Conboy, that habeas did not inbox to a district court.  

I'm sure the Court is familiar with the distinction in 

subject matter jurisdiction there.  I eventually got 

it inboxed, and it was denied by the Court hours after 

transport, and the denial was sent to the pre-

transport facility, so I didn't get a copy.  I 

judiciously obtained a copy some weeks, probably a 

month later, through the hospital, using every means 

possible in custody, and promptly filed an appeal.  My 

appeal was not mailed to CoA for three weeks -- I'm 

sorry, I believe it was two weeks -- by the 

Department.  And then CoA found it untimely.   

The Department refused to log in their records or 

charts when the document went in the institutional 

mail slot.  And then a plea was coerced on threat from 

the Department, Dr. Hoffman, who I've also submitted 
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the perjury report on telling me if I didn't drop the 

factual claims that I was trying to make, I would end 

up getting hanged, and I would be attached to the 

system and sent there in lieu of due process.  And my 

only choice was to plead guilty.   

At the time, this is in writing in the Broomfield 

Court prior to the colloquy, by the way.  The rest was 

not asked about it at colloquy.  I volunteered I had 

been offered nothing and was silent to duress during 

the colloquy, and I had already filed in writing the 

coercion.  Once I have clear and convincing the rape 

was real, I'll be up for another pass of 35(c) in 

Broomfield.  Until that time -- because that's what 

it's going to take to get before the Court.  Until 

that time, I have overwhelming evidence the sexual 

assault was real.  I've provided that to this Court, 

and I believe that's what the feds are ultimately 

after.   

But I'm sure this Court and opposing counsel is 

familiar with the plain sight doctrine.  We're talking 

about disappearing, habeas, disappearing habeas 

corpus.  We're talking about prima facie perjury.  And 

I have an exhibit to support that, Judge, if the Judge 

would like it.  These are the sorts of things that get 

feds involved.  Surely the Court can see that, when 
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you do that in the open, in plain sight, in front of 

the feds, that's bound to occur.  Judge, I can't hear 

you.  You're on mute.  

THE COURT:  Oh, no, I just said okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Judge, I can substantiate all of 

those.  You found them largely irrelevant.  I'm 

arguing that that's the basis for the federal 

investigation.  

THE COURT:  No, I'm wanting you to -- or I'm 

definitely permitting you to testify as to what I am 

hearing you to be the reasons behind the 

communications that gave rise to Petitioner's 1 

through 4.  I'm not sure what you're asking to admit 

right now.  

MS. SHOMO:  I'm just making the point.  I mean, I 

would ask to admit Hoffman's perjury, the slide show, 

to make the point that we've got a showing of prima 

facie perjury by Department personnel in the Court 

file.  And that substantiates my argument that the 

feds might be interested in this.  Medicare was billed 

on the basis of the charting I have alleged is 

fabricated, and on the basis of this open perjury.  

It's an affidavit concerning the results of an 

evaluation sworn out two days before my arrival at the 

facility with a notary seal one day prior, and it was 
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filed with the Court prior to my arrival, ma'am.  

THE COURT:  I definitely want to make sure that you 

are heard and that you are able to raise all defense.  

I'm not seeing the connection between the false 

charting -- in other words, the whole issue with Dr. 

Hoffman.  How is that part of your defense -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Right. 

THE COURT:  -- as to why (inaudible) -- 

MS. SHOMO:  My work at the UN and the federal referral 

by Wanda Jones, and like the federal referral by the 

Office of Child Protection Ombudsman, this constitutes 

an act which the feds will have been aware of, 

regardless of which version of the affidavit they had 

been sent by the State of Colorado.  That is the sort 

of thing that is facially criminal and justifies my 

claim that the feds are on the board.  It's an act 

where the date on the affidavit swearing out the 

results of an evaluation took place before the 

evaluation could have.  It's unambiguous perjury.   

And I admit it, not to ask this Court to rule on 

whether it's perjury, but to admit it in support of my 

contention that there's a federal investigation on the 

field.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue? 

MS. POGUE:  Judge, says this line of questioning -- 
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I'm sorry, this line of direct.  

THE COURT:  Sorry.  Go ahead.  

MS. POGUE:  Sorry, Judge.  Is this -- are you asking 

for my position as to this line of -- 

THE COURT:  As to the -- 

MS. POGUE:  -- direct testimony?  

THE COURT:  -- Exhibit N, which is the false charting.  

MS. POGUE:  If I may have one moment, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Can you hear me okay? 

MS. POGUE:  Yes, I can.  I just want to make sure that 

I'm looking at the correct -- 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. POGUE:  -- exhibit.  

THE COURT:  That's Exhibit N, false charting by CODHS.   

MS. POGUE:  For some reason, I thought we had already 

admitted this one.  But to any extent, no objection.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  It will --  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, this is also Exhibit F, 

perjury, the slide show.  

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  It's both F and N.  F is the actual 

perjurious affidavit in excerpt, and N is the chart 

reference to it.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And any objection to F, Mr. Pogue?  

MS. POGUE:  No, Judge.  No objection.  
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THE COURT:  Okay.  Both of those will be admitted.  

Thank you.  

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit F was admitted.) 

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit N was admitted.) 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So Exhibit F is perjury, the 

slideshow.  And what the Court will see -- and I'm 

sorry, the admit date on the chart isn't clear.  I do 

have a correction page for that I sent to the Court in 

Exhibit F.  So if the Court also -- let me find out 

the number on that real quick.  And then I've got 

about ten minutes left.  We'll speak to the last 

email, and I'll be done.  After this substantiation of 

federal involvement, I would want to refloat the video 

at this time, and I can give predicate having done all 

this, and then I'll be finished.  Is that does that 

work for the Court?  

THE COURT:  Yes.  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay, then let me get the corrected page, 

because I think I gave an exhibit number to that.  

That will have been back before the 12/17 hearing.  To 

DCC courtroom 159.  12/17.  Video exhibits, paper 

exhibits, A through P.  Y is DOJ investigation.  12/17 

Gomez-Gonzalez.  That's impeachment exhibits, AG.  A 

death of Jesus is AH.  I got hunger strike demands in 

view a different email.  There are other victims.  We 
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got to bills killed.  I can just send the correct page 

to the Court and give it a new exhibit number.  That's 

probably the easiest thing to do right now, Judge, and 

I'll send it to counsel.  It has been provided.   

If you'll note that F had an error, there's a bad page 

2.  So let me just get this off real quick.  DCC 

courtroom and then Tiffany Henry and Ann Pogue and 

then we will attach choose from files, device, chart 

admission time, chart admission date and time.  Okay.  

And this -- I just said, it is a correction in the 

middle page of F that you can actually see because 

it's properly in frame it.  If the Court notes in F, 

there's a little bit of the borders that you miss the 

second page.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  It comes directly to Mr. Nicholson, 

so I'll let you know -- he'll let us know when it 

arrives.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Then if we could throw that up on 

the screen when it comes up, I'd just like to go 

through it very briefly.  

THE COURT:  You didn't get it?   

THE CLERK:  (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Oh, not here yet.  

MS. SHOMO:  I do show it went out, and it went to DCC 

courtroom.   
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THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  In the interim, can we put up -- while, 

he's getting that, can we put up the other two pages 

of F?  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Well, or we can all look at it 

because we've all got it --  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  -- in front of us. 

MS. SHOMO: That works fine. 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.   

THE COURT:  So you can go ahead and testify. 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Alpha through Papa.  Okay.  So 

Exhibit Foxtrot begins page 18.  So as I had indicated 

to the Court, perjury, the slideshow, the first page 

the Court can see is the competency report, the 

interim which I failed on the basis of the records of 

the Department, which records that I was admitted on.  

11/14/2018.  Does the Court see that?  

THE COURT:  Yes.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Below that, the Court will note a 

notary seal dated the 13th day of November, 2018.  

THE COURT:  Yes.  

MS. SHOMO:  And then there are some excerpts, after I 

comment on it, asking if I'm delusional for thinking 
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that 12 and 13 are lower than 14, which establishes 

that I currently reside on the ward, and that he had 

informed -- had formed an opinion from an evaluation 

of me.  The next page is the chart admit time, which 

will echo that 14th, which is what is coming off the 

printer now.  And the last page is a map.  You'll see 

you conducted this examination under penalty of 

perjury.  That is a 131-mile, two-hour, eight-minute 

drive that I was physically located away on the date 

of the notary seal, Judge.  And then as Mr. Nichols 

gets the middle page, which I apologize for messing 

up.  Let me last call the Court's attention to Exhibit 

N.   

THE COURT:  Go ahead. 

MS. SHOMO:  Exhibit N is on page 128 of the first 

bulk.  Exhibit N, if the Court will look at it, is the 

charting page for my telling the hospital about this.  

And if you will note, it says, quote, "I've been 

charged with forgery, and it's notarized.  Laughing.  

Patient noted out in courtyard ambulating with peers' 

fast-paced gait noted.  Patient was witnessed showing 

a piece of paper to peers and passing staffing in 

hallways and stating I've been charged with perjury --

with forgery, and it's notarized."  That chart record 

refers to Dr. Hoffman's act of perjury there, and it's 
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notarized.  Hence my laughing.   

Somehow, the Department took that on exactly the date 

that would have occurred after the Court hearing and 

changed that to me claiming that I've been charged 

with forgery and errors like that are all over the 

state's chart.  Is the Court with me so far?  

THE COURT:  You are -- yes, I am.  

MS. SHOMO:  And the Court will see once again they 

inverted the person there on what was going on to make 

it me, not them.  This is consistent with the 

antisemitic slur that I'm raising.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  The last sentence again, please.  

MS. SHOMO:  This is consistent with the antisemitic 

slur that I'm raising, where once again, they're 

reporting their own false charting as statements I've 

made.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  To that end, just before we get to the 

last topic, I did want to speak to rape of children 

only insofar as to establish that what I had sent was 

an email containing exhibits supporting that that had, 

in fact, occurred.  And I do ask to admit Exhibit E, 

proof Respondent is Jewish.   

There's a hearsay exception for religious records.  I 

have provided to opposing counsel electronic 
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authentication of the document.  I did that promptly 

after the last hearing when I realized authentication 

was going to be an issue, and the Court originally 

ruled against E, but it was one of those I asked the 

Court to hold in reserve because I felt Petitioner was 

likely to open the door.  May I now admit E, which is 

a rabbi's letter confirming that I am, in fact, 

Jewish?  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue, any objection to E?  

MS. POGUE:  No objection, Judge.  I would just note 

that we, I think are potentially over the time.  And I 

say that only -- 

THE COURT:  Yep. 

MS. POGUE:  -- because Director Joseph might have to 

step away from the hearing for a little bit in about 

45 minutes or so.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. POGUE:  And so just for a few minutes -- 

MS. SHOMO:  I should done (inaudible) --  

MS. POGUE:  -- we can certainly proceed without her 

present for that short period of time.  I just wanted 

to make sure that everyone was aware.  

THE COURT:  I would prefer not to proceed without her, 

but -- so if I'm understanding, Ms. Shomo, she's 

almost wrapped up.   
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MS. POGUE:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  So we will admit E then.  Thank you.   

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit E was admitted.) 

THE COURT:  All right, Ms. Shomo. 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  The last message I would like to 

ask to admit before we get to the final Petitioner's 

exhibit is -- let me get the number for you.  I hope 

I've been doing good about electronic litigation.  

This is my first time trying it for real.  

THE COURT:  It's been helpful to have all of these in 

one place, so.  

MS. SHOMO:  I'm glad it pleased the Court.  I'm doing 

my best here.  Lastly, I had wanted to speak -- I had 

sent an impeachment exhibit prior to the previous 

hearing, which is what I'm now going to attempt to 

offer, and that is Exhibit Alpha Golf, rape of 

children full email; it was sent 12/17/2025.  And has 

the Court received the new exhibit, the one page that 

was incorrect in F?  

THE COURT:  I already put it in.  If you're talking 

about the case note, yes, I've got -- I've already 

clipped that into.  

MS. SHOMO:  Not the one in Foxtrot, but the one from F 

that showed the admission time.   

THE COURT:  This?  Yeah.   
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MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Did we letter that -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- or is that just going to be added to F, 

or how does that work?  

THE COURT:  I'm adding it to the official document.  

I'm assuming no objection from Ms. Pogue?  What that 

is, is that's Exhibit F.  It's showing the BH nursing 

note progress -- nursing progress note.  That came in.  

It's to be part of perjury, the slideshow.  

MS. POGUE:  No objection, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, you will also note on that the 

admission date is shown as 1 -- 11/14, which is the 

day after the notary seal and two days after the date 

claimed on the signature.  

THE COURT:  Duly noted.  Thank you.  All right.  You 

were about to refer me to another exhibit?  

MS. SHOMO:  I wanted to admit Alpha Golf.  This email 

is about the rape of children, which is the series of 

exhibits that I admitted which were again construed by 

Ms. Claussen and got into the police report as me 

talking about raping children were actually 

substantiation of the rape that I suffered.  So Alpha 

Golf is my provision of that, that I would ask to put 

into the record.  And my testimony with respect to 
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that is that the Department's reaction includes 

reacting to being provided exhibit evidence of the 

sexual assault and the hacking attack, which attempted 

to start my space heater in my room without my 

consent.  It was unsuccessful.  It really happened.  

It was duly reported to the police, and I did mock 

Colorado for how they normally misconstrue me.  And 

then Ms. Clawson tried to admit that as her 

understanding of my position, just like with the 

antisemitic incident.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogany, objection to A dash G, which 

is -- I haven't counted the pages, but it's a fairly 

substantial document, and it was sent by Ms. Shomo on 

Wednesday, December 17th at 8:04 a.m.?  

MS. POGUE:  No objection, Judge. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  It is admitted.  

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit A-G was 

admitted.) 

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge what you will find in that, I 

will just summarize for the Court's convenience, is an 

affidavit from 2018, in handwriting.  I was in custody 

at the time, which was filed with the Broomfield 

County Court which set forth the facts which underlie 

the sexual assault in 2018.  And unlike at the time in 

2018, where I had no access to exhibits, that has 
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exhibits substantiating every line of that original 

2018 affidavit attached.  That would be rape of 

children that Ms. Clawson felt oh so threatened by.  

And what it is, is proof that the second rape the 

Department reacted to, just like the first rape was 

also real.  And there's evidence to that.  And that's 

what I contend the feds are investigating.  And with 

that covered, I can go to the last the last email.  My 

whole point here.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Just taking notes.  Thank you.  

Okay.  I've got that.   

Admitted?   

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  And so my final email, and then I will 

briefly ask to recall Ms. Joseph after my cross, just 

to ask her about the other things that she claimed to 

have no awareness of.  I'll avoid asked and answered, 

but I wanted to ask about her awareness of the bills, 

the UN work, her predecessor, Patrick Fox, et cetera, 

for impeachment, that would be justified by my 

testimony.   

The other thing I wanted to do at this time before we 

got to the final message, is ask the Court if I could 

admit -- it's about a nine-minute video.  And this is 
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after the multiple federal referrals.  Let me make one 

more piece of testimony as predicate.  On 6/17/2024, 

the fed showed up with a message that read, safe to 

tell.  I was on -- in a Lyft ride to the UPS Store, 

and they sort of intercepted that.  And then I 

finished the UPS Store when I was filing my original 

go back to court in this matter which included a 

motion to permanently preserve the record of the 

proceeding in Larimer County Court.   

The judge in Larimer County Court granted that motion 

in part.  That was -- the court ruled that the record 

would be permanently preserved.  My argument was 

public and historical interest for why the court 

should preserve the record permanently.  And the court 

ruled granted in part, the record will be preserved, 

but defendant retains the right to request sealing.  

That would be the order of the Larimer County Court, 

where I've won all of my cases.  And that involved the 

2001 issue, except, of course, that it originally 

occurred in Broomfield.   

Mr. Sherrard (phonetic) moved up to Larimer and we 

went through a rigamarole of this that resulted in DWP 

TRO vacated back in '15.  And the Department's doing 

exactly the same thing Mr. Shearer claimed was the 

Department's policies, but at the time the Department 
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claimed Mr. Shearer (phonetic) was a contractor for 

whom they weren't responsible.  Now they're doing it 

themselves.  I just wanted that in for the record; and 

I did win those, Judge.  You can probably look those 

up in iCOT (phonetic).  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  The nine-minute video is 

connected with this or would that --  

MS. SHOMO:  That is --    

THE COURT:  And forgive me, what is the nine-minute 

video?  Is it part of the court proceeding?  

MS. SHOMO:  The nine-minute video is what I got when I 

asked the feds to throw me a bone and show that they 

were up to snuff, and it involves since safe to tell, 

I've been answering a lot of questions that have come 

to me through various prompts.  I've been trying to be 

as materially helpful to the feds as possible.  And I 

asked them to throw me a bone because the gun was 

being challenged in this proceeding.  This video is 

what I got.   

After the referrals that are in evidence, after the 

misconduct that's in evidence, each of which predicate 

federal involvement, I asked the court to just look at 

what I got from the U.S. attorney.  It is my testimony 

I contacted the U.S. Attorney's office in Colorado.  I 

don't actually know who's handling the case.  I'm 
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dealing with the feds, or at least I'm dealing with 

people who claim to be feds.  I have previously in 

this matter spoken to people I know for a fact are 

feds, because I went down to the satellite office in 

Greensboro and talked to one, and he later came to my 

door with a U.S. Secret Service agent in Greensboro.  

So I know FBI and U.S. Secret Service have at least 

touched this matter.   

But in Denver, I have a bit of the field office.  I 

have only what people have told me.  However, I've 

told the feds about it.  No one has so much as 

corrected it, let alone done anything about it.  If 

the feds want me to not purport an authority based on 

an authority I've been given by someone who is a non-

fed, they have only to ask it of me and identify 

themselves better.  Maybe show me your badge.  I'll 

come down to the field office, see that you're there, 

and just give me instructions.  Because I've been 

working with these people.   

And that's the testimony I want to give going into 

this video.  This video is what I got, which shows -- 

if identification can be made in both cases, it shows 

solution to conviction of a hacking attack, and then 

the techniques that would be used next to identify as 

well as solution to conviction of a simultaneous 
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domestic violence.   

Now, I don't know how often that you're solving a 

hacking attack for a friend who doesn't normally have 

that problem while you're solving a DV incident 

outside, it's a highly anomalous event.  It came in 

response to my request to the U.S. Attorney's office.  

And I believe it's the feds showing themselves, such 

as they will.  I can't force them to announce the 

investigation until they're done with it.  That's how 

feds work.  This is what I got, and I'd ask the Court 

to take it into the record and come to its own 

conclusion.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And recognizing that -- well, let 

me ask Ms. Pogue, first. 

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, can I just give timing, Judge? 

THE COURT:  Um-hum. 

MS. SHOMO:  After that video, the only thing I have 

left is a brief spiel on the last communication, which 

is the political speech. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue, do you have any objection?  And 

I certainly can review this later on so we don't have 

to play it at this time.  But any objection to 

admission?  

MS. POGUE:  Oh, I've no objection to admission, Judge. 

But we would certainly object to it being played -- 
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THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. POGUE:  -- today.  

THE COURT:  I will be taking the matter under 

advisement.  So I'll be able to review that as well as 

all of the evidence afterwards.  So I will, of course, 

Ms. Shomo, I'll watch the video.  All right.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Can I get you an exhibit number for 

the record for that being taken in?  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Yeah.  What do you want to call 

that?  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I've actually already got it 

numbered.  It's already in the Court's hands via 

Google Drive link on 12/17.  Let me just pull up the 

number it's got.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. SHOMO:  The other thing I wanted to ask.  We have 

a stipulation on Exhibit Z.  Ms. Gomez-Gonzalez did 

not appear as subpoenaed, and I believe Ms. Pogue 

stipulated last time that if we could admit Exhibit Z 

again, not to play into the record, but to be 

available to the Court that is my -- or not Exhibit Z, 

but the -- the interaction with Gomez-Gonzalez in lieu 

of her testimony, which will show the Court me calmly 

making my case, just as I did, about the Department's 

conduct with the Department itself.  And the Court 
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will see two very different reactions and can make its 

own judgment.  That was stipulated to at the last 

proceeding.  

THE COURT:  I do recall that.  I don't -- I wasn't 

sure.  Did we get so far as to come up with some 

language?  But before we get there, could you 

please -- I'm going through all of your exhibit list, 

and I cannot lay my hands on the one, what you want to 

designate the nine-minute video.  I'm having trouble 

finding that.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Give me one moment, and I'll have 

that for you.  Part three, Gomez-Gonzalez.  

THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. (Inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  Ms. Clawson, antisemitic smear.  Oh, then 

I did have a paper exhibit that I also wanted to 

raise, labeled Exhibit Y, part one, gun.  Okay.  So 

it's exhibits V, W, and X.  V is the primary exhibit.  

W and X support V.  But it's V, W, and X.  V is the 

gun video.  And W and X are two alternate angle close-

ups on the DV incident just to substantiate that was 

going on at the same time.  And Judge, my account of 

that which I would like to move also be my testimony 

is in the written motion to admit those, and it's 

consistent with what I just said.   

THE COURT:  All right. 
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MS. SHOMO:  There's a motion to admit those in writing 

(inaudible) -- 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  And I'll refer -- I'm just 

making note of that.  All right.  Did we --  

MS. SHOMO:  Lastly, on that subject, I did also want 

to admit Exhibit Y, and the reason for that is 

circumstantial, but potentially relevant.  And that is 

I filed my motion to provide that video to the Court 

on 12/8.  Simultaneously on 12/8, the Department of 

Justice announced an official investigation in a civil 

sense, and to the Department of Corrections of the 

State of Colorado and the Department of Youth Services 

of the State of Colorado.  And a large number of the 

issues, including adequate medical care and treatment, 

use of excessive force, and access to the rule of law 

are my issues.   

Some of the issues, DOJ is going after, like the 

trans-healthcare issue.  Very much not my issue.  I 

happen to side with the liberals on that.  I'm a trans 

person myself.  But at the end of the day, this is DOJ 

announcing an investigation right after I got the 

video from them on the same day I filed to admit it.  

I ask the Court to review it and determine if it 

thinks it's a circumstantial case, given -- 

THE COURT:  Is it the (inaudible)? 
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MS. SHOMO:  -- all of the other evidence.  It is 

marked -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- Exhibit Y and is in the Court's 

possession.  It was sent 12/16/2025. 

THE COURT:  12/16.  I'm going through all -- I thought 

I had all of your motions labeled chronologically, but 

I'll go back and take a look if we can make a note of 

that.   

THE CLERK:  We have it. 

THE COURT:  We've got it.  Okay.   

Yeah, if you could print that out.  Thank you.  

All right.  And that was the motion on October -- no 

12/16.  That's probably (inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  The motion was on 12/8.  And that was a 

motion -- 

THE COURT:  Oh. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- to admit V, W, and X, I believe.   

THE COURT:  Got it.   

MS. SHOMO:  The video exhibits.  

THE COURT:  Was it motion to admit one video with 

neighbor on subject of guns?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Got it.  Any exhibit -- and that's 

Exhibit Y.   
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Ms. Pogue, any --  

MS. SHOMO:  Exhibit Y is the Department of Justice 

announcement, which was also filed to the Court as a 

notice of a federal investigation of the State, which 

came out the same day I moved to admit the gun video.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Any objection, Ms. Pogue?  

MS. POGUE:  So it's the video of the people outside of 

Ms. Shomo's residence and the announcement of the DOJ 

investigation? 

MS. SHOMO:  And the video of me solving the hacking 

attack simultaneously, yes.  

MS. POGUE:  That's right.  No objection, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Announcement of DOJ investigation.  

Is that part of the -- just so I know, is that the 

actual why is the -- is the announcement of DOJ 

investigation?  I don't have it in front of me right 

now.  

MS. SHOMO:  Yeah.  Exhibit Y is the announcement of 

the DOJ investigation, the letter dated 12/8 -- 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- that DOJ sent to the -- the attorney 

general of the State of Colorado and the governor, et 

cetera.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Yes.  

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit V was admitted.) 
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(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit X was admitted.) 

(Whereupon, Respondent's Exhibit W was admitted.) 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  So that is my circumstantial case, 

combined with the fact that I've been working with 

this people.  I believe them credibly to be feds.  I 

have identifications, and I have been providing them 

everything I can think of that may assist their 

investigation.  I don't know what they're ultimately 

investigating.  From my family, there's hearsay about 

mob stuff.  We both know how hairy that gets.  I don't 

know.  I have mostly hearsay and a few memories, which 

might be helpful with further investigation.  But I've 

been working with these feds.   

The Court can see the people I've been working with, 

what's been going on.  I think the Court will find the 

argument that there are probably feds on the field 

highly compelling.  Between the various referrals in 

front of the Court and the evidence of misconduct that 

the feds would be investigating.  They billed Medicare 

for my treatment on the basis of those charts and that 

affidavit.  For instance, that's federal programs 

fraud, possibly.  I don't know.  But I'm not privy to 

what the feds are up to.  I believe they're up to two 

matters.  One is the stuff Colorado pulled in plain 

sight, and one is whatever other matter that goes way 
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back to childhood, crap my family was into I didn't 

even realize.  Because I had related hearsay from them 

and been called delusional because of it, even though 

I wasn't the source.  And it's not even (inaudible), 

it's just nobody cared about the details.   

Which brings me to the final point of my direct 

testimony.  And that brings me to Exhibit D, political 

speech makes its own violence.  

THE COURT:  Got it.  

MS. SHOMO:  "Precis:  The mental health system creates 

mass shootings.  They always lie in their records.  

They always either lie or so distort what anyone has 

said, they look violent.  I've shown that time and 

again in my life.  They do this because they know even 

cheating, they will know no sanctions.  If you're 

identified as mentally ill, you do not expect 

procedural due process in America.  The feds say if 

you have a dispute, take it to court.  What if you 

know court is a cheating lie, as I have here 

demonstrated?"   

I refer to the perjury.  I refer to the plea coercion, 

which is on the face of the record, and I refer to 

the -- the disappearing habeas corpus as primary 

examples, and then a number of plain error or abuse of 

discretion by the Broomfield County Court that I 
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conveniently could not bring before a higher court 

because of executive or potentially judicial 

misconduct.  I don't know if I have the judge or the 

clerk, ma'am, but I have someone disappearing habeas 

not meant for a county court.  That's how serious this 

is.   

Let me finish with reading that exhibit.  You'll have 

to give me a moment; my thing closed.  Exhibit D, 

which is 14 to 15.  Okay.  I just wanted to stop for 

commentary on that line.  Obviously, all the 

supporting material to that was provided to the 

Department, and they're aware they have a conduct 

problem, and this proceeding is their answer by 

claiming I must be threatening them with a mass 

shooting.  "What if you know court is you cheating 

lie?" as I have here demonstrated.   

"What if you know there's no hope of reasoning with 

your providers because they're too busy covering their 

own asses, and making sure you look as bad as 

possible?  You always point to records and say, why 

did no one stop this person?  I point to records and 

say you left them no choice.  When you told all those 

bullshit lies in the first place and denied them a day 

in court to dispute it.  You're making shooters with 

how you abuse power, civil rights, and freedom.  
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You're making shooters because they know there is 

nowhere to turn because of how you do business.  

You're creating your own violence.  More later when I 

calm down."   

The subject line says "precis", which is the short 

form of a logical argument.  And I would think a 

lawyer would be familiar with that term as well as a 

mathematician.  "This is not a threat.  As you have 

all always known.  I fight to win."  Me fighting to 

win was attached to the quote unquote, obviously on 

its face, a bomb threat.  "This is political speech.  

Without feds though, I know I would face retribution 

for saying it."  I refer to the instant proceeding 

where it's used as evidence that I am a violent 

threat.   

Judge, I have shown these people cheating in court.  

Now, I don't know how much of that is the Department.  

Some of that was up in Broomfield, but I have the 

perjury right out of Pueblo.  I have not mailing the 

CoA right out of Pueblo.  I have certain specific 

critiques of the ICP curriculum.  Did you know that 

they teach their patients that a nolo plea leaves it 

up to the judge?  They don't teach the distinction 

between a bench trial and an instant conviction, 

though.  And their patients don't understand that a 
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nolo plea has the effect of a conviction.  They teach 

that a deferred judgment goes away.  Federally, it 

still counts as a conviction to the point the General 

Assembly made it possible to review those, after years 

of it not being possible.  This Court's probably 

familiar.  That was one of my issues.  

MS. POGUE:  And Judge.  Judge. 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I'm going to object to this point.  

We've gone well over time, and this is not relevant 

testimony.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo --  

MS. SHOMO:  I argue it's relevant testimony because it 

establishes -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- that what I am doing is engaging in 

political speech.  And my point is, and I'm sure the 

Court will appreciate this, the Court is the great 

equalizer.  Procedural due process is the escape valve 

for violence in our society.  That's what courts are 

for.  And when we disappear habeas corpus, when we do 

not allow a two-sided proceeding with evidence from 

both sides, when we do this by facially cheating, we 

violate the social contract in such a way that what 

I'm trying to tell Ms. Joseph and everybody else is, 
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there are a lot of people out there that don't think 

the court's function because of this kind of 

misconduct.  And that is a problem for our society, 

not a threat.   

I don't know if it's the intention of Ms. Joseph to 

prevent me from publishing the full essay, but this is 

not a threat to the Department, Judge.  This is me 

pointing out that when we cheat in court, we have a 

problem.  And I think the Court can appreciate that.  

And I can end there and take cross.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

All right.  Cross-examination, Ms. Pogue?  

MS. POGUE:  If I may have one moment, Judge? 

THE COURT:  Yep.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge.  Could we by chance have a recess?  

That was really intense for me. 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Yeah.  I do want to be mindful.  I 

don't want to go on without Director Joseph.  Am I 

hearing correctly, Ms. Pogue, she needs to leave at 

five.  

MS. POGUE:  No, Judge.  We have a little bit more time 

now, and I have no questions for cross-examination.  

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.  Okay.  We can take a five-

minute break if you need to, Ms. Shomo.   

MS. SHOMO:  I would ask to do that.  But I will have a 
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very brief recall on Ms. Joseph to cover those topics 

that I've brought up.  And then I'll be ready for 

closing.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.   

MS. POGUE:  We would object to any recall of Director 

Joseph at this point.  

THE COURT:  Then I'll -- when we come back, I'll want 

to hear an argument, Ms. Shomo, about why Director 

Joseph needs to be recalled.  Thank you.   

All right.  It is 4:28.  Let's come back at 4:35.  

Does that work for everybody?  

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you, Judge. 

MS. POGUE:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

(WHEREUPON, the court recessed at 4:28 p.m.) 

THE COURT:  Okay, Ms. Pogue, you are back.   

MS. POGUE:  Yes.   

THE COURT:  All right.  You are not late, by the way.  

Okay.  So all parties are back on the record.  And 

before Ms. Shomo is -- she's not going to be cross-

examined.  So Ms. Shomo is now asking permission to 

recall Director Joseph.   

For what purpose?  Could you state that for the 

record, please?  

MS. SHOMO:  Yes.  We previously had Ms. Joseph's 
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testimony that she was unfamiliar with the attachments 

and unfamiliar with my work at the UN.  I would like 

to ask her if she was familiar with my work concerning 

the Department's legislation objectives, my successful 

defeat of the same, and the nature of those 

objections. 

And if the answer is no, it will be very quick.  

Though I would have a follow- up question if the 

answer is no; does learning those things change your 

assessment?  If the answer is yes, I'd go into it.  

And then that would be basically all I have to ask Ms. 

Joseph. 

She already testified she wasn't aware of the UN work.  

I want to know if she was aware of the hunger strike 

on the governor's office or the work with the bills, 

which I believe I've introduced.  It's clearly 

relevant now.  It would not have been then.  And if 

the answer is no, it's very quick.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue, in light of that very limited 

request, what is what Department position, please? 

MS. POGUE:  Judge, I would still object.  I think we 

have gone way over at this point.  Ms. Shomo had an 

opportunity to question Director Joseph and could have 

asked these questions of Director Joseph --  

MS. SHOMO:  I receive (sic) by the Court to strike.  
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I'm sorry. 

THE COURT:  Oh.  

MS. POGUE:  -- in the -- in the hours -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Yeah, I'm sorry. 

MS. POGUE:  -- in the hours that she had with her.  

Not to mention the topics that are wanting to be 

raised are irrelevant to the issues before the Court. 

THE COURT:  I'm ready -- 

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge --  

THE COURT:  Yeah, go ahead. 

MS. SHOMO:  May I answer, Ms. Pogue?  Those would have 

been determined to be irrelevant during case-in-chief.  

They came up as a result during the original 

questioning during Petitioner's case-in-chief. 

I had to introduce predicate through my own testimony.  

The Court actually curtailed my questioning there, so 

these weren't able to be asked due to relevance.  I 

argue it is relevant because that history with the 

Department goes to understanding how I'm communicating 

with the Department.  

THE COURT:  So it's your argument that because I did 

not allow you to -- I specifically did not allow you 

to ask those during your cross? 

MS. SHOMO:  And at this point, I argue I've introduced 

the evidence to predicate it.  So I ask -- I ask to 
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ask only those questions.  I won't re-ask the UN; 

that's asked and answered.  But I would like to ask 

the same question of the hunger strike and the bills 

of Ms. Joseph.  And if the answer is no, I just want 

to ask if learning that changes her impression of 

what's going on.  And if the answer is yes, I'd like 

to ask a little bit more about that.  That is all I 

want to do on this recall and then I will be finished 

with that witness.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Based on your representation and 

the caveat -- this Court does not have the transcript 

in front of me.  If it is your argument, Ms. Shomo, 

that I shut you down or prevented you from asking -- 

MS. SHOMO:  You didn't block me from asking those 

specific questions.  You shut down questioning in 

general for relevance.  And I would argue that through 

course of proceedings, relevance is now met.  So I 

don't believe Judge it is res judicata.  I believe I'm 

asking for a ruling at point in time if that's fair.  

THE COURT:  I'm going to give you a very, based on 

your representation, a very narrow -- I'm going to 

permit you a very, very narrow -- a short leash on the 

questions if Director Joseph would be able to answer.  

And so you're representing to me, you just have a 

couple of questions.  And certainly, the Court's 
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earlier inquiry directed to -- well, anyway.  Yeah, 

I'm going to go ahead and allow.  But again, Ms. 

Shomo, this is not open field.  This is --  

MS. SHOMO:  I will be very quick -- 

THE COURT:  You want to know -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- Judge.  I will -- 

THE COURT:  -- hunger strike --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- treat it as anything (inaudible). 

THE COURT:  -- yeah -- the hunger strike if Director 

Joseph was aware of the hunger strike and the second 

part was your legislative efforts to overturn the 

legislation you talked about; is that correct? 

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, I'd like to ask that in a 

couple of questions.  First, I would predicate whether 

she was aware of the bills and then separately, 

whether she was aware of my legislative work as those 

are -- that would be a compound question.  And then 

just one question on the hunger strike.  And then 

depending on the answer, that's it.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  But I do want to let you know this 

is a very limited inquiry.  So with that -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Understood. 

THE COURT:  -- Director Joseph, you were under oath 

before.  I'll just have you raise your right hand, 

please.   
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LEORA JOSEPH 

Testified on her oath as follows:  

THE WITNESS:  I do.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

Ms. Shomo, your witness.  

DIRECT EXAM 

BY MS. SHOMO:   

Q Ms. Joseph, were you aware of my 2014 hunger 

strike on the office of the governor of the State of 

Colorado in asking the governor to get the Department 

to understand how it keeps covering up sexual assaults 

by doing this knee jerk forced treatment thing?  

A I was not.  

Q Thank you.  The no, there will suffice.  Next 

question.  Were you aware of the Department's bills in 

2014 to take away the right to jury trial before civil 

commitment and to change the definitions to make it 

easier to achieve civil commitment?  

A I was not.  

Q You were not even aware of those bills --  

A Correct. 

Q -- just to confirm?  Then obviously, you would 

not have been aware of my advocacy work, is that 

correct?  

A Correct.  
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Q Having been advised of those things, does that 

change your assessment in any way?  

A No.  

MS. SHOMO:  No further questions, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

Thank you, Director Joseph.  Okay.  So we're at 4:45.  

Let's go into closing arguments.  And then I'll take 

the matter under advisement.  

MS. SHOMO:  Judge, can I ask for -- can I ask one 

business issue?  And this is -- 

THE COURT:  Of --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- me -- 

THE COURT:  -- course. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- being pro se and not knowing how to 

address it.  A legitimate dispute about whether feds 

are on the field has arisen in this proceeding.  I 

don't know how best to address that. 

My own pre-filing relationship with what's going on is 

actually very confusing and difficult for me because 

there are all of these people that seem to be working 

something.  They obviously won't tell me what.  If I'm 

going to testify, they wouldn't. 

But I would like to throw out and see if Ms. Pogue has 

any ideas.  I would like to ask the Court if it would 

be appropriate with -- consider the opposing party, to 
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say, would the Court be willing to call up the feds 

and pop that question?  And Respondent would be happy 

to consent to the feds talking to the Court in 

whatever was convenient for the Court, chambers 

included.  I have that trust there.  Is there a way we 

can address that issue to Petitioner's satisfaction 

that is available?  

THE COURT:  Ms. Shomo, you are lauded for your 

creativity.  And I'm not saying that at all 

facetiously.  I mean that.  But it's not appropriate 

for the Court to call the feds. 

So at this point, I would consider the evidence 

closed, and I think it's appropriate to go into 

closing arguments.  But I do -- I mean it sincerely.  

I appreciate the suggestion.  Yes? 

MS. SHOMO:  I would ask the Court to just note when 

it's deliberating that I'm doing everything I can to 

make my story able to check.  

THE COURT:  Yes, I do know.  

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

Okay.  Ms. Pogue? 

MS. POGUE:  And Judge, how long do we have?  

THE COURT:  I have not --  

MS. POGUE:  Did you give limits?   
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THE COURT:  I did not.  Are you asking for limits?  

MS. POGUE:  I think I am, Judge.  

THE COURT:  What are you asking for?  

MS. POGUE:  Is 15 minutes appropriate? 

THE COURT:  Yes.  Yeah, it is.   

And Ms. Shomo, just to let you know, this is pretty 

pro forma.  Courts are pretty strict with limitations 

on closing arguments, and they will just say, stop.  

So I don't want you to feel that you're being treated 

any differently in this particular instance.  But I 

think 15 minutes per side is an appropriate 

limitation.  Okay?  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  All right.  

MS. POGUE:  May I begin, Judge?  

THE COURT:  Yes.  

MS. POGUE:  All right.  Judge, we have established the 

elements necessary to support the court's finding by a 

preponderance of the evidence that a permanent 

protection order should be lawfully entered against 

Ms. Aubrey Shomo protecting Leola Joseph, all 

employees of the Office of Civil and Forensic Mental 

Health, and Bridget Clawson from further threatening 

contact. 

Ms. Joseph is the director of OCFMH, the office that 
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oversees both state hospitals, community-based 

supervision, and also maintains executive offices at 

CBHS.  Director Joseph testified that she and numerous 

members of her staff have received upwards of 

thousands of communications from Ms. Shomo, a former 

state hospital patient, that have demonstrated 

increasing volatility, aggression, and threatening 

language.  After receiving the threatening 

communications, Director Joseph directed staff, 

including Ms. Bridget Clawson, CHBS's legal operations 

deputy, to call Lakewood PD for multiple welfare 

checks. 

After being visited by law enforcement, Ms. Shomo 

ultimately learned that Ms. Clawson had been the one 

to call in the checks, who quickly became a target for 

Ms. Shomo's threatening communications.  While there 

have been thousands of concerning communications from 

Ms. Shomo, Director Joseph testified to four of the 

most concerning communications received in the past 

several months that form a clear basis for entry of a 

permanent order.   

Exhibit 1 is directed specifically to Ms. Bridget 

Clawson, who testified to her fear of Ms. Shomo's 

threats on December 17th.  As discussed, Ms. Clawson 

testified that she had been directed to call the 
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welfare checks and Ms. Shomo learned she was the 

reporting party. 

Following the checks and learning Ms. Clawson was the 

caller, Ms. Shomo sent the email to Ms. Clawson, along 

with many other recipients.  Ms. Shomo communicated to 

Ms. Clawson that perhaps she would like to call the 

police on her new Facebook banner, which says gun 

ready, aim with the hand, shoot with the mind.  The 

language was especially threatening and concerning, as 

it appeared to be retaliatory for Ms. Clawson's calls 

to Lakewood PD.  And of course, references to aiming 

and shooting guns is very scary for any recipient to 

have.   

Exhibit 2 is another email titled, The Mental Health 

System Causes Mass Shootings, sent from Ms. Shomo to 

numerous recipients at the State hospitals, OCFMH, and 

CBHS.  Ms. Shomo says that our mental health system is 

making shooters.  They're creating their own violence 

and that you always point to records and say, why did 

no one stop this person? 

Ms. Shomo, who discussed in her own direct and in 

questioning Cmdr. Billy Wade, is a former patient of a 

Colorado State mental health hospital and a direct 

recipient of the mental health system, making the 

communication especially threatening. 
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Receiving an email like the one in Exhibit 2, in 

addition to the other communications being sent, was 

concerning for recipients at OCFMH and CBHS.  Director 

Joseph noted the language was very threatening to her 

and that she was concerned for her staff as a result. 

Exhibit 3 is a fax that Ms. Shomo sent to several fax 

numbers, including CBHS's general fax and the fax of 

the Colorado Mental Health Hospital in Fort Logan.  

There was one line in the subject: "I have a gun".  

And then it goes on to say Ms. Shomo has a gun. 

Recipients at OCFMH and CBHS received this fax in 

August 2025 and were understandably quite concerned 

with its threatening language.  Ms. Shomo has 

attempted to argue there are other meanings behind 

this phrase "I have a gun", which should justify her 

sending.  But that explanation defies logic and the 

common everyday experiences of people, especially 

government employees who may be exposed to violence 

and trauma of the people they serve as a result of 

their work.   

Exhibit 4 is another email sent by Ms. Shomo to 

numerous individuals, including OCFMH and CBHS 

employees, with the subject line: "This is a bomb 

threat".  Ms. Shomo argues she does not see how 

anybody could read this as a threat on its face.  But 
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the Department would assert we don't see how anyone 

else could read it any other way. 

This email was sent indiscriminately to numerous 

people, including general inboxes at the State Mental 

Health Hospital in Pueblo, CBHS's CORA inbox, and 

another office within CBHS.  Ms. Shomo sent language 

that she is clearly aware would be perceived as a 

threat, which is why she has spent so much time in 

these hearings justifying other reasons for the 

language.   

I want to spend just a couple of minutes discussing 

the elements that must be satisfied before the Court 

can enter a permanent order and describe how the 

Department has satisfied them. 

So the Court must find, by preponderance of the 

evidence, that the Respondent here, Aubrey Shomo, has 

committed acts constituting grounds for the issuance 

of a civil protection order.  The grounds, as 

discussed in Section 13-14-104.5, subsection (1), 

include the prevention of assaults and threatened 

bodily harm, as well as the prevention of stalking as 

defined in 18-3- 602(1)(a), and that unless 

restrained, Respondent will continue to commit the 

acts or acts designed to intimidate or retaliate 

against the protected person.   
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Additionally, Section 13-14-104.5, subsection (7)(b), 

says that if a judge finds a risk or threat of 

physical harm or the threat of psychological or 

emotional harm exists to the employees of a business 

entity, the judge may issue a civil protection order 

in the name of the business for the protection of its 

employees.   

And then finally, as discussed at the beginning of the 

hearing, because of the Counterman case, the Court is 

required to make an additional finding that the 

Respondent is acting recklessly in her communications 

that are substantively threatening. 

The Crawford case, which I briefly discussed towards 

the beginning of the hearing, which is unpublished but 

it's found at 2025 Westlaw 1363823, clarified that 

recklessness must only be applied when the argument is 

that the substance of the communications are 

threatening, which is what we are arguing here.   

Judge, the Department has satisfied each of these 

elements.  Ms. Shomo, as identified by herself and 

Director Joseph, has admitted that she sent the four 

communications that the Department submitted as 

exhibits.  She has also not disputed sending other 

communications that were described by Director Joseph. 

While Ms. Shomo has not disputed she sent the emails 
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and fax submitted as evidence and both her and 

Petitioner's case, she simply disputes there -- that 

they are -- whether they are threatening in nature. 

Judge, a simple, plain reading of the communications 

clearly establishes that these are threats of bodily 

harms or assaults and credible threats of injury 

that's necessary to establish stalking.  Making 

statements like "I have a gun", "this is a bomb 

threat", and "gun ready" to large groups of 

individuals at CBHS and the state hospitals is the 

definition of threatening. 

The individuals to whom Ms. Shomo sent these 

communications are not tracking her complex and nearly 

impossible to follow arguments that she isn't a 

threat.  A reasonable person, especially in this day 

and age when gun violence and other forms of violence 

as retribution for perceived slights are commonplace, 

would perceive these statements as threats of physical 

harm, and they would certainly cause threatened 

emotional or psychological harm to recipients.   

Ms. Clawson was specifically named in an email with 

"gun ready" in the body of the email, a specific 

retaliatory response to her calls for a welfare check.  

Ms. Clawson testified that as a result of Ms. Shomo's 

communications, she had made changes to her home 
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security.  She felt threatened at her home and work, 

even notifying her neighbors of her concerns.   

"This is a bomb threat" and "Ms. Shomo has a gun", and 

"gun ready" are threats of bodily harm for purposes of 

the statute and acts that protection orders are 

designed to protect petitioners from. 

Additionally, the subsection of stalking that 

Petitioner is proceeding under in 18-3-602(1)(a), a 

person commits stalking if directly, or indirectly 

through another person, the person knowingly makes a 

credible threat to another person and, in connection 

with a threat, repeatedly contacts that person. 

A credible threat is defined as a threat or repeated 

conduct that would cause a reasonable person to be in 

fear for the person's safety or the safety of his or 

her immediate family, or someone with whom that person 

has a continuing relationship.   

The Department has established both that a protection 

order is necessary to prevent assaults, threaten 

bodily harm, and stalking. 

Further, the Department has established that unless 

restrained, Ms. Shomo will continue engaging in these 

types of communications.  Ms. Shomo has demonstrated a 

lengthy history of sending thousands of 

communications, including repeated threatening 
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communications, without regard for the safety of 

recipients. 

Further, Ms. Shomo has directly communicated she will 

not stop sending the communications, noting in a 

pleading to the Court that she will not.  If you 

recall, Judge, we asked the Court to take judicial 

notice in the motion for leave -- judicial notice of 

the motion for a leave to reply to the brief on point 

of law, where Ms. Shomo communicated that she would 

continue to send her communications unless restrained. 

As discussed, Director Joseph and Ms. Clawson, as well 

as the nature of the admitted emails and facts, both 

in substance and the recipients to whom they were 

sent, have established that OCFMH's employees and Ms. 

Clawson are at risk of threat or threats of physical 

harm, or the threat of psychological or emotional harm 

because of Ms. Shomo threatening communications. 

And finally, for purposes of Counterman, the 

Department has established that for purposes of Ms. 

Shomo's threatening email and fax communications, that 

she acted recklessly, or that she consciously 

disregarded a substantial risk that her communications 

would be viewed as threatening violence. 

Ms. Shomo included in one of her emails, Exhibit 2, a 

footnote that her email is not a threat and that is 
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political speech.  Ms. Shomo would never have included 

language of that nature if she did not know recipients 

would find the language to be threatening. 

Ms. Shomo's communications are designed to be 

incendiary and threatening because she has a lot of 

anger towards the Department, the Office of Civil and 

Physical Mental Health, and Ms. Clawson for actions 

that Ms. Shomo has perceived negatively. 

She knows they're threatening, or at least that 

recipients will perceive them to be that way, which is 

why she feels the need to explicitly say that they're 

not. 

But to be clear, a small footnote placed at the end of 

a communication referencing the creation of mass 

shooters provides no relief to the reader as Director 

Joseph has explained.  And hearing Ms. Shomo's 

description of what gun or bomb threat actually means, 

as described by ChatGPT or found in the depths of a 

lengthy attachment, provide no relief or reduction in 

concerns either. 

Ms. Shomo's threatening communications were sent 

recklessly to large groups of Department employees, 

with a conscious disregard for the substantial risk 

that her communications would be viewed as threatening 

violence.   
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Director Joseph does not take pursuit of a protection 

order against Mr. Shomo on behalf of her staff and Ms. 

Clawson lightly.  In fact, she made clear that in her 

lengthy law enforcement and government affairs career, 

she has sought only one other protection order. 

However, Director Joseph must also take her employees' 

physical and psychological safety concerns seriously.  

And here, safety concerns are justified.  A permanent 

protection order is necessary to protect OCFMH, its 

employees, and Ms. Clawson from continued threats of 

physical harm and repeated communications in 

connection with that threat that would cause a 

reasonable person to fear for their safety. 

Because the Petitioner has satisfied all necessary 

elements, it would respectfully request the Court make 

the temporary restraining order permanent as it 

relates to Director Joseph, OCFMH's employees, and the 

places where they may be found, and Mrs. Brigitte 

Clawson.  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Okay.  That was 11 minutes and 

30 seconds.  All right.   

Ms. Shomo, your closing argument, please.  Ms. Shomo? 

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, Judge.  Sorry, I was on mute.  Can I 

have about 60 seconds to find one transcript ref and 

then proceed with my argument?  
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THE COURT:  Yes.  Yes.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  Volume one.  Just have to get my 

system to find it real quick.  Spelled with a dash, H-

A-R-I-S-K.  There's no index on these so I'm having to 

do a word search.  It's not spelled with AT dash 

either.  Let me just find risk.  It may not be an 

unbroken phrase.  Risk.  Risk.  Okay. 

I -- I will go ahead and start.  First of all, Ms. 

Pogue actually, misstates the timeline.  Ms. Joseph 

did not actually provide a timeline, but both Billy 

Wade and Ms. Clawson provided the timeline. 

Per both of them, Billy Wade indicating that he would 

have been aware of the Department's consideration that 

there was a threat if there had been one 

jurisdictionally.  And Ms. Clawson's own testimony 

indicate that the Department's perception of a threat 

suddenly developed after the false reporting complaint 

concerning Ms. Clawson and then developed in full. 

At that time, the matter was taken to various of Ms. 

Joseph's employees, who all agreed with their boss on 

what the communications meant.  There is no 

recklessness here at least as presented to me, which 

was rationally analyzed.  This gun thing appears to be 

standard framing for when the feds hand a witness 

who's gotten completely screwed over a little bit of 
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their support while they're finishing up their 

investigation.  That is at least my understanding of 

what's happening here. 

Concerning recklessness, I've reached out to the feds.  

I've made sure they're aware of what's happening.  

I've made sure they're aware that they can tell me 

it's not them.  And I have positively identified and 

clusteral (sic) confirmation that I am, in fact, 

dealing with feds. 

So the statement there "I have a gun" was honestly, 

not at the time being authorized, foreseen to be read 

exactly how it would be read.  And I think you would 

note that there's no recklessness.  In fact, the 

disclaimer is contrary to Ms. Pogue's perspective 

suggests that I was aware the Department may try to 

quote these things out of context and drum up through 

the legal equivalent of astroturfing a case that there 

are threats here. 

But I don't know what the Department's claim there is 

a threat in my essay is.  I mean, would the Department 

prefer me to be ordered not to publish that essay?  Is 

it that a mental patient can't speak of these social 

problems, only somebody who isn't directly involved in 

the issue? 

I'm not quite clear on Petitioner's communication that 
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I'm not allowed to engage in political speech, looking 

at the issues in our society while purporting to be 

working with a federal investigation on the basis of a 

good faith belief, well-grounded in evidence.  That's 

not reckless.   

What that is, is responsive pillory.  It's not 

retaliation when you call out a lawyer for BS'ing the 

police.  It's valid publication concerning government 

conduct.  And Petitioner is absolutely right.  I have 

no intention in discontinuing my petition for the 

redress of grievances on this matter.  And I believe 

that the Department has produced threats from thin 

air, as can be seen with Bridget Clawson's testimony. 

There is no recklessness when the Respondent is 

cognizant that their words will be intentionally, 

selectively quoted and misconstrued.  There is a 

famous quote, "find me six lines written by the most 

honest of men, and I will find" any -- "and I will 

find something in there to hang him."  This quote was 

by an inquisitor.  But that is what the Department is 

doing here.   

The Department has decided that there's a double 

standard on communication.  And if mental patients 

ever say anything that could be misconstrued as 

violent, it's grounds for a protection order.  
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Ultimately, a civil commitment and forcible treatment.  

That is not what's happening here. 

The Department was unambiguously on notice I was 

referring to a federal investigation.  And 

consistently throughout this proceeding, the 

Department has found selective quotations to prop that 

up that have not withstood scrutiny.  Petitioner 

offered only four emails into evidence.  I asked for 

additional examples.  They couldn't come up with any.  

But we looked at tons of my other emails, which don't 

even appear threatening. 

Judge, the Department is concerned that it screwed up 

and has liability and would like a ruling of this 

Court to, in whatever limited extent possible, try to 

estop that for later proceedings.  And certainly for 

political purposes, a grant of a PRO would serve them 

remarkably well, but one has not here been justified. 

In order to grant a restraining order, the Court has 

to find by a preponderance that it is more likely than 

not that the communications are threatening, and that 

the petitioner is claiming that they are actual 

threats which must be read on their face. 

They refer to an email with a subject line "This is a 

bomb threat" that critiques a report of a purported 

bomb threat.  They refer to an email that announces my 
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cooperation with federal authorities as a physical 

threat.  They refer to a critique of how they construe 

things as a bomb threat. 

Yes, the subject line was provocative.  Their conduct 

is provocative.  This Court didn't even want to admit 

the child rape issue when it first came up as 

salacious and irrelevant.  Judge, I'm not the one who 

brought it in.  That's how it came into evidence.  

That's what the Department has been up to. 

They don't want to protect anyone physically.  They 

want to protect their legislation from me going 

anywhere near it and this is how they do it.  Ms. 

Joseph, this is blood libel, and you should be ashamed 

of yourself.   

What I intend to do when the TRO is vacated is I 

intend to finish my CORA complaints investigating the 

Juliet-2 matter.  I had a tip that there was some very 

serious misconduct there. 

I requested 84 records additions that corrected false 

statements in the chart.  To my knowledge, they were 

never added.  I have requested records from the 

Department I have yet to receive.  Those are pending 

requests. 

These are all of the matters the Department seeks to 

block, not what is unambiguously a reference to 
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cooperating with the federal authorities and a 

reference to my previous work at the UN.  And maybe 

Ms. Joseph shouldn't be such a bigot as to think a 

mental patient can't have been to the UN.   

What I am telling this Court is that I am no danger 

whatsoever to the Department except in a courtroom, 

and that is what the Department is afraid of.  And 

I -- that is clear from the face of all of the 

communications.  There has been no recklessness.  And 

to claim recklessness -- because clearly there's no 

intent to threaten in this matter -- but to claim 

recklessness, you would have to claim that I was 

somehow deficient. 

I specifically communicated not just that they weren't 

threats but why.  This one is Secret Service saying, I 

got a federal gun.  I'm likely to be on the stand.  

I'm participating in nailing some bad guys as a victim 

who has evidence. 

The next one said you made a false report to the 

Lakewood Police Department, and I'm pillorying you.  

And I sent it to tons of people.  If Ms. Clawson got 

extra security, perhaps she should have a sensitivity 

training on not stereotyping, but I'm calling BS.  

Unless, of course, it was done to prop this 

litigation, I don't see it. 
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Ms. Clawson engaged in sanctionable conduct with her 

misconstruance of their own fraudulent charting as my 

own, and she doubled down on that in testimony in this 

proceeding.  Calling out a member of the bar who, in 

Ms. Pogue's own cross-examination, she acknowledged I 

called out as a member of the bar for falsely 

reporting to a police department is not a threat of 

violence.  It is a threat that your misconduct has 

been seen by proper authorities.  And I was 

unambiguous on my face about that. 

In my essay, which isn't an essay, it's just the 

beginning of one, explaining how this is a problem in 

our society, I didn't just say this is not a threat.  

I explained why you would believe this is not a 

threat.  My history of winning in the courtroom, which 

was attached to the message, that is the 

communications that the Department is construing. 

They were asked to produce more.  They couldn't.  

Every one they produced, I showed they were 

misconstruing.  They quoted out of context.  And their 

claim that they actually felt threatened belies belief 

unless they were stereotyping.  It would be no 

different than Ms. Pogue saying, well, since we work 

with black people, I was afraid a reference to 

convenience stores referenced a robbery.  It is an act 
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of stereotyping.   

And Judge, insofar as you apply any mental illness 

claim in your reasoning, it is subject to strict 

scrutiny. 

Persons with mental illness have a biologically 

immutable trait.  Mental illness, I believe that 

anybody would -- I believe that would be the People's 

argument.  They have historically been without 

political power.  That's been shown in this case here.  

And that means in order to issue the restraining 

order, when the issue is petition for the redress of 

grievances, when the issue is freedom of the press to 

publish about government conduct, when the issue is 

freedom of speech, to speak about government 

misconduct to the public -- and yes, I cc'd the 

government I was accusing.  That's only fair. 

What you've come down to is blocking constitutional 

rights.  Now, if there's a valid threat, then 

certainly the compelling State interest has been met.  

But there's not a double standard for threat because 

they've used a Nuremberg term on me.  They've given me 

my black triangle.  And that means the burden for a 

threat is lower. 

This Court wouldn't -- if I didn't have a history of 

mental illness, no one would have considered 
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initiating this action.  And I was very careful to 

communicate genuinely no threat with reasons as well 

as disclaimer.  That is evidence of how I haven't been 

reckless, precisely because I anticipated the 

Department would eventually try this.   

There is no evidence on which to base a protection 

order.  And yes, I still have these misconduct issues 

with the State that I would think open false charting, 

open perjury.  I would think misconduct by the 

Department's personnel.  Ms. Joseph, I would ask to 

sit down and meet with you when the TRO is denied 

about how we can fix these problems.  You want me 

stopped from raising them. 

My closing is concluded.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

I thank both sides for a very thorough presentation.  

I'm going to take the matter under advisement.  I will 

do my best to turn around a decision as soon as 

possible.  Okay.  Any questions from either party?  

MS. SHOMO:  May I continue my publications as 

previously authorized by the Court pending its final 

ruling?  

THE COURT:  Can you refresh my memory on which 

publication?  You just need to abide by the 

restraining order.  But what were the publications, 
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Ms. Shomo? 

MS. SHOMO:  The Court had authorized me to continue 

publishing about this matter, including contents of 

the Court record, not emailing anyone from the 

Department.  I would like to email out cut-ups of the 

transcripts at this time covering the points that I 

have made to my public.  And then I would ask that 

publication right continue, even if the restraining 

order grant. 

It was originally Mr. Harrington's (phonetic) 

contention they weren't trying to prevent that.  If 

they're trying to prevent -- if they don't want me 

publishing, you have your reason for the restraining 

order.  And previously, the Court ruled I could 

continue to publish, and it was agreed to by Mr. 

Harrington as counsel. 

If that has changed, well, there's your reason for the 

PRO.  If it hasn't, then it would be an exception to 

the PRO if the Court foresees granting it.  

THE COURT:  Everything stands as it was.  Is there any 

ambiguity there?  The only thing I heard that would be 

a potential change is your request to reference 

transcripts, is that correct? 

But no, I mean, let me back up a couple of steps.  My 

order still stays.  You are still entitled to publish.  
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You just need to abide by the terms of the protection 

order, which I don't have my hands on at this moment.  

But maybe Mr. Nicholson -- 

MS. SHOMO:  You didn't preclude it.  If it's the same 

as it was, then that does it for me.  

THE COURT:  Yeah, same as it was.   

Ms. Pogue, anything to add on that point?  

MS. POGUE:  No, Judge, not as it relates to publishing 

items.  I mean, of course, if communications kind of 

go into, like, threatening language towards 

individuals that are listed as protected on the 

temporary restraining order, then that would be 

different.  And we would want to, I suppose, address 

that but otherwise, no.  

MS. SHOMO:  Ms. Pogue has been copied on every 

publication I've made since filing, as of which she 

took over as counsel.  Prior to that, Mr. Harrington 

was. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Just a moment, and let me ask Mr. 

Nicholson, do you mind printing out the restraining 

order?  We'll just take a look. 

Yeah.  No, I don't want to encroach on your right to 

publish, Ms. Shomo.  Obviously, if there's some 

factual question about if anything would be directed 

to any party who is protected, then we'd have to 
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return to the courtroom.  

MS. SHOMO:  I have directed (inaudible) any protected 

party.  And if counsel has concerns about content, I'm 

happy to answer a rule to show cause.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Yeah, and we're not there yet.  And 

I'm not suggesting you're going to.  I'm just stating 

if I'm understanding Ms. Pogue's caveat.  But yeah, 

no, we're not going to change anything.  And I'm just 

looking around because I'm looking for a copy of the 

restraining order so that I could -- 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, your order allowing publication 

was verbal on the record.  I don't believe it was 

in --  

THE COURT:  Oh, okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- a written document.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

You got that?   

All right.  So yeah, you can continue to publish.  

It's just you need to stay at least 100 yards from 

Petitioners.  No contact, direct or indirect, that 

includes posts to them or -- I do want to look at the 

original language.  No contact with third-party.  

Okay.  Let me just get the language of what was signed 
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off on.  

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, in your ruling, I would ask if 

you would address the open business items that I have 

listed that I have been unable to complete while the 

restraining order was pending as something that I 

could conclude with the Department.  And I would also 

ask the Court if it grants the PRO to allow me to 

fight their bills before the legislature even if Ms. 

Joseph happens to come testify.  

THE COURT:  Oh, I don't think that there would be an 

issue with you continuing to conduct business.  I'm 

not sure what -- 

MS. SHOMO:  If I testify, I will be within 200 feet of 

her.  Well, we both address the -- 

THE COURT:  I --  

MS. SHOMO:  -- Congress as we address this Court, and 

we've been in person in the same room but together.  

THE COURT:  I would grant an exception for legitimate 

legislative purposes over at the Capitol.  You 

wouldn't -- the no contact would remain in effect.  

But if there would be a ten-foot exception, which 

would, I think, allow you both to testify if you were 

to do so at the same time.  Does that suit the 

parties?  

MS. SHOMO:  That would work for Respondent.  Again, 
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it's Respondent's contention, there's no danger, no 

danger has been shown.  It should be denied.  But if 

it grants, I believe that would work.  

THE COURT:  Well, let's just -- Director Joseph, Ms. 

Pogue, is there any concern with that?  So there would 

be a ten foot except -- no contact always, but a ten-

foot exception if they were both -- as I said, I'm 

using the word broadly -- engaged in legitimate 

legislative purposes at the Capitol, which could 

include anything from testimony to meeting with 

representatives to anything in pursuit of statutory 

change.  

MS. POGUE:  And in no contact -- I mean, even if 

there's the ten feet also -- 

THE COURT:  Always no contact.   

MS. POGUE:  -- no -- 

THE COURT:  Always no contact. 

MS. POGUE:  -- no speaking -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. POGUE:  -- anything as directly -- 

THE COURT:  Ten feet at the Capitol.  Mr. Nicholson 

says that it has to be just ten feet at the Capitol.  

And here, just so you know, the order entered on 10/28 

is Respondent is ordered to refrain from interfering 

with OCFMH or its employees, including Bridget 
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Clawson-Broughton, who provides occupational support 

to OCFMH at their place of employment, and from 

engaging in conduct that impairs OCFMH or its 

employees, employment, or environment.   

MS. POGUE:  Yeah. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  But yes, I guess I don't know the 

exact language, but this order should not be construed 

as preventing Ms. Shomo from publishing with the 

caveat that if there's a factual question about to 

whom it's directed to, we'd have to come back in for 

that.  

MS. SHOMO:  And that would cover publishing about the 

conduct of the office, just not sending it to them, 

correct, Judge, and including on social media, just to 

confirm?   

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. POGUE:  Because there was a reference to social 

media in the 10/28 order.  

THE COURT:  Ms. Pogue, your response? 

MS. POGUE:  And I'm sorry, this is references to 

social media? 

THE COURT:  Well, the question --  

MS. POGUE:  On social media? 

THE COURT:  -- yeah, the question is can -- Ms. Shomo 

is asking, can she post -- 
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MS. POGUE:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  -- or what she's asking my opinion on, can 

she post about the Department.  

MS. POGUE:  Yes.  I don't think we would object to 

that.  It sounds like that had been addressed before 

as well.  Again, it's just if the language moves to 

threatening language, then that's a different 

situation.  But no, otherwise posting about the 

Department, I don't see a mechanism that we could 

object to that given the current order.  

THE COURT:  I agree, and I think that she's got a 

First Amendment right -- 

MS. POGUE:  Yeah.  I agree.   

THE COURT:  -- to make publications.  I guess Ms. 

Shomo, just -- 

MS. SHOMO:  And Judge, let me just say that's all I 

want from the Department.  Though because I'm speaking 

about them, obviously they're getting a copy of my 

messages.  That stopped with the TRO.  I don't think 

any of them will be afraid if it resumes.  And I think 

they'd want a copy of my advocacy work -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- especially with what they've seen.  But 

obviously they've moved otherwise.  So as long as my 

First Amendment protections are met.   
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THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  The only other issue I have is the pending 

business with the Department.  How would we resolve 

that?  

THE COURT:  And can you define for me?  I don't want 

to encroach on your right to pursue whatever business 

it is.  And forgive me if you refresh my memory either  

one of you. 

MS. SHOMO:  I have pending CORA requests of the 

Department.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. SHOMO:  I received a tip about 20-month 

longevities and inadequate medical care on one unit I 

had wanted to research.  I was researching that 

approximately as this action began. 

I have some radiology and other records items I have 

yet to receive from the Department though I've 

received the bulk of the chart.  I would like to 

continue following up to receive those.   

I don't believe they ever bothered to do the chart 

adds.  There's actually a statutory right to a 

patient's statement when a chart is inaccurate, so I'd 

like to be able to follow up on that.  That's the 84 

chart adds.  I mean, I think I made some work for them 

when they filed this proceeding, and I'd like to be 
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able to take those very valid business items and 

conclude them through some means appropriate to the 

Court.  

THE COURT:  I understand that.  Is there a designated 

employee, even Ms. Pogue, who might be the point of 

contact just so that way Ms. Shomo is not having to 

communicate with various members that would -- might 

subject her to a potential argument that she's 

violating the restraining order?  But I agree she 

should have one point of contact with the Department, 

whoever that might be.  Is that something you can 

assist with?  

MS. POGUE:  Yes, I can get a contact -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. POGUE:  -- for Ms. Shomo.  I mean, there are 

individuals who work within CORA that are not a part 

of OCFMH and then are not Ms. Clawson.  Ms. Clawson 

does supervise some of those individuals, which is my 

only hesitation.  And unfortunately, she's out today, 

so I wasn't able to get that name, but I can figure 

that out.  

THE COURT:  If you could provide that to Ms. Shomo so 

she knows who she can contact.  And then -- 

MS. POGUE:  For CORA.  Okay.  

THE COURT:  Yep.  Yeah.  
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MS. POGUE:  Okay.  Yep. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Does that work, Ms. Shomo? 

MS. SHOMO:  And I mean, obviously, Petitioner's 

statement would be that with those matters, found a 

way to resolve, you still want the protection order, I 

assume.  

THE COURT:  Are you asking that question to Ms. Pogue?  

MS. SHOMO:  I'm asking -- I'm just confirming with Ms. 

Pogue that if those orders are going to be possible, I 

assume counsel still obviously is proceeding.  

MS. POGUE:  And I'm sorry -- I'm trying to, like, chat 

with other people to figure out answers.  Could you 

repeat your question one more time, Ms. Shomo?  

MS. SHOMO:  I just -- with those issues having found a 

way to address them, you still want the protection 

order?  I just want to confirm that.  

MS. POGUE:  Oh, yes.  Yes, we're still -- we were 

still seeking the same protection order on behalf of 

OCFMH and Ms. Clawson.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  And then the last matter, Judge, is 

I intended to make a bar complaint against Ms. Clawson 

for her report to Lakewood police.  Would I be able to 

do that?  I mean, you construe it as retaliation, but 

ultimately, it's decided by an independent judiciary 

authority.  
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THE COURT:  I don't think that I should stand in the 

way of you making any reports.  Obviously, that's your 

right as a citizen, so.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  The other thing I would ask -- 

THE COURT:  I'm expressing no particular -- 

MS. SHOMO:  -- ask for if the Court grants the 

permanent, is to note that I am allowed to make a bar 

referral against Ms. Clawson to the attorney 

regulation counsel and that that does not constitute 

retaliation, that that is not barred by the order.  

THE COURT:  I can't make that finding.  What I'll just 

say is I can't make that finding because that could be 

the subject of a different proceeding.  I can simply 

say that I'm not going to put anything in the order to 

prevent you.  And we'll cross each bridge.  But I'm 

simply noting -- thank you -- that --  

MS. SHOMO:  Oh, okay.  

THE COURT:  -- I've never -- just so you know, Ms. 

Shomo, I never stand in the way of any party's ability 

to make any report.  I wouldn't stop somebody from 

calling police.  I wouldn't call somebody -- stop 

somebody from making a report to, you know, DHS.  So 

no, I would not -- 

MS. SHOMO:  And again --  

THE COURT:  -- stand in your way. 
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MS. SHOMO:  -- I very much believe that that's what 

the Department is really after.  And I don't think 

this restraining order grants, but obviously that's 

the Court's decision now.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So and I just want to read the 

language -- thank you, Anthony (phonetic).  So page 

two of the order and then we're going to need your 

signature, Ms. Shomo, because it's being recorded, 

but -- oh, we got it?  Okay. 

Respondent can be within ten feet of Ms. Clawson, or 

it's actually Director Joseph, if they are both 

conducting business at the State Capitol.  No contact, 

direct or indirect, to OCFMH or its employees via 

internet post or social media.  Respondent can post 

nonthreatening content -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Yep. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, yeah, yeah.  No, I got it.  Let's do 

this.  Respondent -- we'll just say -- let's go back. 

Thank you for your valiant effort.  Here's the 

order -- I should put that -- had the original.  Hang 

on a second.  I tucked away the original order.   

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  (Inaudible)  

THE COURT:  It's -- it should -- thanks.   

Just a second.  I'm going to write this up and send 

it.  Yeah.  If you print up the original.  I'm sorry, 
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and I don't -- no.  Okay.  Respondent -- thank you. 

Respondent is to remain at least 100 yards away from 

OCFMH or its employees.  Ms. Clawson is a employee, 

correct?  

MS. POGUE:  She works with OCFMH at times but isn't a 

direct OCFMH employee.  She's a CBHS employee -- 

THE COURT:  And I will name her --  

MS. POGUE:  -- that will provide support.   

THE COURT:  -- separate. 

MS. POGUE:  Okay.  Yeah.  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Respondent is to 

remain at least 100 yards away from OCFMH or its 

employees, including Bridget Clawson-Broughton, who 

provides operational support to OCFMH.  Respondent, 

shall -- and have no -- so remain 100 yards away from 

all OCFMH employments and shall have no contact -- 

shall have no contact with OCFMH or its employees or 

Bridget Clawson.  I'll reread this back to you -- 

Broughton. 

Respondent shall be -- Respondent is permitted -- an 

exception -- or Respondent to be within ten feet of 

Director Joseph or -- are there other OCFMH employees 

who will testify?  Do you know.  Or is (inaudible) -- 

MS. POGUE:  Let's see.  Yeah.  Probably.  Yes.   

THE COURT:  Yeah.   
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MS. POGUE:  Yeah.  There are a few that might.  I 

think it's mostly Director Joseph.  Do you want to 

name specific people there?  Okay.  I know that's a 

hard one.  

THE COURT:  At the State -- I'm going to read this 

back to you -- Capitol.  I hope I'm not over 100 

characters.  Okay.  Respondent shall remain at least 

100 yards away from OCFMH or its employees -- 100 

yards away and have no contact with -- okay.  Let's 

see what -- hang on just a second.  Is permitted to 

publish -- may publish.  May publish commentary 

generally and publish -- okay.  With this, I think we 

got it.  Are you ready?  And we'll put this in the 

restraining order.  Okay.   

Respondent shall remain at least 100 yards away and 

have no contact with OCFMH, or its employees, 

including Bridget Clawson-Broughton, who provides 

operational support to OCFMH.  An exception for 

Respondent to be within ten feet of Director Joseph or 

any OCFMH employee while conducting legislative 

business at the State Capitol, with still no contact.  

Respondent may publish with respect to OCFMH 

generally, provided it is not directed to OCFMH or any 

of its employees.  Does that cover what we need?  

MS. POGUE:  Yes, Judge. 
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MS. SHOMO:  May I publish about the conduct of OCFMH 

employees?  

THE COURT:  Say again.  

MS. SHOMO:  May I publish about the conduct of 

specific, identifiably named OCFMH employees that's 

not sent to them?  

THE COURT:  I think as long as it's not -- it would 

have to be proven factually, I caveat.  But yeah, I 

mean I think you can -- you've got a First Amendment 

right to publish.  Yes.  

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you.   

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:  (Inaudible). 

MS. SHOMO:  And then -- 

THE COURT:  Oh yeah.  

MS. SHOMO:  And then the other thing doesn't need to 

be addressed in the redone TRO.  But if there's a PRO, 

I would ask Ms. Pogue or someone be nominated to close 

business with the Department.  And then I ask, the 

Court is reissuing the TRO pending its ruling, is that 

correct?  

THE COURT:  Yeah, I will have Mr. -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  -- is that okay?  Can we send that?  Yeah.  

MS. SHOMO:  What do I need to do to sign it?  
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THE COURT:  Yep.  We'll do -- I don't think we need 

your signature.  Although, I just changed it, so 

doesn't that make sense?   

THE CLERK:  (Inaudible) 

THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll set this for paper review in 

two weeks.  Is that the time frame, two weeks?  I've 

got a few other things that I'm just trying to do a 

little off the record strategizing with respect to 

schedule.  How about if we do a review on February 

6th, and I will endeavor to get it out by then? 

 Okay.  So we'll do a review on February 6th.  Ms. 

Shomo, I am going to send you a copy of this.  We 

don't need your signature according -- 

THE CLERK:  (Inaudible). 

THE COURT:  -- because we're on record here, but I'll 

send a copy -- we'll send a copy out to all parties.  

Does anybody have any questions with the scope of 

this?  

MS. SHOMO:  Not with respect to the scope.  My last 

question, Judge, I had tried to file the transcript 

from trial day one.  I don't know if it actually made 

it into the Court file.  I would ask the Court to take 

it into the written record of the case, unless there's 

objection.  I also have a transcript pending on the 

intermediate hearing I would ask to go into the 
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record.  And shortly upon the conclusion of this 

hearing, I will be requesting a transcript of this 

hearing.   

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  If we put it in the record, it's available 

to the Judge.  It's available to opposing counsel.  

I'll be footing the bill on that.  And it is also 

completeness of record.  Would the Court accept that?  

THE COURT:  Of course.  

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you very much. 

THE COURT:  Oh, wait just a second.  Mr. Nicholson 

knows so much more than I do about so many things.  

Hang on.  Record request must go to Room 135 and then 

you can ask -- 

MS. SHOMO:  You know, this is to file it in -- in the 

case, ma'am.  

THE COURT:  He wants to just file notice of filing.  

He wants to file the transcript.  

MS. SHOMO:  And the transcripts.  And the -- 

THE COURT:  That's fine. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- transcript from day one is already in 

Mr. Nichol's (sic) possession.  I sent it to TRCV -- 

THE COURT:  Yep. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- but I don't know if it was taken into 

the record, so I'd ask -- 
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THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. POGUE:  -- the Court to go ahead and let that in 

the written record.  And then there will be two more 

transcripts forthcoming as they're -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MS. POGUE:  -- completed, the 10/28 hearing and 

today's hearing.  

THE COURT:  I will accept those into the record.  

Wait, just a second.  Yeah, we'll do that.  And when 

they come in -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you, Judge. 

THE COURT:  -- we want to be very tidy about things, 

you could certainly file a notice of submission.  Then 

we know it's coming in.  Otherwise, I worry about 

those getting lost.  If you file a docket, a notice of 

submission, transcript of January 5th proceeding, 

notice of submission, transcript of December 17th 

hearing.  And then, of course, I'll make that part of 

the record.  Yes.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  I'll have to look up what a notice 

of submission is -- 

THE COURT:  Oh. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- and how to properly make one out.  But 

I can do that.  Would the Court like one on yet the 

day one trial hearing, which I already sent the 
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TRCV -- 

THE COURT:  No. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- but didn't make the record.  I can 

refile with the notice of submission on that -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MS. SHOMO:  -- if the Court prefers.  

THE COURT:  No, you don't need to -- I don't want to 

create more work.  You could just -- 

MS. SHOMO:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  -- we've got it and we'll scan it.  I'm 

just being tidy so that I want everybody to know 

what's going into the record.  But it is simply saying 

your caption notice of submission record attached.  

That's it.  One page.  

MS. SHOMO:  Okay.  That I --  

THE COURT:  Wait, Mr. Nicholson has one more thing.  

Just a moment.  Mr. Nicholson's requesting notice of 

submission for all three of the ones you want to 

submit, so even the one that you just sent.  Because 

I -- and I just worry about things getting lost.  

MS. SHOMO:  I have no problem with that.  I asked 

because I wanted to do it however was most convenient 

for the Court.   

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. SHOMO:  I'll get a notice of submission for that 
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as well.  It'll be out probably tomorrow.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Any other questions 

from the parties?  All right.  

MS. POGUE:  Not from the Petitioner, thank you.  

MS. SHOMO:  No additional. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. SHOMO:  If the court day is over, could you just 

make it clear I'm allowed to hang up I would ask.  

THE COURT:  You are allowed to hang up, Ms. Shomo.  

All right.  

MS. SHOMO:  Thank you very much, everyone. 

THE COURT:  Have a nice evening, everyone.  And -- 

MS. POGUE:  Thank you.   

THE COURT:  -- and yes.  Thank you.  Bye.  

MS. POGUE:  Thanks.  Bye-bye.  

THE COURT:  Let's turn off the whole record, sir.  Do 

you need a --  

(WHEREUPON, the calling of the docket continues.) 

*** 
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COUNTY COURT, CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER, COLORADO 

Case No. 25W1324 Courtroom 159 

------------------------------------------------------ 

TRANSCRIBER'S CERTIFICATE 

------------------------------------------------------ 

LEOLA JOSEPH ON BEHALF OF OFFICE OF CIVIL AND FORENSIC 

MENTAL HEALTH 

Petitioner 

v. 

AUBREY 

Shomo 

------------------------------------------------------ 

State of Colorado ) 

City and County of Denver )  ss. 

 

I certify that I transcribed this record 

from the recording of the above-entitled matter which 

was heard on Monday, January 5, 2026. 

I further certify that pages 1 through 52, 

inclusive, constitute a complete and accurate 

transcript of the recorded proceedings, based upon the 

audio facilities of this record and my ability to 

understand it. 

 

CHRIS STRAUCH 1/20/26 

Court Transcriber Date 



Amanda King <amanda.king@coleg.gov>

One more set of files submitted: SB26-004: OPPOSE: Substantial Written
Documentation Placed in General Assembly Record
1 message

Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@engineer.com> Mon, Mar 2, 2026 at 9:55 AM
To: jenny.willford.house@coleg.gov, chad.clifford.house@coleg.gov, scott.bottoms.house@coleg.gov,
brandi.bradley.house@coleg.gov, michael.carter.house@coleg.gov, cecelia.espenoza.house@coleg.gov,
lisa.feret.house@coleg.gov, meg.froelich.house@coleg.gov, stephanie.luck.house@coleg.gov,
kenny.nguyen.house@coleg.gov, Naquetta.Ricks.house@coleg.gov
Cc: attorney.general@coag.gov, governorpolis@state.co.us, Ann.Pogue@coag.gov, hello@hickenlooper.com,
casework@hickenlooper.senate.gov, committees.lcs.ga@coleg.gov, amanda.king@coleg.gov, aot@tac.org,
contact7@denver7.com, newstips@denver7.com, tiffany.henry@coag.gov

One more set of documents uploaded (20th submission).
 
This covers the dirty tricks used by OCFMH in obtaining frivolous protection orders, and, significantly, how the Courts just go along
like they weren't even there.
 
To wit, substitution of counsel, more fabrications by Pogue, and withdrawl when it became clear it was vacuous.
 
----------------------------------------------------
Aubrey Ellen Shomo
 
====================================================
 
Dear Members of the House Veterans Affairs Comittee:
 
I write to let you know that I have just completed 19 submissions of documents (limit 5 files, 2mb, per each) that
cover a recent superlative example of why entities like OCFMH cannot be trusted with this power, in a case
where they used it against me, successfully in the most absurd of circumstances, for telling on their misconduct
including antisemetic fabrications and open perjury and false charting.
 
I have provided written documentation of this, transcripts, and related conduct, to this comittee and onto the
permanent record of the General Assembly.
 
I just wanted to let you know.
 
I will be there for the hearing, and I will shortly submit a written statement, to go with the document evidence I
have proivided.
 
Thanks,
Aubrey Shomo
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SB26-004: OPPOSE: Substantial Written Documentation Placed in General Assembly
Record
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Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@engineer.com> Mon, Mar 2, 2026 at 9:32 AM
To: jenny.willford.house@coleg.gov, chad.clifford.house@coleg.gov, scott.bottoms.house@coleg.gov,
brandi.bradley.house@coleg.gov, michael.carter.house@coleg.gov, cecelia.espenoza.house@coleg.gov,
lisa.feret.house@coleg.gov, meg.froelich.house@coleg.gov, stephanie.luck.house@coleg.gov,
kenny.nguyen.house@coleg.gov, Naquetta.Ricks.house@coleg.gov
Cc: attorney.general@coag.gov, governorpolis@state.co.us, Ann.Pogue@coag.gov, hello@hickenlooper.com,
casework@hickenlooper.senate.gov, committees.lcs.ga@coleg.gov, amanda.king@coleg.gov, aot@tac.org,
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Dear Members of the House Veterans Affairs Comittee:
 
I write to let you know that I have just completed 19 submissions of documents (limit 5 files, 2mb, per each) that
cover a recent superlative example of why entities like OCFMH cannot be trusted with this power, in a case
where they used it against me, successfully in the most absurd of circumstances, for telling on their misconduct
including antisemetic fabrications and open perjury and false charting.
 
I have provided written documentation of this, transcripts, and related conduct, to this comittee and onto the
permanent record of the General Assembly.
 
I just wanted to let you know.
 
I will be there for the hearing, and I will shortly submit a written statement, to go with the document evidence I
have proivided.
 
Thanks,
Aubrey Shomo
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SB26-004: OPPOSE: Written testimony.
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Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@engineer.com> Mon, Mar 2, 2026 at 1:12 PM
To: jenny.willford.house@coleg.gov, chad.clifford.house@coleg.gov, scott.bottoms.house@coleg.gov,
brandi.bradley.house@coleg.gov, michael.carter.house@coleg.gov, cecelia.espenoza.house@coleg.gov,
lisa.feret.house@coleg.gov, meg.froelich.house@coleg.gov, stephanie.luck.house@coleg.gov,
kenny.nguyen.house@coleg.gov, Naquetta.Ricks.house@coleg.gov
Cc: attorney.general@coag.gov, governorpolis@state.co.us, Ann.Pogue@coag.gov, hello@hickenlooper.com,
casework@hickenlooper.senate.gov, committees.lcs.ga@coleg.gov, amanda.king@coleg.gov, aot@tac.org,
contact7@denver7.com, newstips@denver7.com, tiffany.henry@coag.gov

Colorado General Assembly
3/1/2026
House Veterans Affairs Committee
SB26-004 Testimony
Aubrey Shomo
OPPOSE

My position is OPPOSE.  Institutional parties cannot be trusted.

I am a victim of serious crime cooperating with law enforcement.  For this, the Office of Civil and Forensic MEntal Health swore out
a restraining order against me and won.  I had been calling attention to demonstrable false charting and open perjury.  Not I’m crazy
and my shrink is a liar perjury.  Rather, I swore out the affidavit with notary seal the day before you arrived and it was the result of an
evaluation by a Government forensic expert.  I raised this, and its implications for medicare/medicaid billings at the State hospital,
and, poof, restraining order.

They always win, no matter how absurd the case.  This committee has that in evidence in my written testimony.

Most recently, they did it with an anti-semetic smear campaign, where they took a publication calling them out for the fabrication of a
record where they puppet “praise hitler, kill the jews” in my mouth, as a fresh police report.

I also have one where they invert the perjury I can show with that datestamp.  Same author I can identify.

This is why they got a PRO.

They can’t be trusted with this power.  My case is proof.  That proof is written testimony on the record.

I must therefore oppose this legislation.
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Aubrey Ellen Shomo 

 

f/k/a 

 

Justin Michael Shomo 

 

DIRECTLY IMPACTED PERSON STATEMENT 

 

United Nations 

 

Human Rights Committee 

 

Review of the United States under the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 

 

March 14, 2014 

 

 

 



My name is Aubrey Shomo and I'm a survivor of violations of the ICCPR by the United States when I 
was an adolescent.  I was perceived as a person with a mental illness -- paranoia -- and because of 
that my human and civil rights were considered unimportant by my Government. 

 

The State of Colorado was able to hold me in a psychiatric hospital against my will based on 
allegations by my family that were neither true nor subject to review.  When I demanded to file for a 
writ of habeas corpus, I was told I didn't have that right.  And when I protested I was taken to the 
floor and restrained.  I was held without the ability to seek the assistance of counsel or seek or 
contact any advocates outside the hospital that might be able to help. 

 

They claimed I was dangerous.  They claimed I was in a psychotic crisis.  I demanded due process 
of law and they ignored it. 

 

When they finally let me go, a man from the state came to my home each week.  Again I objected to 
what was happening.  I was required to take medication I didn't want.  I told them it was harming 
me: destroying my personality and mind.  They chose to ignore my pleas that they stop.  They 
thought they knew better than me and I would just have to suƯer for my own good.  Every visit, I 
repeated my objection. 

 

They knew my family was physically abusing me.  They knew my family lied to meet the criteria for 
forced treatment.  They didn't care.  They were acting for my own good so it was okay. 

 

After years of this, I finally got them to concede I did not meet their supposedly narrow criteria for 
the use of force, so instead they encouraged my family to find them a reason to continue.  After all, 
this was about helping someone. 

 

I, a battered child, was accused of battering my own mother in criminal court.  Again I demanded a 
hearing; I demanded a jury trial.  They threatened me.  They told me if I went to trial I would be 
denied my rights of adulthood, not as a criminal sanction but because of my mental illness.  They 
kept me in the home I was being beaten in, knowing if I tried to present a defense, my family would 
retaliate.  They wrote in the records I was paranoid while admitting to me they were merely using 
that as an excuse to ignore the abuse.  They were trying to help me. 

 

They denied me the right of counsel because they said there are special laws for people like me.  If I 
wanted a trial I'd have to prove I was being abused then go home with my family afterward. 

 



I begged for a trial and they secured a no contest plea by illegal force.  They made me say the words.  
For my own good.  Because there was no one to stop them. 

 

I was tortured.  My civil and due process rights under the covenant were denied on the grounds I 
had a mental illness.  And treating me against my will regardless of the law violated my right to be 
free from cruel and degrading treatment, as well as my rights to liberty and security of the person. 

 

Members of the Human Rights Committee, please, in the name of Humanity, inform the United 
States and all Governments that even people like me deserve civil rights. 



From: Bridget Clawson Braaten - CDHS
To: Amy - Ferrin; Leora Joseph - CDHS; Tyler Harrington; Sarah Richelson (She/Her)
Subject: Fwd: Ms. Clawson, perhaps you"d like to call the police on my new facebook banner?
Date: Tuesday, September 16, 2025 9:27:37 PM
Attachments: 1000006218.png

Bridget Clawson Braaten

Legal Operations Deputy

C 720-766-0998

bridget.clawson@state.co.us   I    www.colorado.gov

*Need to schedule a meeting with me? Please contact ricardo.silva@state.co.us

This email and any attachments from the Colorado Department of Human Services are confidential and
intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to which it is addressed. The information contained
herein may include protected or otherwise privileged information. Unauthorized review, forwarding, printing,
copying, distributing, or using such information is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you have
received this message in error, please notify the sender by replying to this message and delete the email
without further disclosure. 

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com>
Date: Tue, Sep 16, 2025 at 8:49 PM
Subject: Ms. Clawson, perhaps you'd like to call the police on my new facebook banner?
To: <bridget.clawson@state.co.us>, <bbraaten@colorado.gov>
Cc: <ohchr-archives@un.org>, <aot@treatmentadvocacycenter.org>,
<info@treatmentadvocacycenter.org>, <dora_mentalhealthboard@state.co.us>,
<dora_medicalboard@state.co.us>, <hrc-sr-minorityissues@un.org>,
<aubreyshomo@gmail.com>, "Dale Pugh" <dale@dalepughinvestigations.com>, "Patrick"
<patrick.fox@state.co.us>, <jeffrey.dorschner@usdoj.gov>, "Staff to Rep. Adams"
<Keith.Kelly@mail.house.gov>, "DOJ (CRT)" <Criminal.Correspondence@usdoj.gov>,
"sarah.decosse@usdoj.gov" <sarah.decosse@usdoj.gov>, "Victoria Lee" <vlee@ida-
secretariat.org>, "scronin@ohchr.org" <scronin@ohchr.org>,
<citycountyattorney@broomfield.org>, <council@broomfieldcitycouncil.org>, <ohchr-
civilsociety@un.org>, <ohchr-InfoDesk@un.org>, <info@ushrnetwork.org>, "Joseph E. -
DSD" <Joseph.Garcia@denvergov.org>, <melissa.ortega@denvergov.org>, "Kelly Perez -
GovOffice" <kelly.perez@state.co.us>, "Mary Kanan - DOC" <mary.kanan@state.co.us>,
"Dennis Goodwin" <dennis@protectcoloradochildren.org>, "Mark Noel"
<mark.noel@doc.state.co.us>, "Sally Skiver" <sally.skiver@state.co.us>, "Mark Bolton"
<mark.bolton@state.co.us>, "stephanie.donner@state.co.us" <stephanie.donner@state.co.us>,
"jacquline.arcelin@state.co.us" <jacquline.arcelin@state.co.us>, "Lisa Kreutzer-Lay"
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<lisa@protectcoloradochildren.org>, "Jennifer Brown" <jbrown@denverpost.com>,
"Christopher Osher" <cosher@denverpost.com>, "Alan Prendergast"
<alan.prendergast@westword.com>, "Melanie Asmar" <melanie.asmar@westword.com>,
"Patricia Calhoun" <Patricia.Calhoun@westword.com>, "donnie betts"
<dlbetts@nocredits.com>, "Maeve Conran" <maeve@kgnu.org>,
"irene.aguilar.senate@state.co.us" <irene.aguilar.senate@state.co.us>,
<randy.baumgardner.senate@state.co.us>, <bill.cadman.senate@state.co.us>,
<morgan.carroll.senate@state.co.us>, <john.cooke.senate@state.co.us>,
<larry.crowder.senate@state.co.us>, <kerry.donovan.senate@state.co.us>,
<leroy.garcia.senate@state.co.us>, <kevin.grantham.senate@state.co.us>,
<lucia.guzman.senate@state.co.us>, <rollie.heath.senate@state.co.us>,
"owen.hill.senate@state.co.us" <owen.hill.senate@state.co.us>,
<mary.hodge.senate@state.co.us>, <chris.holbert.senate@state.co.us>,
"cheri.jahn.senate@state.co.us" <cheri.jahn.senate@state.co.us>,
"mike.johnston.senate@state.co.us" <mike.johnston.senate@state.co.us>, "Matt Jones"
<senatormattjones@gmail.com>, <john.kefalas.senate@state.co.us>, "Andy Kerr"
<SenatorAndyKerr@gmail.com>, "Kent Lambert" <senatorlambert@comcast.net>,
"kevin@kevinlundberg.com" <kevin@kevinlundberg.com>,
<vicki.marble.senate@state.co.us>, <michael.merrifield.senate@state.co.us>,
<tim.neville.senate@state.co.us>, "Linda Newell" <linda.newell.senate@gmail.com>,
<ellen.roberts.senate@state.co.us>, <mark.scheffel.senate@state.co.us>, "Ray Scott"
<ray.scott.senate@state.co.us>, "Senator Sonnenberg" <senatorsonnenberg@gmail.com>,
"pat.steadman.senate@state.co.us" <pat.steadman.senate@state.co.us>, "Nancy Todd"
<nancy.todd.senate@state.co.us>, "Jessie Ulibarri" <senator.ulibarri@gmail.com>,
<laura.woods.senate@state.co.us>, <bethmartinezhumeniksd24@gmail.com>,
<jeni.arndt.house@state.co.us>, <jon.becker.house@state.co.us>,
<kcbecker.house@state.co.us>, <jpaul.brown.house@state.co.us>,
<john.buckner.house@state.co.us>, "Perry Buck" <perrybuck49@gmail.com>,
<terri.carver.house@state.co.us>, <kathleen.conti.house@state.co.us>,
<don.coram.house@state.co.us>, <lois.court.house@state.co.us>,
<jessie.danielson.house@state.co.us>, <brian@bdelgrosso.com>,
<tim.dore.house@state.co.us>, <crisanta.duran.house@state.co.us>,
<daneya.esgar.house@state.co.us>, <justin.everett.house@state.co.us>,
"rhonda.fields.house@state.co.us" <rhonda.fields.house@state.co.us>,
<mike.foote.house@state.co.us>, "joann.ginal.house@state.co.us"
<joann.ginal.house@state.co.us>, "Millie Hamner" <rephamner@gmail.com>,
<dl.hullinghorst.house@state.co.us>, "rephumphrey48@yahoo.com"
<rephumphrey48@yahoo.com>, "janak.joshi.house@state.co.us"
<janak.joshi.house@state.co.us>, <repkagan@gmail.com>, <jon.keyser.house@state.co.us>,
<klingenschmitt.house@state.co.us>, "Tracy Kraft-Tharp" <reptracy29@gmail.com>,
"lois.landgraf.house@state.co.us" <lois.landgraf.house@state.co.us>,
<polly.lawrence.house@state.co.us>, <steve.lebsock.house@state.co.us>,
<pete.lee.house@state.co.us>, "susan.lontine.house@state.co.us"
<susan.lontine.house@state.co.us>, <paul.lundeen.house@state.co.us>, "Beth McCann"
<beth.mccann.house@state.co.us>, <jovan.melton.house@state.co.us>,
<diane.mitschbush.house@state.co.us>, <dominick.moreno.house@state.co.us>,
<clarice.navarro.house@state.co.us>, <patrick.neville.house@state.co.us>,
<dan.nordberg.house@state.co.us>, <dan.pabon.house@state.co.us>,
<brittany.pettersen.house@state.co.us>, "dianne.primavera.house@state.co.us"
<dianne.primavera.house@state.co.us>, "Kevin Priola" <kpriola@gmail.com>,
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<bob.rankin.house@state.co.us>, <kim.ransom.house@state.co.us>,
<kit.roupe.house@state.co.us>, <su.ryden.house@state.co.us>,
<lori.saine.house@state.co.us>, <joseph.salazar.house@state.co.us>,
"jonathan.singer.house@state.co.us" <jonathan.singer.house@state.co.us>,
<libby.szabo.house@state.co.us>, <jack.tate.house@state.co.us>, "Dan Thurlow"
<danthurlow55@gmail.com>, "Edward Vigil" <edvigil1@gmail.com>,
<yeulin.willett.house@state.co.us>, <angela.williams.house@state.co.us>,
<james.wilson.house@state.co.us>

Ms. Clawson, perhaps you'd like to call the police on my new facebook banner?

Jay Hemphill would've loved it.

----------------------------------------------------
Aubrey Ellen Shomo
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From: Bridget Clawson Braaten - CDHS
To: Sarah Richelson (She/Her); Tyler Harrington; Leora Joseph - CDHS
Subject: Fwd: Presci: The Mental Health System Creates Mass Shootings
Date: Tuesday, September 9, 2025 10:53:25 AM

Bridget Clawson Braaten

Legal Operations Deputy

C 720-766-0998

bridget.clawson@state.co.us   I    www.colorado.gov

*Need to schedule a meeting with me? Please contact ricardo.silva@state.co.us

This email and any attachments from the Colorado Department of Human Services are confidential and
intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to which it is addressed. The information contained
herein may include protected or otherwise privileged information. Unauthorized review, forwarding, printing,
copying, distributing, or using such information is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you have
received this message in error, please notify the sender by replying to this message and delete the email
without further disclosure. 

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: CORA - CDHS, CDHS <cdhs_cora@state.co.us>
Date: Tue, Sep 9, 2025 at 8:06 AM
Subject: Fwd: Presci: The Mental Health System Creates Mass Shootings
To: Bridget Clawson - CDHS <bridget.clawson@state.co.us>

Christine Duffy
CORA Manager

C 303.819.6942  
1575 Sherman Street, Denver, CO 80203

CDHS_CORA@state.co.us I  cdhs.colorado.gov 
Contact the Colorado Department of Human Services
Records requests | Colorado Department of Human Services

Under the Colorado Open Records Act (CORA), all messages sent by or to me on this

mailto:bridget.clawson@state.co.us
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state-owned e-mail account may be subject to public disclosure.
Confidentiality Statement:   This email and any attachments from the Colorado
Department of Human Services are confidential and intended solely for the use of the
individual or entity to which it is addressed.  The information contained herein may
include protected or otherwise privileged information.   Unauthorized review,
forwarding, printing, copying, distributing, or using such information is strictly
prohibited, and may be unlawful.  If you have received this message in error, please
notify the sender by replying to this message and delete the email without further
disclosure.

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@verofiber.com>
Date: Mon, Sep 8, 2025 at 8:13 PM
Subject: Presci: The Mental Health System Creates Mass Shootings
To: Brian Lunsford <blunsford@broomfield.org>, bmasonda17.state.co.us
<bmason@da17.state.co.us>, cdhs_cmhip.info@state.co.us <cdhs_cmhip.info@state.co.us>,
cdhs_cora@state.co.us <cdhs_cora@state.co.us>, cdhs_oaadsgeneral_inquiries@state.co.us
<cdhs_oaadsgeneral_inquiries@state.co.us>, citycountyattorney@broomfield.org
<citycountyattorney@broomfield.org>, contact7@denver7.com <contact7@denver7.com>,
Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com>, attorney.general@coag.gov
<attorney.general@coag.gov>, denver-editorial@westword.com <denver-
editorial@westword.com>, dora_medicalboard@state.co.us
<dora_medicalboard@state.co.us>, dora_mentalhealthboard@state.co.us
<dora_mentalhealthboard@state.co.us>, dwalts@broomfield.org <dwalts@broomfield.org>,
gifted@gifteddevelopment.com <gifted@gifteddevelopment.com>, governorpolis@state.co.us
<governorpolis@state.co.us>, info@treatmentadvocacycenter.org
<info@treatmentadvocacycenter.org>, mrule@da17.state.co.us <mrule@da17.state.co.us>,
newstips@denver7.com <newstips@denver7.com>, patricia.calhoun@westword.com
<patricia.calhoun@westword.com>, slozada@broomfield.org <slozada@broomfield.org>,
tips@denverpost.com <tips@denverpost.com>, dora@aubreyshomo.net
<dora@aubreyshomo.net>, council@broomfieldcitycouncil.org
<council@broomfieldcitycouncil.org>, aubrey@aubreyshomo.net
<aubrey@aubreyshomo.net>, Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@mail.com>, Aubrey Shomo
<ashomo@verofiber.com>, aot@treatmentadvocacycenter.org
<aot@treatmentadvocacycenter.org>

Presci: The Mental Health System Creates Mass Shootings
 
They always lie in their records, they always either lie or so distort what anyone has said that they
look violent.
 
I've shown that time and again in my life.
 
They do this because they know, even cheating, they will know no sanctions.
 
If you're identified as mentally ill you do not expect procedural due process in America.
 
The feds say, if you have a dispute, take it to Court.
 
What if you know Court is a cheating lie, as I have, here demonstrated?
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What if you know there's no hope of reasoning with your providers, because they're too busy
covering their own asses and making sure you look as bad as posisble.
 
You always point to reocrds and say, "Why did no one stop this person?"
 
I point to records and say, "You left them no choice, when you told all those bullshit lies in the first
place, and denied them a day in Court to dispute it."
 
You're making shooters with how you abuse power, civil rights and freedom.
 
You're making shooters because they know there is nowhere to turn, because of how you do
business.
 
You're creating your own violence.
 
More later, when I calm down.
 
***  This is not a threat.  As you have all always known, I fight to win.  This is political speech. 
Without feds, though, I know I would face retribution for saying it. ***
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Aubrey Ellen Shomo 

 

f/k/a 

 

Justin Michael Shomo 

 

DIRECTLY IMPACTED PERSON STATEMENT 

 

United Nations 

 

Human Rights Committee 

 

Review of the United States under the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 

 

March 14, 2014 

 

 

 



My name is Aubrey Shomo and I'm a survivor of violations of the ICCPR by the United States when I 
was an adolescent.  I was perceived as a person with a mental illness -- paranoia -- and because of 
that my human and civil rights were considered unimportant by my Government. 

 

The State of Colorado was able to hold me in a psychiatric hospital against my will based on 
allegations by my family that were neither true nor subject to review.  When I demanded to file for a 
writ of habeas corpus, I was told I didn't have that right.  And when I protested I was taken to the 
floor and restrained.  I was held without the ability to seek the assistance of counsel or seek or 
contact any advocates outside the hospital that might be able to help. 

 

They claimed I was dangerous.  They claimed I was in a psychotic crisis.  I demanded due process 
of law and they ignored it. 

 

When they finally let me go, a man from the state came to my home each week.  Again I objected to 
what was happening.  I was required to take medication I didn't want.  I told them it was harming 
me: destroying my personality and mind.  They chose to ignore my pleas that they stop.  They 
thought they knew better than me and I would just have to suƯer for my own good.  Every visit, I 
repeated my objection. 

 

They knew my family was physically abusing me.  They knew my family lied to meet the criteria for 
forced treatment.  They didn't care.  They were acting for my own good so it was okay. 

 

After years of this, I finally got them to concede I did not meet their supposedly narrow criteria for 
the use of force, so instead they encouraged my family to find them a reason to continue.  After all, 
this was about helping someone. 

 

I, a battered child, was accused of battering my own mother in criminal court.  Again I demanded a 
hearing; I demanded a jury trial.  They threatened me.  They told me if I went to trial I would be 
denied my rights of adulthood, not as a criminal sanction but because of my mental illness.  They 
kept me in the home I was being beaten in, knowing if I tried to present a defense, my family would 
retaliate.  They wrote in the records I was paranoid while admitting to me they were merely using 
that as an excuse to ignore the abuse.  They were trying to help me. 

 

They denied me the right of counsel because they said there are special laws for people like me.  If I 
wanted a trial I'd have to prove I was being abused then go home with my family afterward. 

 



I begged for a trial and they secured a no contest plea by illegal force.  They made me say the words.  
For my own good.  Because there was no one to stop them. 

 

I was tortured.  My civil and due process rights under the covenant were denied on the grounds I 
had a mental illness.  And treating me against my will regardless of the law violated my right to be 
free from cruel and degrading treatment, as well as my rights to liberty and security of the person. 

 

Members of the Human Rights Committee, please, in the name of Humanity, inform the United 
States and all Governments that even people like me deserve civil rights. 
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Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com>

oh well...
Eli Havivi <Ehavivi@bdgso.org> Thu, Mar 3, 2016 at 12:44 PM
To: Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubrey@aubreyshomo.net>
Cc: Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com>

Aubrey – Let’s start this way, via email, we can catch up by phone later.

 

So, first of all, you are already Bat Mitzvah – that is, you are an adult, and you are Jewish. You count in a minyan, and you
are part of the Jewish community.

 

Another way of looking at the Bat Mitzvah “occasion,” is seeing Bat Mitzvah is a public marking of Jewish coming of age.
For folks doing Bat Mitzvah later in life, it’s kind of an affirmation of Jewish identity, “I am here, I am part of this
community.” As a youth, it’s often accompanied by an exhibition of competency in ritual – having an aliya and saying the
blessings at the Torah, and/or reading from the Torah, and/or leading the congregation in prayer. And it can be the same
for an adult.

 

And what we do is VERY flexible – Here are a few thoughts:

 

you could recite the blessing in Hebrew at the Torah on a Saturday morning or (for a more intimate gathering of folks) at a
Saturday afternoon service (we typically have Saturday afternoon services at 5:45 PM), you could invite some friends/
they could throw candy at you (or not), and call it a day. And then you can invite friends out to celebrate.

 

In fact, you could skip the entire synagogue piece, just have the celebration, and at that celebration, give a talk about
Torah and Judasim, and about why you are celebrating  this moment in your Jewish life. (That’s actually what the
Orthodox and Habad do – they don’t have women do things in synagogue).

 

Back to the synagogue idea…. You could learn to chant a Torah reading (again, on Shabbat afternoon or Shabbat
morning services).

 

How is your Hebrew? And…. Can you sing?

Your thoughts? How did you imagine this?

eli
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From:

To:

Cc:

Date:

This is a bomb threat.

"Aubrey Shomo" <ashomo@mail.com>

"Kehilas Bais Yisroel the MB Glassman Synagogue" <office@baisyisroel.com>, rabbichai@bmh-bj.org, "bethamiinfogmail.com"
<bethamiinfo@gmail.com>, newmanl201@gmail.com, amanda@judaismyourway.org, "Hannah McGinty"

<hm@harhashem.org>, "info@harhashem.org" <info@harhashem.org>, Cbtrabbi@gmail.com, caryn@judaismyourway.org,
casework@hickenlooper.senate.gov, hello@hickenlooper.com, "bmasonda17.state.co.us" <bmason@da17.state.co.us>,
Governorpolis@state.co.us, "Jennifer Herrington" <jh@harhashem.org>

"giftedgifteddevelopment.com" <gifted@gifteddevelopment.com>, info@bdgso.org, rabbi@bdgso.org, gclaussen@elon.edu,
cantormarty@bmh-bj.org, cantorjlichterman@gmail.com, director@bmh-bj.org, facilities@bmh-bj.org,

aubreyshomo@gmail.com, ashomo@engineer.com, office@bmh-bj.org, clergyassist@bmh-bj.org, njamieson@bmh-bj.org,
psdirector@bmhbjpreschool.org, "Aubrey Shomo" <ashomo@verofiber.com>, shalomlebowitz@gmail.com

Sep 10, 2025 2:59:27 PM

This is a bomb threat, per the clearly perjurious false reporting of CODHS, as previously detailed.



(The State always construes being told on to a superlative jurisdiction a bomb threat.  This time's the UN.)

BOMB THREAT FOLLOWS:

Sent: Thursday, June 05, 2025 at 5:46 AM
From: "Aubrey Shomo" <ashomo@mail.com>
Subject: ELC MESSAGE TRANSMIT: At request of USSS, CAT begins fueling.



Attachments

aa bomb threat.pdf
ab LK25017327 Axon Evidence.com Evidence Search Results.pdf



ac bomb threat source - lakewood pd.pdf
BROOMFIELD_RELIEF.pdf
CART minutes 4-10-14.pdf
image-png-attachment
image-png-attachment
image-png-attachment
ivandick.pdf
state codhs fingerprints on plea coercion.pdf
STATE KNEW SUMMARY.pdf
STATE KNEW SUPPLIMENTAL.pdf













 

BRIEF 
 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 
 

Q 
 

BROOMFIELD 
RELIEF 

 
 

2025 W 1324 / OFCMH vs Aubrey Ellen Shomo 

in the nature of official retaliation  

 























































Support The National Registry of Exonerations — Donate Now

3,580 EXONERATIONS SINCE 1989
MORE THAN 31,900 YEARS LOST

A PROJECT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA IRVINE NEWKIRK CENTER FOR SCIENCE & SOCIETY,
UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN LAW SCHOOL & MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF LAW

AUBREY ELLEN SHOMO

Other Colorado Exonerations

On February 11, 2016, Aubrey Ellen Shomo was
exonerated of a 2001 misdemeanor battery conviction
in Broomfield County, Colorado.

On July 15, 2001, Shomo, then known as Justin
Michael Shomo, was 16 and living with his mother.
Following two physical confrontations, the 54-year-old
woman called police and said Shomo had assaulted
her.

On September 10, 2001, Shomo, who had just turned
17, pled no contest to misdemeanor battery and received a deferred
adjudication, which he completed successfully.

The following year, Shomo completed a gender transition and changed her
name to Aubrey Ellen Shomo.

In 2014, Shomo sought to vacate the criminal conviction on the ground that
mental health officials had coerced the guilty plea without any defense
lawyer being involved and that in fact she had been the victim of an assault
by her mother, rather than the other way around.

By that time, Shomo’s mother had admitted to Shomo that she lied to police
about Shomo assaulting her. She said that she didn’t believe police would
actually arrest Shomo and she told Shomo that she “felt bad about what
happened, and reiterated that she did not think he would have been
charged.”

As a result, the State of Colorado's Child Protection Ombudsman reviewed
the case, and found that Shomo would not have been convicted had the
evidence been presented in court.

The report concluded that there were two altercations on the day in
question. “The first one involved name calling and physical contact over car
keys between the caretaker and the complainant,” the report said. “The
complainant [Shomo] sustained scratches from the caretaker [his mother].”

The second incident occurred in the Shomo’s bedroom when his mother
entered and demanded $10 for a purchase. “As a result, another physical
confrontation occurred in which the caretaker appeared to be the instigator
and aggressor,” the report said, and “[Shomo] sustained a bite injury.”

The report further stated that Shomo picked up a lantern-style flashlight
and warned his mother to stand back. She came after Shomo and swung her
arm, but Shomo intercepted the inbound blow with the flashlight. The
contact broke the lens and cut the palm of the mother’s hand, the report
said. And, the report concluded, although Shomo sustained injuries, there
was “no indication…that charges were considered for the caretaker for child
abuse/assault…The physical injuries documented in the police reports
support [Shomo’s] account more so than the caretaker’s account.”

State: Colorado

County: Broomfield

Most Serious
Crime:

Assault

Additional
Convictions:

Reported
Crime Date:

2001

Convicted: 2001

Exonerated: 2016

Sentence: Probation

Race/Ethnicity: White

Sex: Male

Age at the
date of
reported
crime:

16

Contributing
Factors:

Perjury or False
Accusation

Did DNA
evidence
contribute to
the
exoneration?:

No
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On February 11th, 2016, nearly fifteen years after Shomo was arrested, a
Broomfield County judge vacated Shomo’s no contest plea and dismissed
the case.

– Maurice Possley

Report an error or add more information about this case.

Posting Date: 4/22/2016

ABOUT THE REGISTRY

The National Registry of Exonerations is a project of the Newkirk Center for Science &
Society at University of California Irvine, the University of Michigan Law School and
Michigan State University College of Law. It was founded in 2012 in conjunction with the
Center on Wrongful Convictions at Northwestern University School of Law. The Registry
provides detailed information about every known exoneration in the United States since
1989—cases in which a person was wrongly convicted of a crime and later cleared of all the
charges based on new evidence of innocence. The Registry also maintains a more limited
database of known exonerations prior to 1989.

Support Our Work

CONTACT US

We welcome new information from any source
about exonerations already on our list and about
cases not in the Registry that might be
exonerations.

Tell us about an exoneration that we may have
missed

Correct an error or add information about an
exoneration on our list

Other information about the Registry

Sign up for our Newsletter

Follow Us:    
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NAME

DATE
September 15, 2025

DURATION
4m 22s

3 SPEAKERS
Tape Mark
Bridget Clawson Broughton
Aubrey Shomo

mic_20250915-135301.amr

START OF TRANSCRIPT

(Transcribed by Sonix.ai - Remove this message by upgrading your Sonix account)

[00:00:02] Tape Mark
It is 1353 on Monday, September 15th, 2025 and I am about to call and confront Bridget Clawson at co DHS for the
state's antisemitic smear campaign. At (720) 766-0998. Dialing now.

[00:00:56] Bridget Clawson Broughton
Hi, you've reached Bridget Clawson Broughton, the director of strategic initiatives for the Colorado Department of
Human Services. Please leave a message after the tone, and I'll give you a call as soon as I can. Thanks. At the tone,
please record your message. When you've finished recording, you may hang up or press one for more options. To
leave a callback number, press five.

[00:01:20] Aubrey Shomo
Miss Claussen, this is Aubrey Shomo. S h o m o calling to request that you cease and desist your and the state's anti-
Semitic smear campaign against myself. As you are well aware, I am Jewish. You continue to attempt to produce police
records indicating that I speak of the death of Jews, or otherwise are a threat to the Jewish community. This is false
reporting and it is a criminal act. You are well aware that the statements you are making are false. You, in your previous
call to the police, referred to your own fraudulent charting for things that were not said at the state hospital when I was
singing actually a klezmer music song, Nakam, and was stopped from speaking about it, and then you fraudulently
charted. I do not understand why you continue in your effort to paint me as an anti-Semite, when what I have done is
call you on your previous efforts and yet you persist in them. That is a hate crime. It is an act of anti-Semitism. And I
would ask you to please stop attacking me for being Jewish. Second of all, are you aware that when you have police
into someone's house, you fail to mention that the ten kiloton range is thermonuclear in nature? And your answer is, do
they have a weapon? You can get someone shot.

https://sonix.ai/
https://sonix.ai/?ref=mkt_pdf_export
https://sonix.ai/pricing?ref=mkt_pdf_export


[00:02:38] Aubrey Shomo
So for calling the state out on its fraudulent charting, where it cast me as someone saying Heil Hitler, praise Hitler, I
could pull the exact stuff. But of course you had the email. You were looking at it and then discussing, for instance, the
Macarena and the shuffle. That was your own charting that you were referring to, which you again attempted to put
words in my mouth with the police. I never said those things originally. I certainly didn't say those things recently. That
was a snippet of your own chart. You are attempting to paint me as a threat to the Jewish community quite fraudulently.
It is an act of anti-Semitism and you should be ashamed of yourself. And based on the way you're distorting my
statements, it looks like you're trying to get me shot. And I would like to hereby ask and demand that you cease and
desist and notify you that I have reported you to the police for false reporting. And I am telling the Jewish community on
you, if you would like to call and discuss this, rather than try to have me taken out for reporting the perjury by your
department, by all means, give me a call and let's talk rather than sending goons. I can be reached at 720420 4200.
Option one. But I don't believe you are honest enough to be interested in the conversation. I will be publishing your
reach out to Jefferson. Dispatch. Your name as an anti-Semite. And this voicemail I have just left you to the Jewish
community shortly upon the end of this call. Again, please cease and desist your anti-Semitic smear campaign at this
time.

[00:04:20] Tape Mark
The call has ended.

(Transcribed by Sonix.ai - Remove this message by upgrading your Sonix account)

END OF TRANSCRIPT

Automated transcription by Sonix 
www.sonix.ai
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CEASE AND DESIST
1 message

Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com> Mon, Sep 15, 2025 at 5:19 PM
To: bridget.clawson@state.co.us, bbraaten@colorado.gov
Cc: attorney.general@coag.gov
Bcc: ashomo@mail.com, aubreyshomo@gmail.com, ashomo@verofiber.com

CEASE AND DESIST

Miss Claussen, this is Aubrey Shomo. S h o m o calling to request that you cease and desist your and the 
state's anti-Semitic smear campaign against myself. As you are well aware, I am Jewish. You continue to attempt 
to produce police records indicating that I speak of the death of Jews, or otherwise are a threat to the Jewish 
community. This is false reporting and it is a criminal act. You are well aware that the statements you are 
making are false. You, in your previous call to the police, referred to your own fraudulent charting for things 
that were not said at the state hospital when I was singing actually a klezmer music song, Nakam, and was 
stopped from speaking about it, and then you fraudulently charted. I do not understand why you continue in your 
effort to paint me as an anti-Semite, when what I have done is call you on your previous efforts and yet you 
persist in them. That is a hate crime. It is an act of anti-Semitism. And I would ask you to please stop 
attacking me for being Jewish. Second of all, are you aware that when you have police into someone's house, you 
fail to mention that the ten kiloton range is thermonuclear in nature? And your answer is, do they have a 
weapon? You can get someone shot.

So for calling the state out on its fraudulent charting, where it cast me as someone saying Heil Hitler, praise 
Hitler, I could pull the exact stuff. But of course you had the email. You were looking at it and then 
discussing, for instance, the Macarena and the shuffle. That was your own charting that you were referring to, 
which you again attempted to put words in my mouth with the police. I never said those things originally. I 
certainly didn't say those things recently. That was a snippet of your own chart. You are attempting to paint 
me as a threat to the Jewish community quite fraudulently. It is an act of anti-Semitism and you should be 
ashamed of yourself. And based on the way you're distorting my statements, it looks like you're trying to get 
me shot. And I would like to hereby ask and demand that you cease and desist and notify you that I have 
reported you to the police for false reporting. And I am telling the Jewish community on you, if you would like 
to call and discuss this, rather than try to have me taken out for reporting the perjury by your department, by 
all means, give me a call and let's talk rather than sending goons. I can be reached at 720420 4200. Option 
one. But I don't believe you are honest enough to be interested in the conversation. I will be publishing your 
reach out to Jefferson. Dispatch. Your name as an anti-Semite. And this voicemail I have just left you to the 
Jewish community shortly upon the end of this call. Again, please cease and desist your anti-Semitic smear 
campaign at this time.

----------------------------------------------------
Aubrey Ellen Shomo

2 attachments

CEASE AND DESIST - Bridget Clawson.pdf
32 KB

CEASE AND DESIST - Bridget Clawson.wav
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Ms. Clawson, perhaps you'd like to call the police on my new facebook banner?
1 message

Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com> Tue, Sep 16, 2025 at 8:49 PM
To: bridget.clawson@state.co.us, bbraaten@colorado.gov
Cc: ohchr-archives@un.org, aot@treatmentadvocacycenter.org, info@treatmentadvocacycenter.org, dora_mentalhealthboard@state.co.us,
dora_medicalboard@state.co.us, hrc-sr-minorityissues@un.org, aubreyshomo@gmail.com, Dale Pugh
<dale@dalepughinvestigations.com>, Patrick <patrick.fox@state.co.us>, jeffrey.dorschner@usdoj.gov, Staff to Rep. Adams
<Keith.Kelly@mail.house.gov>, DOJ (CRT) <Criminal.Correspondence@usdoj.gov>, sarah.decosse@usdoj.gov <sarah.decosse@usdoj.gov>,
Victoria Lee <vlee@ida-secretariat.org>, scronin@ohchr.org <scronin@ohchr.org>, citycountyattorney@broomfield.org,
council@broomfieldcitycouncil.org, ohchr-civilsociety@un.org, ohchr-InfoDesk@un.org, info@ushrnetwork.org, Joseph E. - DSD
<Joseph.Garcia@denvergov.org>, melissa.ortega@denvergov.org, Kelly Perez - GovOffice <kelly.perez@state.co.us>, Mary Kanan - DOC
<mary.kanan@state.co.us>, Dennis Goodwin <dennis@protectcoloradochildren.org>, Mark Noel <mark.noel@doc.state.co.us>, Sally Skiver
<sally.skiver@state.co.us>, Mark Bolton <mark.bolton@state.co.us>, stephanie.donner@state.co.us <stephanie.donner@state.co.us>,
jacquline.arcelin@state.co.us <jacquline.arcelin@state.co.us>, Lisa Kreutzer-Lay <lisa@protectcoloradochildren.org>, Jennifer Brown
<jbrown@denverpost.com>, Christopher Osher <cosher@denverpost.com>, Alan Prendergast <alan.prendergast@westword.com>, Melanie
Asmar <melanie.asmar@westword.com>, Patricia Calhoun <Patricia.Calhoun@westword.com>, donnie betts <dlbetts@nocredits.com>,
Maeve Conran <maeve@kgnu.org>, irene.aguilar.senate@state.co.us <irene.aguilar.senate@state.co.us>,
randy.baumgardner.senate@state.co.us, bill.cadman.senate@state.co.us, morgan.carroll.senate@state.co.us,
john.cooke.senate@state.co.us, larry.crowder.senate@state.co.us, kerry.donovan.senate@state.co.us, leroy.garcia.senate@state.co.us,
kevin.grantham.senate@state.co.us, lucia.guzman.senate@state.co.us, rollie.heath.senate@state.co.us, owen.hill.senate@state.co.us
<owen.hill.senate@state.co.us>, mary.hodge.senate@state.co.us, chris.holbert.senate@state.co.us, cheri.jahn.senate@state.co.us
<cheri.jahn.senate@state.co.us>, mike.johnston.senate@state.co.us <mike.johnston.senate@state.co.us>, Matt Jones
<senatormattjones@gmail.com>, john.kefalas.senate@state.co.us, Andy Kerr <SenatorAndyKerr@gmail.com>, Kent Lambert
<senatorlambert@comcast.net>, kevin@kevinlundberg.com <kevin@kevinlundberg.com>, vicki.marble.senate@state.co.us,
michael.merrifield.senate@state.co.us, tim.neville.senate@state.co.us, Linda Newell <linda.newell.senate@gmail.com>,
ellen.roberts.senate@state.co.us, mark.scheffel.senate@state.co.us, Ray Scott <ray.scott.senate@state.co.us>, Senator Sonnenberg
<senatorsonnenberg@gmail.com>, pat.steadman.senate@state.co.us <pat.steadman.senate@state.co.us>, Nancy Todd
<nancy.todd.senate@state.co.us>, Jessie Ulibarri <senator.ulibarri@gmail.com>, laura.woods.senate@state.co.us,
bethmartinezhumeniksd24@gmail.com, jeni.arndt.house@state.co.us, jon.becker.house@state.co.us, kcbecker.house@state.co.us,
jpaul.brown.house@state.co.us, john.buckner.house@state.co.us, Perry Buck <perrybuck49@gmail.com>, terri.carver.house@state.co.us,
kathleen.conti.house@state.co.us, don.coram.house@state.co.us, lois.court.house@state.co.us, jessie.danielson.house@state.co.us,
brian@bdelgrosso.com, tim.dore.house@state.co.us, crisanta.duran.house@state.co.us, daneya.esgar.house@state.co.us,
justin.everett.house@state.co.us, rhonda.fields.house@state.co.us <rhonda.fields.house@state.co.us>, mike.foote.house@state.co.us,
joann.ginal.house@state.co.us <joann.ginal.house@state.co.us>, Millie Hamner <rephamner@gmail.com>,
dl.hullinghorst.house@state.co.us, rephumphrey48@yahoo.com <rephumphrey48@yahoo.com>, janak.joshi.house@state.co.us
<janak.joshi.house@state.co.us>, repkagan@gmail.com, jon.keyser.house@state.co.us, klingenschmitt.house@state.co.us, Tracy Kraft-
Tharp <reptracy29@gmail.com>, lois.landgraf.house@state.co.us <lois.landgraf.house@state.co.us>, polly.lawrence.house@state.co.us,
steve.lebsock.house@state.co.us, pete.lee.house@state.co.us, susan.lontine.house@state.co.us <susan.lontine.house@state.co.us>,
paul.lundeen.house@state.co.us, Beth McCann <beth.mccann.house@state.co.us>, jovan.melton.house@state.co.us,
diane.mitschbush.house@state.co.us, dominick.moreno.house@state.co.us, clarice.navarro.house@state.co.us,
patrick.neville.house@state.co.us, dan.nordberg.house@state.co.us, dan.pabon.house@state.co.us, brittany.pettersen.house@state.co.us,
dianne.primavera.house@state.co.us <dianne.primavera.house@state.co.us>, Kevin Priola <kpriola@gmail.com>,
bob.rankin.house@state.co.us, kim.ransom.house@state.co.us, kit.roupe.house@state.co.us, su.ryden.house@state.co.us,
lori.saine.house@state.co.us, joseph.salazar.house@state.co.us, jonathan.singer.house@state.co.us
<jonathan.singer.house@state.co.us>, libby.szabo.house@state.co.us, jack.tate.house@state.co.us, Dan Thurlow
<danthurlow55@gmail.com>, Edward Vigil <edvigil1@gmail.com>, yeulin.willett.house@state.co.us, angela.williams.house@state.co.us,
james.wilson.house@state.co.us
Bcc: ashomo@verobroadband.com, Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@mail.com>, Tina Minkowitz <tminkowitz@earthlink.net>,
donnie.betts@gmail.com, Kermit Cole <kermitcole@gmail.com>, Robert Whitaker <robert.b.whitaker@verizon.net>,
blogs@madinamerica.com <blogs@madinamerica.com>, infochabadbroomfield.com <info@chabadbroomfield.com>,
akoren@tegreensboro.org, jim.gottstein@psychrights.org, dale@dalepughinvestigations.com, Brian Lunsford <blunsford@broomfield.org>,
crazydiamondusa@gmail.com, dwaltsbroomfield.org <dwalts@broomfield.org>, citycountyattorney@broomfield.org,
council@broomfieldcitycouncil.org, giftedgifteddevelopment.com <gifted@gifteddevelopment.com>, aubreyshomo@gmail.com

Ms. Clawson, perhaps you'd like to call the police on my new facebook banner?



Jay Hemphill would've loved it.

----------------------------------------------------
Aubrey Ellen Shomo
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From:

To:

Cc:

Date:

Presci: The Mental Health System Creates Mass Shootings

"Aubrey Shomo" <ashomo@mail.com>

info@bethisraelcolorado.org, contact@cuboulderhillel.org, BAYColoradoSprings@gmail.com,
RabbiMendel@JewishStapleton.com, Wm.A.Korn@gmail.com, unitedhebrewcenter@gmail.com, rabbi@jccaspen.com,

zeraavraham@outlook.com, ChaimAbrams@zeraabraham.com, info@denverkollel.org, CARE@emanueldenver.org, mainoffice@rodef-
shalom.org, office@bnaichaim.org, office@aishrockies.org, thewaycongregation@gmail.com, info@HEAdenver.org,
manager@EDOSdenver.org, shalom@bethevergreen.org, akoren@tegreensboro.org, info@yidenver.org, info@denverkehillah.org,
jonathanblaine86@gmail.com, davidson.misty@gmail.com, office@bonaishalom.org, info@neveikodesh.org,
rabbidiane@neveikodesh.org, info@adventurerabbi.org, tbt@beit-torah.org, caryn@judaismyourway.org, dan@judaismyourway.org,
jlieber@JEWISHcolorado.org, rabbis@pardeslevavot.org, admin@bnaivail.org, chabadcolorado@msn.com,
kelli.theis@micahdenver.org, info@Jewish80238.com, info@denverjewishcenter.com, rabbi@du.edu, info@chabadbroomfield.com,
rabbi@bdgso.org, info@bdgso.org, chaya.silver@michadenver.org

dale@dalepughinvestigations.com, bmason@da17.state.co.us, dwalts@broomfield.org, blunsford@broomfield.org,
donnie.betts@gmail.com, crazydiamondusa@gmail.com, council@broomfieldcitycouncil.org,

citycountyattorney@broomfield.org, "giftedgifteddevelopment.com" <gifted@gifteddevelopment.com>, hello@hickenlooper.com,
casework@hickenlooper.senate.gov, Governorpolis@state.co.us, "bmasonda17.state.co.us" <bmason@da17.state.co.us>,
attorney.general@coag.gov, Llyd.Wells@sjc.edu

Sep 8, 2025 7:41:46 PM

Presci: The Mental Health System Creates Mass Shootings

They always lie in their records, they always either lie or so distort what anyone has said that they look violent.

I've shown that time and again in my life.

They do this because they know, even cheating, they will know no sanctions.

If you're identified as mentally ill you do not expect procedural due process in America.

The feds say, if you have a dispute, take it to Court.

What if you know Court is a cheating lie, as I have, here demonstrated?

What if you know there's no hope of reasoning with your providers, because they're too busy covering their own asses and
making sure you look as bad as posisble.

You always point to reocrds and say, "Why did no one stop this person?"

I point to records and say, "You left them no choice, when you told all those bullshit lies in the first place, and denied them a
day in Court to dispute it."

You're making shooters with how you abuse power, civil rights and freedom.

You're making shooters because they know there is nowhere to turn, because of how you do business.

You're creating your own violence.

More later, when I calm down.

***  This is not a threat.  As you have all always known, I fight to win.  This is political speech.  Without feds, though, I know I
would face retribution for saying it. ***
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Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com>

oh well...
Eli Havivi <Ehavivi@bdgso.org> Thu, Mar 3, 2016 at 12:44 PM
To: Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubrey@aubreyshomo.net>
Cc: Aubrey Ellen Shomo <aubreyshomo@gmail.com>

Aubrey – Let’s start this way, via email, we can catch up by phone later.

 

So, first of all, you are already Bat Mitzvah – that is, you are an adult, and you are Jewish. You count in a minyan, and you
are part of the Jewish community.

 

Another way of looking at the Bat Mitzvah “occasion,” is seeing Bat Mitzvah is a public marking of Jewish coming of age.
For folks doing Bat Mitzvah later in life, it’s kind of an affirmation of Jewish identity, “I am here, I am part of this
community.” As a youth, it’s often accompanied by an exhibition of competency in ritual – having an aliya and saying the
blessings at the Torah, and/or reading from the Torah, and/or leading the congregation in prayer. And it can be the same
for an adult.

 

And what we do is VERY flexible – Here are a few thoughts:

 

you could recite the blessing in Hebrew at the Torah on a Saturday morning or (for a more intimate gathering of folks) at a
Saturday afternoon service (we typically have Saturday afternoon services at 5:45 PM), you could invite some friends/
they could throw candy at you (or not), and call it a day. And then you can invite friends out to celebrate.

 

In fact, you could skip the entire synagogue piece, just have the celebration, and at that celebration, give a talk about
Torah and Judasim, and about why you are celebrating  this moment in your Jewish life. (That’s actually what the
Orthodox and Habad do – they don’t have women do things in synagogue).

 

Back to the synagogue idea…. You could learn to chant a Torah reading (again, on Shabbat afternoon or Shabbat
morning services).

 

How is your Hebrew? And…. Can you sing?

Your thoughts? How did you imagine this?

eli
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CART minutes 
April 10, 2014 
 
Present:  Dave DeLay, Mark Ivandick, Kerry Kendall, Jim Dean, Nita Bradford, Zim Olson, 
Aubrey Shomo, Amy Smith (by phone), David Burgess 
 
Announcements: 
 
Dave DeLay is working on a project to help people on TANF to qualify for SSI.  Bayaud will 
have Temple Grandin at their annual fundraiser – check your e mail inbox for details.  Dave is 
planning to retire at the end of June.  We hope to still see him at occasional CART meetings! 
 
David Burgess announced CHARG’s annual breakfast for supporters – April 30, 7:30 to 8:30, at 
the Fellowship Hall of Our Savior’s Lutheran Church, 920 Emerson Street.  Call Diana at 303-
830-8805 to register. 
 
Kerry Kendall recommends My Stroke of Insight by Jill Bolte Taylor. 
 
Aubrey was welcomed to her first CART meeting.  She served as a Survivors Delegate to the 
U.N., advocating for civil and political rights for survivors of mental health treatment. 
 
Nita is just back from her trip to Peru and Ecuador where she visited Machu Picchu, the Amazon 
and the Galapagos Islands. 
 
Zim is staffing a table for CHARG and Zim Math at a Resource Fair hosted by Community 
Connections on April 25. 
 
Amy is doing a lot in her community of Eckley – art workshops, coffee shop, and has been 
working with North East Behavioral Health around peer-run services.  It has just been announced 
that Colorado Access/Access Behavioral Care will take over the northeast region, and Amy is 
not sure of their level of commitment to peer-run services.  Amy will also be joining the board of 
the Legal Center this month. 
 
The remainder of the meeting was devoted to a report by Mark about the push from the Governor 
and some legislators to revamp the mental health laws, specifically efforts to make it easier to 
place an involuntary mental health hold and to facilitate easier civil commitments.  There has 
also been additional funding earmarked for crisis centers and hot line services, and these should 
be coming on line soon. 
 
There was particular concern among CART members about the proposals to delete the right to a 
jury trial in a civil commitment case, and the proposed removal of “imminent danger” language 
from the statutes authorizing mental health holds.  Our consensus is to oppose both of these 
efforts.  Mark circulated an information sheet put together by the Dept. of Human Services, 
endorsing these changes under the logos of nine different organizations which were among those 
represented on the Civil Commitment Statute Review Task Force – including NAMI, CCDC, 
MHAC, Colo. Mental Wellness Network and the Federation of Families, among others.  Mark 



was concerned that the impression has been given that the Task Force supported making these 
changes, whereas in fact it did not.  There is also some uncertainty about whether the 
organizations whose logos are printed on the sheet actually do support the changes.  For these 
reasons, the sheet has not been widely circulated and the legislation incorporating the changes – 
H.B. 1253 – has been delayed.  Also factoring into this is the fact that the NRA is our unlikely 
ally in this, as they also oppose the removal of the jury trial and the deletion of “imminent” 
language, both of which they feel could be used to limit gun owners’ rights. 
 
So it is likely that H.B. 1253 will not make it out of the legislature, though we can’t assume this, 
and Rep. McCann is now moving to re-convene the Task Force.  Stay tuned for further 
developments, and thanks to Mark for this update. 
 
Respectfully submitted 
David Burgess 
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County Court

Broomfield County, Colorado

Court Address: 17 Descombes Dr, Broomfield, СО
80020

People of the State of Colorado vs Aubrey Shomo

Attorney or Party Without Attorney: (Name & Address)

Party Without Attorney (pro se)

Aubrey Shomo

A COURT USE ONLY A

8002 W 12th Ave

Lakewood, CO 80214

Phone Number: 720-420-4200

Case Number:
FAX Number: N/A

2018 M 243
E-mail: aubreyshomo@gmail.com

Atty. Reg. #: None at this time
2018 M 171

Div.: Ctrm:

AFFIDAVIT CONCERNING EFFORTS TO OBTAIN ACCESS TO THE COMPETENCY MOTION

Defendant-exoneree in this jurisdiction on 9/10/2001 and 9/12/2001, relief (pathetic, but

constitutional) entered on 2/16/2016, and Defendant-convictee by procedural-due-process-less

guilty plea to the crime of criminal telling the police (Telephone Harassment: 2018 M 171;

Unreasonable Public Noise: 2018 M 243) in the instant matter, for the same reasons outlined in her

filings of 10/4/2024, but not repeated at length for this Court's convenience, and instead

incorporated herein by reference (up until “THE FORGOING TEXT WILL BE AT THE TOP OF ALL

AFFIDAVITS FILED THIS DAY."). This affidavit also informs a single motion filed this day to attempt to

achieve access to said record at last.

Defendant notes she has received ALL FOUR Orders of this Court, DENYING RECORD RETENTION

on 10/17/2024, and has received nothing since, to include the 10/23/2024 Orders of this Court, nor

as of this writing, any Orders of the District Court or other records therefrom.

Aes
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COUNTY COURT, CITY AND COUNTY OF 
DENVER 
 
1437 Bannock Street 
Denver, CO  80202 
Petitioner: Leora Joseph, on behalf of the Office of 
Civil and Forensic Mental Health 
 
v. 
Aubrey Shomo 
DOB 08/10/1984 
 COURT USE ONLY 
PHILIP J. WEISER, Attorney General 
ANN POGUE, First Assistant Attorney General* 
1300 Broadway, 10th Floor 
Denver, CO  80203 
Telephone: (720) 508-6591 
Fax: (720) 508-6041 
E-mail: ann.pogue@coag.gov 
Registration Number: 43137 
*Counsel of Record 

Case No. 25W1324  
 
Courtroom: 159 
 

NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL OF PETITIONER’S SUPPLEMENT TO ITS 
BRIEF ON SCOPE OF THE PERMANENT PROTECTION ORDER HEARING 

 
The State Department of Human Services, Office of Civil and Forensic 

Mental Health (OCFMH) (Petitioner), through the Office of the Attorney General, 
provides Notice that it is Withdrawing its Supplement to its Brief on Scope of the 
Permanent Protection Order Hearing. In support thereof, the Petitioner states the 
following: 

 
1. On November 25, 2025, the Petitioner filed its Brief on Scope of the 

Permanent Protection Order Hearing (Brief).  
 
2. On December 12, 2025, the Petitioner filed its Supplement to Its Brief on 

Scope of the Permanent Protection Order Hearing. 
 

3. After reviewing the proposed evidence by both parties, given the timing 
parameters of the hearing scheduled for tomorrow, December 17, 2025, and in the 
interest of judicial economy, Petitioner is hereby Rescinding its Supplement to Its 
Brief on Scope of the Permanent Protection Order Hearing. Petitioner continues to 
rely on its November 25, 2025, Brief regarding Petitioner’s request for the scope of 
the hearing. 
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PHILIP J. WEISER 
Attorney General 
 
 
/s/ Ann H. Pogue 
ANN H. POGUE, 43137* 
First Assistant Attorney General 
Human Services Unit 
State Services Section 
Attorneys for the Department 
*Counsel of Record 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

This is to certify that the Department’s NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL OF 
PETITIONER’S SUPPLEMENT TO ITS BRIEF ON SCOPE OF THE 
PERMANENT PROTECTION ORDER HEARING was served upon all parties 
herein email this 16th day of December 2025, addressed as follows: 

 

Aubrey Shomo 
ashomo@verofiber.com 

 

 

 

/s/ Tiffany Henry 

 

 

  

 

 

mailto:ashomo@verofiber.com






 
 

County Court, Denver, Colorado 
 
1437 Bannock St, # 159 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
 

Petitioner: 
 
Leola, Joseph on Behalf of Office of Civil and Forensic Mental 
Health 
 
V 
 
Respondent: 
 
Shomo, Aubrey 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

​​ COURT USE ONLY 

Party Without Attorney: 
 
Aubrey Ellen Shomo 
8002 W 12th Ave 
Lakewood, CO 80214 
 
Phone Number:   720-420-4200      E-mail: aubrey@aubreyshomo.net 
FAX Number:       720-420-4201       Atty. Reg. #: N/A 

 
Case Number:  2025 W 1324 
 
 
 
Division               Courtroom  159 
 

NOTICE RECORDS REQUEST CONTACT PROVIDED BY PETITIONER, SAME AS PETITIONER’S EXHIBITS 1-4 
 

 

Respondent hereby NOTIFIES THE COURT that, pursuant to its 6/12 ORDER, clarified on 6/13, Petitioner’s 
counsel Ms. Pogue has provided a contact to continue her records requests. 

 

Said provision is attached hereto. 

 

Said contact is cdhs_cora@state.co.us. 

 

This is, in fact, the very same contact to which each of the four Exhibits filed by Petitioner were sent. 

 

THE EMPEROR IS NAKED 

 

This communication is filed for the following purposes: 

1)​ To avoid arrest when utilizing it, per Pogue’s instructions 
2)​ To substantiate a forthcoming MOTION TO VACATE PRO ON PETITIONER’S STIPULATION 

a)​ With argument, said stipulation is hereby enclosed, and nothing beyond its face and the plain 
meaning thereon is alleged 

3)​ To substantiate a motion for sanctions, occasioned by this laying bare counsel’s intentions with this 
proceeding: A disposition to point to in other arenas, not safety in any way. 

 

Submitted this 17th (seventeenth) day of February, 2026. / Electronically signed by Aubrey Ellen Shomo. 

 

RETURN OF SERVICE 

 

mailto:cdhs_cora@state.co.us


 
 

This filing has been served, this day, upon Petitioner’s counsel of Record by electronic mail at 
ann.pogue@coag.gov. 

 

 

 

mailto:ann.pogue@coag.gov


RE: Ms Pogue: How do I continue CORA request pursuit?

From: Ann Pogue (She/Her) Ann.Pogue@coag.gov
To: Aubrey Shomo ashomo@verofiber.com
Cc: Tiffany Henry Tiffany.Henry@coag.gov
Sent: Tuesday, February 17 at 7:18 AM

[External]

Good morning, Ms. Shomo,
 
You can continue to bring CORA requests to the CORA email at:
 
cdhs_cora@state.co.us
 
Thank you.
 
Best,
 
Ann Pogue (She/Her)
First Assistant Attorney General
Human Services Unit
State Services Section
(720) 508-6591
 

From: Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@verofiber.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 29, 2026 6:58 PM

To: Ann Pogue (She/Her) <Ann.Pogue@coag.gov>

Cc: Tiffany Henry <Tiffany.Henry@coag.gov>; Attorney General <ag@coag.gov>;

Polis - GOVOffice, Governor <governorpolis@state.co.us>;

dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org

Subject: Ms Pogue: How do I continue CORA request pursuit?

 
How do I continue CORA request pursuit?
 
Ms. Pogue:  I can provide my requests and statuses in a table if you like.
 
Thanks,
Aubrey Shomo
 
Get Outlook for Android

mailto:Ann.Pogue@coag.gov
mailto:ashomo@verofiber.com
mailto:Tiffany.Henry@coag.gov
mailto:cdhs_cora@state.co.us
tel:+17205086591
mailto:ashomo@verofiber.com
mailto:Ann.Pogue@coag.gov
mailto:Tiffany.Henry@coag.gov
mailto:ag@coag.gov
mailto:governorpolis@state.co.us
mailto:dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org
https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Faka.ms%2FAAb9ysg&data=05%7C02%7Cashomo%40verofiber.com%7Cfeefeedb830f4b04428908de6e2f6350%7C0940bf442e3443ccb81492c0da2ed3f9%7C0%7C0%7C639069346994081557%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=n8BtRpLglqayhp38bn6NLyQp0qfyxzMKZb3dO9kESDQ%3D&reserved=0


 

From: Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@verofiber.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 29, 2026 7:53:03 AM

To: Ann Pogue (She/Her) <ann.pogue@coag.gov>

Cc: Tiffany Henry <tiffany.henry@coag.gov>; attorney.general@coag.gov

<attorney.general@coag.gov>; Polis - GOVOffice, Governor

<governorpolis@state.co.us>; dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org

<dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org>

Subject: Ann: Done for now.  Will write and CC court later one more about unit

J2 and average longevity and bed allocations.

 
Ann: Done for now.  Will write and CC court later one more about unit J2
and average longevity and bed allocations.
 
The CORA matter.
 
Get Outlook for Android

From: Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@verofiber.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 29, 2026 7:50:15 AM

To: Ann Pogue (She/Her) <ann.pogue@coag.gov>

Cc: Tiffany Henry <tiffany.henry@coag.gov>; attorney.general@coag.gov

<attorney.general@coag.gov>; Polis - GOVOffice, Governor

<governorpolis@state.co.us>; dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org

<dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org>

Subject: Re: Ann: I launched exhibit 4d. FYI. It is not barred by PRO.

 
Cheating court bockmann.
 
Exigency arises from current matter's effect on ability to get life saving
asbestos treatment.  That gets it through the slot.  From there, to the
nations.  Also true, as state under oath in instant proceeding.
 
Instant proceeding underlies also Iraq case elements.
 
The "bomb" part is 1/2 page of 20.
 
Get Outlook for Android

From: Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@verofiber.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 29, 2026 7:42:50 AM

To: Ann Pogue (She/Her) <ann.pogue@coag.gov>

Cc: Tiffany Henry <tiffany.henry@coag.gov>; attorney.general@coag.gov

mailto:ashomo@verofiber.com
mailto:ann.pogue@coag.gov
mailto:tiffany.henry@coag.gov
mailto:attorney.general@coag.gov
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<attorney.general@coag.gov>; Polis - GOVOffice, Governor

<governorpolis@state.co.us>; dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org

<dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org>

Subject: Re: Ann: I launched exhibit 4d. FYI. It is not barred by PRO.

 
Correction:  Iraq was not in probable cause statement's presci form.
 
Get Outlook for Android

From: Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@verofiber.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 29, 2026 7:42:03 AM

To: Ann Pogue (She/Her) <ann.pogue@coag.gov>

Cc: Tiffany Henry <tiffany.henry@coag.gov>; attorney.general@coag.gov

<attorney.general@coag.gov>; Polis - GOVOffice, Governor

<governorpolis@state.co.us>; dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org

<dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org>

Subject: Re: Ann: I launched exhibit 4d. FYI. It is not barred by PRO.

 
And do recall I've been harping on Iraq, the war justification, and abu
grihab.
 
That's a presci that was in the probable cause statement.
 
Get Outlook for Android

From: Aubrey Shomo <ashomo@verofiber.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 29, 2026 7:36:31 AM

To: Ann Pogue (She/Her) <ann.pogue@coag.gov>

Cc: Tiffany Henry <tiffany.henry@coag.gov>; attorney.general@coag.gov

<attorney.general@coag.gov>; Polis - GOVOffice, Governor

<governorpolis@state.co.us>; dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org

<dcccourtroom159@denvercountycourt.org>

Subject: Ann: I launched exhibit 4d. FYI. It is not barred by PRO.

 
I launched exhibit 4d.  FYI.  It is not barred by PRO.
 
I  made an ex-parte case on adverse inference from cheating court the
usa did 9/11 and found PROBABLE CAUSE.
 
By email.
 
Now, I am off to the UN in jurisdictional parallel with United States and
actions in your comical judiciary.
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You're on notice if you want to move the Court.
 
Get Outlook for Android
 
P.S. Yes, I think this is a game.  The State does and I've called it out.  To
courtroom comment 10/28 after court.  Likely clerk or CBI.
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BRIEF ON SCOPE OF TRIAL 
 

Respondent, Aubrey Ellen Shomo, f/k/a Justin Michael Shomo, hereby briefs the Court as follows, 
pursuant to its order at the 10/28/2025 hearing, as to the scope of trial: 
 

1.​ Petitioner identified four communications in their petition, affirmed at the 10/28/2025 hearing by 
Petitioner, and stipulated that said four communications were provided to the Court as Exhibits by 
Respondent. 

2.​ Petitioner did not identify which four Exhibits they intended, but Respondent believes Petitioner will 
agree those four communications were attached as Exhibits B, C, D, and P to the Answer, Exhibit P being 
the last exhibit attached thereto, and B, C, and D, merely following the Cease and Desist letter I had 
transcribed, attached as Exhibit A. 

 
ACTUAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 
3.​ Exhibit B is alleged to constitute communication 4(c) of the long form of the VERIFIED MOTION and 

the first half of 4(c) of the Colorado Judiciary Court Form VERIFIED MOTION, the second half of 4(c) 
being 4(d) on the long form, treated below, last, as Exhibit P. 

4.​ Exhibit C is alleged to constitute communication 4(a) of both forms of the VERIFIED MOTION. 
5.​ Exhibit D is alleged to constitute communication 4(b) of both forms of the VERIFIED MOTION. 
6.​ Exhibit P is alleged to constitute communication 4(d) of the long form of the VERIFIED MOTION, and 

the second half of 4(c) on the Colorado Judiciary Court Form VERIFIED MOTION, which was broken 
out into 4(d) in the full draft as opposed to form version. 

 
ATTACHMENTS TO ACTUAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 
7.​ Exhibit B includes the exact communication identified in 4(c), as per #3 above, as well as a parallel 

communication, MAKING CONTEXT UNAMBIGUOUS, in case the authority statement in the first 
message was not, that this was not a threat, which itself includes an attachment showing that this meaning 
is not merely within the idiosyncratic understanding of Respondent, but is a meaning of which Petitioner 
would have been aware.  The parallel communication quotes, in its entirety, the 4(c) communication and 

 



 
provides said context, was transmitted on the same day, and merely extends evidence in line with the 
assertion in the communication, itself, which cannot be understood by any reasonable person as a threat of 
unlawful action. 

8.​ That this message was communicated alongside the message in question, is consistent with it, and to the 
same recipients, it is admissible as part of the exchange for the Court to determine whether (1) a threat 
was intended, (2) whether petitioner reasonably understood a threat of unlawful violence, (3) whether any 
reasonable person would, (4) whether there’s a true threat of violence, though this shows the opposite of 
recklessness, and ultimately (5) whether a threat of physical harm exists to Petitioner. 

9.​ Therefore *both* messages in Exhibit B are requested admitted. 
10.​ Exhibits C and D lack attachments. 
11.​ Exhibit P, the communication stipulated by Petitioner to constitute the scope of their complaint, contained 

the following attachments: 
a.​ A closeup of the “Bomb Threat” a facebook post, atting the United States Secret Service, 

and relevant current and former presidents. 
b.​ A closeup of the Lakewood Police’s listing of this as evidence for case LK250173. 
c.​ The full digital evidence list for LK250173, showing this is the only communication 

associated therewith in their evidence. 
d.​ Electronic communications with Lakewood Police about this. 
e.​ A copy of the relief order from the 9/10/2001 plea coercion case, ICON/ECLIPSE 

computer printout, and relief motions, in Broomfield Municipal Court, coerced nolo plea 
pursuant to a deferred judgement, later dismissed, withdrawn as unconstitutional and case 
overturned, post-dismissal, dismissed by Court, not upon successful completion in the 
index. 

f.​ The minutes of a meeting of CART, a local psychiatric consumer/survivor stakeholder 
interest group, comprising leaders or representatives from many prominent organizations, 
unanimously authorizing my efforts to kill HB14-1253 (“Save the Jury Trial”) and 
HB14-1386 (not the Gun Lobby), which were successful. 

g.​ A letter from Mark Ivandick of the Disability Law Center, the States’s Protection and 
Advocacy for Persons with Mental Health Disabilities, indicating said legislation was not 
approved of by the various stakeholders represented to have endorsed it. 

h.​ Three attachments, consisting of the same contents as Exhibit I, the first two pages, 
excluding the audio recording, and page 10 of Exhibit H, page 43 overall of the packet, 
establishing the 2001 sexual abuse case of a minor had been real. 

 
12.​ Exhibit P, as provided to this Court, included only attachments #a-d to the communication. 
13.​ A motion to admit the remaining attachments, #e-g, TO SAID ACTUAL COMMUNICATION ITSELF, 

as identified to be the case in chief by Petitioner, as exhibits to this Brief, is hereby filed this day. 
14.​ Each such attachment, forming part of the basis communication itself, is admissible. 
15.​ These attachments show that Respondent was communicating about bona fide civil rights activism with 

legislative impact (successful bill kills) in the very communications Petitioner wants to present as a threat. 
16.​ Respondent contends that this is the actual nature of the threat (political) CODHS wishes to forstall. 
17.​ In that that goes to the question of whether these communications constitute threats for purposes of a 

restraining order, the question itself is admissible. 
 

ADDITIONAL CONTEXT: POLICE REPORTS 
 

18.​ Communication 4(c) (Exhibit C) directly calls out Bridget Clawson for attempting, unsuccessfully, the 
same action CODHS is attempting before this Court, with Lakewood PD, starting on 6/4/2025, and 
continuing DIRECTLY into the filing of this action, as shown by the reference thereto in communication 
4(c), as well as by being from OVERLAPPING DATE RANGES with the communications in question, 
for her prior police report. 

19.​ Bridget Clawson is expressly named as a protected person in the petition. 
20.​ Bridget Clawson is under subpoena, service waived by counsel, to personally appear for cross 

examination. 

 



 
21.​ Bridget Clawson is employed by CODHS as counsel, and has acted in the attempt at the current matter, 

just before it reached this Court, on behalf of CODHS and therefore Petitioner. 
22.​ The entirety of that similar and immediately prior attempted action with the Lakewood PD is both 

*context* to the communication, on its face, as well as included in communication 4(d), a message 
considered case in chief by Petitioner. 

23.​ Therefore the prior statements by CODHS construing statements as threats in the continuing context of 
this communication line is admissible at trial. 

24.​ These statements are scandalous, and Petitioner will try to exclude them for that reason, but they are also 
probative as follows: 

a.​ Shows CODHS engaging in a pattern of making threats up and quoting out of context to produce 
a threat where there was none 

b.​ Shows CODHS doing this with their own prior false charting, and literally putting words in 
Petitioner’s mouth 

c.​ Shows CODHS therefore making inconsistent statements about their perception of a threat. 
d.​ Demonstrate the actual intent of the complaint, which is to infringe constitutional rights. 

25.​ The statements scandalousness is itself probative. 
26.​ CODHS is on audio making these statements. 
27.​ Respondent therefore seeks to include, as relevant evidence, Bridget Clawson’s prior effort to do the 

same, and how abysmally that went, into evidence at trial. 
28.​ Respondent therefore seeks to admit at trial Exhibits G and O, for the defense.  These are the police 

reports.  Respondent has bodycam of the actual reports, in Ms. Clawson’s own voice, and transcripts 
thereof have been provided.  Respondent also has the 911 call audio.  She seeks to admit all of these 
items.  Similarly, Exhibit E is needed to establish how badly the first effort of CODHS to produce some 
“threats” in nine lines written by the most honest of men went, as it substantiates how jew killing as one 
of my threats basically kills this whole case.  Exhibit M, also, is requested, as that is the actual 
communication construed as a threat in that instance. 

29.​ This Court has already authorized the subpoena of Agent Gonzales of Lakewood Police. 
30.​ Respondent has footage of her interaction with Agent Gonzalez, which she reserves for impeachment, but 

does not anticipate needing it. 
 

ADDITIONAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 

31.​ In addition to the police report, and to substantiate that the communications Respondent is engaged in are 
both lifespan-impacting and reflect a valid issue, and that what Respondent is doing is anything but 
threatening, Respondent seeks to admit one other communication into evidence, and will move it 
separately to the remaining attachments to Exhibit P. 

32.​ Requested is an example of the communications not selected by CODHS, to demonstrate the totality of 
the communication stream.  This communication was sent Saturday, August 16th, to the same list and 
channels as communications 4(b), 4(c), and 4(d), subject line “Save my life.  In the land of the free, I 
should not have to fear cheating in Court to violence my brain for being raped, to get medical treatment.”. 

33.​ This is a single exemplar of the context of the communications, which affords the Court insight into 
whether the message stream is threatening. 

34.​ This communication includes parts of Exhibits K, E, I, and J, and brings them into the overall content of 
Respondent’s public communication Petitioner seeks to curtail. 

35.​ Petitioner mentioned he may have a comment at trial about the overall volume of Respondent’s published 
communications. 

36.​ Respondent proffers this message as a non-threatening reason why some people don’t shut up.  That and 
the rape issue.  Both of which CODHS may not like, but which do not amount to threats, and a 
government office can deal with pamphlets per the Constitution. 

37.​ Exhibit A is requested as a trial Exhibit.  I sent a CEASE AND DESIST.  They filed a PRO. 
 

PETITIONER’S THEORY 
 

 



 
38.​ In that Petitioner and Respondent agree on the communications, and the Court can plainly see there is not 

one actual threat among them, Petitioner has no case for a civil protection order. 
39.​ Petitioner, to prevail, would have to show that I am full of crap about all that stuff I said at length about 

not threatening anyone, and Petitioner, instead, has been caught trying to produce threats from thin air 
before. 

40.​ These efforts are motivated by an effort to curtail Respondent’s activism, as shown by the attachments to 
Exhibit P, one of Petitioner’s chosen communications, the addition of which to the record, as part of said 
at-issue communications is today moved. 

41.​ To claim communication 4(c) (Exhibit C) is a threat, Petitioner would have to shoot down my proposed 
meaning, which was understood by Bridget Clawson, CODHS, and all on Respondent’s mailing list at the 
time of the publication.  Said meaning being public pillory about the police report, parts of which are 
attached to communication 4(d) Exhibit P. 

 
SCOPE RESPONDENT IS NOT ASKING FOR 

 
42.​ Respondent does not seek to litigate the reality of her two, read: two, sexual assault cases, or the like, but 

does seek to admit that this began when she provided evidence of them in exhibit form, resulting in the 
context to these communications, and the false reporting complaint. 

43.​ That Respondent proffered evidence, and this construing non-threats as threats intentionally crap was the 
response to that, along with said scandalous antisemetic attack, they literally fabricated me making threats 
to “kill Jews” and traded on it, just before selecting different communications to go to this Court with, is 
probative as to the existence of a real threat. 

44.​ Similarly, Respondent does not seek to admit evidence the charting was false, unless CODHS wishes to 
claim said words were spoken by me, which can then be answered with Hoffman’s Perjury, pursuant to 
Exhibit F, whether it was false or not is not important, unless Petitioner wishes it to be so.  What matters 
is that it was what I was communicating about, and how it was construed. 

45.​ It is enough to establish that CODHS tried to take a communication I had not said, which was not even 
purported to be recent, and generate a police report about it as though it were a threat and not, on its face, 
by my allegation, a call out of false charting.  The only place the words appeared was in the chart.  Not in 
any communication from me.  This is sufficient without litigating the underlying dispute. 

46.​ Of the issues, prior to June of 2025, Respondent only seeks to show there is an ongoing (and therefore not 
meritless or frivolous) misconduct issue between her and CODHS, that Respondent is pursuing, outisde 
the instant matter, through all lawful means. 

 
RESPONDENT’S PROPOSED SCOPE 

 
47.​ Beginning June 2025 is the issue Petitioner raises, though they attempt to limit to communications that 

are intrinsically responsive to their efforts with the police, which demonstrate Respondent’s defense, 
requires the full interaction. 

48.​ This case has a pattern of taking non-threatening statements and trying to make them seem like threats to 
authorities.  I can show this.  I am entitled to impeach their case and witnesses. 

49.​ If a real threat existed, why rely on a different presentation to this Court, than that presented to Police?  
Why is the story changing? 

50.​ Respondent insists her recent July 4th, 2025 threat to “kill jews” be admitted, as well as the witness 
already under subpoena to speak to it.  Since Petitioner left it out of Petitioner’s petition and requested 
communication list, but it formed the focus of the effort until that failed. 

51.​ Petitioner's argument is undone by what Petitioner has been doing these last few months, since 6/4/2025. 
52.​ Therefore, the police reports, which are both valid context, referenced by, and partially included in the 

communications selected by Petitioner, are admissible and in scope, as is cross examination of Ms. 
Clawson, as to the Business Entity’s position, given her prior efforts. 

53.​ The Court is reminded that Bridget Clawson is the Business Entity that is the Protected Party’s counsel, 
though not appearing in this matter as advocate.  Impeaching her prior efforts is impeaching Petitioner’s 
case, and those efforts literally form the basis of Petitioner's present action. 

 



 
54.​ In short, Respondent proposes we cut to the issue, and if the Court wants to know whether to believe 

Respondent about there being no threats in the mix, on the face of the non-threats, or Petitioner about 
being threatened, the Court will have to consider the efforts Petitioner is willing to go to to find threats 
that are not there.  The emperor is naked, here. 

 
RESPONDENT’S DEFENSE 

 
55.​ The communications are not threats, no threat exists and the PRO must be denied. 
56.​ No reasonable person would understand said communications as threats, on their faces. 
57.​ The surrounding context leaves even less ambiguity. 
58.​ Additionally, any protestation by CODHS to be or feel threatened is absurd, as shown by admissible 

recent actions, directly connected to both the communications and the instant action, which contain 
instances of them construing statements as threats in a similar manner to how I allege they are doing it 
here, and which the Court can plainly see. 

59.​ The true motive to purport to be threatened of CODHS is the valid legal issue between us, which I am 
pursuing through ass *lawful* channels, and said pursuit is in progress, as is known to CODHS. 

60.​ Similarly, as I have, in the past, successfully fought curtailments of civil rights by CODHS, they seek to 
damage me politically with the granting of a PRO. 

61.​ Lastly, they wish I not speak of them in public where they might hear, i.e. publish about misconduct 
which is valid enough to be under multiple current investigations, the DORA investigation shown by 
evidence to this Court. 

62.​ #45, #46, and #47 is what they seek to achieve with this action, nothing more. 
63.​ There is no safety issue here. 
64.​ This is a bald retaliation. 
65.​ Respondent’s communications constitute publications, going to some 500 people, and are therefore 

protected by freedom of the press.  They are also free speech, and covered by the right to petition redress 
of grievances, insofar as government offices get a copy of broadly published materials. 

66.​ In that these cannot be construed as “true threats”, not because of how they were meant, nor recklessness, 
but on a no reasonable person standard, and they relate to conduct of a governmental entity, they are 
constitutionally protected and cannot be the subject of a civil protection order. 

 

Submitted this 12th (twelfth) day of November, 2025. / Electronically signed by Aubrey Ellen Shomo. 

 

RETURN OF SERVICE 

 

This filing has been served, this day, upon Petitioner’s counsel of Record by electronic mail at 
tyler.harrington@coag.gov. 

 

mailto:tyler.harrington@coag.gov
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ADDENDUM TO BRIEF ON SCOPE OF TRIAL 
 

Respondent, Aubrey Ellen Shomo, f/k/a Justin Michael Shomo, hereby SEEKS TO AMEND HER 
BRIEF to the Court as follows, pursuant to its order at the 10/28/2025 hearing, as to the scope of trial: 
 

1.​ Respondent, this day, the 12th of November, 2025, filed a BRIEF ON SCOPE OF TRIAL. 
2.​ Respondent neglected to mention Billy Wade, already subpoenaed and served via Counsel (Petitioner)’s 

waiver of service to appear by telephone. 
3.​ Mr. Wade is the individual identified to Respondent by Petitioner after the 10/28/2025 hearing, as the 

subject of Petitioner’s John Doe subpoena. 
4.​ Respondent seeks Mr. Wade’s testimony for two reasons: 

a.​ He can directly speak to the issue of any threat, as he would not have provided that information if 
he perceived there to be one. 

b.​ It establishes the defense beginning in June of 2025, demonstrating CODHS is not after what they 
have told the Court they are after. 

5.​ Respondent also seeks Mr. Wade’s testimony for all of the reasons outlined in her 10/22 MOTION TO BE 
PERMITTED TO IDENTIFY WITNESS AT PROTECTED LOCATION…, including but not limited to 
the expected testimony in paragraph #6 of that motion. 

6.​ The Court has already issued the subpoena and it has already been served. 
7.​ Respondent regrets this oversight, but believes this matter already resolved before the Court. 

 

Submitted this 12th (twelfth) day of November, 2025. / Electronically signed by Aubrey Ellen Shomo. 

 

RETURN OF SERVICE 

 

This filing has been served, this day, upon Petitioner’s counsel of Record by electronic mail at 
tyler.harrington@coag.gov. 

 

mailto:tyler.harrington@coag.gov
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COUNTY COURT, CITY AND COUNTY OF 
DENVER 
 
1437 Bannock Street 
Denver, CO  80202 
Petitioner: Leora Joseph, on behalf of the Office of 
Civil and Forensic Mental Health 
 
v. 
Aubrey Shomo 
DOB 08/10/1984 
 COURT USE ONLY 
PHILIP J. WEISER, Attorney General 
TYLER W. HARRINGTON, Assistant Attorney 
General* 
1300 Broadway, 10th Floor 
Denver, CO  80203 
Telephone: (720) 508-6092 
Fax: (720) 508-6041 
E-mail: tyler.harrington@coag.gov 
Registration Number: 53775 
*Counsel of Record 

Case No. 25W1324 
Division:   
 
Courtroom: 159 
 

PETITIONER’S BRIEF ON SCOPE OF THE PERMANENT PROTECTION 
ORDER HEARING 

 
The State Department of Human Services, Office of Civil and Forensic 

Mental Health (OCFMH) (Petitioner), through the Office of the Attorney General, 
provides its Brief on Scope of the Permanent Protection Order Hearing. In support 
thereof, the Petitioner states the following: 

 
1. Colorado law defines the scope and inquiry of a Permanent Protection Order 

hearing. Specifically, Colorado law states that a permanent protection order will be 
granted if, upon examination, the judge or magistrate finds by a preponderance of 
the evidence that (1) the Respondent has committed acts constituting grounds for 
issuance of a civil protection order; and (2) unless restrained, the Respondent will 
continue to commit such acts or acts designed to intimidate or retaliate against the 
protected person(s). § 13-14-106, C.R.S. (2025). A finding of imminent danger to the 
protected person(s) is not a necessary prerequisite to the issuance of a permanent 
civil protection order. Id.  

 
2. The Colorado Rules of Evidence define relevant evidence as evidence having 

any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the 
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determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without 
the evidence. Colorado Rule of Evidence Rule 401. 

 
3. Given these definitions, the Petitioner respectfully requests that the scope of 

the hearing be limited to argument and consideration of the following relevant 
evidence:  
 

a. The email communications provided by the Petitioner in the Motion 
for a Temporary Protection Order, dated (1) August 8, 2025, at 
11:31 a.m.; (2) September 8, 2025, at 8:13 p.m.; (3) September 10, 
2025, at 3:05 p.m.; and (4) September 16, 2025, at 8:49 p.m.; 

b. The total number of communications sent by Respondent to 
Petitioner, without regard to the content of each communication;  

c. The effect that these communications had on the individuals who 
received the emails; and  

d. The Respondent’s subjective understanding of the threatening 
nature of her email communications. 

 
4. The facts that are of consequence to the determination of the action are only 

facts that are related to whether the Respondent sent the emails that constituted 
grounds for the Temporary Protection Order and whether, unless restrained, the 
Respondent will continue to commit such acts or acts designed to intimidate or 
retaliate against the protected persons.  

 
5. In her brief, the Respondent asserts that the scope should be broadened to 

include the content of additional email communications, attachments to email 
communications, police reports, the Respondent’s July 4th threat to “kill jews,” and 
other unspecified communications. The Respondent does not assert or otherwise 
explain how these additional communications or attachments have the tendency to 
make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the 
action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.  

 
6. In her motion, the Respondent failed to clearly articulate the relevance of 

these communications to the limited inquiry of the Permanent Protection Order 
Hearing. As such, the Petitioner respectfully requests that the Court decline to 
broaden the scope to the extent that the Respondent requested. 
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PHILIP J. WEISER 
Attorney General 
 
 
/s/ Tyler Harrington 
TYLER HARRINGTON, 53775* 
Assistant Attorney General 
Human Services Unit 
State Services Section 
Attorneys for the Department 
*Counsel of Record 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

This is to certify that the Department’s PETITIONER’S BRIEF ON SCOPE 
OF THE PERMANENT PROTECTION ORDER HEARING was served upon all 
parties herein email this 25th day of October 2025, addressed as follows: 

 

Aubrey Shomo 
ashomo@verofiber.com 

 

 

 

/s/ Tiffany Henry 
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County Court, Denver, Colorado 
 
1437 Bannock St, # 159 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
 

Petitioner: 
 
Leola, Joseph on Behalf of Office of Civil and Forensic Mental 
Health 
 
V 
 
Respondent: 
 
Shomo, Aubrey 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

​​ COURT USE ONLY 

Party Without Attorney: 
 
Aubrey Ellen Shomo 
8002 W 12th Ave 
Lakewood, CO 80214 
 
Phone Number:   720-420-4200      E-mail: aubrey@aubreyshomo.net 
FAX Number:       720-420-4201       Atty. Reg. #: N/A 

 
Case Number:  2025 W 1324 
 
 
 
Division               Courtroom  159 
 

MOTION TO SUBPOENA TYLER HARRINGTON 
 

Respondent, Aubrey Ellen Shomo, f/k/a Justin Michael Shomo, hereby requests to SUBPOENA 
Attorney Tyler Harrington, now not an attorney in this case, and therefore available as a witness, as a 
hostile witness for cross examination of Petitioner’s position. 
 

1.​ Petitioner substituted counsel on Friday, December 12th, 2025, near the end of the business day. 
2.​ This motion is filed at noon the next business day. 
3.​ Petitioner also files a supplemental brief alleging retaliation against “Petitioner’s counsel" [and Petitioner] 

for appropriate communications with opposing counsel intended to settle Petitioner action through 
withdrawal of the same and to make Petitioner’s counsel aware of the basis of the investigation which 
afforded Respondent her “gun”. 

4.​ Respondent seeks to examine or cross-examine Mr. Harrington with respect to the claim he was retaliated 
against, as to whether this is why he withdrew, and as to other reasons why he may have withdrawn.  This 
comes perilously close to privileged communications, however, new counsel has implied this, rather than 
lawful concern about ability to continue representing his client, is why previous counsel withdrew. 

5.​ Independent of any privilege issues, if new counsel wishes to present a case previous counsel was 
retaliated against, previous counsel must be available for examination, cross-examination, and 
impeachment on that issue, and none of those issues cover any potential privilege issues, as they all 
constitute communications with opposing counsel. 

6.​ Therefore, Respondent seeks to have Mr. Harrington available to the Court and to Respondent at trial. 
7.​ The Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure permit counsel, even counsel previously on the instant matter, to 

testify as a witness.  The withdrawal made it possible. 
8.​ The Court is therefore asked to issue the attached subpoena, and the attached subpoena shall constitute the 

proposed order for this motion. 

 

Submitted this 15th (fifteenth) day of December, 2025. / Electronically signed by Aubrey Ellen Shomo. 

 

RETURN OF SERVICE 

 



 
 

This filing has been served, this day, upon Petitioner’s counsel of Record by electronic mail at 
Ann.Pogue@coag.gov. 
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COUNTY COURT, CITY AND COUNTY OF 
DENVER 
 
1437 Bannock Street 
Denver, CO  80202 
Petitioner: Leora Joseph, on behalf of the Office of 
Civil and Forensic Mental Health 
 
v. 
Aubrey Shomo 
DOB 08/10/1984 
 COURT USE ONLY 
PHILIP J. WEISER, Attorney General 
ANN POGUE, First Assistant Attorney General* 
1300 Broadway, 10th Floor 
Denver, CO  80203 
Telephone: (720) 508-6591 
Fax: (720) 508-6041 
E-mail: ann.pogue@coag.gov 
Registration Number: 43137 
*Counsel of Record 

Case No. 25W1324  
 
Courtroom: 159 
 

PETITIONER’S SUPPLEMENT TO ITS BRIEF ON SCOPE OF THE 
PERMANENT PROTECTION ORDER HEARING 

 
The State Department of Human Services, Office of Civil and Forensic 

Mental Health (OCFMH) (Petitioner), through the Office of the Attorney General, 
provides a Supplement to its Brief on Scope of the Permanent Protection Order 
Hearing. In support thereof, the Petitioner states the following: 

 
1. On November 25, 2025, the Petitioner filed its Brief on Scope of the 

Permanent Protection Order Hearing (Brief).  
 
2. Since that date, Respondent has engaged in communications with counsel for 

the Petitioner, the content of which has become increasingly intimidating, 
threatening, and/or aggressive. The Petitioner argues that Respondent’s 
communications are acts designed to intimidate or retaliate against the protected 
person, OCFMH, and its counsel. 
 

3. Given these additional communications are evidence directly supportive of 
Petitioner’s claims, the Petitioner respectfully requests that the scope of the 
Permanent Protection Order hearing be expanded to include the number and 
content of Respondent’s email and voicemail communications with counsel for the 
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Petitioner from October 28, 2025, through the date of the Permanent Protection 
Order hearing.  
 
 
 

PHILIP J. WEISER 
Attorney General 
 
 
/s/ Ann H. Pogue 
ANN H. POGUE, 43137* 
First Assistant Attorney General 
Human Services Unit 
State Services Section 
Attorneys for the Department 
*Counsel of Record 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

This is to certify that the Department’s PETITIONER’S SUPPLEMENT TO 
ITS BRIEF ON SCOPE OF THE PERMANENT PROTECTION ORDER 
HEARING was served upon all parties herein email this 12th day of December 2025, 
addressed as follows: 

 

Aubrey Shomo 
ashomo@verofiber.com 

 

 

 

/s/ Tiffany Henry 
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County Court, Denver, Colorado 
 
1437 Bannock St, # 159 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
 

Petitioner: 
 
Leola, Joseph on Behalf of Office of Civil and Forensic Mental 
Health 
 
V 
 
Respondent: 
 
Shomo, Aubrey 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

​​ COURT USE ONLY 

Party Without Attorney: 
 
Aubrey Ellen Shomo 
8002 W 12th Ave 
Lakewood, CO 80214 
 
Phone Number:   720-420-4200      E-mail: aubrey@aubreyshomo.net 
FAX Number:       720-420-4201       Atty. Reg. #: N/A 

 
Case Number:  2025 W 1324 
 
 
 
Division               Courtroom  159 
 

REPLY TO PETITIONER'S SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF 
 

Respondent, Aubrey Ellen Shomo, f/k/a Justin Michael Shomo, hereby REPLIES to Petitioner’s 
Supplemental Brief filed on 12/12/2025. 
 

1.​ Petitioner had a substitution of counsel near Close of Business on 12/12/2025, a Friday. 
2.​ Along with Substitution of Counsel, Petitioner filed a Supplemental Brief, where Petitioner 

alleges retaliation against “Petitioner’s counsel” [and Petitioner], on 12/12/2025. 
3.​ Said allegations are identical in character to the facts at issue in the case, to wit, non-threats 

being distorted to the point of misrepresentation, even lie, to this Court to appear to be threats of 
violence. 

4.​ In Petitioner’s brief, “Petitioner respectfully requests that the scope of the Permanent Protection 
Order hearing be expanded to include the number and content of Respondent’s email and 
voicemail communications with counsel for the Petitioner from October 28, 2025, through the 
date of the Permanent Protection Order hearing.” 

5.​ Respondent stipulates to this enlargement of scope, so long as she has the full voicemail 
set available to her as discovery. 

6.​ Respondent denies that any retaliation or other violation of the TRO has occurred, as 
interpreted by this Court in its prior orders, with the stipulation of Petitioner, or 
otherwise. 

7.​ Indeed, Petitioner has, in its supplemental brief, changed their position and has therefore 
stipulated to Respondent’s initial “Brief on Scope of Trial” in the following ways: 

a.​ Petitioner’s counsel was briefed on the misconduct, including: 
i.​ Disappearing of Habeas Corpus before inboxing to a Judge by a *county* court.  

This Court, being a county Court, knows Habeas is subject mattered to the 
District Court.  This has the effect of blackholing an interlocutory appeal and the 
direct and willful deprivation of civil rights, to wit habeas corpus.  This action was 
undertaken by either the Bench or a Clerk (depending on Clerk’s forcing the 
issue to the Court) and two distinct Public Defenders.  They had to agree to do it.  
It was a constitutional right.  18 USC 241. 

 



 
ii.​ When Respondent was able to force habeas corpus into the hands of the District 

Court, said habeas was denied, hours after transport to a different facility, and 
said denial was send to the previous facility of custody.  While a district court, 
unlike a county court, enjoys judicial discretion in habeas matters, there are limits 
to it.  This may be beyond them.  Respondent does not know if this was criminally 
part of the 18 USC 241, or if this was independent, but it appears related. 

iii.​ Subsequent to arrival at CMHIP, Respondent discovered an affidavit containing 
prima facie perjury, as outlined in Respondent's ANSWER, swearing out the 
results of an expert examination prior to meeting Respondent.  By two days, 
notary by one.  Said affidavit was filed with the Court. 

iv.​ Petitioner was made aware of this perjury by a Government expert, took no 
action to remediate the conduct, and swore out another affidavit, sans perjury 
with which to proceed.  Petitioner seems to tolerate Perjury by its witnesses. 

v.​ (iii) merely requires agreement with others, to constitute an 18 USC 241. 
vi.​ (iv) may also constitute participation in 18 USC 241. 
vii.​ Prior to these events, a competency hearing with full discovery was requested, 

and disallowed by the bench, occasioning the Habeas and interlocutory appeal. 
viii.​ Petitioner refused to mail to COA a NOTICE OF APPEAL for two weeks, despite 

placement in the institutional mail slot, and refused to record the placement in 
said mail slot, being fully advised as to the reason. 

ix.​ COA refused the appeal for timeliness, an issue created by Petitioner to block 
said appeal. 

x.​ The sexual assault in 2018 was real and in evidence. 
xi.​ These acts of deprivation of civil rights, willfully, were done to block access to 

procedural due process by parties, including but not limited to Petitioner, by 
preventing full litigation of facts in the Courtroom. 

xii.​ All involved were made aware the feds had proof the rape was real. 
xiii.​ In leiu of court proceedings, forcible psychiatric treatment was had, bypassing 

procedural due process and OPENLY cheating in Court. 
xiv.​ Subsequent to this, a guilty plea was coerced by the same psychiatrist who 

perjured himself, as established, with threats Respondent construed as figurative 
in her 1/16/2019 filing, where said plea coercion was placed, in writing on the 
record of the Court.  Said filing is titled, “AFFIDAVIT TOKEN MEDICATION 
DOSE HAS BECOME TORTURE”. 

xv.​ Said figurative threat (meaning only further official misconduct justified by a claim 
of mental illness) was, in fact, a literal death threat given the Halothane removal 
from Respondent’s chart. 

xvi.​ Nowhere was the sexual assault addressed, Respondent’s silence was merely 
mandated while cheating in Court. 

xvii.​ The State personnel who engaged in this 18 USC 241, a felony, with a sexual 
factual basis, met the “willfully” element for deprivation of civil rights, and the 
“knowingly” element for sexual assault, given they were made aware of it, 
provided persons (feds) who had evidence of it, and blocked procedural due 
process to litigate said evidence in Court. 

xviii.​ Respondent has multiple acts of 18 USC 242, closely situated in time, space, and 
social network.  To make them 18 USC 241, all that is required is communication 
between them. 

xix.​ The feds have communicated they are investigating the State of Colorado in an 
investigation arising from this conduct, which has grown to approximately 240 
anticipated arrests. 

xx.​ That zealous advocacy for a client is okay, but if Petitioner’s counsel commits any 
crimes, they’re going to prison. 

xxi.​ That Petitioner’s counsel cannot lie to the Court. 

 



 
xxii.​ That, as of the date of said message, no specific misconduct by Mr. Harrington 

was known to Respondent, but he would be wise to keep the line carefully. 
xxiii.​ That he should brief his clients on their legal position and that they may not wish 

to be pursuing this action when they have criminal liability for their previous 
actions to consider. 

xxiv.​ That a DOJ investigation adjacent, and civil in nature, of the State’s Department 
of Corrections was opened on 12/8/2025 and formally notified, as the Court had 
been notified. 

xxv.​ That Respondent’s position remains unchanged. 
xxvi.​ That strong evidence Respondent is working with the feds is available as outlined 

in Respondent’s 12/8/2025 motion to the Court. 
xxvii.​ Said video had been provided the Tuesday prior, 12/2/2025 to the public and 

Petitioner’s counsel, and that said motion was on the same day as DOJ 
announced civil. 

xxviii.​ That DOJ doesn’t announce criminal investigations until it’s time to make the 
arrests. 

xxix.​ That any misconduct now undertaken, in the instant matter, may constitute 
participation in said 18 USC 241. 

xxx.​ That the Statute of Limitations derives from Severe Bodily Injury, lasting 8 years, 
due to the forcible administration of brain-damaging neuroleptic medication and 
the doing so of this relying on cheated Court procedure. 

xxxi.​ That any Court order out of Pueblo may not be a defense to this matter. 
xxxii.​ That the investigation began when Colorado took these actions in plain sight of 

the FBI and on the public record of the Court. 
xxxiii.​ That the transcripts of all proceedings in Broomfield were lost due to a 

“malfunction”. 
xxxiv.​ That Petitioner’s counsel’s client knows it is lying to the Court and I will reveal this 

on cross.  The words crucify and eviscerate came up, when describing the effect 
on their case.  Respondent wonders if this is her latest threat of violence? 

xxxv.​ That Respondent intends to request sanctions on Ms. Clawson, if she can find a 
theory of jurisdiction in the instant matter, or by means of Complaint to the 
Attorney Regulation Counsel. 

xxxvi.​ That CMHIP’s charts are fabrications and that they do not faithfully reflect 
anything that happened on the unit. 

xxxvii.​ That a complaint to the feds was made years ago, which is about to see fruition 
on all of these matters, on belief and information. 

xxxviii.​ That crimes against children may be an available theory of SOL, but will not be 
needed, given that these events occured while the State covered up the previous 
rape from when Respondent was a minor. 

xxxix.​ That said 2018 rape occured while Respondent was in custody, while said rights 
were being willfully violated. 

b.​ All of these are the same issues as those in Respondent’s answer brief, and are 
supported by the exhibits thereto.  Indeed, this is the investigation giving rise to the “gun” 
and cannot be separated from communications explicitly discussing the same. 

8.​ Therefore Petitioner has, in all effect, by their written filing with the Court, stipulated to 
Respondent’s proposed scope by requesting “all communications” to counsel. 

9.​ these are the same issues giving rise to the dispute, and this remains not  restraining order 
case.  However, Petitioner’s Supplemental Brief admits the whole issue. 

10.​Otherwise, what are they going to claim reflects retaliation? 
11.​Respondent points out that working with law enforcement on open, public misconduct of this 

serious nature is not a TROable threat, and that Respondent was unambiguous to any 
reasonable person. 

12.​All efforts by Petitioner to portray a different matter are misrepresentations to this Court, and 
that can be shown with Petitioner’s new scope with ease. 

 



 
13.​Respondent requests her original scope, will gladly shoot down Petitioner’s new thwory, but it’s 

going to implicate the same set of facts. 
14.​This set of facts is provided to make the fact of Respondent’s claims to be working with federal 

law enforcement more likely, and easily meet preponderance. 

 

Submitted this 15th (fifteenth) day of December, 2025. / Electronically signed by Aubrey Ellen Shomo. 

 

RETURN OF SERVICE 

 

This filing has been served, this day, upon Petitioner’s counsel of Record by electronic mail at 
Ann.Pogue@coag.gov. 
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COUNTY COURT, CITY AND COUNTY OF 
DENVER 
 
1437 Bannock Street 
Denver, CO  80202 
Petitioner: Leora Joseph, on behalf of the Office of 
Civil and Forensic Mental Health 
 
v. 
Aubrey Shomo 
DOB 08/10/1984 
 COURT USE ONLY 
PHILIP J. WEISER, Attorney General 
TYLER W. HARRINGTON, Assistant Attorney 
General* 
1300 Broadway, 10th Floor 
Denver, CO  80203 
Telephone: (720) 508-6092 
Fax: (720) 508-6041 
E-mail: tyler.harrington@coag.gov 
Registration Number: 53775 
*Counsel of Record 

Case No. 25W1324 
Division:   
 
Courtroom: 159 
 

NOTICE OF SUBSTITUTION OF COUNSEL 
 

The State Department of Human Services (Department), through the Office 
of the Attorney General, pursuant to C.R.C.P. 121 § 1-1(2)(a), hereby submits this 
notice of substitution of counsel: 

1. The Department’s counsel of record, Tyler Harrington, is withdrawing 
as counsel in this matter. 

 
2. Tyler Harrington has complied with all outstanding orders of this 

Court. 
 
3. Ann Pogue is hereby substituted as counsel for the Department and 

her contact information is as follows: 
 

Ann Pogue 
1300 Broadway, 6th Floor 
Denver, CO 80203 
Telephone: (720) 508-6591 
Fax: (720) 508-6041 
Email:  ann.pogue@coag.gov 

mailto:ann.pogue@coag.gov
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Registration Number: 43137 
 

4. Please direct all future pleadings, orders, correspondence, and any other  
filings in this matter to First Assistant Attorney General Ann Pogue.   

 
PHILIP J. WEISER 
Attorney General 
 
/s/ Tyler Harrington 
TYLER HARRINGTON, 53775* 
Assistant Attorney General 
Human Services Unit 
State Services Section 
Attorneys for the Department 
*Withdrawing Counsel 
 
/s/ Ann Pogue 
ANN POGUE, 43137* 
First Assistant Attorney General 
Human Services Unit 
State Services Section 
Attorneys for the Department 
*Counsel of Record 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

This is to certify that the Department’s NOTICE OF SUBSTITION OF 
COUNSEL was served upon all parties herein email this 11th day of December 2025, 
addressed as follows: 

 

Aubrey Shomo 
ashomo@verofiber.com 

 

 

 

/s/ Tiffany Henry 
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Aubrey Shomo is staging a one-week hunger protest right outside Tony's Market at 950
Broadway -- but she doesn't have a beef with Tony's. Rather, she wants to get the attention
of Mark Noel, clemency director for the State of Colorado, whose office is right above
Tony's. Since she has...

Aubrey Shomo is staging a one-week hunger protest right outside Tony's Market at 950
Broadway -- but she doesn't have a beef with Tony's. Rather, she wants to get the
attention of Mark Noel, clemency director for the State of Colorado, whose office is right
above Tony's.

Since she has all the required permits to pitch her tent on Broadway for a week, Tony's
has decided to welcome her as a neighbor -- even if she won't be shopping in the store.
(She's on a hunger strike, after all.) "I just want her to have a peaceful protest," says store
manager Stuart Stevenson.
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PATRICIA CALHOUN is editor-in-chief of Westword, the alt-weekly she co-
founded in September 1977. She’s been inducted into the Colorado Press
Association Hall of Fame, the Association of Alternative Newsmedia Hall of
Fame and the Colorado Restaurant Association Hall of Fame. She’s also
received dozens of local, state and national awards for writing, including first
place for feature writing and first place for column writing with the Society of
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Why I Am Willing to Die on the Governor’s
Doorstep

Whistle Blown.

On October 5th, 2014, with the first full day on the 6th, I began an indefinite duration Hunger

Strike upon the State of Colorado, generally, and the Office of the Governor, specifically.

I’m doing this because I have hard evidence of a pattern of plea coercion and child abuse

coverup at Boulder County Mental Health Center, Inc., in the form of a wire recording of one of

their employees, Dan Shearer, admitting to doing it to me and defending his actions as

business as usual and the practice of his team. The team he implicates was called the FACT

Team, an intensive outpatient team that provided mental health services to adolescents, often

over their objections, in Boulder County, Colorado.

I have made a seven-point request of the State. I have asked them to find a way to do a reliable,

scientific inquiry to determine how often things like this happen and to proactively locate other

instances (point #1), to fully investigate Mr. Shearer’s claims that he was acting in accord with

his employer’s usual practices, that the whole team was aware of and supported his actions,

and that he was working with the knowledge and support of the Department of Social Services

(point #2), to find the other kids that Mr. Shearer would have done this to or that Boulder

County Mental Health Center would have done this to and provide them a remedy for their

cases (point #3), to prosecute Mr. Shearer criminally to the fullest extent of the law, and by

every administrative means available (points #4 and 5), and lastly to provide me a remedy for

my own case, even if the only way to do so is a pardon from the Governor (point #6) and to

formally apologize to me for this having happened under the color of the State’s laws and

authority (point #7).

How You can Support Me.

The best way to support me is to email the Governor’s chief of staff, Roxane White, at

roxane.white@state.co.us and let her know you support my efforts, both to blow the whistle

and to obtain justice for myself and everyone else this has happened to.

You can also follow my progress at my YouTube channel.

Here is why I Am Willing, if Required of Me, to Die on the Governor’s Doorstep.

I’ve lived my life as a civil rights activist, and have recently become a NGO delegate to the

United Nations.  I have a deep commitment to the principles of nonviolence, at least where a

citizen engaging their own government is at issue.

So, I’m going to tell you the story of my shitty childhood.

It made me who I am today.

For the first eight years of my life, things had actually been good. I had the good fortune to

have been identified as a prodigy, of sorts. I had the world at my fingertips and possibility

By  Aubrey Ellen Shomo  - October 8, 2014

Mad in America
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opened before me. I was acting, solving algebraic equations in my head, programming

computers, learning chemistry, and designing simple electronic circuits, all by the age of seven.

I became eligible to join the Screen Actors Guild for principal work at four. It was said of me

that I had an intellectual rarity of at least one in one hundred thousand — an IQ of 174, and

that fact gave me access to much I would not have otherwise seen or learned. If it had not been

for that era, I very much doubt I would have survived the years that followed intact – or however

intactly I can honestly claim to have.

Perhaps I should have realized something was wrong. It’s good, though, to have a mother

fawning all over one’s self, even making as big a deal as possible out of one’s gifts, even to

others. Unfortunately, I would soon realize that the fawning was more important to my mother

than whatever it was she happened to be fawning about.

At eight years old, everything would quickly change. I was admitted to a psychiatric hospital

and diagnosed with a psychotic disorder.

In an instant, my personal identity changed from prodigy to lunatic. My mother went from

“Gifted Child Mom” to “Special Needs Child Mom” just as fast. Gone were the tutors and their

lasers and robots and labs. Gone were the auditions and shoots. Gone were the adults with

whom I’d spend hours discussing science, asking how the universe works. For a time, I wasn’t

even allowed to read, as my parents feared that things I read in books would become

symptoms, and they sought to limit what my mind had to work with.

In truth, I still don’t have a single, comprehensive theory for what happened. I was diagnosed

with many things over the next few years: Psychotic Depression, Bipolar Disorder,

Schizoaffective Disorder. It could have been any of these. They believed I was out of touch with

reality. The most terrible possibility, however, is that it was none of these – that I was not even

mentally ill.

What is certain is that I would be put on neuroleptic medication over my vocal objections and

remain on that medication for eight years – until I was old enough to inherit control of my own

future. It’s difficult to explain just what that means to someone who has not taken such drugs.

When one says “medication”, images of Tylenol or insulin come to mind. When one speaks of

psychotropic medication, one is inclined to think of SSRIs like Prozac. Harmless, well tolerated,

even helpful things.

Neuroleptics are different. They are to the brain as chemotherapy is to the body. Even if they

cure or manage the disease for which they are given, the costs are terrible and the suffering

great. Worse still, the anguish caused by them is internal. It is an agony of the mind, a writhing

of the soul.

Leonid Plyushch, a Soviet dissident and mathematician, described the experience thus: “I noted

with horror the daily progression of my degradation. I lost interest in politics, then in scientific

problems, finally in my wife and children. My speech became blurred; my memory worsened. In

the beginning, I reacted strongly to the sufferings of other patients. Eventually I became

indifferent. My only thoughts were of toilets, tobacco and the bribes to the male nurses to let

me go to the toilet one more time. Then I began to experience a new thought: ‘I must

remember everything I see here, I told myself, so that I can tell about it afterwards.”

Plyushch’s words resonate with me. I still find myself overcome by a feeling of great loss and

greater outrage when I try to tell this story. My very mind was entered by others, who

disregarded my pleas that they stop, and chemically ravaged. My genius was shackled. Life

became colorless and grey. I stopped caring about anything. I lost the ability to experience
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happiness or joy. All these things were done to a child. For a time, I even lost the desire to have

those half-remembered better days back, but some small little bit of me held on.

I was hospitalized on and off during those eight years. Being at home wasn’t much better than

the hospital, but the hospital was unequivocally worse. At home, the drugs were no less awful,

and I had to deal with my mother. The hospital held terrors of another sort entirely.

I remembered those precious times before I was sedated with these things – these drugs –

these major tranquilizers – these neuroleptics. I remembered those early times and I held on,

knowing that one day I would be able to stop what was being done to me, even if that day was

ten years off, when I reached my eighteenth birthday.

But I grew impatient. Ten years is a long time, and it’s an even longer time when it’s longer

than one has yet been alive.

Soon enough, my mother was diagnosed with her own mental illness. That conclusion had been

come upon through her experience with my own psychiatrists. Within a year, she would be

hospitalized several times in quick secession and have her own doctors. It was then I ventured

that perhaps my mother’s reporting of my alleged issues was a result of her own illness – and

not factually accurate. My doctors explained to me that it was typical for people with defective

brains like mine to believe they were not ill, and used that reasoning to disregard the

hypothesis I had proposed. I had “poor insight” so my argument was unworthy of any serious

consideration, and certainly did not merit empirical testing.

I wasn’t entirely satisfied with their response. It smacked of an ad hominem fallacy, dismissing

a contention because of an unrelated claim about the person who proposed it, but I could not

force them to listen. It was beyond my power to demand they respond to my hypothesis on its

own merits, and it looked just like something they had been trained to dismiss. People never

listen to lunatics; there’s little more to it than that.

Time went on. My mother threw my father out of the house when I was ten years old amidst

allegations of abuse and an incredibly nasty divorce ensued. I don’t know if my father ever

actually abused my mother. I saw one incident, where he was physically restraining her, and, at

the time, that was enough for me. I did not understand what I had seen, and, with my mother,

one had to pick sides or face her wrath. I still lived with her, my father gone, so which side I

was on wasn’t something that was open to much deliberation. Besides, one’s critical thinking,

especially one’s ability to spontaneously see alternate interpretations of the same data, is

diminished by neuroleptic drugs. When on them, you listen to what you’re told by people with

power. You obey, even if what you are told is wrong. My mother had all the power she needed.

In the moral outrage my mother suggested I should have at my father, I broke off contact. When

the custody evaluator, for the divorce, interviewed me, I said everything my mother had about

him, often verbatim. Not a single one of my comments was original. My mother denied

coaching me, but all my words were hers. Worse, I believed them. My father was the source of

all the world’s evil and she was shielding me from him, often at great personal cost. My mother

had spent years speaking about my father’s abuses and evils non-stop – emotionally

manipulating me so that I would agree with her and take her side in the divorce. This fact was

not missed by the custody evaluator. To that evaluator, it had been painfully obvious my

mother actively drove a wedge between my father and I, using all she told me to ensure I’d take

her side in the custody battle. The term the custody evaluator used was “Parental Alienation

Syndrome.” I was used as a tool – a weapon – against my father. The truth meant nothing to my

mother, as long as she got what she wanted.
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The custody evaluator was unimpressed. She ultimately came to the conclusion my mother had

“Munchhausen’s Syndrome by Proxy” – that she was intentionally making myself and other

members of my family sick. She had been caught telling lies about symptoms when the stories

she told the doctors were cross-checked with what she told the schools with what she told the

custody evaluator. She had been suspected of giving improper doses of medications to make

other members of my family and me appear more out of it and aloof. I can attest to the fact she

did this, though I cannot speak to her reasons.

Usually, she exaggerated actual events so they seemed pathological. Occasionally, she came up

with outright fabrications.

Of course, I would not actually read the custody evaluation report until many years later – just a

few years ago. When I was a child, my mother only told me of its existence. She described it as

a terrible accusation that had been wrongly made against her. She had once again been the

victim, but this time the system was abusing her.

The catch was that it made sense. All the hallmarks were there. She had worked in the medical

field, as a transcriptionist. She had detailed knowledge of the illnesses for which I was being

treated. She knew what to say to simulate an episode, and she had a penchant for

exaggeration. She had been caught telling lies. And she seemed to enjoy talking about her

mentally ill child, and what a burden it was to care for me. It was what passed for socialization

with her.

I had already suggested that was taking place, years earlier, though I did not then know what to

call it. I had simply said that I thought her own mental illness explained the things she told the

doctors treating me. Of course, no one had listened. They never do.

It made me wonder about all my childhood hospitalizations for croup, and the two or three

times I was radiologically scanned for various rare childhood cancers – only to turn up nothing,

and other strange tests the purposes of which I don’t even remember. I had never thought

about that before. Other members of my family likewise had infant and early childhood

hospitalizations for various rare and unusual problems. I will never know if she did something

to bring those events about or not. I have only dim memories and doubts, and the later

conclusions of forensic investigators. I have resigned myself to the fact I will never have more

data – let alone answers – about what happened. I will only have suspicions: well-grounded, but

suspicions all the same.

None of that should have mattered, though. My mother had been caught. Her manipulations

were laid bare. It should have ended there.

It did not.

Through various machinations including the burning of my mother’s treatment records to

prevent their use as evidence against her and dragging the divorce on in the courts for another

year, beyond what it had already taken, my mother was able to force my father to settle with

her out of court. When I was twelve, it was final and I stayed with my mother. My father ended

up financially supporting my mother to a significant degree. I’m told my father didn’t want me,

but it’s hardly surprising, since I wasn’t speaking to him at the time.

My mother was devastated at losing custody of her other kids. I thought they had been

condemned to live with an evil and abusive man. My mother explained the system did that to

people, because no one could stop it. I wondered why no one did. There seemed to me to be

very little justice in the universe.

Shortly, I would learn just how little justice there really is in this world.
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With my father out of my mother’s life, she was at a loss. She was no longer a victim, but she

had grown used to it. I think the only way she knew how to relate to people was to elicit their

sympathy about her victimhood. After all, the typical reason for a parent’s actions in a case of

Munchhausen’s Syndrome by Proxy is to elicit sympathy for their child’s illness and to elicit

approval for how well they’re taking care of that illness. The child’s suffering becomes the

parent’s social life, even though that suffering was inflicted by the same. Whether through

abuse, illness, or the rule of law, my mother was always a victim of something. She enjoyed

making a big deal about being put upon.

Because of that fact, and the sheer number of different people my mother has accused of

abusing her, I doubt all of her allegations. I would say I doubt she was ever abused, but it

seems to me that, surely, at least once, in the beginning, it had to be real. Else, how did she

become who she was? I don’t know if that abuser was her first husband or her parents. She, of

course, accused them of abuse, too. Her father was just like my father, she said. I can’t even

know for sure it was ever real, but I think believing that who she became by the time she was

my mother was a result of something terrible done to her helps me explain her. It helps me

view her with some sympathy, despite all the pain and damage she caused. Whether that theory

is true, I cannot say.

With the divorce final and my siblings gone, she only had one thing left that served to place her

in the victim role: my insanity. The last thing she did in the divorce was have the custody

evaluator’s report sealed. The proof of what was happening to me slipped through my fingers,

but I remembered her own telling of what that report had said, and I knew right where it was,

even though it was out of reach.

It wasn’t long before she had me hospitalized again. She claimed that I threatened her with a

knife. No such thing took place, but that didn’t matter. I was a mental patient in need of

treatment, and that claim empowered entirely new doctors to ensure I got that treatment

whether I wanted it or not.

With my father’s departure, I had inherited his role. It actually surprised me how quickly I went

from the one person on her side against my father and the world to everything she had said my

father had been. In a critically-brief moment, I had become the new source of all the evil in the

world, and all that was wrong in my mother’s life. I was now not only mental patient, but abuser

as well. My mother had created a dynamic around her where she could once again bask in the

light of victimhood. That it wasn’t true didn’t matter to her or anyone else. I was a lunatic, and

people never listen to lunatics. There’s little more to it than that.

Of course, a mental hospital is a very different place when one is fourteen years old.

Adolescents, especially well read prodigies, even if that prodigy is diluted and sedated to the

point of little more than a memory, understand civics. They understand rights, and law, and

due process. A child may accept an undeserved punishment, because there’s little else to do. A

teenager will object.

I objected, and in doing so, learned far too much about power.

I was told my mother’s allegations were why I was being held in the hospital by a smug social

worker who assured me that, when I was medicated properly, I would thank them for doing so. I

asked them for a review of the facts, and told them about my mother’s Munchhausen’s by

Proxy, and even that a report existed confirming it. They noted my statements in my chart with

these words, “seems paranoid ‘my mother is telling lies about me’”. My own words became

diagnostic of psychosis, because they couldn’t be bothered to look into the report I told them
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about by name and date, while telling them how to get the case number. They didn’t listen, and

they had all the power they needed not to. I suspect that’s why they never do.

This phenomena is not unheard of. It even has a name. The Martha Mitchell effect, it’s called,

named for the alleged delusions of a woman who claimed illegal activities were taking place in

the white house. She sounded crazy, and she might have been, but, then again, she was

married to Nixon’s Attorney General.

Martha Mitchell spent several years committed to a mental hospital at her husband’s urging

before Woodward and Bernstein’s reporting set her free.

There is a famous paper, entitled “On Being Sane in Insane Places” by D. L. Rosenhan,

describing an experiment in which mental health workers and academics faked one symptom of

a mental illness – a one-word hallucination, in order to be admitted to a mental hospital. Once

admitted, they stopped faking their symptom, and recorded what happened. The question

asked was simple. In a mental hospital, can personnel recognize sanity? Most study participants

were diagnosed with Schizophrenia. Everything they did was construed in a manner consistent

with the illness they were diagnosed with and the theories about it that were popular at the

time. Ordinary actions became symptoms of a pathology. All of them were held, some for

months; each when ultimately discharged was listed as having been in remission but suffering

from a lifelong disease. None were found sane. Confirmation bias has never seen clearer proof,

and doctors are not immune. They see what they expect to see, and they always manage to find

it.

The paper created quite a controversy. Surely it couldn’t be real. Things like that don’t happen.

It was impossible. No one wants to believe things like that are real – and happening right now. I

fear it’s happening to some poor kids as you read this, this very day, a generation after me,

with no end in sight.

I have to believe it’s real. I lived it. For eight years.

When I told them I wanted meaningful due process, they scoffed at me and told me I was a

voluntary patient. My mother had signed me in, and, at my age, that was all that was required. I

told them she was lying, but that just made them all the more sure I was paranoid. I demanded

to file a writ of habeas corpus, seeking court review of the detention I was protesting, but

voluntary patients have no access to the courts.

Recall, this was a false allegation, and documented evidence of the Munchhausen’s Syndrome

by Proxy existed. It’s just that that was always somebody else’s problem. My mother even

recanted her claim involving the knife, once I was in the door of the hospital, but that didn’t

stop them. They were acting for my own good, and the claim my mother made was only

required to get the cops to bring me through the door. It wasn’t required to keep me there.

I was held incommunicado, unable to even try to reach someone other than my mother who

might be able to help explain what was really going on, or actually reach a courthouse with

papers to file. I couldn’t reach out to allies, friends, or even legal counsel. I couldn’t tell anyone

what was happening to me who wasn’t institutionally uninterested in hearing it.

So, I decided to demonstrate I was not a voluntary patient. I had complied with their desire to

keep me confined behind locked doors up until that point. One day, I refused to go back to the

unit. I told them that if they considered me voluntary, they might mistake my cooperation for

consent, and I didn’t want that mistake to be possible. I suggested they force me. They obliged.

My chart tells me it took five adults to restrain me. I suppose it could have been five. I recall

two of them grabbing me, one under each arm, and taking me inside the next set of onion-

layered locking doors. Inside, I put my feet down, so more came to carry my feet. I was taken
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back onto the acute unit, and slammed face down on a bare mattress in the seclusion room.

There, a number of people held me down. They had both arms, both legs, and someone else

was on top of me, knee in my back.

I didn’t find the dragging terribly disturbing. I knew that was coming. I had dared them to do it,

and people like that rarely miss an opportunity to exercise power. What affected me was when

they held me down in the seclusion room. I don’t know what I expected. I suppose I thought

they’d just drop me off in seclusion and leave. That’s all that would have been required for

them to make their point.

When they held me down, I panicked. I wasn’t ready for that. I squirmed and tried to get away.

It didn’t help that I was having difficulty breathing because of the one on my back. I was

terrified. They told me that if I stopped resisting, they would let go. I don’t think anyone being

held face down by five men could just stop resisting.

They called the psychiatrist over to give the order to sedate me. I knew that was coming, and

that it would just be worse when I woke up. Somehow, I managed to turn off my fight and flight

instincts. I stopped moving and went limp, just as they instructed when I begged them not to

inject me. I don’t know exactly what happened in that moment, but something inside me

changed, and not for the better. I had broken.

These are not good places. Any disobedience will result in a takedown like I just described –

and a righteous demand for justice is disobedience by their reckoning. You can be restrained

and secluded (placed in solitary confinement) for the mere crime of insulting your captors,

failing to immediately obey questionable commands, or just because they feel like it. They are

accountable to no one.

These places claim to be for “behavior modification,” but their only purpose is the breaking of

the human spirit. You are well when they have broken your will. The identification of behavior

modification through techniques including the forcible use of restraint, aversive treatment, or

sedating medication as torture under international law is currently under review by the United

Nations.

Worse things even than I have described happen in these places. One prominent example was

at a facility I was also held at briefly, and again happened to a family member of mine. He was

forced to shower in human fecal matter because the nurses were too lazy to clean out the

shower and didn’t care what was in there. His choice was to comply or be taken down and

restrained. He complied.

Thanks to his experiences, and my own experiences at other facilities, I knew to be passively

obedient, even submissive, and was allowed to leave that particular hospital quickly. I saw

things I should have stood up to, but I saw no hope of effective resistance, so I did not resist.

Had I tried, as I did with my earlier “habeas corpus” protest, it is likely they would have been

able to hold me indefinitely, without recourse, reprieve, or any hope of review under the law.

They had wanted to place me in residential treatment: confinement for perhaps two years, but

my submission earned me a reprieve.

This whole time, I was on those drugs that Plyushch described and am reminded of his words:

“In the beginning, I reacted strongly to the sufferings of other patients. Eventually I became

indifferent. … Then I began to experience a new thought: I must remember everything I see

here, I told myself, so that I can tell about it afterwards.”

That particular facility killed two kids in ten years, in restraint situations, just like the one I

experienced, and broke another kid’s back. They were caught jumping immediately to restraint

for minor infractions, and using it as a discipline technique, just as happened to me and as I
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saw happen to many others, despite the fact such a thing violates established law and

professional ethics.

They used potentially lethal responses at the first sign of disobedience – on children – and

sometimes that potential was actualized.

Over that decade, between the murders, children were pulled out by social services, in

individual cases, a few at a time, citing safety issues at the facility, but still no one stopped

them. It took injuries, countless traumatized children who were quickly taught that might

makes right and the only capital that counts in this world is force, and eventually another death

to force major changes. Still that facility remains open. Still they confine children. Still I fear for

their safety.

That place, while particularly awful, was not remarkable among the hospitals in which I was

held growing up. These are places where the treating professionals have absolute power over

those they treat. Law is silent. Justice is absent. Abuses run rampant. Force rules all.

When someone speaks up outside the hospital, they are ignored. No one listens to lunatics.

There’s little more to it than that.

Eventually, I was allowed to go home, under a new kind of intensive outpatient treatment called

the FACT Team. They had wanted to hold me in long-term (read: years) residential treatment,

but couldn’t find the money.

The FACT team was only marginally better. They came to my home, and did all they could to

bring the hospital with them. Thankfully, that did make it harder to use restraints.

Unfortunately, neuroleptics are quite small and portable.

During this time, my mother became more and more violent. As she began to associate me in

her mind with her father, her first husband, and my father, she became angrier and angrier.

With them, she had felt powerless, but I was only a child. She could punish me for all she had

endured. She became physically abusive and worse.

Still, being abused by my mother was better than being in the Hospital. At least my mother was

also nice sometimes. She was a monster, but she wasn’t a monster all the time. At the hospital,

the cruelty never stops. There, it is institutional.

The FACT team was aware of the abuse. They even knew about the Munchhausen’s Syndrome

by Proxy. I didn’t know that when I was under their care, but I was later able to prove they were

not only aware, but even believed me about it. At the time, I thought they believed I was

paranoid. I didn’t imagine they were actually ignoring me for their own convenience, and simply

using paranoia as an excuse.

Sadly, that did not stop them. Once you are considered insane, nothing can convince them

otherwise.

When I was sixteen, the police wanted to arrest my mother. She had made the mistake of

abusing me in front of a witness – another member of my family – and she would have gone

down for it. Had that happened, it’s possible what happened next would not have taken place.

It’s strange, really, that after everything I’d been through, and everything I’d seen, the worst of

it would be so small a thing.

The FACT team intervened and got my mother off the hook. They talked the police out of

arresting her. They did so because they wanted to keep the case within the FACT Team, and get

it off their plates as quickly as possible even though they were aware of the abuse and doing

nothing about it.

The FACT team worked with the State’s social services department. The State wasn’t going to

stop it.
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After that, it became clear to me that if anyone was going to stop the abuse, it was going to

have to be me. I suddenly understood that day, years earlier, I had seen my father restraining

my mother. She had been attacking him, and he had used the minimum possible force to stop

her. And I had believed him an abuser for it.

In the summer of that year, when I was sixteen years old, after letting my mother back me into

a corner, on my bed, in the back of my bedroom, I decided to make my stand. I had already

raised my arms in a defensive posture, but she bit me to deprive me of my passive shield. I told

her that if she came at me, I would stop her. Three times I warned her. (Well, twice I asked her

to back off, then I warned her I was prepared to use force to stop her if she attacked.) I don’t

think she believed me. For all her accusations, she had never actually seen me use violence or

even defend myself. Especially not from her.

She called my bluff, but in doing so miscalculated. It was no bluff. As her hand moved inbound

at me, I knocked it away, then promptly pushed her out of my room, locked the door, and

called the police.

Naturally, when the police arrived, I was arrested for battery. I was processed and returned to

my mother within about two hours. All the while, I told them I was being abused. The police

had even requested a welfare placement, but the Juvenile processing facility just ignored that.

The place I was taken says in their printed materials that they do not do welfare placements,

and they felt I was not dangerous to my mother and therefore did not need to be held as a

dangerous lunatic.

Because I was the one arrested, their procedures were not written to care if she was a danger to

me. No one cared, or could seem to find a record of the history of abuse, or the fact my mother

had been caught red handed just months before. As the FACT team worker said, “I don’t want

to incriminate myself.”

They presented me with an impossible choice – plead no contest, try to mount a defense pro se

proving I was an abuse victim who acted so lawfully it was in accordance with police use of

force procedures, while still living with my mother, with her signature required on all the

paperwork I had to file with the court to try and prove she was abusing me, or get myself put in

a hospital, as that’s all social services seemed to know how to do.

Plus, I knew from experience, if I tried to subpoena any records, she’d destroy them sometime

between signing the subpoena as my guardian and the time I could file it with the court. She

wouldn’t give me a ride, so she’d probably destroy the records while I was walking several miles

to the court with the subpoena. (Of course, she’d never sign the subpoena in the first place,

and would probably beat me for having the audacity to ask.)

Franz Kafka couldn’t have come up with a more absurd process. I finally had access to due

process of law, admittedly as a criminal defendant, except for the part where my guardian got

to call the shots on what papers I could file and I wasn’t permitted defense counsel, while that

same guardian was the one making the accusation and abusing me.

I was told if I didn’t go along with the plea deal FACT (yes, the mental health team that shielded

my mother from arrest) negotiated, in lieu of a lawyer, I would likely end up in a long-term

hospital – and that my mother would make something else up and have me placed in a

residential therapeutic setting if I did not comply.

FACT wanted a means to keep me in treatment, knowing about the Munchhausen’s, knowing

about the abuse, and they described it as wanting to have a metaphorical “two by four” or a

“baseball bat” to ensure my compliance. Those words are on tape, recorded ten years later,

though the person saying them was not aware I was wearing a wire. They knew I didn’t want to
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be on the medication, and the best analogy they could come up with for their interest in the

matter was hitting a battered child with a stick.

It was explained to me by the FACT Team this was possible because there were special laws for

people like me, as a mental patient. It’s just that those special laws required me to plead guilty

and did not allow for a defense. Once again, I was without due process of law, but this time, I

was asked to participate in a charade of the same.

I was faced with consenting to an improper determination of guilt on the one hand, or the loss

of my entire future on the other. I could have become attached to the system when I became 18

– and that could have ended up with me in a guardianship – and I would have spent my entire

life without the right to control my own affairs, on sedating medication, and without freedom.

The adulthood I had waited ten years for, so I could finally free myself from the system, and

discontinue the medication, could have been taken away if I did not enter that plea. This is not

because I was guilty, but because I was not in a position to be able to present a defense. I was,

once again, overpowered by force. I still lived with my abuser and I had no way out. I was still a

minor.

So, after all my struggles, all my fighting, I gave in one last time. This was the worst, though,

because they made me say the words. Every time before this, it was enough for them to control

my body. This time, they wanted me to accept upon and into myself the whole of their

oppression. And they got what they wanted.

One of the only things that kept me intact through my whole ordeal was that I never failed to

say “this is wrong.” They mostly disregarded it. I was a lunatic after all. But I had protested, and

if I could have nothing else, that was enough. They may have been able to hold me down,

suffocatingly, but they couldn’t stop me from telling them it made them bad people.

I wanted so badly, this time, too, to do the noble, stupid thing, and say to that court “I have

been instructed to enter a guilty plea, under threat of force, but I do not wish to. I want to

present a defense, but I cannot do so living with my mother, because she’ll abuse me for simply

trying.” The problem was that I understood what would happen. First, the court would enter a

not guilty plea on my behalf. Then, they’d send me home with my mother as they always did.

Then, I’d get my ass kicked and they would stand idly by and do nothing. After that, they would

put me in a hospital and force medication upon me on the basis of allegations they knew would

be false, even though the allegations they would use to do so hadn’t even been made yet.

Lastly, I’d show up for my trial, drooling and sedated, and be expected to somehow act as my

own defense counsel (at 17 years old) and prove I was the victim of my mother’s abuse, who’d

be sitting next to me at the defense table, all without being permitted preparation, discovery,

or the subpoena of witnesses.

I needed something more powerful than I to stand in their way, but there was no such thing. No

help came from any quarter. I stood utterly alone, and I was overpowered.

So I said the words I still hate myself for. “No Contest.” Though threatened by unlawful and

extrajudicial force, I gave the appearance of my consent. I failed to protest. Never before had

my breaking been so complete. Never before was I so helpless, so powerless, or so alone as in

that moment.

I had been physically forced to comply, long before that time. I spent eight years on terrible,

terrible medications against my will. I had watched abuses perpetrated on other kids. A

member of my own family had been forced to bathe in feces. This was none of those things.

The case resulted in a piece of paper – one that said I accepted guilt for something in which I
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bore none – but nothing was done to me physically by the system as a result of it. Yet,

somehow that moment is the most terrible I have ever lived.

Odd that a piece of paper can be so significant a thing.

Aubrey Ellen Shomo

Fixing A Broken World: A psychiatric survivor activist contemplates the mental health system,

stigma, science, law and culture, politics, and the practical realities of fighting what some have

called one of the "Last Great Civil Rights Battles."
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